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AN INQUIRY

STATE OF MIND
W. F. WINDHAM, ESQ.

By virtue of a Commission de Lunafico, issued by the Lords Justices, an inguiry

nto the state of mind of Mr. William Frederick Windham, of Fellbrigg.hall, Norfolk,
was commenced in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, before Mr. Samuel
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury, on Tuesiay,
TDecember 16th, 1861. The commission had been granted on the petition of
‘General Windham, the uncle of the alleged lunatic, and other members of the
family, The public interest in the proceedings was manifested by a crowded
court-room on the occasion.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. H. Williams, instruncted by Messrs.
TField and Roscoe, of Lincoln's-inn-fields, appeared for the petitioners; Mr. Charles
Bussell, instructed by Mr. Chappel, of Golden-square, for Lady Sophia Elizabeth
Giubilei, the mother of the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake,
Q.C., and Mr. Milward, instructed by Gregory and Co., of Bedford-row, for Mr.
William Frederick Wicdham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mr. Windham.

FIRST DAY’S PROCEEDINGS—Moxpay, DEcEMBER 16.

The eommission having been read, and the Master having addressed the jury,

Mr. M. Chambers rose to open the case for the petitioners. He said ; I have gone
through a great mass of information relative to the state and condition of mind of
Mr. Windham, and 1 have done so for the purpose of endeavouring to place before
you as briefly and as simply as possible the history of the alleged lunatic from
early life, in order that you may decide, after hearing the evidence, whether he
15, or 18 not, unfit to govern himself and his affairs. Mr. Windham, who is
described in the commission aslof Fellbriggz-hall, Norfolk, attained his majority on
the 9th of Augnst last,and the object of the present inquiry is to ascertain and
docide whether, upon the lst of August, a very short time before he came of age,
he was fit and competent to manage himself and his affairs. He is the only son
of the late William Howe Windham, who was a nephew of the Mr. Windham
"I'F‘hoﬂi:‘ name must be familiar to all persons aequainted with political or even
higtnncal_mattfrrs, and whose estates were inherited, or, in ordinary circumstances,
will be inherited by the alleged lunatic. Those estates consist, in the first
place, of Fellbrigg-hall, Norfolk, with the park and grounds annexed thereto; and,
secondly, of other property to which I will presently direct your particalar
attention. Thelate William Howe Windham was married to Lady Sophia Hervey, a
sister of the present Marqnis of Bristol. The alleged lunatic, therefore, is
connected with the Bristol family, and in the course of my narrative yor
will find that those connections have been parties to the prosent procesdings
83 petitioners. William Frederick Windham was born on the 9th of Augusi,
» and, as already stated, attained his majority on the 9th of Angnast,
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in the present year. His father died on the 2 Y
appointed by will General Windham, his e November, 1854 Swving
executors and the testamentary gnardians of his: gon AF R ST
son would become entitled to Fellbrigg-hall, with the urr: thadag? g
thL‘l‘Bft‘um of about £3,100 per annum. Timt sum hﬁ;wwﬂ::- ;Lﬂ;{);rﬁ dndl rental
certain deductions. In the first place, it would be subject to c? EEdu?Ed i
£1,500 a year, the amount of his mother's jointure; fm.;]'i SR pomer
ml::l?]fﬁhqna, about £350 would be required to be laid out jupun theyl,}rl::;?r:ﬁmge ﬁ?
BO , In point of fact, the young man wonld i : .
and £1,300. But there ware}rnm-tfin other eatatzzv:lfi:hlﬁcﬁigf l-:;ﬂ PER $1 000
possession until the year 1869. Th i i i S o
8810 il e object of so delaying his possession h
certain incumbrances upon the property might graduoally be paid ﬂﬂ".wns g Et
appeared that, although he would come into a nominal i|:|u|:1-.:n1:|1|:¥I of about Egt v
per annum m_lﬂﬁﬂ, there wonld still remain so large an incumbrance 01;: -'ﬂm
that the real income would not exceed £4,000 or £5,000. That i.m:sr.}m: . m%'ﬂﬂ‘
to the settlements, was to be an income for his own life. From mrliéa%ﬂ th: e
hfar was not like other children ; he had not the usual intellectual powers ; o ?’nﬂr
his case was one of mental deficiency—mnot of absolute raving mania, or a.n’ :jl;l ac;ri.
that kind, but of simple imbecility, It was matter of common kum:r]edgeyth:::gr:l
deﬁmencyrnf mental power in persons who were next to idiots was not uﬁﬁieqnunt.]m
accompanied by & sort of cleverness which, if the mind were sound, wonl{
unquestionably be an exceedingly walnable intellectual possession, but which w
acknowledged to be not at all inconsistent with such a state of mind as md&rx
the party utterly incompetent to take care of himself or his own affairs. The father
of the alleged lunatic early in his life noticed the weakness of his intellect, and he
was 8o concerned and anxions about it that he consulted Mr. Nichols, a su;gaun in
}Tm:m_gh, whose skill and knowledge as a medical man were known far and wide
Mr, Nichols would tell them how William Frederick Windham was brought to Ri:
h;!r his father when he was not more than four or five years of age, how he examined
him carefully, and how he predicted that, instead of the defect being removed
and the mind coming to a healthy state by the progress of time, the malady wmﬂ-’I
increase as time went on. In fact, Mr. Nichols gave the father so hopeless an
opinion that the latter did mot again revert to the mental condition of. his son,
although he remained on intimate and friendly terms with the surgeon. While
quite a boy the alleged lunatic, owing no doubt to his want of mental power, wag-
exceedingly fond of low company and low pursuits. He went among the servants.
and did acts incovsistent with his position as a young gentleman. He wished to
wait at table, and even to wash the dishes. At one period of his life his futher
indulging him as he would indulge a person of admittedly unsound mind, uctuull:,:
purchased for him the livery of a footman that he might act as the menial he
 desired to be. The first school he went to was that of Dr. Badbam, at Blackheath,
“He was then about nine years of age. His manners at Blackheath were described
‘as having been peculiarly childish. He was very feeble in his mental powers, and
then were exhibited to the observation of the whole school, what afterwards
increased with the progress of time—peculiarly dirty and nasty habits with respect
to his person, and a strong propensity to express himsell in filthy language. In
1854 he was removed to Eton, where it wag hoped that the discipline of a public
school, and the opportunity of mixing with others of his own condition and age,.
would effect an improvement both in his mental capacity and in hig manners and
habits. At first, and for a very short time, he wasin the house of Mr. Balston,
one of the masters ; but his conduct there was so extracrdinary, and so incousistent

with the power of taking reasonable care of himself, that it was deemed desirable
to put him into the hands of a private tutor. e was, accordingly, placed
under the care of Mr, Cheales, a man of great experienco iu she educa-

tion and management of boys, Mr. Cheales soon found that he had andertaken a
most difficult and disagrecable duty. He tried in a variety of ways to deal with the
unfortunate youth who had been intrusted to his care. Mr, Windbam was now &
young man about sixteen years of age, but My, Oheales discovered that vory little
could be done with him in the way of education. He could introduce only a very
small amount of knowledge into his head. He adopted successively various modes
of dealing with him. First he tried kinduess, then he tried reasoning, and then he
tried punishment. The result was that the only means of operating upon him, and
then only for a short time, was found to be actual personal chastisemeut—the.
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s tarror. Among other characteristics, Mr, Cheales discovered in'him an
ﬂ:&“ﬁﬁ:ry ﬂaﬂniﬂnﬂynq?lgmeutnﬂ power. He found, too, that the youth did not
spem to know the difference between trnth and falsehood ; that he was in the habit
of telling the mosé transpavent lies, unconscious, perhaps, of their real character ;
and that, in short, it was utterly impossible to place the slichteat reliance npon
anything he said. That was a characteristic which had followed him up to the
present day. Mr. Windham also exhibited at Eton and elsewhere the greatest
possible delight in gorging himself—in eating an enormous guantity of food, and in
devouring it more like a brute than a rational being. He seemed to have no control
over his appetite, and would sometimes eat m:_Ltil he was obliged to go ont of the
room to be sick, or until he actunally vomited in the presence of the persons ab
table with him. At Eton he played the part of buffoon, and his manners wers so
extraordinary and irrational, that the boys christened him by the name of  Mad
Windham,” frequently amusing themselves by setting him to perform strange antics.
He still retained the unfortunate habit of assogiating with low people. He visited
the kitchen whenever he possibly could,and when there he insulied and abused the
gervants, calling them by the worst and most offensive names. .a.nlc-t.her habit w!:.mh
he fell into was that of screeching and howling both within and without doors, in &
way to alarm every person who heard him. He was also subject to extraordinary
fits of passion, flying into a violent rage with little or no cause, and abusing all who
approached him in filthy and profane langnage. Shortly after the death of his father,
while on a vigit to Fellbrigg-hall, he waa guilty of great cruelty to animals, withont
any adequate canse. At one moment he would appear to be exceedingly fond of
his pony or horse, but the next instant he wonld whip and kick it in the most
cruel manner. He was taken into good society at Eton and-elsewhere by Mr.
Cheales, but his behaviour was always offensive, particularly to ladies, and was
frequently mada the subiect of comphint to his tutor. At an evening party in
Torquay, he suddenly, withont any provoecation, broke out into a violent passion,
seized a strange gentleman by the whiskers, and ran him up against the wall,
screeching howling all the time. Upon being remonstrated with by Mr.
Cheales and others, he merely uttered a loud unmeaning langh, which showed at
once that he was not responsible for his acts. It was curious that, while fond of
gorging himself with food, he was never addicted to drinking. Hence his acts could
not be ascribed to the effects of drink. It had been observed that the excessive use
of intoxicating lignors led in him only to increased dullness and stupidity, and never
to irrationality of conduet. There was, however, a degree of cunning about him
which few wonld suspect. For instance, although he was inconsequential in
the extreme, and had no reasoning powers, yet he was able to put a
sort of proposition which, at first sight, many persons would think indicated
a glimmering of reason.  When it came to be examined, however, it would be found
to have nothing to do with the matter in hand, to be words, and nothing more. Af
Eton, after he had reached the age of seventeen, when spoken to sternly he used to
cry and blubber like a child, allowing the tears to roll down his cheeks, and never
attempting to wipe them away with a pocket-handkerchief, After consulting Dr.
Ferguson, who gave him an opinion intended to consale him for his ill-success in his
attempt to cultivate a barren soil, Mr. Cheales resigned his tutorship in despair, and
Mr. Windham was transferred by Lady Sophia to the care of Mr. Goodwin, ab
Torquay. The latter gentleman wounld describe to them his vain efforts to improve
the pupil, and would in all essential respects confirm the statement of Mr. Cheales.
In 1857, General Windham, who had distingnished himself in the Crimea, was ordered
out to India. Before leaving England he thought it necessary to make his nephew
& ward in Chancery, and that led in 1858 to Lord Alfred Hervey and another Mr.
Windham being associated with the original testamentary gnardians, Lady Sophia
and General Windham. The position of the young Me. Windham was then brought
under the notice of Viee-Chancellor Wood, who, seeing what his manner and Labits
were, thought he should have an opportunity of travelling. Colonel Bathurst, who
had been in the Guards, was induced to take him abroad, but he had no sconer
landed on the Continent than he found that he might as well have taken charge of
a wild animal. The conduct of the youth was guite outrageons, and apon one
occagion the Colonel was absolutely obliged to strike him to keep him in anything like
order. At Spa he went about with his elothes unbuttoned, and exhibited an utter
uncongciousness not only of the value of money, but even of its use, by throwing it
about at the gaming-table and elsewhere. When Colonel Bathurst returned to :
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might hear-him. His gormandizing propensities were exhibited in many carions
ways., Once as many as 17 eggs were served up to his breakfast ; upon another oc»
casion 12 ; and frequently when he came home without notice the cook had to poach
an incredible number for him. He would ent up joints and throw the pieces about
the room, and in eating he made a noise like a pig. One day he ate until he was
sick, and vomited on Mrs. Lewellin's dress. It was sometimes extremely difficult to
get him to wash himself, and his bed was often found in a filthy state, indicating a
common symptom of imbecility of mind. He also got into the habit of ealling
everybody “0ld Bob Ridley,” and would frequently, while at dinner, lay
down his knife and fork to beat that tmne upon the table. Occasionally he
would order dinner for a large party, and then, going out, not appear

again till late at night, when he would return alone. He ordered several pairs of

boots from a bootmaker in the Opera Colonnade, and told the tradesman to send
home for every pair of boots two pairs of boot-trees, Had his orders been executed
to the letter he would have received somewhere about 40 pairs of boot-trees. When
the bootmaker called with his account he abused him in the most violent language,
aund then all at once offered to treant him with champagne. He became well
known to the police in and about the Haymarket, and exhibited a desire to act ag
& policeman himself. He had a particular propensity to give women in charge, bub
he would attack other persoms withont ecause, and order the police to take them to
the station-honse. At Norwich he assumed the character of a detective. While at
Yarmouth he ran after a party of soldiers in the streets, saying he was their captain,
and ordering them off to the guardhomse. In July he met with & woman who
passed by the name of Agnes Willoughby, but whose real name was Rogers. Ik
was in the Aseot week, and judging from his own statement, he saw her first with
a person named Roberts. This Roberts lived in a handsome houge in Piccadilly,
had a brougham, made a splendid appearance about town, and was & well-known
man in certain cireles. He and Miss Agnes Willoughby, alizs Rogers, had been for
some time, according to the statement of the alleged lunatie, upon close and
intimate and improper terms. Miss Willoughby was not the chastest of the chaste;
her favours in love affairs were not few ; she was known to the police. On the 30th
of Angust, having come of age on the 9th, Mr. Windham was married to Dliss
Willonghby, alias Rogers, although both he and the lady knew at the time that he
was suffering from a foul and infectious disorder, Hastily and hurriedly marriage
settlements were prepared by Mr. Bowen May, a soliciter in Russell-square, giving
the ]EH.'!.j" £800 a year at once, to be increased to £1,500 in 1869, when Mr. Windham
came into the settled estates, The date was the 29th of August, and the settlement
was one in perpetuity, so that Mrs. Windham, without pecuniary loss, might get rid
of her husband—whom ghe admitted she loathed—whenever she pleased. Nor was
this all. Those who had now got possession of the unfortunate young man were not
patisfied with £800 a year; they took him to a jeweller's, and there, with an income
n.l_' ;E:]_;,Bﬁl.'lt per annum, he ordered jewellery to the valune of £12,000 or £14,000 for
his wife. Moreover, Roberts went down to Fellbrigg-hall and represented to the
woodman that he had bought all the timber on the estate for £5,000 for three yeara,
and he would have cut every stick of it if he had been allowed. While staying at
Fellbrigg-hall wit]} hig wife Mr. Windham was taken ill, An old family doctor waa
sent for. Mrs. Windham asked him, speaking of her husband, whether he did not
think his relations were poisoning him. The doctor said he did not entertain any
such idea. He was not allowed to see Mr. Windham again, but was told, on calling
at the hall, that Mrs. Windham had sent for her own doctor. On his return to town
a short time ago Mr. Windham was visited, under an ovder of the Lords Justices, by
Dr. Mayo and Dr, Forbes Winslow. They found him oceupying a suite of apart-

ments in Roberts’ house in Pieeadilly. Dr. Winslow talked to him of the relations
which existed between Hoberts and his wife both before and after her marriage, bub
he failed to perceive in the unfortunate man anything like a notion of decency or
propriety, or a sense of honour.  All that conld be got from him was, “ Oh! Bawdy-

house Roberts is a very good fellow, and I like him.” The learned counsel thea

read a placard written by Roberts, but signed by the alleged lunatie, ealling upon

the “ people of Great Britain” to protect him from a conspiracy to defrand him ont

of his property ; and concluded by expressing his belief that the statement which he

had just submitted to the 7 : . :
whom he should call %Efﬁllﬁmm be in every respect confirmed by the witnesses

-



The examination of witnesses in favour of the case of the promoters of the in-
quiry was then proceeded with., :

ME. NICHOLS, SURGEON, NORFOLK.

Mr. Nichols, who was examined by Mr. Field, Solicitor :—

I am in practice as a surgeon in Norwich, and have been foi® more than 30
years. During the last 25 years I have had betwe=en 100 and 200 cases of insanity
under my care. Iam the proprietor of alarge private asylum in Norfolk, and am
chief surgeon to the Bethel Hospital, in Norwich. I have been for many years
acquainted with tlie Windham family at Fellbrigg-hall. I knew the late Mr. Wind-
ham up to the time of his death, which took place in 1854, I know William
Frederick Windham, the subject of the present inquiry. My professional attention
was drawn to him by his father when the son was about four years ofage. I found
him to be a child of infirm mental organization. He was unable to speak, was
slavering from the mouth, and presented other indications of mental deficiency
which induced me to believe that in all probability he would become an idiot. He
has not become an idiot, which I confess has surprised me, but he is the next
thing to it. 1 was not afterwards consulted by his father. Abont two years |
since I saw the son at a ball in Norwich. 1 was introduced to him asa friend of
the family. - He shook hands with me, and immediately burst out into a viclent
idiotie langh. I endeavoured to get him into conversation, but his replies were quite
mncoherent and convinced me that the malady I had warned his father of had mani-
fested itself in an extraordinary degree. During the evening he ghook hands with
me several times, not remembering, I believe, that he had done so before. He wore
a military aniform. According to my jndgment, he was in an extremely feeble con-
dition of intellect, in o state constituting unsoundness of mind, unfit to manage
himself or his property.

Cross-examined by Sir Hugh Cairns.—My attention was first directed to the con-
dition of Mr. Windham in 1843 or 1844. He was then about four years of age, and
was scarcely able to articulate. I have no note in my diary relating to my examina-
tion of him. I speak entirely from memory. At that time I did not keep any
memorandum of my cases. [ was not consulted about anything relating to his
physical health, nor did I prescribe for a weak knee. One of the grounds of my
conclusion as to his defective mental organization was, that he was unable to artien-
late perfectly. Another was slavering at the mouth. There were other indications
of a congenital malformation. One was inatteation to anything said to him. I
could not draw his attention to his playthings: in fact, he took no notice of any
abject. I have mo doubt I endeavoured to direct his attention to my watch, and I
have as little doubt that I did not succeed. I noticed a defect in his upper lip, which
was drawn up, leaving the gnm exposed. I observed no defect in the upper jaw. I
recollect making an affidavit in this case to be used in the Court of Chancery. If I
stated in that affidavit that William Frederick Windham was between five and six
years of age when I examined him, I must have made a mistake; for he could not
“have been more than four yearsof age at furthest. The ball in Norwich at which I'met
Mr. Windham tock placein the antamn of 1858. It wasan assembly ball. His langh
was very unlike that of a person of sound mind, and was caleulited to attract the

‘attention of the bystanders. He wore a military uniform. At that time he had a
commission in a militia regiment. Later in the evening he shook hands with me a
second time, and talked, as I thought, incoherently. ’ 3

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—When I saw Mr. Windham as a child the opinion
I formed as to his mental incapacity wvas founded not only upon the symptoms I
have mentioned, but also upon the formation of his head, Theslavering ﬂ‘t' the mu';ft'h
did not arise from the defect in his upper lip, but, as I believed, from his defective
mental organization. His laugh at the ball in Norwich attracted the attention of
the bystanders. It was an idiotie langh—Iloud, shrieking, unmeaning. He did not
conduct himself like the other young men in the room. His manner swas generally
observed and commented npon, It was that of an imbecile.

By the Master,—What I saw at the ball could not be acconnted for by mere eccen-
tricity.

THE REV. H. J. CHREALES, LATE TUTOR TO W. P. WINDHAM,
The Rev. H. J. Cheales examined, said:—I recollect being engaged ai Eton as
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it + to William Frederick Windham. He was at that time at the house of
Eir:‘ng:lg::ﬁ, one of the masters. Inthe autumn of 1854 we went to Chesterfield,
and afterwards to Fellbrigg-hall. The Christmas holidays we spent in London. :_[I.‘-
was my duty to take care of him in everyway. His power of learning was very
gmall. Hecould read and write English, but not well. ]Iawgua decidedly inferior to
boys of his age generally. His habits were not cleanly. His hands and face were
constantly dirty, and he seemed to have no wish to keep them clean. It was ne-
cessary constantly to order him to wash himself. He showed great gluttony, and
wonld it with the saliva running from his month at his meals. Heate voraciously,

and nsed to sleep heavily after his meals. I do not remember any sickness resulting -

from his gluttony. I frequently remonstrated with him on the subject, telling
him to eat more sparingly and with greater decency. H}B _glm!.ony cnr_utmued. L
also spoke to him abont the slobbering at the mouth, but it likewise ﬂ?llt-ll]'ﬂﬂd. He
made no answer to my remonstrances. His habit was to sit w:bh_ his mounth w:ld_ﬂ
open, the ealiva running from the corners, and he would sometimes not use his
pocket-handkerchief until I told him to doso. When scolded for any fault, he usﬂ:ﬁ
to ery far mora than boys of his age generally do. The tears ran profusely from his
eyes, and sometimes he would let them run down his cheeks without attempting fo
wipe themaway. His langh was unlike that of a reagonable person. He would
sometimes langh without any apparent cause, and in a lond boisterous manner. He
made other noises—screeching and yelling—both in and out of the house. He was
go addicted to lying that he could not be believed. I endeavoured to correct his
habit in this respect, and repeatedly punished him for it, but I met with no success.
The untruths he told were sometimes cunning encugh, but sometimes they wers
quite transparent. I think he had a very imperfect sense of the difference between
right and wrong, truth and falsehood. His lies were generally intended to protect
himself from punishment, and occasionally were exaggerations of what he had seen.
They were usually such as were easy of detection. He was much given to low
company—the lower servants at Fellbrigg and the porters at railway stations. A
Eton and elsewhere he wonld always be in the kitchen when he could. I could not
keep him away. He had violent fits of passion, not always with a cause, during
which he would abuse everybody who approached him. At those times he used
the worst possible langnage—profane and filthy. Even on ordinary occasions hig
langnage was coarse and nasty, interlarded with oaths. I have seen him dance
abont the house, moving his head and limbs in a'peculiar manner, and screaming
in a loud voice. 1 once punished him for brandishing a poker in the kitchen. At
Fallbrigg he had a pony and horses. Sometimes he treated them savagely. He
would get off his pony, and kick it and beat it, and jerk its mouth with the reing.
Generally there was no ground for beating the animal so. He rode recklessly and
cruelly. Ipunished bim en one occasion for swearing at and beating oune of the
maid servants. Itook him intosociety at Eton and elsewhere. He behaved noisily,
riotonsly, and was rude in his manner to ladies. One evening, at a party in Tor-
quay, he geized a gentleman by the whiskers and held his head against the wall.

ere was not the least provocation. It was one of those outbursts of excitement
to which he wus accustomed. He uttered a loud langh. I was obliged to release
the gentleman. There were ladies present. Ladies have frequently asked me to
protect them from him—to take him away. When he lived with me I have been
obliged to apeak to him about going among the servants and washing up dishes. I
have forbidden him to carry trays. My remonstrances had no effect. He was in
the habit of sleeping in the daytime—much oftener than is nsual with boys at his
age. He boaght himself a railway whistle, and would use it in his own room, shut-
ting the door as if it were the door of a railway carriage, and acting as if he were a
railway guard. When trains arrived at the Windsor station he used to open the
doors and assist the passengers to alight. Complaints were made to me of his
conduct at the station more than once, but nothing I eonld say or do had any effect.
On one occasion I told him I had heard he had been imitating o steam-engine, and
mMovIng El-bput a8 if he were one, lamp and all. He did uot seem to see the harm
'_lJf it. Owing to my want of success with him, I took him to Dr., Robert Fergusson
in the early part of the summer of 1856. Dr. Ferguson gave me an opinion upon
h.ﬂ' cﬂ'ﬂdlhﬂﬂj hutl J]'th in hiﬂ PTBSE"IIGB. l rﬂﬂlﬂjﬂﬂd ]J..EE t'ﬂm[‘ fﬂ-]‘a yoear ﬂ_ﬂ;gr th&t,
but there Was no improvement in his mental power, though he counld then do school
work—Latin and Gre!:k——lmtt.ur than he counld have done it twelve monthe before.
I gave up my tutorship in 1857 withont having succeeded at all in improving his
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habits. T think his intellect was lower than any I had ever seen i i
age. I treated him on that footing. R ik
At this stage. the inquiry was adjourned.

_ SECOND DAY.—Web~Espay, Dxc, 17.
_ The inquiry in this case was resumed this day before Master Warren and a special
Jury. The parties were represented by counsel as on the previous day.

THE REV. H. J. CHEALES.

The Rev. H. J. Cheales, cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns—1 w '
a8 private tutor to Mr. Windham by Mr. Balston, who engaged [:.g GT%HE%E]&ft;%E: .
mother on 27th April,[1855. I was the first private tutor he had at the school. He °
was at that time in the fourth form. He had then been at Eton more than half o
year. His school work woald have been Latin, Greek, and verses. Idon’t know
that he was the oldest boy in the fonrth form. It is very seldom that boys as old as
15 are in the fourth form, though it does so happen occasionally, His spelling was
bad all the while he was withme. T did not complain to the “dame’ in whose
house he was at Eton about his dirty habits in not washing his dirty hands and face.
I did make representations to his mother on the subject when we were at Felbrigg,
and she said, “ Yon must fry and cure his dirty habits.” When T complained to
him about his gluttony and his habit of slobbering he merely grinned. The defect
in his lip did not prevent his closing his mouth. He did not slobber at all times,
but only when he was sitting still at his lessons, or when he was at his meals and
not actually eating. Mr. Windham was my first and only pupil. When I saw him
langhing without apparent cause, I have occasionally asked him why he laughed,
and he would sometimes reply that it was what he was thinking of, ahd sometimes
that he could not help it. I never saw other boys lasgh before their masters in the
wild way he laughed. It was a meaningless langh, asifhe were langhing at nothing.
It waslike the lnugh of a person who Wwas without reason. He wus a boy of very
wild spirit. When he screeched and made a noise without reason, I have asked
him what it was for, and he eonld not or would not tell me. He would sereech and
dance about the room and laugh wildly. Sometimes he would do thisin the presence
‘of other boys for their amusement to make them laugh. T never reported his
untruthfulness to the head master, but I reported his riotous conduct in
the house to Mr. Balston, who' reported it to the head master, and he was
flogged for it. That sometimes happens with other boys at Eton. The habits of a
boy as to truthfulness and cleanliness would, no doubt, much depend vpon the
manner in which he had been brought up. Young Mr. Windham was, I understood,
brought up with his father and mother at home. I never heard, while at Norfolk,
that thefather had been in the habit of swearing and using bad language. On the
first occasion I was at Fellbrizg Mr. Windham, the father, was there. I saw nothing
to lead me to suppose that he was a passionate man, or that he was in the habit of
using oaths or profane language., Young Mr. Windham was very fond of going into
the stable and mixing with the stable boys. He wasnot very fond of horses. While
I was at Fellbrigg there was nobody but his parents and myself for him to associate
with. He wasthe only boy I knew, at Eton or elsewhere, who showed a taste for
being about arailway. I have heard of young men who were fond of getting upon an
engine, if they were allowed to do so, to understand about the mode of driving railway,
engines. That would not indicate weak intellect. When I saw him in the kitchen
making a noise with the servants, he was jumping about and laughing. That was
in 1855, when he was fifteen years old. I gave him impositions for misconduet,
generally 100 lines of Latin to write ont. Sometimes I was obliged to resort to
corpornl punishment. I have seen the Highland fling danced, but though it is
noisy and there isa goood deal of jumping in it, I do not think it barbarous. When
I punished Lim for brandishing the poker, swearing at the servants, beating the
maids, and other faults, he did not deny that he didso. He did not tell an untruth
about it, because he knew that 1 had got information from persons who saw it.
gaw it. When he rode out on his pony at Fellbrigg he as scarcely
ever alone. I usnally went with him on horseback. When he got off
and beat the pony, which he did frequently, !1"3_' appeared to be dissatisfied
he with the pony. What I mean by his ¥iding recklessly was that he
would ride with a loose rein over rough ground, and sometimes l_;lml: w?uld
vide very fast. The pony wasa sure footed anima. He went occasionally into
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oty 1 iehbonrhood of Fellbrige. It waslgenerally to cricket parties, He
i';'}{“,fﬂ; th;-:l:j% of going out to evening parties, or dining out at gentlemen's
houses. had no sisters. It was at Christmas, 1855, and at Easter, 13.’_:6, and
agnin at Christmas, 1856, that we were at Torquay. I believe it was at Christmas,
1856, that he assaulted the gentleman at the party. His mother was with him at
Torquay: Mr. Campana was the person he agssaulted. He was a foreigner, an
Ttalian. I had met Mr. Campaua before, and so had young Mr. Windham. 1 don’t
know that any conversation took place before the assault. My attention was first
directed to the circumstances by hearing his langh when I was at the other end _uf
the voom. His mother was in the room. I did not complain to his mother about it.
(To the Master)—Mr, Campana was between thirty and forty years of age. (To
Sir H. Cairns)—I told Mr. Windham's mother that I was dissatisfied with my pupil.
When I have been called upon to protect ladies against his rudeness he was about
gixtesn. The rudeness was following them about the room and shouting. What the
ladies said to me was, “Take away this disagreeable boy.” I remember Mrs.

Jeftries, the housekeeper at Fellbrigg. I'have complained to her of the conduct of

my pupil. I had his mother's consent when I took him to Dr. Fergusson. I think
Mr. Windham had an allowance paid through me when he was under my care at
Eton. He was extravagant, and got into debt. I don't remember what was the
amount of his allowance. I paid his debts—one of them was a debt of 18s. at a
pastrycook’s. '

* 8ir H. Cairng—Was there ever much cordiality between you and your pupil F—
We were very good friends at times—not so at other times. I left my pupil finally
at Haster in 1857, when we were at Torquay. I did not see General Windham nor hear
from him while his nephew was with me. 1 first made his acquaintance a fow
weeks ago. He asked me to call at his house at Eaton-square. He expressed a
wish to see me. I did not see him from that time till yesterday, when I met himin
aourt.

Cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge (on behalf of Mrs. Windham)—When Mr, Wind-

bham left: Eton he was in the fifth form. I don’t recollect what part of the form he

was in. Yon may assume, for the purpeses of a question, that he was in the middle

division. While there he would have to do, Homer 75 lines ; Virgil 75 lines; Satires.

and Odes of Horace, Livy, or Tacitus, Lucian, Xenophon, the Greek Testament, the
Odyssey, or Telemachus, 24 lines of verses, Latin exercise, and Greek exercises and
mathematics. He got through his work with my help. I cannot undertake to say
he was in the fifth form. I do not know that he did Homer. There are trials at
the achiool ; I don't know how many in the year. I believe thers arve trials twice in
the year, Mr. Windbam was there two years, and was treated like the other boys.
I never saw any other Eton boy make the noises he did, or conduct himself in the
same way. I never heard the Etihiopian Serenaders. I never heard the way in
which they imitate a steam engine and end with a howl., (Laughter.) I have not
seen my pupil since T left him at Torquay, at Christmas, 1856. T resigned my
charge from ill health. I left on my own acecord.

Re-examined by Mr. Field—If my pupil was in the fifth form it was only fora v
short time before he left. He was ill and mot at school in the aotom of 1856, so
that he could not have done fifth form work for many months. His capacity for
the work he actually did was very small. I think his capacity slightly increased as
he went on. Hia illness was caused by an injury to his finger, arising from his
putting his hand in the lifting machine, and turning the wheel, which caused a cog
wheel to come on his finger and erpsh it. I did not report his untruthfulness and
noisy conduct to the head master, becanse I thought it better to treat him privately
His jumping and yelling was nothing like the Highland fling. I mean by ridin :
recklessly that he rode in & way endangering his own safety. Ie got into debt to
the extent of some few pounds.

By the Jury—The help I gave him in his studies was to see that he prepared hia
lessons, and put him right when he was wrong. I had to help him considerably
more than private tutors uvsually help pupils. The removal from one form to
another is by merit, the character of the boy being taken into consideration Hig
removal was the result of the school examination. In his case I bolieve favour was
shown. He got flogged for not construing his lessons, but not often when I wag
with him. His allowance wns about the snne s other boys in the school.
believe, about 1s. or 2s. a week. He went to the kitchen because he
company of the servants. His principal amusement

It was, I

] liked the
there was washing up dishes,
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EDWARD HALE, ETON, TUTOR TO MR. WINDHAM,

Edward Hale, examined by Mr. Williams—I am a clergyman i
master at Eton, and have been so since 1850. I took parrﬁn thﬁamﬁl;gmmu::?uin:ﬂ?mmﬂ
Windbam. He was up to me in school in 1855, and he was my private pupilin the
election and Easter, 1856. Part of the time I resided in the same honse with him
Mrs. Voyse's. When he first came up to me I was obliged to have him sit slbei
by me, and work separately from the other boys, as he conld not keep up with them.
The boys in the fourth form in Windham's time wonld be generally from eleven to four-
teen years of age. I never could teach him Eunelid. We got through a certain amount
of vulgar fractions. He could do any sum when I showed him the way to do it,
but he conld never work out anything like a problem himself. He was the densest °
pupil I ever had. I don't think he made any sensible advance while he was under
my care. When he first came up to me he began to make a row. I made him eome
up and sit by me and told him I would put himinthe “bill,” which means that he
wonld be reported to the head master. He was amenable to discipline then, or to use
another Eton word, he rather “funked.” He was very dirty, and had indecent
habits. Iadyised Mr, Cheales to consult a medical man about him, in consequence.
He would get the boys round him, and make faces and dance for their amuse-
ment. From what I saw of him I considered him incapable of mental exertion,
or of managing himself.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—Mr. Cheales was never present when he did
his lessons in school. The coaching of Mr. Cheales was, therefore, so far effective.
Other boys are coached in the same way by private tutors if they are backward.
He did not make a fool of himself in school after I put him in the bill. I did pnt
him in the bill, and he was no doubt flogged. When he cried the noise he made
was peculiar. It was a sort of “ boo, boo,” and he shed tears plentifully. I do not
know that he was bullied more than other boys. I observed a malformation of his
mouth. I didnot know that he wore an ivory palate. In the fourth form we began
with compound division and went up to vulgar fractions. He could not do a rule
of three sum without assistance, but he could do a gnm in volgar fractions when he
was shown how. He 'could do compound addition. He was my private pupil till he
left at Christmas, 1856. I think Mr. Windham was never in my room with other
private pupils. What I told him to do he did. He was utterly unable to under-
stand the terms of any proposition in Euclid. I have never seen him since he left
Eton, I believe he got as far as the fifth form, and that he was allowed to be
presented to the fifth form without examination, because of the accident to his hand.

Cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge—I formed my opinion that he was incapable at
the fourth form trials before he was my private pupil.

By Mr. Chambers—He was not fit to pass the examination necessary to go into
the fifth form.

By the Master—I am master at Eion now, and have been so between elevan
and twelve years. During that period I have never had a boy so low mentally, or
go odd in his habits.

By a Juror—] have a distinct notion that he knew the first four rules uf
arithmetic, simple and compound. I never tested him with mental arithmetic.
He was looked upon by the boye as a buffoon, and he was generally called by them
¢« Mad Windham.” I have heard of another boy bl?ing called mad, but that was

before I was at Eton.
DR. DALRYMPLE, SURGEON, NORWICH.

Dr. Donald Dalrymple—I am a surgeon, and have long practised at Norwich. I
was for more than twenty years proprietor of a lunaticasylum; Iam also one of the
governors of the Bethel Lunatic Hospital. I have known Mr. Wmdh:pn from his
childhood, having been intimately acquainted with his father. I lost sight of him
from his birth to 1848. From that time 1 noticed lum till 1854, My opinion of
young Mr. Windham is that his intellectual powers are very much below pnr. I
think he is fit to manage himself personally, but not to go into the world with
roforence to his own safety and the safety of the public, I think heis eertainly nnfit
40 manage his own property and money. He was subject to sudden fits of passion,
and while under their influence I do not believe he was sensible of the distinetion
between right and wrong. In July or August, 1860, he staid two nights ab my
house with his mother. A horse was hired for him, because I did not like to trost him
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with one of my own. He did not bring the horse back, but it was found the next
day at thelower end of thetown. The saddle came back at the end of a week, but
the bridle never came back. I was at Notwich on the day of General Windham’s
ovation. There was a dinner at St. Andrew’s-hall. Before dinner he rede in a
carriage with his mother, my wife, and myself, and Ihad the greatest difficulty in
keeping him to his seat in the carriage. He shouted and yelled, making a great
noise which we counld not stop, and when in the hall he jumped upon the chairs and
the table, and he was continually interrupting the speeches. 1 can’t say that he
had not been drinking, but he was not druuk. His noisy conduct was not the effect of
drink. He slept at my house that night. I went into his room to see if his light was

- out : it was not, but he was asleep and stark naked, without any bed-clothes on

him.
Some other evidence was given by this witness as to certain habits of the alleged
lunatie, which habits, the witness said, were both symptoms and causes of mental
disease. The witness further spoke of varions eccentrieities of conduet on the part
of My. Windham on several occasions down to the beginning of the present year.
Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—I was intimate with the Windham family.

Young Windham was a epoiled child. The late Mr. Windbam was a very hot
tempered man. His mother was algo an excitable person. Young Mr. Windham,

as a child, was allowed to have his own way. I think he would have been better if
more restraint had been put npon him. He was irregularly restrained, and he
would be blamed at one time for what would be passed over at another. 1 was a
frequent visitor at the Hall. Young Windham was very fond of the servants’ hall
and the stable, but was more in the servants’ hall than the stable. He was brought

. down to his father's funeral, and he was very much affected while in the chureh, but
after the funeral I was painfully struck with the little emotion he displayed at his.
father's death. When he was stopping at my house in 18566 his mother wrote to

me two or three days before to get hun a horse. She never asked me to lend him ore
of my horses. The occasion on which the horse was hired was that of General
Windham's ovation. It was guite a gala day. There was a procession, flags, and
carriages, and people on. horseback going about all day. I do not know of his
having a peenliar defect in the mouth, or that he ever wore an ivory palatein his
mouth. His speech is peculiar, but not so much so as to attract attention. The

 dinner at 8t. Andrew’s-hall was about half-past four in the afternoon, There were

many gentlemen and many of the Norfolk farmers present. ¥Young Mr. Windham
wns noisy at every toast. There was wine ad libitym, and the proceedings lasted
until nine o'clock. There was great noise when the general's health was drunk, I
never heard more noige in 8t. Andrew’s-hall. Mr. Windham came home to supper.
I have seen him, whew a child of five or six years old, fling himself down on the
floor and howl and blare, and bite the carpet, because he was told that he must not do
gomething he was doing. I remember an outbreak at a later period, between 1848
and 1854, when he came howling into the room and complaining that one of the
servants had done something to him. I have never visited him at Fellbrigg since
he became of age. I never, sinee he was of age, saw him deal with a tradesman or
pay money. [ have never shot with him or rode with him gince; and God forbid I
ghould dine with him. (A laogh.) I never saw him do anything in reference to
the management of his affairs—buy, sell, or communicate with his steward, or any
thing else in the way of business, since he came of age. Mr. Ansell, the solicitor,
(formerly the receiver), employed me to make an affidavit in this case. I never saw
Mr. Windham transact any matter of business. I never saw him fire a gun, Yet I
said in the affidavit that I considered his mind so entirely inconsequential that he
could not see the effect any course of action might have nupon his affairs, and if he
were to shoot a dog or a keeper insanity might be pleaded in his defence. What I
stated in the affidavit and in my evidence to-day as to the habits which affected
his mind, was from what I saw on the night he was at my house, and from his
drinking, gormandising, and mingling with low company and low women. I believe
ke is able to take care of himself so far, that he would take good care that he would
1ot get himself into dagger; but I believe if he did injure anybody wilfully, insanity
might properly be pleaded in his defence.

_Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.~—I do not congider that he is able to take carae of
himself in society, but that he is able to take oare of himself personally,

;E"hm: he came home from the diuner he did not exhibit any sigus of having drank
GXCead,

A
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By the Master.—] have had twenty-five years’ experience in cases of insanity.
I consider Mr. Windham's case to be one of imperfectly developed mental
power, and I believe it to be congenital in him. What I mean by his being able
to take care of his person is, that he is physically able to defend himself.

DR. JOHNSON, PEYSICIAN, NORWICH.

Dr. James Johnson examined by Mr. Field.—I have practised as a physician in
Norwich for thirty years. I have had a great deal of experience in mental
digeases. I bave known Mr. Windham from childhood personally, and more
intimately since his uncle’s return from the Crimea. At the ovation of the
Fellbrigg tenantry on the occasion of Ris uncle's return I saw him on his pony,
riding at random. He rodeinto the crowd, and as the pony was frichtened by the
discharge of artillery, he got off and tried to draw the pony into the crowd after
him, throngh the horses, and carriages, and people. Lord Suffield interfered, and
took him by the collar and dragged him out. I was at the Norwich sessions ball,
in 1859, and saw Mr. Windham there. He behaved very strangely, jumped abont,
walked backwards, beckoned to the ladies to come down to him ; he trod upon Sir

John Boilean’s toes, and instead of apologising, swore, and when somebody after- | .
wards trod upon his toes he took up his foot in his hand and hopped across the .

room howling. (Laughter.) At the subscription ball his behaviour was equally
strange. He forced his partner through the dances, tore the ladies’ dresses, and
committed other absurdities. He did the same at other balls. He langhed on
these occasions in the strangest manner. 2

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—I cannot give you an idea of the kind of laugh
unless you go to Colney Hatch. (A laugh.) I was never introduced to Mr.
Windham. What T mean by being personally acquainted with him is that I knew
him by sight. When he pushed his partner through the dancers they were waltzing.
T refused to allow my daughter to dance with him, because I considered him to be a
person of unsound mind.

Rev. Thos. Goodwin examined by Mr. Williams—I am a clergyman of the Church
of England. I-was residing in Torquay in the early part of 1857. [ was applied to
to take charge of Mr. Windham during the time I remained in Torquay. I did so,
and he remained with me a fortnight or three weeks. He lived with his mother,
and I went to the house each day. 1 attempted to instruct him. His education
was exceedingly deficient. While I attended him we conld do no more than get
through two chapters of Prescott’s © History of Pern.” 1 found it almost impossible
to fix his attention upon any subject, and when he did fix his attention upon any
gubject he had mot the capacity to masterit. T found him dirty in his habita,
untruthfal, and boastful. He would tell untruths without any other object than
+that of boasting. He was very excitable. 1 have seen him jamp over chairs, jump
on his mother’s shoulders and try to ride on her like a horse, and when reading he
would suddenly jump up and run three or four times round the garden as t' as he
conld. I have seen him fly into a violent passion because his mother, Lady Sophia,
refused him permission to go out hunting. He gorged very much. 1 have seen
him at an evening party bring ina large dirty dog and let it loose among the ladies.
T have no doubt from what T saw of him that he is of unsound mind.

COross-examined by Mr. Karslake—I judge of his deficient intellectnal develop-
ment from my conversation with him. _ _ ]

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers—He was quite unable to keep up a conversation,
however gimple. :

COL. BATHURST, MR, WINDHAM'S CONTINENTAL COMPANION.

Oolonel J. P. Bathurst examined by Mr. Chambers—I was formerly in the Cold-
gtream Guards. Inow command the 20th Middlesex Volunteers. 1 was introduced
to young Mr. Windham in May, 1857, for the purpose of taking him Ln.mmd.hI
was appointed by Viee-Chanecellor Wood to travel with him for about six mu{:thn.
Wa firgh « went to Brossels, and then to Spa, where we remained a fortnight.
We then weut to Wiesbaden, to Baden Baden, and the usual tour through
Qwitzerland, On our return we revisited Spa, and remained there o htﬂ?
while. We were away from FEuogland from the 19th of June to the end o
September. I was constantly with him all that time. With the exception of qukl?;ﬁ
at u newspaper occasionally, and at a novel I got for him, I do not think he app
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himself to anything while I wag with him. Before we went abroad I got him the
¢ Ingoldsby Legends,” which he read part of I believe, because he remembered, and
often afterwards repeated one couplet about the modern monk getting jolly drunk.
(A langh.) I observed that he wascruel to animals and was very fond of flogging
horses severely. On one occasion at Spa he flogged a horse he rode so badly that I
had to give asum of money to the owner to seftle the matter. He was a glutton at
eating. He had a great fancy for speaking in the dialect that the common peaople
of Norfolk use. He was very noisy, and would run up and down stairs at the hotel
shouting at the top of his voice. The noise was usually a sort of hunting * halloo.”
He was constantly langhing, and I could atany time have set him off langhing
for any length of time; the only difficulty would have been to stop him. He
appeared when langhing, which he would do for no reason at all, to be unable to
gtop himself, andall the while the saliva would run down from the corners of his
mouth. Sometimeshe would cry equally withont canse. While travelling on the
continent he woulde ndeavour to make acquaintance with the railway gnards, and,
by giving them a small douceur, get them to allow him to work the breaks
with them. At the hotels he would langh and romp with the waiters. I remons
gtrated with him, but my remonstrance had no permanent effect. He was alwaya
falling in love with the ladies wherever he met with them, and I heard that he
proposed to gome of them. Whilst I was with him at Plymouth he got excited at
a dinner, and shouted ocut to a lady at the other end of the table repeatedly so as
to attract attention. It was something more than want of manners, It was com-
plained of to me that he used foul language in the presence of ladies, and I spoke
to him about it. At my suggestion he made an apology. His behaviour in society
generally was rude, boisterous, and unmanly. He wounld not be five minutes in a
room withont making himself conspicnons to all present. I have had repeated
complaints made to me of his conduct, and have spoken to him about it. He waa
very careless in his clothes and person. I supplied him from time to time with
small sums of money, which he wasted foolishly. He frequently told untruths, and
wasd in the habit of making exaggerated statements. Many of his statements were
guch obvions untraths that I was almost led to believe that he scarcely knew the
difference between truth and falsehood. T have seen him fly into passions so violent
‘that I believe had he a weapon in his hand while under their influence he would be
unable to control his actions. We returned before the time intended, becanse I
felt I could make no improvement adequate to the remuneration I was receiving.
My impression from what I saw of him is that he is decidedly of weak intellect.
I believe he could manage himself; but if he went into society he would make him-
gelf very soon disagreeably conspicnons. T consider him decidedly unfit to manage
his private affairs.

At the conclusion of the witness's examination in chief, the inquiry was farthe
adjonrned till next dag. e 3

_ f THIRD DAY.—Wepxespay, DEc. 18.

The adjonrned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Court of Hxchequer, Westminster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and n special jury.

Mr. M. Ghnmhm:n, Q:C., Mr. Field, and Mr, Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell, for Lady Sophian Elizabeth Giunbilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.,
. The Mu:atqr said I am seriously distressed at the length to which it is almost
inevitable this inguiry will extend. I have already signed and sealed about 200
:Iummnnum fowitnesses. It may not be necessary to serve all those summonses,
Rut I have issned them to all ports of England, to Seotland, to Ireland, and even to
] ::Em. _The expense of such an inguiry is necessarily frightful. All parties have an
;.n rest in keeping it down as much as possible, and I will do so. It is impossible

t}r us to sit on Monday next, the day of the funeral of the late Prince Consort; bub
alter that, ‘W:ﬂl the exception of Christmas-day and Bundays, you may wit every day
Enhl t.]llre-a_u clock in the afternoon, up to the lat of January. I understand thut
: enera lenflhumm very distingunished officer, will have to go to India Boon, in order
t;; resume his command, which has been suspended by the Horse Guards solely for

H_ﬂﬂl‘pﬂﬂﬂ of enabling him to attend to this matter. Nevertheless, with every dis-
Position to accommodate General Windham, I have other publie duties which will
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take and keep me away after the 1st of January until the end of the week. T hops
that every effort will be made, consistent with justice, to shorten the inqguiry, and
meanwhile T trust that the arrangement which I have just announced will give
general satisfaction.

Sir H. Cairns was sure that everybody engaged in the case would respond to the
feeling which actuated the learned Master in proposing not to &it on Monday next.
He was somewhat alarmed at hearing the great number of witnesses whom it was
proposed to eall on the other side, but he was not without hope that things wounld
clear off a little as they proceeded with the inquiry. For his own part, he was pre-
pared to do all he could to shorten the inguiry, but his course must be in a great

‘measure regulated by what was done oo the other side.

Mr. Field said that no effort would be wanting on the part of council for the
petitioners to bring the proceedings to a close as soon as possible.

Colonel Bathurst, cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I was a brother officer of
‘General Windham in the Coldstream Guards. I was rather more than three months
with young Mr, Windham. I was abroad from the 18th of June to the end of Sep-
‘tember. We were moving about during the whole of that time. Mr. Windham

‘picked up one or two words of French, but he could not speak the language; he
was therefore obliged to confine his conversation to those who understood English.
T took him to church, but I was gbliged to get him out of bed for that purpose.
‘He purchased some clothes on the Continent, but they were not snitable to his con-
dition as a gentleman. In that instance he may be said to haye thrown his money
away. While we were abroad I spent for him at the rate of about £200 a-year.
That included clothes and pocket-money. I gave him money when he asked me
for it. I have spoken to him once since I parted from him on our return to England.
At the time I was travelling on the Continent I did not enter into the Ro-
man Catholie Church, nor have I done go since. There was a paragraph in thﬂﬂ
‘paper to that effect, but it related to my brother. I gave Mr, Windbam up to his
-dians. ;
gu%la-exnmineﬂ by Mr. M. Chambers.—The clothes he bought were not such as one
‘gees Englishmen of condition wearing abroad. They were not ridiculons, but they
were ill-made and of very inferior stuff. He had never anything to show for the
money he spent. I therefore conclude that he wasted it. .
‘By the Master.—While with me he ate more than he ought tohave done, 1 have
- geen him tipsy, but I cannot say that he drank to excess. Drink made him sick and
dull. His rude and boisterous conduct could not be asaibed to the effects of drink.

ME, FARRAR, REGISTRAR OF THE COURT OF CHANCERY.

Mr. Farrar, examined by Mr. Field.—I am one of the Registrars of !:ha Court
of Chancery. I met Mr. Windham at Spa in August, 1859, I saw him at the
gaming-table two or three times. He was playing—not paying any attention
to the game, but throwing his money about recklessly. I had frequent conver-
gsations with him. His talk was idiotic. I gathered from him that he preferred
living with a class below his own station in life. I saw him acting as a
railway porter at the station. His dress was put on negligently, as if he had
come out in a hurry. It was unbuttoned. His conduct was the talk of Spa. ;

Sir H. Cairns.—There is not much in that. I dare say Spa is sometimes sadly in
want of something to talk about. (A laugh.) ' :

Mr. Chambers.—And Mr. Windham was the very man to give it something to
talk about. (Laughter.) _

The Master,—The newspapers of this morning report with great accuracy
cortain bursts of laughter which took place yesterday. I hope nothing of the
kind will take place again. The inquiry is a very painful one, and I trust that out
of respect for public r.lucuni:y, if for no other raason, we shall in fature have no such
unseemly ebullitiona of feeling. :

Umﬂa-{rmnﬂned by 8ir H.Et.'nirns.—-—I did not notice what sums Mr. Windham
put down on the gaming-table. He staked, T think, two or three pieces at a .
time. I can state positively that he put down more than a five-franc piece at
one time. I have seen him stake three five-franc pieces. I was playing myself.
1 cannot state the particulars of the conversation I had with him. I can only
give the impression his talk produced on me. He talked and fﬁctedrlll-:e a
person of unsound mind. He was particularly fond of throsting himsell upon
lndies, and ot the gaming-table he used to sit with his avms gtretched out
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ing i i g, instead of attending to the play. I, on the other
La:tl:-én%nilgt;ctim:ﬂgflﬁu;{ to the play than to %hﬂ ladies ; that was the difference
hatw::en us. (A laugh.) I cannot say whether when he won money Le _tp-uk it
up or not. He told me he liked to be on the railway, anr;l to be with tha
people who worked the engine. He also told me that he liked to work the
engine himself. I do not think I ever saw him on the engine driving. He was a

Br.

ﬂﬁﬂiﬂiﬁiéﬂ by Mr. Chambérs.—The ladies into whose faces he ga;zaﬁ. at the
gaming-table might not have been of a very particnlar class. It is possible,
therefore, that they may not have felt annoyed by his conduct. 1 have seen him
opening the doors of the carriages at the railway station, and acting in all respects
like a porter. I regarded him asa person of no mind at all.

MRES. M. A. WILKINSON OF LEAMINGTON.

Mrs. Mary Alicia Wilkinson, examined by Mr. H. Williams, said :—I am a widow,
and reside in Leamington. I was residing at Spa between two or three years ago.
During my residence there I met with Mr. Windham, It wasin 1859 He was staying
in the same hotel with me. I had no knowledge of hia family, except from hearsay.
I saw him every day for more than a fortnight, and several times each day. I had
frequent conversations with him. He cunducted himself in those conversations like
achild. My general object was to improve his manners, and to teach him the
difference between truth and falsehood. I took an interest in him, becanse I con-
sidered him to be a person of a weak intellect. He could not control himself in
erying, and would seek my assistance to get him out of little scrapes. He used to
thank me for my kindness and promised to behave better in future, but he never
Lept his promise, because he did not know the value of promises. He would cry on
every slight oceasion. I remonstrated with him about his rude eonduct in society.
I have observed him at the fable d’hote. On one occasion he obliged me to say I
would leave the fable d'hiote unless he would conduct himself as a gentleman. He
was indulging in extraordinary laughter, and seemed incapable of controlling if.
He was urged to leave the table, and afterwards to leave the hotel. He did not
leave because an explanation was given to the company. There was no canse what-
ever, as far as [ am aware, for his langhter on that occasion. 1 have frequently
seen him on other oceasions indulging in similar fits of langhrer. The explanation
made at the fable d'hote was, that he was a person incapable of controlling himself.
He was unable to speak French, and I had to make the explanation on his behalf.
In general society in Spa he conducted himself in go extraordinarvy a manner that I
was obliged to explain to my own personal friends that he could not be held responsible
for his acts cn account of the weakness of his intellect. At a quadrille party a
young lady, to whom I was acting as chaperone at the Spa, and to whom I had
introduced him as a partner, brought him up to-me and told me in his presence that
she did not like to leave him in the middle of a dance, but he had threatened to box
her ears becanse she would not dance fast enough to please him. (A laugh) On
another occasion I remonstrated with him about his going to the station and acting
as guard. He told me he had gone as a guard to the next station to take charge of
some jewels and a pony carriage. I told him that he must not do so again ; that it
was only on account of his eccentricity that he had been allowed by foreigners to do
it. The only reply he made was that he knew how to take charge of a train, and it
amused him. I found him to be antruthfal,

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—He was perpetually uttering falsehoods—in
fﬂ-ﬂ’f-: did not know the difference between truth aud untruth. I do not recollect any
instance of u direct falsehood, but he was guilty of exaggerationa so extraordinary
that T did not believe a word he gaid. He would relate incredible stories with
respect to himself. He told me that he had been in the habit of carrying pistols
about his person and using them when necessary ; that ho could drive any kind of
earriage or any number of horses; that he was a remarkably brave man, tind, in
fact, feared nothing. To try him I asked him to drive me, and got a pony carriage
for hlflf[: but he 'a:!m.} the poniea so ernelly that the owner said he would never allow
Mr. Windham to drive them again unless T became responsible for their safoty. I
was not dressed like a widow at Spa. I knew Colonal Bathurst, I had met him in
Bociety, and 'I'Eg'll'ﬁ]eﬂ him as a friend, When Mr. Windham migconduoted himeelf
at the fable d'hote in the way I have deseribed, Colonel Bathurst was not present.
If he had been present I sheuld not have interfered or made any explanation to the

B 2



W iy

#

20

company. In passing through the rooms I have put down a five-franc piece on the
gaming table. Itis costomary to doso. I did not play babitually, nor was I a
ever a severe loser. I once saw Mr, Windiam put down money on the table; it
was the evening before he left, when everybody ia expected te stake a little. Colonel
Bathurst asked me to look afier hie pupil as much as I could, and I introduced him
to all my personal friends. He was very fond of dancing, but very few ladies would
dance with him. Colonel Bathurst was always with him at the balls. My maiden
name was Horrocks, 1 am a sister of Mr. Horrocks, who at one time was tutor to
Mr. Windham. At Spa Colonel Bathurst told me he intended to give up his charge
of Mr. Windham, and asked me whether I knew anybody who would take care of
him. I mentioned my brother's name. I returned to England in May last, but
have not seen Mr. Windham since he left Spa, in the autumn of 1859. Oune of the
scrapes about which he consulted me was his having been ordered to quit the hotel.
1 do not recollect any other at the present moment. He told me that he was afraid
he would get into a scrape with his travelling tutor, Colonel Bathurst, about his cruelty
to the ponies. When I told him at the tabled' hofe that the eompany wanted him to leave
the room, and translated what one of the waiters said to him in French to that effect,
he said * Oh, nonsense; I don’t care for anybody ; I will do what I like.” Even=-
tually he promised to behave better, and upon my interposition he was allowed to
remain at the table. Afterwards, however, he brought a note in French to my
drawing-room, which proved to be a request from the landlady that he would leave
the hotel. I translated it to him, when hs begged me to intercede for him, and said
he hoped Colonel Bathurst would not hear of it. I explained to the landlady in
French that he was mal timbré—a person of wear intellect. He often cried in my
room, sometimes without any apparent caunse, I offered to read to him, but he
seemed to be incapable of understanding the simplest subject.

By Mr. Coleridge—I was not acquainted with any member of his family.

Re-examined by Mr. M. Chambers—He talked like a vain, silly child—boasting of
his personal achievements and about what he could do. When I rode out with him
in the pony carriage he drove in a reckless manner. I told him he was endangering
my life, and threatened to speak to Colonel Bathurst. He beat the ponies cruelly
about the head. The presence of Colonel Bathurst seemed to act as a restraint upon
him. There is no foundation whatever for Mr. Windham, or any one else, saying
that I have been in the habit of playing. I have never done more than put a piece
down when visiting the rooms with a party of friends. When Colonel Bathurst told
me he was going to leave Mr. Windham I wrote to my brother, at Mr. Windham's
own earnest request that I should do so. Mr. Windham said he would like to con-
tinue under the charge of an officer, and, as my brother at that time held a commis-
sion in a militia regiment, I thonght he would be a proper person to succeed Colonel
Bathurst.

By the Jury—Mr, Windham was very untidy in his dress, aud I often refused to
admit him to my drawing-room until he had washed his face and combed his hair.

MRS. WINDHAM'S RIGHT TO APPEAR BY COUNSEL AND EXAMINE EVIDENCE.

Before the next witness was called a conversation took place between the Master
and Mr. Coleridge as to the right of the latter, as counsel for Mrs. Windham, not
only to cross-examine the witnesses and address the jury, but also, if he thought it
necessary, to adduce evidenge of his own. Mr. Coleridge maintained that the order
of the Lords Justices under which he appeared invested him with all the rights and
privileges of a party in the case, including the right of calling witnessos, and at the
present stage of the inquiry he refused to pledge himsell not to exercise that right
among the rest. The Master intimated his intention to write to the Lords Justices
on the subject, asking them to explain the meaning of their order relative to Mrs.
Windham, and directing their attention to the circumstance that it did not contain
the words which, in the order issued with respect to the mother of the alleged lunatic,
anthoriged that lady to adduce such evidence as she might think proper to lay before
the jury. Mr. Coleridge protested against any consultation with the Lords Justices
as to what they meant by their order; but the Master said he would exercise his
own discretion in the matter. Later in the day the learned Master intimated to Mr.
Coleridze that he had written to the Lords Justices, and had received from them a
reply to the effect that, in their opinion, the counsel for the lady alleged to be
the wife of Mr. Windham should be allowed both to address the jury aud to call

witneases.
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AR, B. HORROCKS, MR, W. J. WINDHAM'S CHANCERY TUTOR.

Mr. Edgworth Horrocks examined by Mr. Chambers,—I was formerly a lien.
tenant in the Lanarkshire Militia, and subsequently held a commission in
the Highland Borderers, Mr. Windham was piaced under my charge in
October or November, 1859, after Colonel Bathurst gave up his tqmmhtp.
He remained with me until June, 1860. We went first to Fellbrigg-hall.
We were there some months, when we returned to Lendon. 1 then
endeavoured to get him abroad, but he refused, and we went to Folkestone. We
afterwards visited Sandgate, St. Leonard’s, Ryde, and Shirley, near Sounthampton.
1 left him in London. 1 had ample opportunities of noticing his state of mind,
his manners, his habits, and his conduct. The conclosion I eamse to was that he
was a person of unsound mind—that his mind was not in o healthy state. He
seemed to be unable to fix his attention upon any subject for more than a few
minutes at a time. If [ were very severe with him he would read with me for a
longer period than usnal, but it appeared to be a punishment to him, and he did
mnot understand what he was reading. He would read newspapers. I could not
suceeed in teaching him anything. I tried to get him to read and spell properly,
and I offered to teach him some of the modern languages. My efforts were not
successful. He wonld learn nothing., The more I tried, the more obstinate he
became. I could not induce him even to try to learn French or German. At times,
but very seldom, he talked reasonably. I found him to be untruthful, and his lies
were g0 palpable that it appeared to me he could not distingnish between truth and
falsehood. I conld not believe o word he said. I observed his boastful disposition,
but do not remember any particular instance of it. At St. Leonard's he told me tha’
he had become of the Roman Catholic faith, and was going to marry a lady of that
persuasion. His words were, * I swear to God that I am a Roman Catholie,” I had
never gone with him to a Roman Catholic chapel. He bad told me that he
intended to go to one with the young lady; but I am not aware that he went.
Upon one occasion, at Fellbrigg, he drove me in a dog-cart to a neighbounring
village 8o as to endanger my life. He drove furiously into the inn yard, and I was
Jerked ont. The shaft of the dog-cart was broken, but I escaped withont bodily
injury. It was after dinner, but I do not think he had drank enough to make him
tipey. He was in his nsually excited state. On the same day he told perzons in
Norwich and elsewhere tbat he had been collecting his rents, and that he had the
money in the dog-cart with him, protected by a brace of loaded pistdls. There was no
foundation for the statement, I remonstrated with him about this, and after T had
done epeaking he merely said, * So you say,” usingthe Norfolk dialect, which he was
in the habit of doing. He was very slovenly in his person and dress. 1 told the servants
to keep his clothes clean, but he liked to go to the farmyard and make them as dirty aa
possible. Almoat every day I had to tell him to ge to his room and make himself
¢lean. He would gmell very badly, Ouoe day 1 canght him carting manore from
the farmyard like a common labourer. There was nobody with him at the time :
he was by himself, and when I canght him he was talking to the horae in the Norfolk
dialect. He would eat likea brate. He wonld pull meat about when cutting it in
such a horrid manner that at last I.said I would not take my meals in the same
room with him. He ate a great deal. and was particularly fond of Norfolk puddings.
On one oceasion 1 endeavoured to eat one myself, but it was too much for me. (A
langh.) His manners in society were rude and boisterous. His laugh was peculiar
and disagreahle, sometimes ending in a sort of squeak. It was not like the laugh
of a rensonable being. His conduct attracted attention everywhere. I allowad him on
One oecasion to go with a party of officers at Shornclitfe, They told me afterwards
i_;hatr his conduct was rnde and boisterons, and that they had considerable difficulty
in getting him to be quiet. At dinner partiea he would attract the attention of
evarybody, and put a stop to general conversation. He was very cruel to animals.
I bave frequently seen him ill-use horses. He would beat them savagely with his
whip without any adequate cause, and the next moment he might be be seen putting
his arms round their neck, and kissing them —cuddling them as if they were his
children. Sometimes he was extremely kind to his servants; st other
timea extremely harsh. He was always very mnoisy and boisterous,
running about the house and shouting. He was quniet only when he was
asloep, and then he snored. (A langh.) He slobbered at the mouth when eating.
The saliva would run into his plate and over his food; nevertheless, he would
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continue eating, which sometimes made me sick. He did ¢
excess and the only effect which liquor séemed to have upnnmhﬁmoﬁ Eﬂnf kh}
him duller and more stupid than usual. After meals he generally fell naleue 4
He was fond of romping with the female servants, whko would treat him iilE;
8 child. He wounld often get them to carry him up to bed. He
was very vain, and by flattering him I sometimes got him to do what I wished
Whenever he was introduced to a lady he began to make love to her, and in a fow
w::aeks, or sometimes days, would make her an offer of mnn-iﬂgﬁf 1t made po
differance whether her chracter was good orbad. (A laugh.) He was happiest in
the lowest company, and used to boast to such persons of his great property and
expectations. Ho also told them that there was a conspiracy on foot to defraud him
of his property—for that was an idea which he entertained when I was with him
One day he went into the SBhades at Bt. Leonard’s and told the landlady that he
h:}d something under his coat—which on that occasion was a military great - coat—
with which he would kill. those who were attempting to take his property from him
At 8t Leonard’s he rode about in a réckless manner, so has to frighten the ]mlias.
At one time he was very anxious to go into the army. I told him he wonld have to
undergo a very severe examination He said he thonght he could pass in the
clagsics, but he never could do anything with Euclid. I told him in that case he
might give up the idea of entering the army. He unever mentioned the subject to
me afterwards, but he continned telling others that he was going into the Guards.
Upon one occasion I told him that if he did not alter his habils and conduct he
would be putintoa lunatic asylum, and all his property would be taken from him
He began to cry like a child, and said he would become a guard or a porter on a
railway, “ and =o,” he added *pget my 18s. a-week.” I could not control him in
any other way than by threats and severity. I was compelled at last to thrash
him. He was never guiet for a moment either in or out of the house. I do not
think he is capable of managing himself or his property. Unless restrained by a
companion constantly at his side he would commit the greatest follies and eccen-
tricities. His intellect is that of a child, but he is not altogether wirhont cunning.
Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—I am 32 years of age. 1 was educated partly
at the Charterhonse and partly in Germany. 1 was appointed tutor to Mr. Windham
by Vice-Chancellor Wood, but I do not know whether I was discharged by that
learned judge. A few weeks after my appointment I boxed Windham's ears, and he
flung himself down upon the floor. I was afterwards requested to appear before
Vice-Chancellor Wood. I cannot swear whether Mr. Windham did or did not tell
Vice-Chancellor Wood that I had strnck him. I think he stated that 1 had
threatened to strike him. When asked by Vice-Chancellor Wood what answer I had
to make, I said * None,” becaunse I wanted to get rid of Mr. Windham, and did not
care what he said abont me. Mr. Windham could read and write but indifferently.
I had not seen Mr. Windham before he was placed in my charge in 1859. We went
to Fellbrigg immediately. While there we rode together almost daily.. Sometimes
we rode to Norwich, and sometimes to the different houses in the neighbourhood.
Mr. Windham liked to ride and drive very fast. I like myself to go at a good pace
in the country. We did not agree very well. He oceasionally pretended to be very
fond of me, but my own private opinion is that he hated me thoronghly. (A lanugh.)
The horse which he drove in the dogeart when I was thrown out was a rather bad-
tempered animal. It had been hired in Norwich, and Mr. Windham treated
it very savagely. Windham was fond of farming, and I told him the best
thing he could do would be to learn it, but not to go among the labourers. There
i8 a Roman Catholic convent at St Leonard’s. I did not find there wers
people whom he had known at Torquay staying at St. Leonards when we were
there. I remember him telling me thero was n family at St. Leonard's whom he
had seen at Torquay. 1 told him I had known the same family abroad. One of the
membera of it, a young lady, gpoke to me in the street, and remewed our
acquaintance. That young lady was a Roman Catholie, and was the person whom
Mr. Windham said he was in love with and wanted to marry. 1 know that Mr.
Windbam was frequently in her company. Before lenving Londou with Mr. Wind-
ham, I had a particular conversution with her and her mother, and during that
conversation something took place which might justify tho observation—'‘ The
young lady whom Horrocks knew would yery soon ghut him up.” On the oceasion in
question she did *“shut me up.” (A Jangh.)’ Windham swore to mo that he had
become a Roman Cathelic. He did not merely say “I would become a itoman
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i that girl.” He attended church during the whole time he was
E;tﬁo{:;}ﬂ gz?@nvadgqtiiatly, and seemed to know how to comduct himself in
church. We had some shooting at Fellbrigg. W_indham amused himgelf a gﬂt_lﬂ
deal in that way. He was a very bad shot, and 1 tl:m;nk we were about on a par in
that respect. (A langh)) He was a very early riser, and took m great deal of
outdoor exercise. He was coarse in his language, I sometimes swore at him myself.
(A laugh.) He was very aggravating, and upon one or two occasions I could not
help using strong language. When I boxed his ears he threw himself down upon
the floor, buried his face ina mat, and screamed and yelled at the top of his voice.
His mother wasin the house at the time. He dranka gug-d deal of Nnrt:oll-: beer
but did not. smoke. When I threatened him with a lunntfc asylum, 1 ﬂq.ld,  ¥You
must take care, for your uncle is coming back from India, and you will rba put
under restraint if yon do not mend your ways.” T knew that General Windham
had made his nephew a ward in Chancery. I left Mr. Windham on one or two
occasions. On one of those occasions I took him to my mother's house, and left
him there for a few days. When I returned I found he had gone away. I
traced him to Yarmouth. He was very fond of Fellbrigg, and T remember telling
him at Folkestone that if we went back to Fellbrigg I should soon die there. I left
him for one night at Rhyde. He was a month in the militia at Yarmonth, while T
was his tutor. : : :

By Mr. Coleridge.—When T was before the Vice-Chancellor Lady Sophia produced
some letters, but I did not see them. I do not remember whether the Vice-Chan-
cellor, after reading those letters, said to Mr. Windham, “I am very glad your
mother has allowed me to read these letters, for they show that you have very much
improved.”

fllsy Mr. C. Russell.—Lady Sophia did not authorise me to box her gon’s ears.

By the Jury.—I often spoke to Mr. Windham abont the events of the day, and he
would give ms rational answers, but generally he would try to turn everything he
read in the newspapers into ridicule.

The inguiry was then adjourned.

FOURTH DAY.—Taurspay, Dec. 19. %

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this morning in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster,
before Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr, Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitionera; Mr. Charles Russell, for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr, Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr, Coleridge, Q).C., for Mrs. Windham.

Mr. Windham, the alleged lunatie, was present during a portion of the examination
of his uncle, Lord Alfred Hervey. He sat beside his counsel, and conducted himself
with the ntmost propriety and decorum. At some passages of the evidence a faint
gmile passed over his features, and he occasionally communieated with Mr. Karslake
while that gentleman waa cross-examining the witness. Heappeared to be o young
man of considerable physical strength, about the middle-height, of a full habit of
body, with an inclination to corpulency, He has s dark complexion, and wears his
hair parted down the middle. The defect in his npper lip, to which so many allusions
have been made, ia partially concealed by a moustache, but it is still plainly visible,
exposing some of his teeth,

MR, HORROUKS' EXAMINATION CONTINUED.

Mr, Horrocks, re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham rodé and drove in
a furious manner habitually, and not only occasionally. He was also habitually
cruel to animals. I do mot know whether the horse which he drove when I was
pitched ont of the dogeart was the ill-tempered animal from Norwich ornot. What
I wished to convey yesterday was thatit might have been that horse; but, whether
it waa o or not, I am certain that the accident arose from the farious driving of
Mr. Windham, and not from the bad temper of the horse. Mr, Windham read the
newspapers, but he could talk about nothing he saw in them except prize fights and
gimilar occurrences. Lady Sophin on one occasion showed me a photograph
representing her gon and two railway porters, ns they appeared to me, in a group.
They were standing close together, Mr, Windham was in private dress,

Crogg-examined by Mr. Karslake—Lady Sophin was laughing when she showed
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me the photograph. The iwo strange men wore a railway uniform, and were either
guards or porters. It did not shock me to see Mr. Windham in such a photograph,
thongh I thought it rather eccentric. I haveseen a view of the fight between Sayers
and Heenan. I cannot say that half of the younger members of the English aristo-
cracy are represented init. AllI know is that it contains none of my acquaintances.
(A laugh.) I do not recollect whether I read Bell's Life regularly when staying at
Fellbrigg-hall. ;

By the Master—If I were to bear Mr. Windham conversing rationally for a short
time that would not alter my opinion as to his mental incapacity. I have seen him
behaving himself well enough for a short time. I think I did take in Bell's Life at
Fellbrigg. Mr. Windham told me he knew Tom Sayers personally, but I never be-
lieved anything he said of that kind. He certainly knew nothing about fighting.
He seemed to fear and care more about General Windham than anybody else, and
took great interest in his uncle's services in the Crimen.

By the Jury—1 have seen letters written by him, but do not recollect at this
moment whether they were expressed in a coherent manner or not.

THE MAEQUIS OF BEISTOL, ME. WINDHAM'S UNCLE, -

The Marquis of Bristol, examined by Mr. Chambers—Mr. Windham is my nephew.
I am one of the petitioners. I have seen Mr. Windham at different times ever since
he was a boy, and I know his general character. When he was about seven or eight
years of age Lady Sophia was on a visit to my father's house in Brighton. Her son
was with her. Bhe seemed very anxions to keep him in order. When she came
down with him to luncheon her constant practice was to carry a little whip in her
hand. Young Windham never associated with me. I only saw him occasionally.
Shortly after Easter in the present year he called on me at my house in London. I
invited him to dine with me. He did so twice., He behaved himself very well on
those oceasions. He had a foolish way of langhing, and shortly after dinner he fell
asleep and snored rather londly. Otherwise he conducted himself remarkably well
for him. In Aungustlast I saw him twice riding in Rotten.row. The last time he
dined with me [ gave him a general invitation to loncheon, in order that, if we had
anything to propose to him, we might do so without the trouble of making a special
appointment. When I saw him in Rotten-row he bad a very remarkable appear-
ance. His face wore an expression of mingled fun and folly. He was riding alone,
and had no servant. He seemed to have a childish pleasure at being on horseback
in the Park, where there were so many people about, but I also detecied an expres-
aion bordering on idioey.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karaslake—When I saw him as a boy in Brighton he was
not in petticoats. Lady Sophia and he were there for abont a fortnight. The late
Mr. Windham was not with them. I do not remember whether I saw my nephew
between that time and the period of his father's death. 1 saw him at the faneral.
The next time T saw him, to the best of my recollection, was in the spring of the
present year. He called on me, as already stated, either in April or May. He
dined with me, for the first time, a 2w days after his visit. It was a small family
party—seven or eight. He joined the ladies in the drawing-room after dinner. He
left rather early. I do mot know what he had been doing before he came. He
dined with me again about a fortnight afterwards. The party was the same as on
the previous occasion. He went to the drawing-room after dinner. His articulation
ia very peculiar, so is his laugh. T think I observed a defect in his upper lip
There was something foolish in his expression when speaking or laughing. He r.?!ld
not act upon the general invitation I gave him. I never saw him to speak to again,
nor did I ever afterwards send him an invitation to dinner. When I met him in the
Park 1 was accompanied by other persons, and he passed me alone. We were both
on horseback, and recognised each other, going in opposite directions. He did
not turn back and join me. Once or twice during the summer 1 saw him driving
a phaeton about town. e was driving himself. : g o

By Mr. Coleridge—1 received a note from CGencral :'Ir‘i"mr]ham acquainting me
with his intention to proceed in this matter, and requesting me to consult with my
brothers on the subject, and let him know the result. That was a few weeks ago.
1 am not personally acquainted with Mr. Giubilei, my sister’s second husband. I
have seen Lady Sophia since her second marriage, bub I think only once to speak

to her. ; ' - :
Re-examined by Mr. Chambers—L did not know my sister was gowng to be
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married to Signor Ginbilei. I am not aware that when the marringe took place
Signor Ginbilei was twenty-fiva years of age, and Lady Sophia abont forty-five.
After T had made inguiries and obtained information I concurred in this petition,
but not before. There can be no doubt that the formation of my nephew's mouth
must have something to do with his expression, but the impression which his con-
versation and laugh made upon me was that he is not a very wise person. The
present proceedings have my entire sanction. .

By the Jury—When my nephew dined with me he entered info general conversa-
tion, and, as far I recollect, talked rationally, Thers was nothing in his cdnversa-
tion to attract the notice of the servants waiting at dinner.

LORD ALFRED HERVEY, UNCLE TO ME. WINDHAM,

Lord Alfred Hervey, examined by Mr. Chambers : —I am an uncle _uf' Mr. Windham,
and one of his guardians. I bave known him from his birth. Before he went to
Eton I recollect his being one day at luncheon at Lord Bristol's, St. James's-square.
Lady Alfred was present. He wanted some tart, and, instead of using a knife or
spoon, he thrust his hand into the dish and pulled away crust and fruit together.
(A langh.) I did not see the oconrrence, but he was remonstrated with about it by
Lady Sophia, his mother, in my presence. Lady Alfred told him he ghould have no
tart, whereupon he seized & carving knife and rushed at her. He ran after her,
brandishing the knife. I took np the hearth-broom and hit him on the legs, not a
very hard blow, upon which he dropped the knife, began yelling, and ran out of the
room. Lady Alfred was exceedingly alarmed. My impression was that he wanted
to strike her with the knife. I was at his father's funeral. He was present. Before
the funeral complaints were made to me of his odd conduct. He was showing all
the tenants into the room where the coffin was and making himself very conspi-
cuous. At the funeral I thought his conduct very peculiar. In the church, if I had
not seen him, but only heard him, I should have said he was very much overcome by
grief. He cried very loudly, but instead of trying to hide his face, he stared about
him all the time. He was about fourteem years of nge at that period. WhenI
became one of his guardians, which was in 1848, he was allowed money from time
time, but he never seemed to have a sixpence in his pocket. His monthly allowance
—E5—would be all spent in the first day or so,and he never could give any account
of what he had done with it. About May, 1858, I remember him staying at Lord
Bristol's, in St. James's-square. At dinner he behaved himself with perfect pro-
priety for him—sgo much so, indeed, that ke gave me hopes that he was improving;
but immediately we left the dining-room he disappeared instead of joining the ladies
in the drawing-room. He did the same thing for two or three days renning,
and we could not discover how he disposed of himself. At last I retu
to the dining-room after dinner, and there I found him with my father's
footman. He had his jacket off and his shirt-sleeves tucked up guite
high, and was helping to clear the things away. (A laugh.) I never saw him
washing up the dishes. I immediatelly called him out of the room, and was very
angry with him. He did not seem to see any impropriety in what he had done.
From his earliest years he was in the constant habit of telling falsehoods. His
untruths were always transparent, and often without an object. He gave one an
impression that he was unable to distinguish between truth and falsehood. He'
always cried on very slight occasions. At Torquay, when he was 17 years of age,
it was deemed prudent to vaccinate, for the second time, every person in the house,
He cried like a child the whole morning, snd we had the greatest difficulty in
lm_iﬂﬂlt!g him to submit to the operation. We were compelled to threaten him. He
cried like a boy of five or six when Vice-Chancellor Wood proposed that he should
hef taken abroad. He never used a pocket-handkerchief, but wiped the tears away
with the back of his hand. His laugh ia a ailly, foolish lnugh, and is often without
apparent cause. The saliva runs from his mouth and he never does anything to stop
it. He is not amenable to any influence except that of fear. In my conversations
with him hq was generally rational. Indeed, while talking on common subjects,
:!mbﬂ:iy not intimately acquainted with him would be struck by anything peculiar
in his manner or conversation. 1 have never seen an irrational letter from him
—that is, a letter showing that his intellect is deficient. He wounld come to my
brother’s house and behave something like a gentleman, but immediately after dinner
he would go away somewhere else and conduct himself in the most outrageous
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manner. When it was proposed that he should ;
General W_mdhnm was urging the Vice-Chancellor ﬁd?:;ﬁ:ﬁ*&a Eﬁi?;aldfﬂ fthI:t
way by poison or otherwise, in order that his nncle might nht-aif 088 o Rk
estates. I attempted to disabuse his mind, but in vain. He wali aIBﬂHmn ok t.]:*ua
better behavionr with me, for I was striet with him, and he was n,fwr:ﬁ oil'lhm
When I became his guardian there was something very pecnliar fn his wh ']o e
position. e was ot open to the same influences as other boys. He h ;Iﬂ 2 ci{':;n-
of the value or the use of money. I believe him to be totally in'ga. ub];ufﬂ i ot 5
his property. Iis general habits and eonduct are suchethat ifpnnt. h;fg“”’ﬁlf
rﬂact.rmutr of mméﬂk&nﬂ}m other, his life will be shortened. : P il
rosgs-examined by Mr. Karslake—My opinion of him is fi
knowledge of him, and partly upon {-hup affidavits mbmiﬁaﬂ{optfir Eggf-lt m}fr
Chaneery. [ do not believe that every person who has a habit whi b
g g A 1 16 which tends to
n life should be placed under control. I think my nephew isable to converse
about common {opics—the weather, the members of his family, and so forth—for
a few hours withont exposing himself. There are many people in the world whose
tostes are few, and 'who do not care for book-learning. 1 have never shot with m
nephew, and I have ridden with him only onee. I mever heard him discass 4
matter of business with his tenants or his servants. To my own knowledze h:
has been extremely peculiar from his childhood, incapable of application restless
utterly unconscions of the difference between truth and falsehood, and a: :m:ll:ld1I
not amenable to any inflnence except that of fear, especially of ]lil:u yearf PaWhei
out driving with him I have seen him change his seat from one side of the.na.n-ia
to the other more than a dozen times. 1 cannot say that [ was stern with him g;
concurred in the proposal of Viee-Chancellor Wood that he should go abroad :n.nli
was vexed by his refusal. I believe be is very fond of Fellbrigg., Itis anaib]; that;
I wrote, to Mr. Horrocks, saying that if my nephew did not go abroad he shounld
not be allowed to stay ab Fellbrigg. - Ltold him that if he persisted in going against
the wishes of the Vice-Chancellor he would be sent to a tutor insome distant part
of England, and be kept there until he came of age. He told me that he wished to
join a militia regiment, in which he bad a commission, and that it might be
embodied, so that he might go to Canada or elsewhere. He did not com-
plain to me that his allowance was not gnfficient to enable him to keep up his
appearance among the other officers. 1 waa mot likely to hear of that.
There can be no doubt that he was a spoilt child, and was badly educated.
His father was a passionate man. His mother has always petted him. A stricter
management might have been more successful. When my nephew dined at Lord
Bristol's and helped to clear the table, I am not aware that ihere was a footman in
the house who had been brought up at Fellbrigg. I do not knew that he was al-
lowed, when at home, to go among the servants and do what he pleased. General
Windham and his children would come into the property if my nephew were to die
without direct heirs. My nephew was in the habit, after he had spent his allowance,
of borrowing from other persons. I bave no doubt he has asked that his allowance
ghould be increased, but he never acknowledged having borrowed, or stated that he
wanted an increased allowance that he might not be eompelled to borrow. " His arti-
calation is peculiar, especially when he is excited ; and there is a defect in his npper
lip. 1domnotkunow how old he was when he ran after Lady Alfred with a knife.
He was not in petticoats.

By Mr. Coleridge.—1 firat became aware of these proceedings against my nephew
in October last. The communication was made to me by General Windham,

By Mr. C. Russell—From 1854, up to the time of his coming of age, my nephew
was ocoasionally with Lady Sophia, but he was chiefly under the government of his
tutors.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambera—I never counld get any account from him of the
way in which he spent his money. There was no reason why he hould conceal his
expenditure, except, indeed, that he might not like to tell me how he squandered Lis
‘money in low public.houses and such like places. He was continually telling me
untraths. He was exceedingly restless, as if he had no way of ocoupying his mind
Lady ﬁuphiu.uﬂ;&n said to me that she was unable to manage him, and asked mo to
agsist her.

By the Jury—General Windhnm has jnvariably treated him with great kindness.
His parents were very fond of kim, and he was too much indalged,
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MR. PEATFIELD, TRAVELLING TUIOR T0 MR. WINDHAM,

Mr. Peatfield, examined by Mr. Field—I am a graduate of Cambridge, and now
ocoupy the position of a private tator in St. Petersburg. I was a..ppt.:.llﬂtli‘d tutor and
companion to Mr. Windham in June, 1860. I travelled with him in Scotland and
Ireland. We subsequently visited the Channel Islands. 'We passed several months
at Fellbrigg-hall. In consequence of something which took place there T brought
him to London in May last. He took rooms for himself at Hra Lewellin’s, Duke-
street, St. James's, . According to directions received from his guardians, I joined
him in Duke-street, and remained with him until the 10th or 12th of August.
While in Edinburgh we lodged in a private house in Hope-street, Charlotte-square.
We staid there for about & week. His conduct was noisy and boisterons. Com-
plaints were made to. me by the landlady that the neighbours had been a,_nnuyeﬂ by
his opening the windows and shouting and shrieking at the top of his voice. Com-
plaints were also madeof his irrational conduet generally. I remonstrated with
him, butin vain, I saw him myself jumping abont the room and heard his loud shonts
and yells. The landlady asked us to leave. We did so. We then went to Mrs.
England's, in Castle-street. His conduct there was the same as in Hope-street. T
spoke to him about making a noise in'his bedroom. He was caterwauling in the
middle of the night. (A langh.) He said, “Well, governor, if Tom cat will have
his aweetheart on the leads, I can’t help it.” (A langh.) I had to go to lis room
*wice on that particnlar occasion. Mrs. England complained to me of his conduct;,
and in a day or two afterwards we were obliged to leave Castle-street also. We then
proceeded to different parts of Scotland. He behaved in the streets in a way I can
scarcely describe. He would hiss, spit, shont, scream, laugh, roar out foolish re-
marks, such as, * You're a duoffer,” and * I'm all there when I'm wanted” (alaugh),
finishing up with what he called, ¥ chaffing the bobbies,” meaning the policemen.
(A laugh.) He wonld imitate cocks and cats, the latter especially, and jump about
violently. All this would be mixed up with suatches of negro songs, such as,—

“J'm off to Charlestown N
¢ So-early in the morning ;"
ﬂr —
; «“We're all off to Dixie’s Land.”
(A langh.) He never went further—a line or two at the top of his voice, and then
off to something else. These things ocourred in the streets of Edinburgh and ofther
towns., On one occasion.at Ballater he almost surpassed himself before the hotel
door. He attracted great attention in Edinburgh, where we were followed by crowda.
He went throngh the same performances in Ireland. The landlord of the inn in
Kildare complained of his eonduct. He was singing in a very loud voice snatches of
songs which he had heard in the theatre at Edinburgh during the performance of a
burlesque, called, I think, * Fra Diavolo,” at the same time dancing in a very violent
manner, and altogether making a great noise. 'On some of these oceasions I have
geen his mouth positively in a state of froth. Sometimes he would, to a certain ex-
tent, be nuder the influence of liquor; at others not. I should say that liquor had
an exciting effect upon him. He drank malt liquor and wine—very little whisky.
Upon the whole, however, he drank very little when with me. He was subject to
violent fita of passion. His face would flush, and he would use the grossest langunge.
He would break into these passions without apparently any cause, and while the fit
lagted he seemed unable to control himself. I was induced to leave Fellbrigg by
certain occurrences, I told Windham that he must prepare to go to London. He
asked * What for 7" I replied, *“I shall not enter into a discussion with you ; yon
know very well what you have been doing, and you must come to London with me.”
He then said, * Yoo may go to —— if you like; I won't go with you” BEventually
he wos peranaded to accompany me to London. While at Fellbrigg he drove me
about frequently. His manner of driving was farious. At church he sometimes be-
haved well, but sometimes he would attract my attention and ammoy me. He often
eried ont * silence” to the children by way of showing his authority. On one ocea.
sion, immediately upon entering the church door, he exclaimed, *¢ Tt's a fing
thing,” hurried np the nisle in a blustering manner, and slammed the pew door so
ag to make o loud noise, Inthe Channel Islands his conduct was nearly as bad as
his conduct in Seotland,  While lodging in Duke-street, 8t James's, T wis requested
by his guardians to let him be his own master. On many occagions he behaved in
& terrible manner—sheuting, ewearing, jumping about, opening the windows, and
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yelling into the Btreets, He ate with great voracity. I have seen him choke from
his mode of eating, and he has told me he has been sick. He invited me to dinner
on a certain occasion, saying that General and Mrs. Windham were coming, but no-
body came. I do not think he had any idea of religion. In my opinion, he is not
capables of governing himself or his affairs. I do not think his mind is sound.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—My definition of & sound mind is a mind which
will cause a man to act in a rational manner. I was told to come from St. Peters-
burg on last Sunday fortnight. It was General Windham who communieated with
me. I first met the General when his nephew and I came to London to join kim on
his arrival from India. I went tothe Lewelling’ a day or two after Mr. Windham tack
lm}gmgs there. I engaged a bedroom for myself, and we used the same sitting-room.
His conduct there was mot more boisterous than I had seen it before. I was
appointed as his travelling tutor. I have read very hard at times. My set at
Cambridge was not a noisy set. I have never followed the hounds in my life. If I
have heard the Ethiopian Serenaders, it must have been when I was at school. The
noise which Mr. Windham made was not intended to represent the cry of men in
the hunting field. When I said that he liked to “chaff the bobbies I used his own
language. I do not think I ever heard the term before. (A laugh.) He could
imitate cats very well. (A laugh.) He tock a great delight in © Fra Diavolo * and
we saw it several times when in Edinburgh. The passage which he was so fond of
repeating, and which caused the row in Kildare, was not a song, but rather burlesque
lines, It ran in this way:—

¢ A hanghty roffian sure T am
A dab at the stiletto ;
If any one disputes my law,

Less B

o Or gays that Laint pleasin’,"—
here there is a line which I forget, but the whole wizds up with
¢ Pop goes his weasand.”

(A laugh.) The *haunghty ruffian” danced on the stage, and at Kildare Mr. Windham
danced too, ont-heroding Herod. (A laugh.) We generally took our meals together.
There was usually wine on the table at dinner. He took as many glasses as he
pleased. He was very fond of beer. The performance at Ballatar took place after
dinner. At Fellbrigeg he drove almost every day. He was an early riser, and epent
a great deal of time in the open air. I°cannot say that his tastes were all for ont-
door exercises and amusements. His taste after dinner was generally for dancing on
the billiard-table. (A langh.) When he swore in church he was avgry with the
clergyman for having commenced the service before his arrival. The church stands
in the middle of the park, and Mr. Windham is the owner of almost all the property
in the parish. Sometimes he spoke to the children when they were making only a
very slight noise, and when there was no necessity for his interference. The
occurrence which induced me to take him away from Fellbrigg was his having
been fighting with a showman. That offence, however, waa only one of many which
he had committed. He called me a “spy " and a “ speak,” and hardly opened his
lips to me all the way to London. From the time he went to Lewellin's he cast off
hia allegiance to me, but I am not aware that he made noises and did everything he
conld to get rid of me. He continued the noises, although I complained that they
annoyed me. I did not go to the Lewelling’ for the sole purpose of watching him.
One of my objects was to try to induce him to read. He used to read the news-
papers, especially at Fellbrigg-hall, and he would occasionally make a comment
upon their contents. When I went to the Lewelling’ I was told to keep my eye on
him. My duty was to see how he was getting on, and to endeavour to get him to
rend. T asked him to read once, but once only, I did not make it my business
every morning to ask the people belonging to the house at what honr and in what
condition he had come home the night before. It is very probable that I made Eliﬂ_h
inquiries frequently, but not every morning. I saw General Windham five or six
+ times during my residence in Duke-street. I was not in the habit of reporting to
him or to Mr, Iooke what Mr. Windham was doing, though I may have spoken to
them on the subject. I left the lodginge, I think, on the 12th of Aungust. Mr.
Windham had come of age on the 9th. I am nob aware that the Lewelling are old
friends of General Windbham. I do not think I ever said to Mr. Martins, at
Fellbrigg-hall, that Mr. Windham had plenty of ability if he chose to apply
himself, I maey bave said that he had plenty of bruins if he choso to apply himsell,
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By the Jury.—I have played whist with Mr. Windham, but only once. I do not
recollect any revokes, but he followed snit. : _ :

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers—In some things—railway times, for example—
Mr. Windham showed a wonderful memory. The whole time I was with him I felt
myself in some degree of peril. He wasted his money. I have seen him act
rationally, but his conduct generally is irrational, and I am still of opinion that his
mind is unsound. When I went to the Lewellin's, General Windham requﬂratgﬂ me
to try to induce his nephew to read, with a view to his obtaining & commission in
the army. There is not the slightest foundation for the statement that he made
his extraordinary noises at Lewellin’s for the purpose of driving me away.

By the Jury.—While travelling I paid the bills. He took an interesp in the
expenditure, and understood fully that the money was coming from his own estate.
He always said he liked me.

The inguiry was then adjourned.

FIFTH DAY—Fripay, Dec. 20.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham of Fellbrigg-
hall, Noriolk, was resumed in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, this day, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury,

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell, for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the maother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C,, Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,

for Mr. William Frederick Windham; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

°  Mr. Windham, the alleged lunatie, was again present during the greater part of the
afternoon. He paid clese attention to the evidence.

ME. PARTRIDGE, A VISITING FRIEND.

Mr. Partridge, examined by Mr. Field.—I am a B.A., and gradnate in medicine of
Cambridge. I now reside in Edinburgh. In June last I was residing in London.
At that time I wae intimate with Mr. Peatfield, who was tutor to Mr. Windham. -
Mr. Peatfield was then lodging at Mr. Lewellin’s, Duke-street, 8t. James's,
I frequently visited him, and on those visits I saw Mr. Windham, and had
many opportunities of conversing with him. He laughed i a very peculiar manner
and elavered at the month. On two occasions he threw up the window and shrieked
ont of it ; "it was not a single shriek but two or three continuous shrieks. There was
no cause for his shrieking. He seemed to act on a sudden impulse:. The window
did not open into the street but into a yard, and T am not aware that his shrieking
attracted attention. There were windows belonging to the same house opposite.
After shrieking he returned to table. He assigned no reason for getting up and
acting s0. We had no conversation about the shricking, but we talked to him npon
other subjects. He conversed coherently. I did not observe anything very remark-
able in his talk. While eating he bent his head very much over the table, and made
a great noise in chewing and swallowing. He used te help himself to a very great
quantity. He took me out on one occasion in a mail phaeton with one horse. He
drove in a very impetuous, reckless way. We went to Sydenham, and I
visited the Crystal Palace with him. He got into conversation with =
policeman there. He stood in a conspicuons part of the Palace, and
his epeaking to a policeman in such a place seemed to attract a good deal of
attention. He had told his-groom to meet him at the Palace door at a certain hour,
but the groom failed at the appointed time. He swore very viclently when the latter
came up, and foamed at the month. I returned to town with him in the phaeton.
He drove back in the same reckless way. I thought from his general behaviour that
his eondition was one of imbecility.

_ Cross-cxamined by Sir H. Cairng.—I consider a condition of imbecility to be
indica’ed by a peculiar laugh, sudden fits of passion without canse, a slovenly habit
of dress, n great desire to attract attention, and a vacancy in the expression of the
features. Mr. Peatfield was not with us at the Crystal Palace. When I say that
Mr, Windham desired to attract attention, I refer to his standing with a policeman
In 4 congpicnous pogition in the Palace. It was in the centre of the transept,
where the greatest number of people were assembled. He stood with his hands
behind his back and his head gtooping. His attitude vwas peculiar. I do not recollect
at what hour he had appointed the groom to meet him. The groom did not come,
and I wen} to the stables to find him. Mr, Windham had told him to g0 to certain
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gtables. There was no room there, and he had gone to other stables, where T found
him. I had not been more tham half-an-hour away when I returned to the Palace
with the phaeton. I do not remember whether My, Windham told me he had an
Engﬂgement"hh&t afternoon in town and was afraid he should be too late. He swora
at the groom, but I do not remember tte precise oaths he used. He drove very fast.
Two or three times we nearly came into collision with carriages in the road. No
collision actually took place. 1 never rode in & mail phaeton before. I am notin
the habit of driving. My visits to Duke-street were usually at luncheon time. I
went at the invitation of Mr. Peatfield. There were only the three of us present. I
did not ask Mr. Windham what he was shrieking about. I do not know where the
kitchen was, or whether he was making a noise to attract the attention of the
servants. We had wine at lunch—champagne and sherry—and we all drank. Mr.
Lewellin joined us occasionally and partook of the wine ; but I never saw him take
more than two glasses. He very seldom sat down at table. He generally waited.
I have heard he is & wine merchant. I do not know whether he supplied ths
champagne.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr.Windham alarmed me by the rapidity of his
driving. He did not appear to me to be calling to the servants when he threw up
the window and shrieked out. He attracted the atfention of the peopls in the
Crystal Palace. All who passed him turned round and looked at him, J

By the Jury.—Mr. Windham never started a conversation with me.

MRS, ENGLAND, ME. WINDHAM'S EDINBURGH LANDLADY,

" Mrs. England, examined by Mr. Field—I am a widow, living in Castle-street, °
Edinburgh. I recollect Mr. Peatfield and Mr. Windham coming to my house in July,
18G0. 'They took lodgings with me. Mr. Windham behaved in such a strange man-
ner—jnmping about and dancing in his room—that I thonght he was not in his right
mind, and 1 told my husband so. He opened his portmanteau and threw all his
things about his bedroom, which he left in a perfect litter. That was the first day
he was in my house. I noticed him at his meals. I waited on him, contrary to my
usnal practice, in consequence of what I had seen him doing. The morning after he
came 1 saw him at breakfast. He was eating and foaming about the mouth in such
a way that really I was frightened at him. Mr. Peatfield asked him what he would
have for dinner. He would not tell, but laughed and jumped about the room. His
laugh was not like the laugh of any human being I ever saw. At dinuer he behaved
in the same manner. He was with me a fortnight, and his conduct was the same
all through. He langhed and jumped about the whole day. On one occasion he
opened the window, almost threw himself out of it, and langhed and screamed in
his usual way, attracting the attention of the people in the street. The noise he
made was a roaring or a howling. He made a great deal of noise almost every night.
Sometimes he cried like a cat. I was at last obliged to turn him off, for I counld not
put up with him any longer. My opinion was whenever I saw the genileman that
he was not in his right mind. :

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I formed that opinion the first moment I
gaw him, and I have not changed it since. I have kept lodgings about six years,
nud the people who lodge with me are very quiet people. Mr. Peatfield and Mr.
Windham took their meals regularly. When Mr. Windham was asked what he
wonld have for dinner, I dare say he said, “I don’t care a rap.” I did not langh
at him; I was frightened at him. At times during.the fortnight I may have

smiled at his antics, but I did not langh until I was like to die. I have heard him
EI ] L e
i “ I'm off to Charleston
So early in the morning,”

and recite the lines commenging with—

¢ A haughty ruffian sure am I1.”
But I did not laugh on those occasions—far from it. (A laugh.) Mr. Peatfield and
he were occagionally out late at might, and I complained to Mr. Peatfield on the
subject. I told him that he must leave the house it they did not keep better hours ;
but the noise was my principal objection. They sometimes did not go to bed until
three or four o'clock in the morning, and noises were made when Mr, Peatfield was
in the room as well as when Mr. Windham was alone. 1 generally go to bed
hetween eloven and twelve o'clock, but when they were with me I had to sit up
much later. :
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ined . Chambere.—It was Mr. Windham who made the noises I
hnﬁﬁilﬁ;ﬁi bié[:i[ &ﬂng to leave his bedroom in the middle of the night, and make
noises in the sitting-room. These noises anunoyed me very much. I have heard
Mr. Peatfield remonstrating with him a.nl.'1+ asking himto be guiet. He wonld be
quiet for a few minutes, and then go onagain. Ido n:::t think Mr. I"eatﬁald h ad any
influence over him—not, at least, for any length of hmﬁ.' Mr. W}nﬁham not only
caterwanled like a cat, but howled like a dn-g_'. aujl uvuzl_ltlguad doing so during the
whola time he was in my house. My chief object in wml:n?g them to leave was to
get rid of the dreadful noises. Mr. Peatficld condncted himself with perfect pro-
priety, but Mr. Windham was very unlike any other lodger I have ever had. }

By the Jury.—I should not have cared how late they sat in their own room if
there had been no noise. They seemed to be on very gcod terma.

MRS, LEWELLIN—ME, WINDHAM'S LONDON LANDLADY.

Mrs. Lewellin, examined by Mr. Chambers.—I and my husband - live at No. 35,
Duke-street, St. James's. My husband is a wine importer and agent. His office is
in Duke-street, but he has business at the docks. In May lasg Mr. Windham came
to lodge with me. A person named Skelton, living on the opposite side of the way,
asked me to accommodate a gentleman with apartments during the races at Epsom.
I had not then seen General Windham, who had nothing to do with his mephew
coming to my house. I learnt from Mrs. Skelton that old Mr. Windham had
formerly lodged with her. With the exception of certain intervals, young Mr.
Windham lodged ywith me up to the 29th of August. I had, therefore, full oppor-
tunities of noticing his condunct, habits, and manmers. I furmEEﬂ the opinion
that he was not in his right mind. He had a bedroom and a sitting-room at my
honse. The first day he was alone, but afterwards his tutor, Mr. Peatfield, had
another room. Mr. Windham was dirty in his habits, and would not wash himself.
My busband used to put himinto a bath in a room on the ground floor. His hands
anid face were frequently very dirty. At times, when he has been in the bath, I
have known him jump out of it and run as far as the dining-room door without any
clothes on, perfectly naked. The dining-room door is quite close to the street door.
While running along the passage he made a very peculiar noise—catealling and
howling. There were three female servants in the house, but when this happened
they were upstaira in the bedrooms. My husband generally got him into the bath-
room again, Upon one ocecasion, at the latter end of June, I spoke to him about
coming out of the bath in the way I have described. I told him I would not
allow such conduct in the house, and would insist on Mr. Lewellin sending him
away. I also told him I wounld report his conduct to General Windham.
Upon that he used very bad language, as he had dome on several previouns
oceasions, and, taking up a very large carving-kmife, said he would rip me up.
(A langh.) There was nobody present except ourselves, but Mr. Lewellin was close
at hand. His exact words were, “If you dare to dictate to me I willrip up your

" 1left the room as soon as I conld. I have seen him take money from
his pocket and throw it about in a reckless manner, as if he did not know the use
of it. On one occasion he gave his money to Mr. Lewellin, saying, * Here, Bob
Ridley, you take thia.”” Mgy husband took it, and locked it up in a separate cash-
box. 1 was present on another occasion when he asked my husband for some
money. He said “ Old Bob Ridley, lend me a soversign.” My husband told him
he had £30 of his. His reply was, “ All right, Bob Ridley.” He used to buy a good
deal of jewellery, but he generally lost it. He was in the habit ot eating with the
carving knife and fork instead of those which had been laid for him, and never took
& meal withont beating the time of “Old Bob Ridley” several times on the tabla,
He ate a great quantity in very large pieces, and while eatiug would draw the knifo
acrogs his throat, ag if he were cutting it, at the same time making a gurgling noise,
1 have seen him eat at luncheon until he has been sick over the table, While playing
*“0ld Bob Ridley” his face had an idiotic expression. He would eut a leg of
mutton into glices and throw the pieces npon the cloth. He generally breakfasted at
half past nine or ten and would spend two hours over the meal. His favourite dish was
poached eggs, of which he consumed o large number. I never knew him take less than
eight. The largest number 1 ever saw him eat was 12. During breakfast he would run
into the passage, throw open a window, and make his peculiar noise. He did not ding
at home very often, but he invariably ordered dinuer. When he dined at home he ate
iu the same ravenous mauner as at luncheon, though not to the same extent, and

—_—— -
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with the ends of his knife and fork beat the same tn € : ’

table. He called almost everybody by the name ::f'ﬂ3 E}Ed }?-;]:g ]E-;iﬁﬂﬂft :ﬁvthe
got dinner for him when he ordered it. Sometimes he came home at 7, somet] i
at J or 10, sometimes he staid out all night. I have spoken to him abc:ul: ﬂrd;:?e:
dinner and not coming home for it. His reply usually was, 1 forgot it.”” On f;;"_
or five occasions he ordered dinner for a party of guests, but nobody i oo ST l;ol&
me on one of those occasiong that he had invited General and Mrs. Windham, My
and Mrs, Baring, Colonel Bronghton, and Mr. Peatfield. At another time he said he
expected Lady Sophia and Mr. Giubilei. Mr. Windham did not come home to re-
ceive the guests. On one occasion he returned about nine o’clock. T said to him
* Mr. Windham, nobody has come to dinner.” His reply was, “ Never mind Bob”
—he always called. me Bob—(a langh)—“T forgot; let us bave dinner. Where is
f‘.ild Bob Ridley ?"—meaning my husband. We sat down with him. He started n
in 10 minutes, rushed ont, called a cab, and went away to the Eastern Gnuntic;l;
.:Eailwa}r. I do not believe he ever told me the troth during the whole time he was
in the house—not even on the most trivial occasion. I feel confident he did not
know the difference befween truth and falsehood. The luncheon time was between
half-past two and three, but if he came in at one he would say that he had ordered
luncheon to be on the table at that hour, and would stamp and swear and put himsef
into s violent passion. When he has said he had ordered luncheon at one o'clock T
have sometimes contradicted him, but it was better no5to do so. He wonld call me
“ old hog,” ‘“old . and other names of that deseription. One day he took me
down to the kitchen, and eaid he was willing to put his hand and arm into the fire
if I would do the same. (A langh.) He was very fond of running down to the
kitchen and making a noise. 1 have seen him sitting on the kitchen table with the®
ring of a toasting-fork up to his eye, like an eye-glass. On that occasion he called
himself * Agnes.”” He moved about on the edge of the table as if he were riding-
like a woman on horseback. He cried out, * My dearly beloved Agnes—Agnes,”
and pretended to be riding in the Park. (A laugh.) He once or twice complained
of having lost money. He was ont'at nights a great deal. I recollect his coming
home one morning with only one sock on. He was very dirty, covered with soot and
dirt, and told me he had been driving an engine. ' One of his feet was ent, and he
said it had been done with a woodman's knife. He was very ill, and I gent for a
doctor. He was as black as a sweep, his clothes were all nnbuttoned, his shirt
was open at the breast, and he was without a cravat or collar. . I never
saw him in such a state. . He had been absent.five days or a week. He came back,
1 think, on the 27th of ' August; about the middle of the day. He told me he had
been down at Norwich. Mr, Lewellin put: him into a bhot bath, and then
got him to bed. He came home in Agnes Willoughby’s carriage. I knew it was
Agnes Willoughby’s carringe, becanse it nsed to come: to. the door and take him
out ; and, in fact, he told me it was her carriage. I have seen him sick from over-
oating more than once. On one occasion he vomited his dinner into my lap. (A
laugh.) He nsed his bed like ‘a child, and I have often found it in a filthy state.
Upon one occasion, when I .entered his bedroom, he threw off the bedclothes and
exposed himgelf.: He did that first in July, but he repeated it once or twice. in
August, I threatened: to speak to Mr. Lewellin. He gaid: “Don’t do that;
don’t get me into a row ; it won't happen again.”. Upon one of these occasions he
gaid : “ I will horgéewhip Old Bob Ridley.” When he came home in the state
I have described, he told me he had breakfasted off pickled cabbage, had eaten a
great quantity of it, and was afraid it would kill him. He said Agnes had given
him the pickled cabbage, but I think that was a mistake. He was very restless—
always on the fidget, and scratching himself in a nervons manner. He wasalways
going to the door and following the servants, as if he were afraid of something
coming upon him. He was never quiet—constantly screaming and shouting, night
and day. 1t was an indescribable noise. He was subject to violent fits PI’ passion
without cause, and when in a rage used: the grossest language, foaming at the
month. After the excitement was over he would cry like a bellowing, noisy child,
and never used a pocket-handkerchief, but wiped the teara away with the back of
his hand. He snored very loudly when aslecp. I found the best mode of dealing
with him was to flatter him, telling him he was a very handsome young mag, & man
of great promise and strength.  When I praised him thus he seemed pleased,
laughed in a gilly sort of way, and strutted about. At table sometimes he said he
would be a very great muu, an influential man, a county magistrate, and a Member
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i I of showing his superiority he drank his beer-out of alarger
;{R:;nﬂllgzﬂﬂrnjﬁ -ﬂiﬂ“ﬁ; any other %-eraur} at table. It was a soda-water gl_uss. Some-
times he requested me to call him Captain Windham ; at others he said, © I sghall
{hank you to address me as ‘ My lord’” He told me that when he came of age he
would make great improvements on his estate, and get rid of many of the old
tenants. He was fond of being with the police, and gaid that as he would one day
be a county magistrate he might learn a good deal from them. He also told me he
meant to have a railway from Cromer to Fellbrigg, He would hav? 1k, ha.amg,
almost up to his own park gates. He told me he knew a}l about the railways in hia
own neighbonrhood, and used to drivethe engine. He said he was particnlarly fond
of the guards, and was alwoys with them. He had a gnard’s uniform, with ticket-
bag, whistle, belt, and pouch for a watch. Occasionally he went cnt in this dress,
and wonld be absent for some days. He made no disgnise on his return that he had
been driving the train. He sometimes talked to me about Agnes Willoughby. I
had heard of her character. I think he met her at Ascot. At first he spoke of her
as he ‘did of other persons of light character whom he had got acquainted with in
the park. Some time afterwards it was reported he was going to marry her. Om
the morning of the 28th of August, the day before he left my honse, I had some
conversation with him on the subject. I said it was a shocking thing for him to
marry such a person, to which he replied, * I never intend to marry her, nor an
such ——. I have had all I want of her, and she may stay on with Jack —."*
He told me on a former occasion that Agnes Willonghby had informed him that she
was a very respectable person; that her father was a clergyman named Rogers;
that he had left her by will £600 a-year, and also money to bring up two younger
gisters ; and that Mr. Lewellin could go down to Doctors’-commons, see the will,
and 8o test the accuracy of her statement. She had further told him, he gaid, that
ghe had been seduced by Lord Willoughby, and that that was the only wrong act
ghe had ever committed.

Mr. Chambers.—It may be as well to state that there is not the slightest founda-
tion for this statement.

Witness continued.—I told him that I had heard from my husband that she was
a very bad girl, to which he replied that he was the only gentleman besides Jack
who had been intimate with her. (A langh.) I also told him that I had heard he -
was going to settle his property npon her. He said it was utterly false—*a pack
of lies.” He left my house on the 29th of August. I was not aware he was going
away. He did not tell me he was going to be married. I left town on the morn-
ing of the 29th, but before I went away I had a long conversation with him. He
assured me he had nointention of marrying; he said, *Isit likely, when T have
taken your rooms for 12 months #* Thave seen him once since he,left me. He
came to gnpper at my house about five weeks ago. I thought him worse than ever.
He cried quietly, but seemed more silly and more stupefied. He expressed his
regret at his marriage, 1 introduced the subject. I esaid, * How could you run
away and behave in the manner you have done ¥’ Ha replied, I was drawn into
it ; suy nothing more about it.”” He was with us abont an hour. He was much
more subdued, more melancholy, and seemed not to have strength to make his
usual noises. While with me I regarded him as a person of unsound mind, ineapn-
ble of managing himself or his affaira.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—My husband sells wine. I have not the
least idea what sum Mr. Windham has paid my hnsband for wines from first to
lagt. T thought from the first that Mr. Windham was incompetent, and yet I
allowed him to enzage my rooms for twelve months. Mr. Windham had a setting-
room, o bedroom, and a lumber-room, His bedroom was changed. When he
became rather riotous we gave him a room at the back of the house. He slept
there three nights, and then went back again to his original room. When Mr.
Windham came I had o sister staying with me. Her name is Eliza Sophia. She
is more than twenty years of age. 1In the early part of June I gent her to school,
with the view of gualifying her for a governess. I saw General Windham for the
first time about a month or six weeks after his nephew came to my hounse. My
husband had known old Mr. Windham, but I never hesrd him speak of the General,
The General came to remonstrate with his nephew about his keoping company
with the police. 1 heard the General say, “I will not allow you to keep low
company. I have given you the reins three months before your coming of age,
and I trust you will behave like a gentleman.” I have seen the General a dozen
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times since. T saw him three times between tl i
house and the day on which I went to Mr. Fieﬁé?sﬂ:ﬂji'czlgsnm}n[;; E—..mfﬂ? ifﬁ ﬂj’
sister accompanied me to Mr. Field's. She offered to make an aflidavit f wiPor
Windl ] : ke ; avit for General
Windham, but Mr. Field, after hearing her statement, said it was go like mine that
ﬁw;_n’lcl e unnecessary to put it down in writing. General Windham was present.
e did not say, when I had finished my statement, *I am glad you have put it
‘that way.” When we left Mr. Field'’s ‘office my sister did not EFI; to me, ‘FH
came you to make such false statements as those '’ nor did I reply, “I have ivuw
f;:: hl'lb E;Ftty ﬂtmrrhg, mi]d ahti: lady-love too.” Bhe merely said }m me, EFIW::.:':
rrible things you have ha say! I am glad they did i A
M _l':mabﬁndi and I swore to H.j:]iuf afﬁdu.viE 4 petipskrosnililaome,
. Here the learned Counsel handed up two letters to t i
read them carefully. After she had g]one g0, she said El:e;l'?em:? 1?::;::1-:& lf'r ]:’n
had addressed—one on the 30th of October and the other on the 20th of Nu:em?: 2
Tn.st—-—tﬂ her sister Eliza Sophia, who had been the destroyer of her happiness Thﬂr
had no reference, she added, to the present inquiry, but related to famil mal.:l.ersﬂl;:"
a very painful and distressing character, and she begged that she might-jl;ut be qu ;
tioned respecting them. Nevertheless, Mr. Karslake proceeded to interro abE ]?E'
with respect to the meaning and application of certain expressions mniﬂgamd ;'3;
them, but as those expressions, consisting of only a few words, conld not be mad
infelligible to the Court and jury without a previous ucquﬂiutﬁn::a with the mntext?
it was at last resolved that at least one of the letters should be read. Accordingl
the witness was requested to read the letter dated the 20th of November, and il{;
did so with visible reluctance. The greater part of the letter was devoted to a
- atrictly private affair, and one, too, of a remarkably delicate nature, but towards the
close the following passage, which probably relatea to the present énae ot eurred —
*T hope the report is correct about yonng W.'s woman having gone r.:::. with a rail-
way guard. I see the General very often, and he would like to eall on you. The
trial comes on on Friday next. 'I'be poor General is very ill. The other letter
was not read, but from one or two words which Mr. Karslake quoted from it the
Court and jury inferred lhat it was similar to the one dated November 20. Mr.
Karslake, resuming his cross-eéxamination, repeated the questions which he had
before addressed to the witness, and which related, not to the passage just cited
‘bearing vpon the matter under inguiry, but to those portions of the correspondence
which seemed to be as foreign to the Windham' case as they were extremely painful
in their character. Ananswer toone of the questions wasat length dragged from the
witness, but it was of 8o extraordinary and delicate a nature, and had appmnﬂy 80
Tittle to do with the real subject of inguiry, that the jury interposed and requested
that no further questions of the same kind might be put. Mr. Karslake eaid, that
ont of deference to the jury he would not press the witness forther ; but he stated
that however things might look at present, it would eventually be found that every
question he had sished to put was material to the case. The cross-examination was
then continued as follows :—It was in a passing conversation that General Windham
gaid he would like to see my sister. 1 did not go to her with Colonel Broughton to
try to get her to give evidence against young Mr. Windbam. We did go for that
purpose to a charwoman who was in my service when Mr. Windham lodged in Duke-
atreet. Colonel Bronghton lodges with me. General Windham saw him sometimes,
but not often. The General never asked me to get evidence. 1 have said to-day
{hat Mr. Windham told me he would have a railway close up to his park-gates. In
my affidayit I say * bang np to his door.” The words he really vsed were * bang in."”
The glass which Mr. Windham used at table was not a valuable and rare article
which he had bronght from the Continent.. It was a sodu.water glass of my own,
I never saw Mr. Lewellin putting Mr. Windham into a bata. I am not aware that
Mr. Windham ordered his baths to be got ready. He had a buth almost every day,
but mow and thenm he would not have it. I have eaid in my affidavit that my
husband nsed to take Mr. Windham into the bath.room and get him to wash himsell,
Mr. Windham would not bave taken the bath of his own accord. Ho
of bed [“1& throw on o (Imﬂ-ﬂillg'EHWHH a'l!l'li come dﬂ“"ﬂ to breakfnss
. 'When Mr: Windbam left the bath.room, and ran along
not aware that he had scalded himself; on the contrary,
the month bding June, I should say the bath was slmost cold, T saw him act thus

four times. Mr, Windham gave my husband money to keep for him three or four
times, The largest sum ho'ever gave him in this way was about £100. When Le

I say so still.
used to jnmp ont
unwashed and uncomped
the passage naked, ' am



a7

wanted any of it back again he nsed to say,  Give N8 some money, Db  He told
me on more than a dozen occasions that he had lostjewellery. He has lost some: of
mine. Mr. Windham ordered dinner fora party when nobody eame three or four times.
He did not tell me on one of those uncn&imm that the pnl‘_t]' had 'I:m-::.:n put off because lLe
was obliged to go to the country. Mr. Lewellin supplied Mr. Wm_dham with wine—
champagne and eherry, Mr. Windbam paid the bills.  He never objected to any of the
items., I never heard him say, “ Well, Bob, this is sticking it on mthE}" too thick.”
(A langh.) He would turn over the leaves of the pass-books in a hurried mannper,
but he never examined them with any degree of attention. His bed was found in
a filthy state eight or ten times. 1t began at the latter end of June, and in the
beginning of July was pretty frequent. He was not suffering from d:.:}rrhpma. at the
time, but was in good health. He was sober; indeed, I never saw him tipsy. He
exposed himself to me twice. When I heard that he was going to be married I sent
to the General, who said that his nephew, who was then in the‘mnnlry. should be
telegraphed for. I may have told the General previously that his nephew was going
about with Agnes Willoughby. Everybody knew that. The General uzed to call
atmy bouse to see his nephew. He never came except for that purpose. We have
served the General with wine for several months past. We commenced {o do so
before the marriage. Alr. Windham did not tell me that he had borrowed the rail-
way uniform from one of the guards. When he supped with me after his marriage
he looked like a man whose feelings had been greatly injured. Formerly he was a
man of exuberant spirits.

'The inquiry was again adjourned.

! SIXTH DAY.—SATURDAY. DRe. 1804 20

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resnmed this day in the Conrt of Exchequer, Westminster, before
Mr. Warren, .C., one of the Masters in Luoacy, and a special jury. -

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady S8dphia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
fur Mr. Williom Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

Mr. Windham was present nearly the whole of the day. He joined in the laugh
which oceasionally aroge in court, but at certain parts of the evidence, to which it is
unnecessary to make any more particnlar allusion, his face slightly flushed and he
dropped his eyes to the ground. Generally, however, he kept them steadily fixed
on the witness, except when he cast a glance at the- jury or whispered a remark in
the ear of his counsel. He seldom, if ever, looked round to the audience, though he
by no means evinced any anxiety to avoid observation from that quarter.  Unce or
twice he scribbled a note—writing very fast—and handed it to  his solicitor, who'
was pitting below him. Perhaps it would not be incorrect to state that more than
one question was put Lo the witness in cross-examination at his suggestion, inlt

MRIS. LEWELLIN—CONTIKUED.

Mrs. Leweliin, cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge.—While Mr. Windham was
with me I occasionully made his bed myself. It was sometimes mude by the
hougemaid, Sarah Raymond, sometimes by a charwoman mamed Partridge, and
sometimes by a girl named Kate. Babbage. It may also have been made, th:lculagh-
not often, by my sister Eliza SBophia. The sheets were given out to wash., One of
the washerwomen—>Mrs. Brown—would not wash Mr. Windham’s linen unless I
gove her a dooble price. There wuas champagne drunk at luncheen. I do mot
know whether my husband drank any of it. My hosband is a most sober may
and never behaved as if he were drunk after luncheon. He ia n passionate mau———ﬂ:
Welnhman‘—nnl generally showed his bad temper after breakfast. (A langh) Wa
were continually quarrelling abont the condoct of Mr. Windham, but we nevep
quarrelled about my husband's conduct to “that gentleman. I never said to. Me
Lewellin, “ Yon are sucking the poor boy dry, and as long as he has any money laﬂ;
you will stick close to him.” 1 went fo the charwoman, Mrs, I’rit[:hurfi, about thig
case twice, once with Colonel Bronghton and once with M, Wood, a clerk to the
attorneys to the petitioners. When I saw her with Mr. Wood I asked hor whether
she recollected that Mr, Windham was in the habit of making a mess in his bed
She replied, * No, I did not see it.” T then said to her, I used to set it ﬂtl‘l‘lig]lﬁ.
before you came up.” She did not say to me, © Oh, no; you could not have done
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anything of the sort” What she eaid was, “Oh, did you?” I did pat |
straight by changing the sheets. The dirty sheets of mﬁm went to tE: wﬁh&%
changed the bed myself three or four times while Pritchard was in my service.
On those occasions 1 made the bed as far as the under sheet, and then left it so.
The rest was done by Pritchard. When T saw Pritchard with Colonel Broughton I
told her we had a large dinner party, and asked her to come to assist. 1 did not
say to her, “ That blackguard Windham has married s worthless woman, and she
. 18 going to bring him a child, and we want to do what we can for the General”
Nor &1:1 I say “If you will come and speak against Windham, and say
he' is = gorger, the General will put 'you and your husband into a
good © position; but you must keep it quite quiet.” I never said anything
approaching to that. I did not even say, *The General will put me and my
husband in a good position.” = When I went to Mr. Field's office to have my
evidence taken down, my sister accompanied me. The General came in for about
five minutes, gpoke to Mr. Field about business, and then went away to write
letters.  He did not say to me, “ I am much obliged to yon for the eapital evidence
you have given ; I have never heard half of it before.” He said nothing of that
kind. My sister did not say, “ No, nor I;”” in fact, she did not open her mouth.
The General did not say, pointing to my sister, “this little woman would help us
too, but she is nervous, and might break down in cross-examination.” He did not
utter any words conveying that sense. Mr. Field did not thereupon say, “It does
not at all matter, because one is enough.” What the General said was, * You see
this Girl has been at the Lewellin's so sghort a time, and I think it so nnpleasant
what she would have to say, that I will dispense with her.” Mr. Field replied, * Oh,
yed. That is what passed, there was nothing more. My sister was prepared to
state all she knew.” Bhe had eaid, as I was making my statement, * Yes, that is all
correct, as far as I know."  Bhe offered to state all she knew, and it was then the
General interposed and said he would dispense with her. After writing his letters
the General returned to the room to speak to Mr. Field, but he did not stay all the
fime I was giving my evidence. 1 was present when Mr. Windham came to my
house to supper after his marriage. I think it was in November, but I cannot say
whether it was before or after I made my affidavit. My husband is agent to Barnea
& Uo., Wine merchants, Lincoln’s-inn-fields, and algo to John H. Liberty, 3, 8pring-
ens. ' I do not know that he sold to Mr. Windham wine to: the amount of £30
for 'John Edward Liberty in Aungustlast; nor am I aware that on the 16th of
September he sent to Mr. Windham at Fellbrigg-hall wine to the value of £260 for
Barnes & Co. I know nothing about the wine business. I do not remember
mentioning to Mr. Field anything about my husband sending wine to Mr. Windham.
Mr. Windham never ordered me out of his bedroom or sitting room. He never said,
““ Jome, you had better go away to your dear old baby.” I have nbo elaim against
Mr. Windham, but my husband has. I have no idea what the amount of that
claim is. ;

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I discharged Kate Babbage, one of my servants,
becanse she went o bed with Mr. Windham in my house. I think I know how the
connsel for Mr., Windbham have got possession of my letters to my sister. The fact
is that Roberts has got hold of my sister for a bad purpose. I sent her to a school
with & view of qualifying her for a governess, but she left it without my knowledge
or consent. I have called on Roberts three times. The first time I went to him
was early in November. My sister was with me. Mr. Windham was there at the
time. I saw Boberts. Mr. Windham came out into the hall, and Roberts followed

" him. Roberts said, * What is it? What is it, Windham ?” Mr. Windham replied,
% Oh, only my landlady from Pall-mall. I have told her that her account was left
with my solicitor.” He meant my husband's acconnt against him. _Roberts said,
“Qh, oh, all right.” Roberts and Windham then turned into the dihing-room, and
we came awsy., On the gecond oceasion I went along with Mr. Wood. 1 saw
Roberts and 1 (r. Windham together in the hall. They both came oub when the
street-bell w s rung, without waiting to see who it was. Mr. Windham said,
“ Your husband’s acegunt is at my golicitor's, Mr. Davis,' and_lm gave e Mr
Davie's address, Clifford-street, Bond-street. He !;han began putting un_hm driving
coat as if he was going out, The third and last timo I went to Piceadilly by my-
golf. I wished to sce Mr. Windham. ' At firat ‘Ruhurtu refused to Isl.]lnﬂ" me to see
him. I told him my business was with Mr. Windham, and see him I must. Ha
said, “ You shall not come dunning here,” I said, © I have not come dunning, but

Fa
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k Mr. Windham & question”? After somo altercation, he said, «Well, if yon
;nuna:: want money, jrc-n;'?uu}’ see Windham.” Previous to this he had locked the
street door. I asked him to open the door and call some one in to hear what I'was
going to say; but the page-boy still kept the door locked. At last Roberts went
upstairs and brought Mr. Windham down, as if he were a keeper over him. I then
went into the dining-room with Mr. Windham alone; the door was half ajar. 1
asked him to come to Duke-street, as Mr. Lewellin wished particularly to speak to
him. He said, * I will come; but my wife has run away. The Jews have got hold
of her, and she is now locked up in Glasgow gaol.” That was all he said. = There
is not the slightest foundation for saying that General Windham ever offered me a
single sixpence. He has charged mie’ most particularly to speak the truth correctly,
and has never made me an offer of any kind. | e

By the Jury.—Mr. Windham was not beset by duns and people with unpaid bills
at my honse.. He never added up the accounts I gave him; never objected to any
of the items ; never even looked at them. I never saw any written invitations jssued
by Mr. Windham for the various dinners he ordered. He seemed to suppose him-
‘self almost the richest man that ever lived; in fact, according to him there was no
end to his wealth. He never entered with me into the particulars of his income.
I did not luse any of my lodgers in consequence of the riotous condnct of Mr. Wind-
kam ; but I had complaints from them. I did not show Mr. Windham's accounts
to the General or anybody else. When Mr. Windham ordered dinner for a party
of gussts ha did not tell me what to provide. - I prepared whatever I thought neces-
sary. Although no guests came the dinner was not wholly lost.  We used the.ma-
terials in the house, and made & corresponding reduction to Mr. Windham.

By the Master.—He was not in the habit of breaking things. He was always
very sober, and would never tonch spirits. When he told me the Jews had got hold
of his wife, and she was in Glasgow jail, he spoke of it in a casual and indifferent
gort of way. d
ME. D. LEWELLIN, THE HUSBAND OF THE ‘““LANDLADY."”

Mr. David Lewellin, the husband of the last witness, was examined by Mr. Field.
He said, the behaviour of Mr, Windham while lodging in Duke-street was not like
that of a person of sound mind. It was at times unbearable. Mr. Windham used
to whistle, scream, howl, caterwanl, ging, and jump abeut like a madman. He was
a most excitable being, and during his meals would suddenly start up and rush oot
of the house aa if he had not another moment to live. On those ccecasions he wonld
rush down the stairs to the imminent danger of his neck, leaping from one landing-
place to another like a madman, and sometimes falling flat on his back. His habits
were very dirty, and he could with difficulty be persuaded to wash himself, He was
also very passionate, and in his fits of rage, which were often withont any adequate
canse, he wonld foam at the mounth, swear, stamp on the imund, and otherwise sct
more like a wild beast than a human being. The noises I have described were heard
in the night as well as during the day. For several nights I was annoyed by a
peculiar noise which I was unable to account for. It was like that which might be
produced by a cat shutup in a room in great distress. I inguired of my neighbours,
right and left, but conld get no information on the subject. At last, to my profound
astonishment, I discovered that the noise was oceasioned by Mr, Windham, who had
shut himself in the bath-room, opened the window, and amused himself by cater-
wauling like a cat in the middle of the night. (A langh.) His conduct was other. .
wise very eccentric. Sometimes he wonld haye his bath warm, at others cold.
Often while in the bath he turned on the hot water until the temperature was much
higher than it onght to be. I have seen him come out of the bath-room perfectly
naked. On one occasion I took up a carriage whip which was hanging in the hall
and used it on his person. He threw about his money in & reckless manner. One
day he would have £20 or £30, and the next day he would not have a shilling,
He has borrowed money of me frequently. Whenever he had any loose money,
which he did not want to take out with him, he used to give it to me to take
care of it for him. Sometimes when I had money of his in my possession he
wonld ask me for a loan, as if he had forgotten all about it. He would say on
these oceasions—* Come, Old Bob, I must have a pound or two.” On one occae
gion, when he asked me for tho loan of a sovereign, I told him I had £30 of
his, which he had given me the day before, He gaid, “Oh, old Bob is very
hovest ; all right.” He lost a good deal of jewellery, and sometimes in the middle of
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the day. He seldom, if «v v, spoke the truth. He once told me that a hordle had
been placed across the rouw to upset him while on his retuen to Fellbrigg-hall from
Norwich, whither he had taken his tenants fora treat ; that he himself arrested the
offender *like a London detective;"” that he prosecuted him at the Assize Court in
Norwich, addressed the jury in an eloguent speech, a1l was complimented by the
Judge ; and that the prisoner was sent to prison fur four years, (A langh.) I have
seen his bed in a filthy state once, and have had to supply him with clean shirts
‘twice. He was in the habit of using very bad language—profane and obscene.. o
foamed at the mouth in bed, and while sleeping looked like a lunatic. (A langh.)
He was extremely vain, and wished to be called Captain Windham, He told me
that he first met with Agnes Willonghby and Skittles in Rotten-row. ¢ Skittles” is
the sobriquet of a notorious woman. Oneday he came home and said he had had a
Jolly row with Skittles abont Agnes Willoughby; that he had ordered Skittles to be
turned out of the Park ; that he had bullied her well, and let everybody know who
and what she was. He also told me that he had known Agnes Willonghby, and
that on going to her honse by appointment on one oceasion he had found another
man thers. He has had his clothes sent tb her house, intending to sleep with her, but
when he has got there he has been obliged to return home again, somebody else being
-with her. Once, upon my telling him what a bad char icter Willonghby was, © Ob,” he
said, ** Agnesis not the woman you mean : the person you refer tolives at St. John's-
wood.” I replied, *There is no mistake about it; Agnes is the woman."” He told
me that her futher, who was a clergyman, had left £500 or £600 a-year, and that I
conld see all abont it by going to Doctors’-commons. I assured him I had known
her myself on the town for years, and that she had ruined many a man. He told me
that ouly two gentlemen besides himself had been intimate with her, one being her
geducer and the other a wisitor. When I heard that he was going to marry Agnes
Willoughby I spoke to him on the subject. He langhed and said, **I only want her
for a time."” Shortly before he lefc my house I told him I had heard that he was
going to settle’ his property upon her. He replied, It is & ——lie; [ have had
enough of the ——.” I am positive, from all I know of him, that he is not capable
of managing himself or his affairs, -
Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—1 have occupied the house in Duke-atreet for
about twelve months. It was built for me. 1 bave kept chambers for gentlemen
for about five years. I have been in the wine trade since 1846.  Before that date I
was butler and steward at Sir George Cayley’s, in Yorkshire. I know old MMr.
Windham about 1850. I was eent to him by Mr. Barnes, the wine merchant,
to receive payment of a bill. When I first became acquainted with young Mr.
Windham 1 did not know any other member of his family. I stated in my aflidavit
that 1 kvew all the members of thoe Windhain family for many years. Whal: I
meant was that I koew them by name, and on the books a_t. Barnes and Co. %
Liucoln's-inn-fields. Mr. Windham agreed to give me two guineas a week for his
apartmente, an additional charge of 7e. being made for attendance. While he was with
me there was foar different male servants in the house. They slept on the premises,
brushed the clothes and ghoes, cleaned the plate, waited at table, and did every-
thing that was required of them. I waited at table when there wiss more than the
govvant could do. I often brushed Mr. Windham's clothes, and, in fact, may be
said to bave acted as his valet, The first agreement he made with me ]n.ut'g{l till ?hﬂ
firet of July. Mr. Peatfield came immediately after Mr. Windham. Hu asked
whether there had been a room taken for him, and I replied * Yes, for Mr. Wind-
ham bad gpoken to me about it. That room was not included in the two guineas
a week. 1 charged Mr. Peatficld £1 4a. a weck for his bedroom, and about Js. .{?E'
for attendance. On the 1st of July Mr. Windhum took his room by the year. ?
terms were £100 a vear, exclusive of Mr. Peatfield's bedroom, which, huwavglrz.
have charged to Mr. Windbam. 'The baths were charged separately—a shilling
each. It waos agreed that whatever wine Mr. Windham wanted he should i‘v’:f??i;f -
the wholeeale price. The champagne was charged 60s. per doz. 1 “L,t;,"“ﬂ?d Mr. 'E ';::
in the bathroom. He never talked to me of experiments witha 1 urkish bath, but =
wotld sometimes take a hot aud cold bath in quick succession. T have seen him Tlt.lha
the bath so hot that nobody could bearit. I never saw him jump out on ““’m""t;:m of
extreme heat of the bath, but I havo seen him do so when l;hul"'ﬂ“m F;" ¢hin
steam. 1 have seen hith come ont of the bath-room balf a dozen t:mmlw:ls n:; ii::u E
but his shirt on, and once or twice quite naked. My office is on the sam

with the bath-room. Mr. Windham sometimes left bis clothes in my office ; but L
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Ty leave them there in order to save him the trouble of
:::e:;r:r :jftﬁﬂ;?:&d It?lr?:: :zggnsted that some of his clothes aimlu!d be lefe in my
ﬁlﬁcg. The clothes he put.on in my office were part of those which he afterwardas
wore during the day. 1t was not necessary for him to come out of the bath-room
to call for towels, or for me. There was a P-ell in the room. He has frequently
left the bath-room naked, or only with his shirt on, when the street bell was rung,
in order to see who it was, He did that repeatedly, as often as twice a week, during
the latter part of the time he was with me. His conduct at last became quite
anbearable. If I were to say that I have seen him come out in this condition a
hundred times T should not exceed the truth. He was exceedingly indelicate. He
was on very good terms with me. He told me all his affairs; he was very familiar
with me, and we joked und langhed together a good many times. He had one horse
of his own, and I hired others for him from a person named Robins. He drove
about in a phaeton until he smashed it. He did not get into a passion when I
whipped him. I did not wish, of conrse, to hurt him. He took it very quietly. I
did not flonrish the whip over him by way of joke. I am not aware that he treated
it as sueh. I did not. I believe he got money sometimes from a bavker, but 1
never saw him with a check-book. He never paid me with a check. He frequently
borrowed money from me when I had none of his in my hands. I_rumemhar
gupplying  Mr. Windham with wine at Fellbrigz-hall. I did so on
different occasions, but I did not supply him with any large quantity
until he came of age. He ordered a large quantity from Barnes and Co., on or
about the 20th of Augnst. Agnes Willoughby was with him. I was present, and
introduced him to the clerk. I neither gave nor shall I get a commission upon that
order; but I shall probably be remunerated by a redunction in the price of some
wine which I have had for my own honse. The wine sent to Fellbrigg-hall has
not been paid for. I believe the amount is npwards of £200, The cellar at
Fellbrigg-hall was perfectly empty when Mr. Windham came of age. I have
myself supplied Mr. Windham with champagne direct from the docks. It was sent
to Fellbrigg-hall. He asked me for it, considering it very cheap and good. On one
oceasion I sent him twenty cases; and I have supplied him with small quantities
at other times. I also supplied him with some cases of claret and brandy. He
has likewise had wine from Mr. Liberty. The money he got from his banker was
generally gone in an hour. When he was in a passion it was almost dangerons to
go near him, He would stamp and swenr and threaten to kill any person who
spoke to him. I have seen him bite his nails and lips until the blood has come.
I am quite positive he told me that he himself addressed the jury down im
Norwich, and that he was complimented by the jedge. If there is a statement in
my affidavit to the effect that he told me what his counsel said to the jury, all £
can say is that it is not true, and that I do not know how it got there. I have no
doubt I read my affidavit before I swore toit. I was not aware it was made for
the purpose of enabling proceedings to be taken against Mr. Windham. My opinion
was that the intention was to protect him from the vile hands into which he and
his property have fallen. All the letters written by Mr. Windham to me I have
given to General Windham, or rather to his solicitor. I may possibly, also, have
given some letters addressed to Mr. Windham. 1 delivered up all the documents
and papers which I could find in hisrooms. I have supplied General Windham with
wine three times. The first time was in July Jast, when I sent him, by the erder
of his nephew, a dozen of champagne on trial. Afterwards [ sent him eight dozen,
and about six weeks ago I sent him six dozen. He has also had a dozen of
brandy. These are all the dealings T have had with him. Ido not know who
bronght the General to Duke-street on the night when his nephew came to sup with
me ﬂftw his marriage with Agnes Willoughby. I did not send for him on that
occagion. My impression is that he was bronght by Mr. Corbellis, one of my
lodgers, for the purpose of giving him an opportunity of eaving his rephew.
Yonng Mr. Windham never objected to any of the items in his bills. He never
said, when I showed him the entries in the pass-baok, “ Come, Bob Ridley, this is
lny:r_rg it on rather too thigk' He always acted liberally with me in everything.
During part of the time Mr. Windham was in Duke.street I had a sister-in-law
named Eliza Hﬂph[n staying with me. I do not remember her taking charge of the
house while my wife was at Ramsgate, but she was found sitting on the bed with
Mr, Windham, and I remember turning her to the door,
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Tha eross-examination of the witness was not claded
adjourned till the following Thursday. S it

- ' SEVENTH DAY—Trurspay, Dec. 26.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this morning, in the Court of Excheguner, Westminater
before Mr. Warren, (Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunaey, and a special jury, ;

! Mr. M. Chambers, .C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the peti-
tioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady SBophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of the
al]egaq ]'!matm ; 8ir Hugh Cairns,  Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for
Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr, Coleridge;, Q.0., for Ms. Windham.

The Master said—I am increasingly anxions about the length to which this in-
quiry must inevitably extend. The present is the seventli day of gitting, and we
have not yet averaged more than three witnesses a day. I hope we will get on
quicker in future, and I for one will do everything I can to shorten the inquiry, I
have made arrangements which will enable me to sit de die in diem until the case is
concluded, and, if the parties wish it, L am prepared to sit every day from 11 o'clock
in the forenoon till 7 in the evening. '

MR, LEﬁféLf.:m’_s EVIDENCE— CONTINUED.

Mr. Lewellin, cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge.—I was at one time valet to Mr.
Barnes, wine merchant, Lincolu's-inn-fields. Some years ago I had two honses in
Pall-mall—one at No. 45, and one at No. 16. Mr. Barnes occupied the first floor at
No. 16, 'Other apartmenta in the same house were let to Mr. John Henry Smith, of
Smith, Payne, and Smith’s; and to Mr. Price, M.P., for Gloucester. I have nine
sigters-in-law. Several of them visited me oeccasionally when I lived at No. 16.
One—Caroline Priscilla—stayed with me abont six weeks before she died. While
she was there none of my apartments were occupied by a young man who is since
<ead. None of my lodgers furnished any part of the house. After leaving Pall-
mall I went to Gilston-lodge, Brompton. Mr. Parsons, an old gentleman, lived with
me there. My sister-in-law, Hliza Bophia, visited us occasionally at Gilston-lodge.
Sometimes she wonld stay a fortnight, sometimes a month, sometimes six weeks, or
two months. ' Mr. Parsons kept two carriages. One of them was ocoasionally used
by my family. Blizi S8ophia dometimes went out in it.

Mr. Coleridge.—Was she in the constant habit of nsing it? \

The witness.—1I refuse to answer any more of these guestions. I am here to give
evidence in the Windham case, not to speak about my family affairs.

The Master.—The jury are anxious to know, Mr. Coleridge, whether your gues-
tions are relevant to the case before us. :

‘Mr. Coleridge.—They are most relevant.

Mr. Chambers.—Yet none of them were put to Mrs. Lewellin.

The Master.—The jury are satisfied with your statement, Mr. Coleridge, and you
may proceed with your cross-examination. i

Mr. Ooleridgze.—It is most important that the eredibility of the witness should be
thoroughly tested. . . 7

Oross-examination resumed.—Eliza Sophia was not in the constant habit of going
ott in the carriage. She went only when I allowed her to do so. Now and then
ghe may have gone out with My, Parsons. She did not go to dioner with him aé
Richmond. Mr. Parsons died when I wasat Gilston-lodge, but'he was not living
with me at the time. When he went away he touk his furniture with him, with the
exception of some things which I bought. ~ He had some pictures, but he took them
all away. Heleft my honse through Eliza Sophis. She did not leave at the same
time, but I sent her away. ' From Gilston.lodge I removed to Duke-stroat. I have
gold wine for Barnes and Co. for twenty years. I do mot get a commission, but
the wine I require for my own house is supplied at butt price. 1 have also sold
wine for Mr. Liberty, Spring-gardens. On the 6th of August Mr. Liberty aupplied
Mr. Windham with 86 dozen of wine. On the 16th of September I gave Barnes and
Co. an order to send to Fellbrigghall wine to the valup of £260. About the 20th
of Augmst 1 supplied Mr. Windham with champagne to the value of £60 direct from
the docks. I was defendant in anaction, *‘ Smart v. Lewellin.” A set of swindlers
had robbed me of £400 or £500, and they concocted a snit against me while they
were in Whiteeross-street prison, The jury found for £150 damages. It was o
common jury, and my counsel scld the case. (A laugh.) I was not asked to give
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evidence, but T insisted -upon going into the box and being heard. The damares
were paid for me, and I did not lose a single farthing. 1 was also deféendant jn a
County Court suit, “Dignam v, Lewellin." * There was a claim made against me for
£30. I was sworn, and gave my evidence. The judge decided the case againaf
me, but that was becanse I told him I would pay the money. He did not say he
thought I should be indicted for perjury. The plaintilf wus my sister-in-law, Eliza
Sophia. She was put up todt by her brother; and did it out of ‘#pite becanse I
torned her out of my house.  Afterwards 1 got a letter from her,’ saying ghe was
mad when shé raised the aotion against me. I'saw Dr. Babbington at my hounse
once. He was brought by Agnes Willonghby, who'called him her family doctor (a
laugh) ; and he saw Mr. Windham, who was then suffering severely from diarrheea.
T did not say anything to him about Mr. Windham®s state of mind. When T tele-
graphed for Mr. Windham I did so at the request of Mr. Chappel, his mother's
solieitor, whotold me it was most important that he should be in London. I may
have inférmed Mr. Hook that I had sent for Mr. Windham, but T am’certain that I
did not communicate the fact to the General. : - J
- Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. ‘Windham was in the constant habit of
leaving the bath-room partially naked when the street bell was rung. On one
occasion he came out quoite naked, and ran as far a8 the dining-room door, which is
close to the atreet door. 'Sometimes T had great difficulty in persuading him to
re-enter the bath-room. When using the bath, part of his elothes—coat, vest, and
hat—were left in my office, but his shirt. and' tronsers were always taken into the
bath-room. I had known Mr. Parsons since my boyhood. No claim has ever been
made against me in respect of any forniture which I have of his. T turned Eliza
Sophia out of the house because she would notattend to what I said to 'her. It was
then she proceeded against mein the County-court.” - - G
By the Jury.—Mr. Windham mnever added up the- entries in his pass-book to
ascertain whether the sum total was correct. - I may have shown' his bills to his
relatives, General Windham and Mr. Hook. I never gaw Mr. Windham the worse
for wine except once. He was very seldom visited by gentlemen of his, own ace
and condition in life.” T supplied him with wine at the wholegale price. I had no
licence for the sale of wine. He was not in the habit of ordering things in from
shops. He was not beset by duns.  When he came out of the bath-room in the way
I have described he usually had his shirt and tronsers on, but the latter were
unbuottoned. About . a fortnight or three weeks after he came to my hounse I told
Mr. Hook, one of his gunardians, that in my opinion he was not right in his mind.
By the Mastec.—Mr, Windham neyver complained of the amountof his bills. I have
no doubt I could have overcharged him with impunity if I had been inclived to do so.

THE EEV, T, J. BATY, AN (OCCASIONAL VISITOR.

The Rev. T. J. Baty, examined by Mr. Hume Williams, said he was a clergy-
man and resided at Roehampton. - He had eonsiderable experience in the
education and management of boys. He was requested by, Mr. Hook to take
charge of Mr. Windham, but he declined, and recommended Mr. Peatficld, an old
college companion.”. He visited Mr. Peatfield in Dnke-street sind had many oppor-
tunities of seeing and talking with Mr. Windham. ' On one oceasion, in May, he saw
Alr. Windham alone. The latter. eame into the room with nothing on' except a
dressing-gown, which was very loosely thrown about him. He was in an excited
stateand fold witness that he was engaged in a serious business with the detectives.
He gaid it was imposgible for him to mention it, as it was a private matter, He
then sat down and wrote a note.. After he had done so he told the witness in awild
way that Sergeant Joy, of the detective force, was following the steps of a lady
with whom he was engaged. He said he believed she was .unchaste, and he had
employed Joy to discover the truth. He mentioned the lady’s name; she was
lady of position, and had since been married to an officer in the army.  Witness saw
Mr. Windham on several other occasions. His manner of eating was most offengive;
8o much go, indeed, that witness was once unable to remain at table. One day Mr.
Windham jumped up from the table, and, with a shriek, drew a knifo rapidly across
!ua throat, at the same time making o horrible grimace. His talk was wild and
incoherent, and his language coarse; he was an habitnal swearer, and scemed
unable to distinguish between truth and falsehood. Witness reproved him. for
swearing, but, l:huugl} he was excessively cowed for the moment, the reproal had no
ufrther effect npon him.  He was in the habit of ranning about the house, throwin @
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up the windows, and hooting and howling like a madman. Witness believed him
either to be insane. or at least to have a very weak mind. Some of hig lies Wira
useless, causeless, objcetless. Witness heard him relating to Mr. Lewellin how he
had arrested a man down in Norfolk, and how he had been complimented upon the
fact by the magistrates, who told him that he was evidently a London policeman
and not a common country one. (A langh.)

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I have been in the Church since 1855, and
have known Mr. Hook for about three years. The first time I saw Mr. Windham
to speak to him was after he went to Duke-street, when 1 saw him with nothing
but a dressing gown on; he apparently came from his bed-room. Tie
epoke of the Judy as a person to whom he either had been, or was at that time
engaged—] am not certain which. He was much excited. At the end of aboug
twenty-five minutes he lefv the room for a short time. When he returned he was
partially dressed. Some time afierwards I was in his company for about an hour,
but I do not recollect anything particular happening on that occasion. He was in
the habit when at lunch of beating the tune of *“ Old Bob Ridley ” on the table with
the ends of hig knife and fork. = 1 do not know the song of * Old Bob Ridley,” nor do
I recollect him singing—

¢t Oh, the first time that I got a licking,

1 was in the field at the cotton picking

It made me dance and made me tremble—

By golly it made my eyeballs gingle.”
(A langh.) I never heard those lines before. 1 can give you no instanee of what I
have called his useless, causeless, objectless lies. He told me so many that really I
forget the details of any one of them. During the time I used to visit in Duke-
street I saw Mr. Hook once. I met himin St. James's-street. After the marriage
of Mr. Windham in August Mr, Peatfield stayed with me at Roehampton for about
six weeks, and then went to Russia. fotoef

ELLEN MOORE, MR. LEWELLIN'S COOK.

Ellen Moore, examined by Mr. Chambers, said I was in the serviee of Mr.
Lewellin as cook and kitchenmaid when Mr. Windham lodged in the lionse. One
day about noon I saw Mr. Windham running along the passage quite naked, and
making a great noise—shouting and catcalling. I used to poach from four to
eight eggs for his breakfast. He ate more like a pig than auything else. Several
times I have cooked dinners for himself and a party of friends when nobody came.
I didn't think him in his right mind.

Cross-examined by Sir H, Cairns.—Mr. Windham was the only person I ever saw
ont of his mind. I never heard any one who could imitate a cat so well as Mr.
Windham. (A langh.) ' Mra, Pritchard, the charwoman, was not in the house at
the time I saw Mr. Windham running along the passage naked. I did not look to
gee whether the bath-room was full of steam.

ME. CORBELLIS, A LODGER AT ME. LEWELLIN'E.

. Mr. Corbellis, a clerk in the War-office, was examined by Mr." Field. He eaid I

have been lodging with Mr., Lewellin since January last. 1 have never spoken to
Mr. Windham, but bave heard him shouting, swearing, and langhing in a vacaut
gort of way. His laugh was that of a Juuatic. On one oceasion I heard Mr.
Lewellin saying be would take the horsewhip to him. There was a noise in the
passage as of some one running about at the time. When Mr. Windham went to
Duke-street to sup after his marriage, 1 volunteered to go for the General. _

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—]1 had never been at the General's residence
in Eaton-place before. 1 have never been in the same room with Mr. Windham
when he was shouting and laughing; nor did [ know him by sight. My notion of
a lunati¢ is a man who cannot be allowed to go about with safety. A man may
be able to read Horace and Virgil and pay his bills, and yet be a lonatie. I have no
doubt, from Mr. Windham's langh, that there is something wrong in his head.

By the Jury.—The Lewellin's house was generally well-conducted, and no attempt
was over made, as far as I koow, to impose upon the lodgers.

M#. SCOTT, SOLICITOR, ATLESHAM,

Mr. W. H. Scott, solicitor, in Aylesham, Nogfolk, was examined by Mr, Williams.
— He said, I have known Mr, Windbam gince 1845, and bave occasionally acted pro-
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fessionally for his father. I early formed the opinion that he was a boy of wuu}:
intellect.  That opinion was founded upon his extraordinary excitement in play, hia
sndden and unreasonable fits of passion, and the padyhnrl:.r ranant- expression of his
face when in a state of repose. I was at old Mr. Windham’s funeral, and saw the
son going about among the people, weleoming them almost in a joyous manner,
and asking them with a delighted expression of uuuptananne whether they wonld
like to see the coffin. In the church during the reading of the laa‘unn het gave a cry
which resembled the ery of an animal in distress. It was a manifestation of grief
uncontrolled by reason. At the mansion-house, after the funeral, he was as cheerfual
and careless as ever. I spwke of his conduct at the Windham ovation in Norfolk,
and related the particulars of his fight with a showman in Aylesham, as described
by the postmaster of that town. I saw him himself shortly after the fight, and
deseribed him as sitting on a chair with his hands on his knees, crying, the tears
running down his face unchecked, and his whole q}:pmﬂaian denoting utter mental
prostration. I have no doubt that he i8 a person o deﬁpimh i.ntra_llact.. fray

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I believe that in Mr. Windham instinctive
impulse when excited is not under the control of intelligent reason. An animal
might have reason, bat men only have or should have, intelligent reason. The
rveception of ideas through the senses and acting upon them is a process of reason,
but intelligent reason deals with a higher class of ideas, such as comparison, which
may be wholly independent of the senses. Thus, an intelligent being can compare
the intellectual powers of two men without sesing or touching them. The writing
of a letter stating facts which have occurred, and drawing inferences from them, is
a process of intelligent reason, provided the inference were rational. Mr. Windham
might write a letter of that kind, for he is not totally devoid of intelligent reason,
but he is not capable of any sustained thought. He has enough of reason to form
a conviction, but his conviction, so to speak, has no memory. It does not fix itself
in his mind, or influence his conduct. For example, he might be convinced that he
onght to boy a certain article on acconnt of its excellence and cheapness ; but just as
likely as not, instead of acting upon his convietion, he wounld parchase anything elso
which might happen to catch his eye. For the same reason he would continue
dealing with a man whom he knew was cheating him.

By Mr. Coleridge.—I have comparatively recently noticed the peculiarly vacant
expression of Mr. Windham's face when in a state of repose. On one occasion, when
Mr. Peatfield and-myself were engaged in a diseussion about the state of the soul
after death, Mr. Windham's face became quite idiotic in its expression. (A laugh.)
He evidently did not understand a word of what was said, and at last fell asleep in
an arm-chair. = (A langh.) The discussion continued for a considerable time, and
Mr. Windham did not awake until it was finished. (Great laughter.)

By the Jury.—If Mr. Windham has asked me to transact business for him he
wonld not have done so except under peeuliar circnmstances. Mr. Windham is not

# man to be frusted. I wonld certainly not have made his will without taking the
advice of medical men.

The inquiry was again adjourned.
EIGHTH DAY.—Fripay, Dze, 27,

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrige-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed thia day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, bafora
Mr. Warren, .C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. ‘Ghmiea Russell for Lody Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslaks, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. Willinm Frederick Windham; and My, Coleridge, Q.C., for Mra. Windham,

MR. ATKIN, BOOTMAKER, OPERA COLONNADE,

Mr. Thomas' Atkin, examined by Mr, Fieldl—I am a bootmaker in
Colonnade, and have known Mr. Windbham since the 28th of Mo last. Sinos that
date I have made seventeon or.eighteen pairs of boots for him: On oné occasion he
ordared two sot8.of trees for every pair of boots. I did not comply with the order
because I thought it was unressonable. His conduct, 88 far as it came under mg.:
observation, was of a rather random character. Ho used to shout and howl and
utter bad language in my presence. When I refused to supply him with two seta
of trees for every pair of boots, ho got into o violent rege and exclaimed,  You ——

the Opera
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old fool, can’t I have what Ilike?' On one ocecasion I gave £4 to a servant in
Duke-street, with directions to hand it to Mr. Lewellin. She g'im it to Mr. Windham
in mistake, He sent for me to talk over the matter, and when I had explained how
the n_nalauka had arisen, hq said to me, “If you dov’t stand o bottle of sham'—
meaning champagne—* I will shoot you.” I implored him not to doso, for I wished
tu_hva a little. longer. He then presented a. pistol at my breast, but I do not
think he intended to do me auy mischief; it was a mere frolic. In the month of
November last I saw him with Roberts in Piccadilly. Mr. Windham had ordered a
pair of boots from me, and I took them home. As soon as he saw me. he
burst into a furious passios, and called me bad names. Roberts was even worse than
Mr. Windham, and told me that he wonld not allow me to come dunning there. A
length Mr. Windbam suddenly broke into a laugh, and eaid, addressing me, ¢ All
right, Bob; all right” I believe, from all I have seen of him, that he is incapable
of managing himself or his affairs,

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—ILhave not bronght my books with me, but L
can easily get them. Mr. Windham was recommended to -me by Mr. Lewellin as a
good cnstomer. Shortly afterwards I called of my own accord en Mr. Windham,
and at that first interview he gave me an order for a pair of Balmoral boots, for
which I charged him £1 18s. Since then I have supplied him with Wellington boots,
shooting boots, top boots, and cricket shoes. After his marriage [ had a bill against
, him of about £37. It was paid by a solicitor in Golden-square, to whom I was
referred by Mr. Windham himslef. Before Mr. Windham gave me any order for trees
I had supplied him with three or four pairs of boots. When he ordered two sets of
trees for every pair of boots, he did not tell me that he lived sometimes at Fellbrigg-
hall as well as in London, and that he wanted one set of treeas for each place. 1L
made four sets for him, but if T had executed all his orders I should have supplied
him with about forty sets. (A laugh.) Mr. Windham, in fact, had trees for all
kinds of boots, except dress boots. The latter being of patent leather did not re-
quire trees, and Mr Windham did not order any. 1 made an affidavit in Lincoln's-
inn-fields, bat I do not recollect whe asked me to do so. I think I received a letter
from the sclicitors to the petitioners. I see the following passage in my aiffidavit:—
“He burst into a viclent rage without any provecation.on my part, swore at me
furionsly, presented three different pistols, one after another at me, and said he
would shoot me.” That refers to the scene which I have already described. In
point of fact I only saw two pistols, and the statement in the affidavit that there
were three is a mistake. .
~ Ile-examined by Mr. Chambers.—When Mr. Windham threatened to shoot me if T
did not stand a bottle of champagne, I complied with his demand. (A laugh) I
requested Mr. Lewellin to give ns a bottle of champagne, and paid him 5s. forit. I
was frightened at the time, although I think it was only a frolic on the part of Mr.
Windham, because the pistol might have been loaded unknown to him.

By the Master.—I have had, unfortunately, too many youug men of furtuma‘and
fashion as customerg. 1f one of them had ordered two sets of trees for one pair of
boots, 1 should have regarded such an order as very strange, even though 1 might
not-have had any reason otherwise for suspecting the sanity of the person giving the
order. A gentleman might, of course, very reasonably order two sets of trees, pro-
vided he intended to use oneset in the country and the other in town. As a matter of
fact, however, I never made two sets of trees for one pair of boots,

RICHARD ROBINS, GARDINER AT FELLBRIGG-HALL.

Richard Robins said, I have been a gardener at Fellbrigg-hall for forty years.
One Sunday in Octoher last, upon retumigng from the grapery with Mrs. Windham,
1 found Mr. Windham in the pantry with two of the men.servants; one of the
latter, who did not appear to be sober, said he was !iet.ernﬂued to leave; n._nd Mr.
Windham, as far as I could observe him, did nothing but Iaugh. Mr. Windham
took me up to a room, and, instead of giving me a glasa of sherry, which Mre.
Windham had ordered for me, insisted upon my taking a glass of brandy, which he
said would do me more good.

ME. 7. TREESE, LANDLORD OF THE BLACK BOY, ATLSHAM.

Mr. James Breese, the landlord of the Black Boy Hotel, in Aylsham, said, T saw

" 3 f
ortion of the fight between Mr, Windham and & showman in the market-place o
Ehu.t. town, It occurred on s Sunday, Mr. Windbam drove into the market-place
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in a post-carb, and soon got involved inan altercation with the men belonging to o
mguuguﬂg of wild bensts. I saw him. throw ‘]umﬂﬂ].f .]'II’I:-U a ﬁght'l'l.‘llg' attitode.
One of his antagonists was a woman, who brandished a tin pan over his head, and
when in the act of retreating, overpowered by numbers, Mr. Windham thragt his
elbows throngh-a window. He eventually took refoge in. the post-office. At one
time Mr. Windham often hired horses from me, He always rode and drove
furionsly, and at last I refused to let him have any of my animals. On the
occagion of a ball in Aylsham My, Windbam had a sguabble with the police, and,
in describing the occurrence afterwards to me he said, * The - peelers wanted
to prevent me from getting into the inn yard, but I would have driven over them
if they had not got ont of my way.,' I do mot think Mr. Windham capable of
managing his own affairs. . flai’ r

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I have still a claim against Mr. Windham
for the hire of horses. The account has been sent in, L never drove with Mr.
Windham.

MRE. TAMES HOLDEN, INSPECTOR OF THE C DIVISION, METROPOLITAN POLICE.

James Holden, examined by Mr. Chambers.—I am abp inspector in the C
division of the metropolitan police, and have known Mr. Windham for abdut two
years. 1 bave seen him about in the streets and elsewhere. From the manner in
which he condocted himself I have formed the opinion that he is a man of weak
intellect. I do not mean to say that his mind is unsound, but he is weak and
imbecile. I have heard him shounting in the streets, pretending: to be a policeman,
and trying to move people off. He was fond of assoeiating with the police, and,
egpecially within the last three or four months, bas often tried to foree his com-
pany and conversation upon me. I have seen him walk up to a group of persons
in the street and say, in the voice and manner of a policeman, *If you don’t move
off from here, I will lock you up.”” The parties have moved away, principally I
suppose, becanse they saw me with him. (A laugh.) No complaints have ever:
been made to me about him. Two or three months ago he told me that his
mother had married a young man, and that they and the old General wanted to rob
him of his property. He was crying at the time, the tears flowing from his eyes,
and a sort of froth or foam running from his mouth. He did not use a handker-
chief, but wiped his face with the cuff of his coat. I told him to go home—it was
in the Haymarket, about twoo'clock in the morning—and then left him. At the
end of June or the beginning of July he told me he wes about to be married to a
Miss Windham, a cousin of his. One evening in October he accosted me in
Stafford-street, Bond-street, and requested me to ask the superintendent to allow:
me to go down to the country to apprehend his wife, because she had robbed him
of diamonds to the value of £30,000. He was crying like a child, and said every-
body was trying to rob him. I did not believe him, of course, and told him he had
better speak to the superintendent himself. He was slobbering at the month, and
looked very dejected.
_ Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—It was part of my duty to visit the night-honses
in and about the Haymarket. Mr. Windham never accompanied me on those visits,
but I have often seen him in the houses when I went to them. Ha liked to assume
the anthority of a policeman when walking with me in the streets. I have heard
him orderiog people to move off two or threetimes. I have been eleven years in the
police force, and never knew any of the Windham family. I have always lived in
London. :I‘hara 18 not & noigier place in London at night than the Haymarket, with
the exception, perhaps, of the Ratcliffe-highway on certain occasions. Mosb of the
night-houses are in that quarter, and they usnally “keep it up” till three or four
o'clock in the morning., It wes in the Haymarket, between one and two in the
morning, that he told me he was about to be married to n Miss Windbam. I may
huve stated in my affidavit that he told me he was actunlly married to Miss
:"""'ﬂflhﬂ}'ﬂ- '._I am mnot quite certain which version is the correct ome, hut my
impression is that he told me he was about to be married. I see it stated in my
affidavit that he wm_;t&@ me to go down to apprehend his wife in Norfolk, becauso
#he had ron away wst.l:; jewellery to ithe wvalue of £13,000. 1 do not know how tue
statement came to be inserted. What he really said was that he wanted me to go
down to the country, not mentioning any particular place, to apprehend his wifle
because she had robbed him of diamonds to the value of £30,000,

Be-examined by Mr. Chambers.—If Mr. Windham had given me a charge I should
have tuken no notice of it, unless his statement had been corroborated by other
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f==ons. He is a person of anch weak intellect that no dependence ean be placed
upon him. He was always different from the other young men in the Hﬂ.}'l‘nful;!t.
His conduct was childish. I have seen him in mnight-houses with prostitutes and
gentlemen ; but he always behaved himaself pretty well in those places, at least when
I was present.

_ By the Master.—Mr. Windham never appeared to me to be under the influence of
liguor. T am not aware that he ever put on a police uniform.

By the Jury.—He never attempted to obstruct me in the exeeution of my duty.
Th'B police do not allow shouting in the Haymarket at night, but Mr. Windham is a
privileged heing on account of the state of his mind. T generally saw him in the -
company of prostitutes. I formed the opinion that he was a person of weak intellect
almost from the first moment I saw him. He introduced himself to me by taking
hold of my arm and asking me to have some champagne, addressing me as ¢ gld
fellow,” and “jolly cock.” (A langh.) * All of a sudden he changed his tone and
appeared as if he were about to ery. ' I never had any champagne with him,

ME. H, WHEATLEY, DETECTIVE OFFICER IN NORWICH.

Henry Wheatley, examined by Mr. Field.—I am a detective policeman in Norwich,
Before I joined the police I was a railway inspector on the Eastern Connties line.
and sometimes acting as guard. I have known Mr. Windham for six or seven years,
and for a long time saw him constantly on the platform of the railway station. He
was generally called “ Captain,” because, I suppose, he was known to be a nephew
of General Windham. (A laugh.) I have frequentls seen him running up and down
the platform, shutting the carriage doors, and telling the passengers in a lond tone
of voice totake their seats or they wounld not get on with the train. I have often
seen him get into the break-van. His manner was always very wild. After I
became a policeman L saw Mr. Windham at a ball in Norwich. It was on the 20th
September, 1860. He conducted himself very badly, shouting and bawling. He
came up to me; said that he would give me half-a-crown for my whistle, and that if
I wounld let him have it he would blow it inthe ball-room, “which,” he added, ¢ will
cause a jolly spree.’”’ He has often stopped me in the streets and shaken hands with
me, generally asking me whether I had seen his fanoy girl. When Blondin was
performing in Norwich I saw Mr. Windham walking up and down the road in front
of the place set apart for the performance, and heard him tell the people he was a
London deteetive. In his conversation he wounld wander from ome snbject to another.
I have often travelled with lonatic patients, and fromwhat I have seen of them and
of him my opinion is that Mr. Windham is not in a sonnd state of mind, or fit to
manage himself or his affairs. : : R

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairng.—The patients I have referred to were alwnys
quite quiet, but:Mr. Windham was just the reverse. (A-langh.) I.donot know
whether he was * chaffing” when he told the people at Norwich that he was a
TLondon detective. - What be said was, *“I am a —— London detective.” Since T
left the railway I have seen him on the engine and in the break-van, but not when
the train was in motion.. I never eaw him actually drive aa engine. He was very
fond of being at the railway, and 1 have seen him acting as porter. .I cannot give
you an example of his wanderings in conversation. _ i

By the Master.—I am not aware that either the police or the railway anthorities
remonstrated with him at any time. I mever saw him intoxicated, or dressed in o
railway uniform, ;

SARAH RAYMOND, MR. LEWELLIN'S HOUSEMAID.

Sarah Raymond, examined by Mr. Field.—I was in the service of Mra. Lewellin
as housemaid for five weeks in July and Angust last. I did not see muqh of Mr.
Windham, but I often heard him shouting, swearing dreadfully, and jumping about
the honse. Oneea I heard him make a noise like a cat after all the people in the
house had gone to bed. I used to collect his things for the wash; they were
always very dirty. Sometimes I made his bed. T often found it in a filthy state, as
i hild had slept in it. -
ﬁ?]:ﬂas-emmineg by Mr. Karalake.—Mrs. Pritchard, the charwoman, was in the
house for about & week when I was there, and she helped me to lem the beds
during that tim>. Clean sheets were not put on Mr. Windham's bed every
night. When the sheets were removad, they were stained a little, and IZEIE ghirts
and drawers were stained in the same way. I know he was suffering from
a very bad disense at the time, and, except on three or four occasiocus,
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i i d the bed
he stains were from that cause. On those excepted occasions he had use
‘fi];asn[:hild. 1 believe he was taking medicine in large quantities.

MR, W. BUTCHER, LAND SURVEYOR, NORWICH.

Mr. W. Butcher, examined by Mr. Williams.—I ama land surveyor and valuer in
Norwich, In Octoberlast Mr. Chappel, the solicitor, who told me he was acting in tho
matter for Mr. Windham, employed me to value the farms on the Fellbrigr estate.
1 was told, ab the same time, that large sums of money were due by Mr. Windham,
and I was directed to mark all the trees which might be felled without injuring or
disfiguring the property. The survey ocenpied four days, and at the fﬁm‘hh‘t!a?' I
spoke with Mr. Windham for the first time. I asked him whether the bailill' ar
woodman had pointed out to him the trees which I had marked. He replied in a
very hasty manmner, # Yon have heen too q[‘:u;:]:; I have sokd all the trees flﬂI‘
£5.000, and am to get £500 a month.” He said he had sold them to a Government
contractor, and had signed the contract the day before. I told lim that he shonld
not have done any such thing, and that he had ruined the Fellbrize estate. He
shrugged his shoulders and esaid, in an extraordinary sort of way, "_I have made a
very good job; don’t you think so #' I told that there wera not £5,000 worth: of
trees on the estate which onght to be felled. ** Ab.” he said, ** You l:m.:m nat‘heem
in the Runcton valley ; referring to a portion of the seltled estates with which I
knew he could not meddle. He did not say anything to me about the price ﬁlﬁr
foot, nor did he seem to understand in the least the nature of the contract he had
entered into. He suddenly called for two bottles of wine, and I drank a glass;
and then left him. Since then I have not spoken to him, but T have seen him
frequently at the railway. He appeared to act as a guard, and I actually saw him
on one oceasion tnrning the steam on at the Windham station, a few miles from
Norwich. He seemed to be delighted at what he had done. I have often seen
him opening the carriage door when the train arrived at the station. The oak on
the Fellbrigg estate is very fine timber and should bring an average price of about
" 23, Bd. per cubic foot. October is not & proper month for cutting oak. In taking
the girth of a tree it is not usual to measure it at two-thirds of the length from
the butt-end. By that mode of measurement the purchaser would get an advantage
to the extent of about 25 per cent.

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—In July or August last, land near Sudbury
which belonged to the late Mr. Windham was =old by the trustees for £65,000.
There has not been much timber gold of*late years off the Fellbrigg estate. Old Mr.
Windham was very particular about the trees, and would not allow any to be ent.
When I went over the estate in Oclober, I found a great many trees lying on the
ground which had been blown down. I did not take any account of them. Alto-
gether, T marked 536 oak trees, and estimated their value at £2,686. I also marked
a number of ash trees, chestnuts, beeches, limes, and sycamores, estimating their
value at £306 5s. Mr. Windham simply told me that be had sold the timber ;: he
did not particularise the caks. BSome of the oak trees T marked should have been
cut long sinee ; thirty years ago they would bave fetched double the price they will
now. There is a large quantity of sweet chestnute on the estate, gome beeclies; and
a few sycamores, and a great deal of fir. The beeches would not fetch more than
from 6d. to Bd. per foot; the chestnuts might be worth 1s. Gd. per foot, the ayca-
mores from 6d. vo 8d., and the fir from 8d. to 10d. There is a considerable mumber
of young oaks on the estate; they are not included, of course, in my estimate ; in
faet, it wonld be a great ein to cut them. They are from fifty to sixty yearsald,
and, with the ‘exception of some to the north, don’t want thinning. In Norfolk
timber is generilly sold for rendy money. I made an affidavit at the request of Mr.
Hangell, a solicitor in Norwich. I do not know whether he acts profesgionally for
General Windham or the Marqnis of Bristol,

: By Mr. Coleridge—I know that Mr. Hansell is receiver of the estate, acting for
Captain Henry Windbam. I do not know for a eertainty that General Windham is
one of the trustees. I am not aware that Mr. Hansell and General Windham were
aver the estate the day before Mr. Windham came of age.

wwe-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I carefully marked every tree, onk and others,
which 1 thooght onght to be cnt down. A contract which stipulated that oal
timber trees ghould be pnid for at the rate of 12d. per cubic foot, string measure,
for all above 13 inches equare, and 8d. per cubic foot for all under 13 fiches
eqnare, wonld not be a reasonable ngreement. The sum to be paid for trees above
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13 inches square would be 1=, 6d. per foot below the avernge market price, and the-
sum to be paid for trees under 13 inches square would be about 10d. per foot below
the average market price, I should say that 6d. per cubic foot for all other kinds of
trees about 14 inches square would be rather too little. The market price would be
about 2d. per foot more. [It was understood that Mr. Chambers in asking these
questions was quoting from the contract signed by Mr. Windham.] I marked all
the small trees which I thought ought to be taken out. When I went over the
estate I did not find that other persons had marked any of the trees,

By Sir H. Cairne.—I cannot tell yon what a fair average price per foot would he,
supposing a purchaser were to bind himself to take all the trees of every kind on the
vstate. The Fellbrigg estate consists of about 3,000 acres. All the timber is in the
park, and at the back of the hall.

By the Jury.—So that, if all the trees had been eut down, Fellbrigz wonld have
been left a barren spot near the seashore. I think Mr. Windham is very incom-
petent to manage a property.

EERGEANT OLIVER OF A DIVISION,; METROPOLITAN POLICE.

sergeant Oliver of the A division said, 1 have known Mr. Windham for about eizht-
een months, and have frequently seen him in night-houses in the Haymarket
and its neighbourhood. He was generally in the company of prostitutes, screeching,.
shouting, and making merriment for the bystanders. He used to address me
as “old fellow,” and once seriously invited me to a champagne dinner. He
told me that when he came of age he would give a grand treat to the police. He
always appeared very excitable, and I treated him as I would a schoolboy. At the
volunteer dinner at Wimbledon in July Jast Mr. Windham got on the top of a post
uear the prineipal entrance, and shouted and swore, and uttered other kinds of
offensive langnage while Jadies were passing in their carringes. I remonstrated with
him, and persuaded him to go away. On one occasion, about ten o'clock at night,
while a section of police were crossing Jermyn-stieet, Mr. Windham drove upin &
phaston in a forious manner, and the men were obliged to scatter themselves as

quickly as possible. He cried, ** your eyes ; get ont of the way, orl will
sun over you,” and kept straight on. I eaw him alight in Duke.street, but upon

being asked for an explanation of his conduct he merely said, *“Oh, it's all right,
old fellow ; it's only me.” (A laugh.) He appeared much excited, and I took no
forther notice of him, because I considered him a person of unsound mind and
treated him a8 such. One morning at three o'clock, abont twelve months ago, T met
him in the Haymarket. He was crying like a child and. slavering at the mounth.
Some girls were following Lim, and I took him down a by-street, and wiped his
eyes, cheeks, and mouth, which were all in o slobbering state. All he said was,
“ My girl has run away from me,” or something to that effect. I did not think
him capable of managing himself or hia affairs. i

In cross-examivation Sergeant Oliver said, to the best of my recollection 1 first
met Mr. Windbam in the summer of 1860. At that time I used to see him three or
four times a week in the Haymarket night-houses. His practice was the sams
during the first half of the present year. It was probably the race time when Mr.
Windham drove through the police in a phaeton. .

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham did not act like other young men
in the Haymarket. e yelled and shoufed, cried like a cat, howled like a dog, and
made himself a perfect buffoon. The women ridiculed him more than others.

By the Jury.—If I had heard that Mr. Windbam had committed a murder, or
something of that kind, I should not have been surprised, becauso I have alwaya
looked upon him as a person of unsound mind, and one who could not be held
responsible for his acts.

ThLe inquiry was again adjourned.

NINTH DAY—Sarukpay, Dec. 20.

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. 1. Windham, of Fellbrigz-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Court of Exchegner, Westminster, befure
Mr, Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr.M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr, Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the nlleged lunatic ; Sir Hngh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Ar. Willism Frederick Windhawm ; and My, Coleridge, Q.C, for Mis. Windham.
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The Master, on taking his seat on the bench, said that {o write private letters to
.any one exercising judicial fanctions was most improper. almost amounting 10 &
misdemeanour. He trusterd that he should not have cccasion to refer to the subject

i,
Jllg;lir. W. F. Lawrence produced a ti“.“;h?iriz contract, dated the 23th of October, 1861,
rporting to be signed by Myr. Windbam. ;
ug:[!:lﬂ[fﬂ.mhgrs nskédg;:ia lejf:mad friends on the other side to acknowledge the
genuineness of the signature, but they refused to do so, whereupon T

Mr. Hansell, solicitor in Norwich, was called npon, and proved the handwriting of
AMr. Windbham.

The clerk then read the contract as follows :(—

“ Detober 25, 1861.

« William Frederick Windham, Esq., of Fellbrigg-hall, Norfolk, agrees for himself,
his heirs, successors, and assigns, to sell to William Francis Lawrence and Walter
Joseph Fry, of 10, New Broad-street, London, the whole of the timber which may be
«eut on his Norfalk estates during the next four years to the extent of not less than
£5,000 per annum, and on the following conditions :—The oak timber trees to be
paid for at the rate of 12d. per cubic foot, string mensure, for all above 13 inches
square, and 8d. per cubic foot for all oak timber trees that may be under 13 inches
square, and for all other kinds of timber trees about 14 inches square at fid. per
cubic foot. The trees to be taken by the buyers as they now are and stand, the lep
and top branches and bark o be the property of the buyers in consideration of their
payiog all expenses for felling, &c. . . . The measurement for the girth to be
£aken (clear of the bark) at two-thirds from the butt-end of the tree, and for the
‘length, by two parties fo be appointed, who are to choose an umpire before they
begin to work, to decide in case of dispute. Mr. Windham agrees to give {ree ingress
-and egress to the buyers, their men, horses, &e., for the above purposes, and to let
them a piece of land of four or five acres at the rate of £1 per acre. This contract
only to ba binding on the payment of £1,000 into the hands of Mr. Windham, and
the remainder in monthly payments of £350 per month, commencing from January,
1862. Timber trees which may be required to be cat down, and which are nnder
10 inches square, to be agreed for afterwards, as the above contract does not con-
template any trees being cut down of small size unless absolutely necessary.

#W. F. WixpHAM.

“ Witness to the signature of W. F. Windham, Egq. :—

. ®AGHES WinpHAM."

F]

MR. H: SANDFORD, LAND AGEXT AT CROMER.

Mr., Henry Sandford.—I am a land agent at Cromer. For the last ten years I
have been in the habit of valning timber on the Fellbrige estate. The proper value
«or market price, per eubic foot, of ouk timber trees, above thirteen inchos square,
striog measure, is about 3s. and not 12d. I will undertake to find a purchaser at
ds. It is nota fair aud reasonable mode of measurement for the girth to take it at
two-thicds of the length from the butt end of thy tree. That would give an advantage
to the buyer of about twenty-five per cent. The “lop and top,” without. the bark,
wonld pay the expense of felling, I believe that the effuct of selling timber off the
Fellbrigg estate to the value of £5,000 per annum for four years would be to clear
the ground entirely, and leave the house bare. ;

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I have bought beech and fir felled on the
Fellbrigg estate, ‘but not ouk. The extent of my purchases of beech hag not
exceeded £50 or £100 a year. 1 have bought fir to the value of £30 or £10 at a time,
During the lust few years I have sold for the owner a great deal of timber off the
Fellbrigg estate. In 1860 I sold 250 loads of oak—windfull timber—rfor £5 o load.
In 1861 [ sold about 30 loads at the same price. That was clean timber, or trees
clear of the bark. There is a considerable number of beeches, chestnnt, and firs on
tha estate. The beeches are principally in the ornamental part of the grounds.
Daring the last two yoars the market for all kinds of timber except oak has been
glatted in consequence of the great harricane in 1858, The Fellbrigg beeclies might
be sold at G6d. per foot, the purchaser to fell and take the fagzot wood. Lhnve
koown from .El'll_l' to £150 worth of beech eold off an estate similur to Fellbrige in
one year. That is the largest quantity I have known sold in twelve months, §ﬁmu
of it was used for piles in constructing a breakwater. I have sold £100 worth of
beech per annum for five years off an estate belonging to Lord Sullield, The trees



o4

were selected with a view to thinping the timber, and not becanse they were the best
trees. I do not know what would be the expense of carting timber from Fellbrigg
to Norwich. Icannot say how many cubic feet there are of beech, of fir, or of oak on
the Fellbrigg estate. When I stated that oak conld be sold at 3s. per foot, I meant
simply the market price of eak without any reference to any other stipulations of a
eontract. I eannot say what would be a fair or reasonable price per foot for all the
fellable timber of every kind on the Fellbrigg estate. Some of the beeches in the
park at Fellbriggz are over ripe, and are more valuable as ornaments than as timber.

1 !mva not been in the habit of selling timber to Government and I am not acquainted
' with the terms of Government contracts. I usually sell to middlemen, and the
fovernment contractors come and select what they want. The largest quantity of
timber I ever sold was off the Hanworth estat=, one of the Windham settled
astates. It was all oak timber, and was sold for £5,000. The sale wasmade about
five years ago, when the price was about the same as at present.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—If that part of the contract which stipulates
that for four years, to the extent of not less than £5,000 per apnum, timber may be
cut down, were carried out, all the beech trees on the Fellbrigg estate would be
levelled. The larger portion of the beeches are ornamental timber, and the effect
of felling them would be to destroy the beaunty of the estate entirely. About half of
the chestnuts are ornamental. There are only a few sycamores, but they are orna-
mental where they etand in the open. 1 believe, however, that the larger proportion
are in the wood. I have never known so large a contract as £5,000 pe: annum for
four years being made in Norfolk. It is not judicious to make an agreement on the
basis of prices during a temporary glut of the market. 1 believe there will be a better
market in 1862 for beeches, chestnuts, and other kinds of timber.

By the Jury.—I am satisfied that the “Jop and top,” without the bark, would pay
the expenze of felling. There is a large number of young trees on the Fellbrigg
estate.  They ought to stand fifty years longer before being cut down. I do mot
think the Fellbrigg estate requires a large clearing outof its timber. If the contract
gigned by Mr. Windham were carried out, there would be very little timber left for
the ordinary estate. )

By the Master.—Fellbrigg-hall is a large house, and the trees around it are
picturesquely dispersed. The park is about 700 or 800 acres in extent; it is
partially grazed. There are no deer. The pasture of the parkis let with the arable
land. The ornamental timber stands in that portion of the park which is nearest
the mansion-house. .

SERGEBANT EAY, ¢ DIVISION, AETROFOLITAN FOLICE.

Sergeant Kay, of the C division, said he had known Mr. Windham for l;:mire or
eighteen months, and had often met him about the Haymarket and its neighbour-
hood. On those occasions Mr. Windham was in the habit of catehing him by the
arm, addressing him as “ old fellow,” laughing, and throwing himself into a fighting
attitude, He was always very noisy, and indulged in strange bursts of laughter
without any apparent cause. Scmetimes he would seize hold of persons in the
strects, and order witness to take them in charge. Witness wonld say, © Oh, non-

» and Mr. Windham would then burst into a foolish laugh. The men whom
he would thus attack knew him pretty well, and scldom took any notice of him.
On the 13th of October witness met Mr. Windham in the Haymarket between twelve
and two in the morning. Mr. Windham said, © Well, old Kay, I would treat you,
but I have no money.” He then put his hand into his pocket, and took out what
witness thought was a £10 note, and immediately broke into one of his unmeaning
laughs. He attracted the attention of the people in the street, and witness, advising
kim to take better care of his money, at length induced him to go home. On mt_ot&mr
oceasion last summer, while visiting one of the flash-houses in Panton-street, witness
found Mr. Windham talking with the landlady at the bar. He pointed his finger at
witness and cried * Here are the Bobbies;” and when witness turned to leave the
house Mr. Windham struck him violently with a whip or stick on the back. Witness
ghook his head at him, but he merely laughed at him in his usunl way. The reason
whyewitness did not take him into auat.o;ljr was t:!nt hfﬂh(:hd not think he was right
in hig head. None of the police ever took any notice ol him. _

i uil}:::au.unminud by Mr. I;{namlnke.-—It was between twelve and three in the morn-
ing when witnesa saw Mr. Windham in the house in Pauton-street. Witness E:iui
not know whether he had dined, but he never eaw him the worse for drink. When
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witness advised him to take care of his money, he put the note which he had been
flonrishing about his head into his pocket, and walked away.

MR. WHITESIDE, CORNET, 18TH HUSSARS,

Mr. Whiteside.—I am a cornet in the 18th Hnssars. I was slightly acquainted
with Mr. Windham at Hton. He msed to laugh, shout, and scream without any
apparent cause or object, and the boys called him * Mad Windham." His dress
and person were always very dirty, In August, 1859, I was at Lucerne. Mr.
Windham came up to me, slapped me on the back, and asked to be allowed to
travel with my party. His request, when backed by Colonel Bathurst, was acceded
to, and Mr. Windham travelled with us for rather more than a fortnight. There
were two ladies in the party. Mr. Windham was alway¥ filthy in lis person. He
had a railway whistle, and used to blow it when the party started in carriages, or
on mules in the mountains. At meals he hooted, and langhed, and shouted so as to
frighten people. His manner of eating was most offensive. When langhing the
food wonld fall from his mouth, but he generally took it up again and put it back
into his month. He slavered at the month. I have heard him shouting and howl-
ing at dinner when 100 people were present. Apologies had frequently to be made
for his condoct. He used to insult strangers—foreigners and others—by pointing
his finger at them, and making remarks abont their dress and personal appearance
ab dinner. He often swore in the presence of ladies, and on one occasion he called
ont to me in a public room, *“0Oh! you be ——" 1 had been merely trying to
prevent him tripping up a waiter who was carrying platea across the room. When
travelling in the monntains on mules Mr. Windham frequently called the attention
of the ladies to the animals in an indecent way. The party tolerated him so long out
of sympathy with Colonel Bathurst. I believe him to be an imbecile, or idiot.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I spoke to Mr. Windham at Eton, but we did
not belong to the same set. I do not know that Mr. Windham has a malformation
of the mouth. His voice was always loud and peculiar. I attribute his slobbering
* mnot to any malformation, but to his holding his mouth open. He used to swear a
good deal at the gnidesabroad. I never heard any one called *“mad” at Eton
except Mr. Windham. It is not usnal for tourists in Switzerland to wear their best
clothes, but Myr. Windbam was always much dirtier than any Eonglish traveller I
ever met with. I was not aware that Mr. Windham was abroad against his will.
His offensive comments upon the foreigners were always in English.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Some of the foreigners, judging from their angry
looks, seemed to understand his remarks, although they were in English. His
observations were applied to ladies as well as  gentlemen, and to English people as
well as foreigners, and they were accompanied by pointings of the finger,

By the Master.—I never saw him get into a personal difficulty abroad. Qglonel
Bathurst was very uneasy about him.

JOSEFH FORD, EATE GUARD OF THE EASTERN COUNTIES RAILWAY,

Joseph Ford.—I was formerly in the service of the Eastern Counties Railway
Company. I knew Mr. Windham, who was in the habit of travelling down to
Norwich by the night mail. On the 24th of August last he accosted me on the
platform av Shorediteh, and gave me a carpet-bag, saying there were champagne
bottles in it. He came into my van at Broxbourne, and as soon as he got in put
on a greatcoat aud railway belt belonging to me. I had a friend with me in the
van af the time. Mr. Windham worked as guard all the way down to Norwich.
During the journey three bottles of champagne and one bottle of sherry were
drunk in the van—more ihan a bottle a-piece. Mr. Windbam talked very foolish
and low language all the way down. He showed me two rings, asking me
whether 1 thought they were good ones. He said * his missus as was to be” had
given I;I:a_m to him; he had been with her, he added, all the afternoon. He did
not mention her name. One day in September Mr. and Mrs, Windham and a
Birange gentleman went down with mein the night mail train, All three got into
the sume carringe at London ; they were alone. At Ponders'-end, the first stopping
station frnr_n London, Mr. Windham came into my van, and told me that the
gentloman in the carriage with his wife was a Mr. Roberts, who liad a letberswhich
he wnuta:l”me to post. He roquested me to look after Roberts, who was ©a—
good sort.” Roberts, he said, was going down to Norfolk with his wife a8 a friond
of hers. At Broxbourne he asked me to lock Roberts and Mrs, Windham in the
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carria.j_;e, and as T was paseing along the platform Roberts himself looked out of
the window and requested me to lock the door. I did so. I observed that Roberts
and the lady had a large dressing-case, which they had put in the middle of the
carriage, and covered with cushions so as' to form a bed. Mrs, Windbam drew
down the blinds of the window. At nearly every station Mr. Windbam saw the
state of the carriage, but never interfered. So things continued ustil the train
arrived at Norwich, From Ely to Norwich Mr. Windham rode upon the engine,
I have frequently seen him acting as guard, working the train right throngh. He
bhad eeveral railway whistles, and alwuys used them, He frequently started the
train by blowing the whistle. His language was always very bad—profane and
filthy. He used to talk uﬁu{: the * missus” he was going to have,

Cross-examined by Sir T Cairns—I never saw any one interfering with him on
the railway. T have seen him working the levers of the engine with the driver
alongside of him. He had a very good memory about the times of starting the
trains, Ile told me to lock the ecarringe-door, in order that oberts snd Mrs.
Windham might not see where he was or what he was doing. Guards arg not
allowed to take passengers into their vans. .

By Mr. Coleridge — People travelling by the mail train at night are in the habit of
making themselves comfortable in the first-class carriages.

Re-exnmined by Mr. Chambers—Roberts gave me halfa.sovereign at Norwich
for keeping the carriage-door locked. i

By the Jury—I was not discharged by the company. I left them becanse I was
offered, and aceepted, a better situation as railway gnard at Melbourne, in Aunstralia.
I spoke to Mr. Windham about Roberts and his wife being locked in the same
carringe together. He only langhed. I have fregquently got “tips” for locking
carriage-doors go a8 to prevent passengers from entering. The largest I ever got
before Roberts gave me half-a-sovereign was 53. It is contrary to the rules of the
company to allow persons unconnected with the railway to get into the gnard’'s van
or upon the engine.

A Joryman—1I trust that after what we have heard to-day, railway companies
will in future be more careful of the lives intrusted to their charge. They ought to
gee that their rules for the working and management of traine are strictly observed
by their officers. (Applause.)

Mr. Chambers—We have commumicated on the snbject with the Eastern Counties
Company, and they have informed us that they have taken measures for the preven-
tion of irregularities in future.

Sir H. Cairns—The company have also published some letters with reference to
this proceeding, which they had better have kept to themselves.

The Master.—I hope this discnssion will not be earried further. We are here to
inquire into the state of mind of Mr. Windham, and not to investigate the conduct

of a ruilway company.
Mu. JOSEPH GOODY, INSPECTOR, EASTERN COUNTIES RAILWAY.

Joseph Goody.—I am a district inspector on the Eastern Counties Railway. I
know Mr. Windhami. On Tuesday the 3rd inst., I saw him at the Haughley sta-
tion on the Eastern Union line. It was the day of the Bury cattle fair, and I was
divrecting horse.boxes and cattle vans to be attached to the rear of the traius,
While so engaged I heard a whistle, and, on looking up, saw a train in motion.
The snme moment I noticed Mr. Windham coming up the platform, wearing a railway

reateoat and belt, and carrving a whistle in his hand. He was in the act of patting
tho whistle to his month a second time, when I struck it away.. Had he suceeoded
in blowing the whistle a second time the train in motion would have stopped, and
it would have been ran into by an approaching train. When the guard eame up I
asked him where his belt was. Without answering me, he said to Mr. Windham,
“T told you not to take my belt; Mr. Goody will report me for letting you have it
on.” 1'told Mr. Windham he had no right to be about the line, and nsked him to
get into a carringe. He replied, * Oh, yon be —; Iam your master.” 1t was guite
dark, and he ran down to the farther end of the train, unlocked a carriage-door with
a key ho has, and gotin. At Stowmarket, the same nighy, the train was driven
a little a-head of the platform. Some one blew n whistle, and the n]_r:wur put h:'!nl-:.
As the people were getting out of the earviages e:uiejwuumd to signal the driver
to stop the train, but before I conld do so one or twn of the passengers fell and hurt
themselves, though notseverely, I saw Mr, Windham at thestution. OUn the 9thof July,
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at Colchester; my attention was attracted by a pecnliar shrieking of the at-enm-v:rhistla
of the engine. I found Mr. Windham on the engine. I asked him to leave it, but
he refused. I have frequently seen him opening and shutting carriage-doors like a
er, and on one ocession actually saw him turn the handle of a steam.-whistle.
From what I saw of him I came to the conclusion that he wus short in his intel-
lect.
Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake—1 have known Mr. Windham for about twelve
months, I have seen him about a dozen times on the railway, and on the engine
twice. I am a district inspector, and if I see anything wrong it is my duty to re-
port it. When I saw him on the engine at Colchester, he refused to come off, and
rode on it all the way to Ipswich. I did not report the circumstance to any of the
local stationmasters. It was not my duty to do =o, but I spoke to the superintend-
ent at Ipswich, the end of the journey. I neversaw Mr. Windham pull the lever to
start the train. Special instructions were given by the directors about Mr. Wind-
ham at the time when some law proceedings were taken. It is probable that those in-
structions were issued before the 3rd inst, when Mr. Windham blew the whistlo at
the Haughley junction. I reported the driver who allowed Mr. Windham to ride on
the engine from Colchester to Ipswich in July. Ile was fined, but the special in-
structions were not issued till long afterwards, It is a common practice for gentle-
men to carry keys for opening earriage doors.

By the Jury.—I would not allow a person whom I did not know to remain on the
engine, thoogh I am not sure that I would take him off by force. Bome have a
licence to go upon the engine. 1 left Mr. Windham on the engine at Colchester
bacanse I thought be would get off, as he had done when spoken to on other

2Casions. :

William Bradley, the guard on duty at Haunghley when Mr. Windham blew the
whistle, stated that the greatcoat which Mr, Windbam wore ou that ocecasion was
his own. It was similar to those actually worn by railway guards. Mr. Windham
took the belt from the guards’ van while witness was engaged on che platform.,

Cross-examined by Sir . Cairns.—When Mr. Windham was at Eton witness was
a guard en the South-Western line. At that time Mr. Windham was in the habit
of riding with the guards in their vans. Other Eton boys did the same,

ME. ROEERT WHEELER, MANAGER OF THE EUSTON HOTEL.

Mr. Robert Wheeler, managér of the Euston Hotel, related how Mrs. Windham,
accompanied by a French maid, came to the hotel on Monday, the 4th of November,
and engaged apartments; how, on the evening of the same day, Mr. Windham
called with a Mr. Gwin and insisted upon seeing his wife ; how, when Mr. Windham
was admitted to the room in which the lady was dining witha gentleman, supposed
to be her solicitor, witness heard a noisy altercation. After a while, all became
quiet, he procecded, and the gentlemen went away togethet about 2w'clock in the
morning, and Mrs. Windham remained and sleptin the honse. The lady staid in the
hotel th!'ea days, and during that time Mr. Windham dined with her more than once.
along with two or three other gentlemen. Qune day he endeavoured to get into her
bedroom, but she would not allow him, whereupon he made a terrific noise. I was
at last obliged to signify to the lady by letter that I could not permit hier to remain *
in the house. A fracas took place one evening when Mr. and Mrs, Windham, Mr.
Gwin, Mr. Berry Hutchinson, and a Dr, Neil dined together, Mr. Windham came
ranning down the stairs, yelling ab the top of his voice,and as soon as he saw me he
cried ont, * They are killing a man in the room; they have knocked out his eyes,
which are hangiog down his cheeks, and the blood is flowing from him like rain.® I
knew Mr', Windham, and did not place much confidence in what he said, I therefore
taanted him with his cowardice in ranningaway while amurder was being committed ;
wherenpon Mr. Windham began to boast of his pugilistic powers, and to relate in axl,m:
vagant terms how severely ho had punished the offender upstairs. When I went up
to the room I found Mr. Berry Ilatchingon lying on the sofa and making a great
noise, but that gentleman immediately afterwards rolled on to the floor, and appeared
to he very much hurt. He declared that Dr. Neil had thrown a bottle or tumbler at
his head, that he had himsell’ taken pieces of the glnss out of his eyes, and that ho
would never bﬂ able to see more. 1 beeame serionsly alarmed, but upon lifting Mr,
Hherr_v,: Hutchinsoninto a chair and examining his faco and head, I failed to discover
the slightest seratch or the least appearance of blood, Eventually, however, Mp,
Windhamn brought the police, aud Dr. Neil was earried off to the stavionhouse, Next
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morning the ease was compromised in some way or other, and it never came bhefore
the magistrate. T spoke to Mr. Windbam in very strong language about his wifie
and her conduct, telling him, among other things, that she evidently loathed hime
and I was surprised he had not sense enough to perceive it. Mp., Windham made*
some foolish remark, langhed in an idiotic manmer, and did not seem to understand
the meaning of what was said to him. “From what I have seen of him,” added Mr.
Wheeler, * I believe him to be a mere child—an imbecile, with the body of a man,
butnone of the stature of a man in his mind. He is not capable of taking care of
a £10-note.” ; s

In eross-examination, Mr. Wheeler stated that Geperal Windham called once or
twice at the hotel to see either his nephew or Mra. Windham. On the morning
after the fracas Mr. Windham told me that he had received a note from Dr. Neil,
asking him to come to the stationhonse and bail him out, and he asked me to g0
with him to the police-office to see what it was all about. At the police-office the
General conversed with Dr. Neil, but I did not hear what passed between them,
nor did I know that Mr. Berry Hutchinson was paid a sum of money for not pro-
ceeding with the charge. I had been told that the fracos arose from Dr. Neil having
introduced himself to Mr. and Mrs. Windham as a friend, whereas in reality he was
a epy in the employment of General Windbham. The General aud Dr. Neil break-
fasted together at the hotel after returning from the police-office, while Mr. Berry
Hutehingon, who had driven to the hotel with myselfin a cab, waited on Mrs, Wind-
ham in her apartments. (n the same day I accompained General Windham to
Mr. Field’s office in Lincoln's-inn-fields, and there made an affidavit. 1 never heard
the General say he had told his nephew that if he would put his property in trust
he would let him alone. I never heard him utter words conveying that sense, or
anything like it. The General told me he was willing to make any sacrifice to save
his nephew, and he referred to some offer which he had made forthat purposge, but I do
not recollect what it was. All I remember is that it was intended for Me.
Windham's good.

JAMES H1U'DSON, POLICEAAN, NORFOLR,

James Hudson, a policeman in Norfolk, stated, on one oceasion Mr. Windham
told me he had done duty as a policeman in London. He said he had apprehended
a man for robbery and taken him to Vine-street station. 1 knew him to be a gentle-
man, but had heard him tell some rough chratters that he was a detective
especially employed. P

The witness was cross-examined as follows :—

Sir H. Cairns.—Surely you have not come all the way from Norfolk to tell us
go little ?

Witness.—1I don't know anything about that, Sir.

Mr. Coleridge.—Mr. Hudson, having cost £100, yon may now go.

Mr, Chambers.—Since these observations have been made, [ may say that, in my
opinion, the witness has given most important evidence, as I will be prepared tv
ghow at the proper time.

The inguiry was again adjourned.

TENTH DAY.—Moxopay, Dec. 30.

The adjonurned inquiry. into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellb rigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, before
Mr. Werren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr., Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Ttussell for Lndy Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

MR, REYNOLDS, SOLICITOR, GREAT YARMOUTH.

Mr. Reynolds.—1 am a solicitorat Great Yarmouth, and have known Mr. Windham
for the last eizhteen months. On the 26th of Angust I travelled from London by
the mail train at night. I saw Mr. Windbam at the Cambridge-station. He was
dressed in the costume of a railway gnard, with pouch, belt, and whistle. He opened
the door of the carringe in which I was seated. I eaid to him, “ Windham, how
ean you make such a fool of yourself #” He replied, *“1 must see that these fellows
do their work properly.’ Then he added, without any pause, 1 am going to be
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marriad next week”' He blew the whistle for the train to start. At Ely, wh_arra the
train stopped for twenty minutes, I saw him in the parcel van; he was sorting the
parcels for Ely and Peterborough, and {]alwe;_*mg thém to the porters on the plutfurﬂ_l.
When it was time for the train to start he c‘nuad upon the passengers to 'f“k“ their
seats. [He did the same thing at every station down the line. Nobody interfered
with him. At Norwich T said to him, * Windham, are you going on to Yarmouth ?"
He replied, “ No, I must tarn in for an hour or twoe, as I have to work the Farly
train up at six in the morning”—meaning the Parliamentary train. In April or
May, 1560, he called at my office at Yarmouth to make an affidavit relative to some
Chancery proceedings. 1 lost sight of him for a day or two, and when I saw him

in he told me that he had been driving the trains from Lowestoft to Beccles, a
distance of ten miles. He was in a very excited state and }Jluhhi_&nug like a child.
_ Mr. Horrocks, his tutor, had come down for hil_n, and I advised him to accompany
" that gentleman to London to see his guardians. They went off the following
morning. From what I have seen of Mr. Windham I believe him to be excessively
weak in his mind. His conversation is incoherent, aud 1 do not think he is at all
capable of managing himself or his affairs. i

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—Mr. Windham swore an laffidavit before my
partner, not in my presence, but with my knowledge. I saw the dranght of the
affidavit. It was copied in my office. That is the only business transaction I ever
had with him. I saw him before the Vice-Chancellor on the business to which the
affidavit related. It was a private hearing I did not hear Mr. Windham tell the
Vice-Chauncellor that Mr. Horrocks had knocked him down and ill treated him, nov
did I hear My, Horrocks say that be had no answer to make to the charge. I heard
all that passed, but I do not receollect what was said. I did hear Mr. Horrocks
remark that he had nothing to say, but that was in answer to a question from the
Vice-Chancellor, whether he was willing to remain as tutor with Mr. Windham.
When My, Windham came to me to make an affidavit he had been at ¥Yarmouth for
a month, and I had seen him walking abont in a militia uniform. I cannot say
whether he was doing duty as a militia officer. DBefore 1 saw him crying in the
way I have deseribed Mr. Horrocks had had an interview with him, but I do not
know what passed between them. The only oceasion on which I have spoken to
him since was the time when he acted as a guard on the railway. There was a
regular guard with the train. When Mr. Windham ecame to my office I consulted
with my partner, and we considered that the responsibility of the affidavit would
rest with the solicitor who might use it in the snit and not with ourselves. I
once met Mr. Windham at a private musical party. He stood on the stairssthe
whole evening, making very absurd noises, and conducting himself altogether in a
very strange way. I never suggested that the affidavit prepared in my office should
not be used, but my impression is that it was not used. Mr. Windbham brought me
the heads of it in a letter from his mother.

By Mr. Coleridge.—I was before the Vice-Chancellor from the beginning to the
end of the hearing. Lady Sophia did not produce any letters. 1 saw mo letters
delivered to the Vice-Chancellor at all.

BRe-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I saw Mr. Windham at a public ball in Yar-
mouth. He was very noisy in the room, rushed about in a strange way, and burst
ont langhing apparently without any cause. Ile attracted the attention of every-
body present. His laugh was not like that of a reasonable being. He appeared to
be unable to control it. ]

By the Master-—When I saw him erying I asked him the reason, but he gave me
no answer. The draught of the affidavit was read to him. He made no remark
uponit. When before the Vice-Chancellor he was very quiet.

By the Jury.—I told the porters at Ely that it was disgraceful to allow My, Wind-
ham to act as a guard. That was the whole extent of my interference.

CHARLES BROWN, A DIVISION, METROPOLITAN POLICE.

Charles Brown, 804, A division of the Metropolitan Police, gaid, I know Mr.
Windbam, and have often met him in the Haymarket and its vicinity. His conduct
was always that of a man of weak intellect or unsound mind. He used to shout in
the streets, and once or twice he wanted to lock up women without reason. -
He said there were too many women about the Haymarket, and he would not stand
it any longer.

Cross-examined by 8ir H, Cairos,.—There is more shouting about the Haymarket
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than in any other part of London. T first met Mr. Windham at Epsom races ; bug
there was nothing peculiar in his conduct there. ;

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham was alwaye different from the
other young men in the Haymarket. He would lavgh without cause, and his laugh
was not like that of a sensible man.

By the Jury.—The women whom he wanted to lock up would say to kim, * Go
awny, you focl; you are not right in your head."

[ Before the next witness was called a brief discussion took place upon a technical
point of no public importance. 1In the course of it Mr. Chambers remarked that bis
learned friends on the other side had done everything they conld do to prolong
the inquiry. Sir Hugh Cairne, with some warmth, denied the statement, and Mr.
Chambers was about to retort, when the Master interposed, and, after reminding
counsel that they were gentlemen of great eminence engnged in u difficult, delicate,
and painful inquiry, and acting under the eye of the public, begged that they would
carefully avoid anything like an ebullition of feeling. The upshot was that Mr.
Chambers withdrew his statement, Sir Hugh Cairns expressed himeell perfectly
satisfied, and the business proceeded. ]

MIt. HANSELL, BOLICITOR FOR THE PETITIONERS.
Mr. Hansell.—I am solicitor for the petitioners, and since January, 1859, have

acted ag receiver of the Windham estates under Captain Henry Windham. The

total rental of the Fellbrigg estate is £3,187, but that is subject to a charge of
£1,500 a year, payable to Lady Sophia. There are other deductions, such as rates
taxes, and repairs, amounting on the whole to abont £400 a year. The net rontal,
therefore, is between £1,000 and £1,200. If Mr. Windham were to let the hall and
shooting, he would get about £300 a year more. But there are other estates
which will not fall into his possession until October, 1869, they having been devised
by the late Mr. Windham to pay off mortgages amounting to £160,000. An estate
near Sudbury has been sold for £65,000, to assist in paying off the enenmbrances.
In 1869 the gross rental of the devised estates will be £4,250 per annum, and the
net rental £7,250. I celenlate that in 1869 mortgages will rémain to the amount
abont £60,000. The annuval interest will be £3,000, leaving a net aveilable income
from the devised eslates of about £4,000. I went to Fellbrigg-hall on the Sth of
Avgnst with Mr. Windham and Mr. Jackeon, the gentleman appointed by the Vice-
Chancellor to act as solicitor for Mr. Windham. General Windham, who was
living in the neighbourhood at the time, dined with us the same evening. He
retfirned home after dinner, but eame back to the hall next morning, which was the
morning before Mr. Windham came of age. 1 remember a proposal being made
that morning to Mr. Windbham, on the part of General Windham, by Mr. Jackson.
We were all in the library—Mr. Windham, General Windbam, Captain Henry
Windham, Mr. Jackson, and myself. Mur. Jackson said that in conseqnence of the
gmall amount of the income from the Fellbrigg estate Mr. Windham conldnot live there.
He therefore propoeed, provided all parties interested would agree, that an appli-
cation should be made to the Court of Chancery, either under the Settled
Estates Act, the Enclosnre Act, or a special Aet of Parliament, for an order
to the effect that Fellbvigg hall, the books, furniture, plate, and ornamental
timber should be valued and put into the same trusts as ;he devised estates; that
land, part of the deviged estates, should be taken ount of the trusts and become the
property of Mr. Windbam as tenant in tail—the same tevure as that by which he
now holds the hall ; and that a lease of Fellbrige.hall and park should be granted
to Mr. Windham at a nominal rent to the 11th of Oectober, 1869. General Wind-
ham said, * Anything you propose, Mr. Jackson, for the huncﬁbL of my nephew and
the estates T will agree to. I am willing to make any sacrifice myself”  Mr.
Windham did not seem to comprehend the proposal at all, and thercfore Mr
Jackson said, * Leave him to me,” or something to that effect. We then left ths
library. Later in the day I saw Mr. Windbam with Mr. Jackson, who, in his
presence, eaid to me, * I can’t make anything of kim."” We told him that under the
propoged arravgement his income would be much increased. He made no answer
except, “1 can't cut down my treeg.” My Juckson then seid, ** Yes, you can, .lmli
not crnamental timber. Mr. Windham bas only a life interest in the dnwfmd
estates. His children, if any, would succeed, but in the event of his dying with-
onut issue General Windham would come into posscssion. As to the Fellbrigg
estate if My, Windham should not bar the entail and should died before 1563, ig

L1
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, f the devized estates, and subject to the same trusts.  Under
Eﬂi‘;ﬁﬁﬂ:ﬁ Mr. Jackson, should Mr, Windham bar the entail of the Jand.
iven to him, the effect on General Windham would be to reduce his ultimate in-
Eﬂﬂ.’lﬂ in thulsnmu proportion as that of Mr. Windham wounld be raised—rviz., to_ the
extent of about £600 per nnml’;:-., Thera wonld also be a less rental applicable to
nt of the debts on the estate. .

maﬂ:ﬂ:ir:nmiued by Mr. Karslake.—On the day he came of age Mr. Windham
could bar the entail of the Fellbrigg estate. The proposal made to him by Mr.

Jackson wonld bave deprived him of that power. He was to become tenant for
life of Fellbrigg, the ancestral seat, and impeachable for waste. For every piece ns
property about the hall, including furniture and plate, he was to get land out o©
the devised estates, and the value was roughly estimated at between £80,000 and
£90,000. Under the proposed arrangement, while Mr. Windham would have be-
come only tenant for life of Fellbvigg, General Windham wonld have obtained pos-
session of it for a certainty npon the death of his nephew. I went to Fellbrigg-
hall at the request of Mr, Windham, who called at my office and told me that he
intended to take the advice of the Vice-Chancellor and his uncle, th_ul; he had
appointed Mr. Jackson his solicitor, and that that gentleman was going to take
the management of everything. I believe that Mr. Jackson was recommended by
Gener:l Windham and Mr. Hook, but I do not know it for a certainty. General
Windham told me that he introduced his nephew to Mr. Jackson himsell. Mr.
Windham drove Mr. Jackson and me over to the hall. At dinner we had, besidea
the General, Mr. Rothschild, Captain Windham, and Mr. Bragz. When the pro-
posal was made no accurate estimate had been taken of the value of Fellbrige as
compared with the land to be given to Mr. Windham ont of the devised
estates. On the day Mr. Windbham came of age I, as receiver, had £500 in
hand. That sum has not been paid to him ; in fact, he has never had a penny from
me. Iowever, he has received money under ihe timber contract, and he has anti-
cipated his rents. The mortgages on the devised estates were accumulated
by the late My, Windham. On the full sum of £160,000, the intérest was £5,495,
and the gross rental of the devised estates was £11,758. A small portion of the
debt was paid off before the sale of the Sudbury estate. The excess of
rental over interest at present is £6,263, and I calenlate that, afier allowing
for repairs and other expenses, we can save about £4,000 a-year. Certain sums
arising from acsumnulations have been paid into const. I believe the £65,000 ob-
taiped for the Sudbury estate has alsp been paid into court. In 1559 the total
receipts, including some arrears, from the devised estates were £12,474 7s. 1d., and
the total ontgoings, including interest and repairs, £8,041 9s. 4d., leaving a balance
of £4,432 17s. 9d. The balance in 1860 was £4,534 19s. 6d., and I have every
reason to believe that in the current year the excess of rental over expenditure will
be abont the same. I am just having the farms on the devised estates valued. Ido
not think they willlet for higher rents than at present. General Windham was
down in September. I do not know that he hus a piece of property somehow or
other mixed up with the Fellbrigg estate. He did not tell me that he had been at
Fellbrigg-hall, trying to negotiate the sale of that piece of property to his nephew.
He sairl ke had been at Fellbrigg-hall, bat he did not inform me for what purpoze.

Be-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The reason why I did not pay to Mr. Windham
the £800 which I had in hand when he came of age was, because an order had been
served upon me for the payment of certain sums due to other persons.

_ By the Jury.—I was certain when Mr. Jackson explained the proposal in the
library that Mr, Windham could never be made to understand it. At the same time,
if he had understood it and agreed to it, I should have accepted it as binding. It
would not have been right to make such a proposal to him if he had been guite
alone, without a solicitor or a friend to advise him ; for, as I have eaid, he could
not have been made to comprehend it. He is not capable of mannging a property.

Mr. Bowen May, solicitor, produced a marringe settlement, dated the 29th of
Angust, 1861, and signed by Mr. Windham. It was not read, -

MR. NURTON, PRINTER, PADLINGTON.

- Mr. Norton, o printer in Paddington, proved the printing of 5,000 copies of a
handbill signed by Mr. Windham, and :mlling upon *the people ui‘ Grentﬁirimin"
%o come forward and defeat the conepiracy to defrand him of his property. The
order was given by Roberts at his house in Piccadilly, but I saw Mr. Windham, who
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said he intended to bave the placards exhibited a'l over London. The printing
expenses have not been paid.

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns—The manuscript was returned to Roberts. Tt
might have been in his handwriting. I have known Roberts for abont 10 years.

ME. DORE, MR. EMMANUEL;, THE JEWEME'H, SALESMAN.

Henry Dore, salesman to Mr. Emmanuel, a jeweller in Brook-street, said that
Mr. Windham firet came to that establishment on the 29th of June last, ‘accompanied
by Agnes Willonghby. He repeated his wvisit on several subsequent occasions,
boying jewellery to the amount on the whole of £13,785. Between the 13th and the
25th of August his purchases amounted to £4,163 18s. 6d. The account for the
period between the 11th and the 18th of October was £5,419 168, 1d. Witness pro-
doced acceptances by Mr. Windham for £13,060 14s. 6d. Five were dated the 11th
of October, and amounted to £6,500. Five were dated the 18th of October, ard
amounted to £5,408. One of these for £1,500 has been dishonoured. Two were
dated the 5th of November, and amounted to £752.

Cross-examined by Mr, Karslake.—The dishonoured acceptance was due on the
21st inst. Mr. Windham and Agnes Willoughby generally called together. Most
of the purchases were presents to the lady. Mr. Windham always looked carefally
at the articles before he bought them, and frequently cavilled at the price. Some-
times he said he could not afford to buy an article pointed ount to him by the lady.
Once he remarked that he wanted to lay ont as little money as possible on mere
workmanship; but precious stones, he said, were always valuable. I wanted him
to make the acceptances all for six months; bul be said he would prefer them
extended over a longer period, and so the business was arranged. On one occasion
Mr. Windham wrote from Fellbrigg-hall, requesting me to go down to look ata
musical box and a self-acting organ which had got out of order, and to bring some
jewels with me. I took £12,000 worth, and Mr. Windham bought diamond and
emerald ornaments to the value of £5,000. One of the articles was a diamond
bracelet worth £2,300. Mr. Windham gave up all the jewels to Mrs. Windham to
make up a guarrel which had taken place between them some time before. T had
provided myself with stamps for bills. Mr. Windham always seemed to understand
what he was doing in making his purchases. It never occurred to me that he was
-a person of unsound mind. ay >

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The only eccentricity I ever noticed about Mr.
Windham was a slight boisterousness. When he came to Brook-street he was
generally accompanied by Aznes Willoughby, but he sometimes called alone.

By the Jury.—The purchases made by Mr. Windham before he came of age on
the 9th August did not exceed £211. When he paid his first visit to Brook-street
there was a gentleman, a private friend of Mr. Emmanuel, in the shop at the time,
and he told us who Mr. Windham was, and assured us that we migho trust him to the
extent of £100 or £200. We should not, of course, have given to a minor go large a
eredit as we gave to Mr. Windham after he came of age. He frequently refueed to buy
articles which Willonghby expressed a desire to have, on the ground that they were
too expensive. Mi. Emmanuel pays his salesmen fixed salaries, and gives no com-
misgion on account of their sales. Mr. Windham would not have got credit to any
amount ; he had reached his limit. Of course, I presged him to buy, but not
more than is usual. Mr. Emmanuel has not yet received a single farthing from
him. Itis not uncommon for gentlemen to sign bills before the accounts have
been made out and rendered, provided they know the amount due.

By the Master.—Mr. Windham has not applied for any jewellery since the final
quarrel with his wife. I knew Miss Willoughby before she came to Brook-street
with Mr. Windham. She had previously visited our establishment with another

ntleman, who purchased jewellery for her. I always thought that Mr. Windham
and Miss Willoughby seemed to be very fond of each other. When "l!{r. Windham
vefused to purchase he said, I can’t afford to be rmned for anybody.

r

DR, ILLINGWORTH, ARLINGTON-51REET.

Dr. Ilingworth, of Arlington.street, provec that at the time of his marriage Mr,
Windham was suffering from a loathsome disense, end knew, or, at least had been
told, that he was not in o fit state to marry, Witness added, I have been present in
court during the whole of this inguiry as far as it had yet gone, and the conclusion
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I Linve come to i:.:thut. Mr, Windham is m]'_;t o ;&nﬁrmer] idiot, but a person of weak

' i f in himself or his affairs. |
mlgf;;:i::ﬁnmﬁﬁedﬂb;}g: LFI !Eairna.—l believe aubatgntm'ﬂy the whole of what Mr.
and Mrs. Lewellin have said, and it is upon their evidence, among the rest, that I
lave formed an opinion of Mr. Windham, That opinion 15 aleo formed partly upon

: in court. : : :
IIIBB;PEIE:IEEIE:;SQE.:I believe that the imbecility of Mr. Windham 18 not congeni-

[u.i‘ » o - i
. ined by Mr. Chambers.—If I had not seen Mr. Windham in court, my
opi}:-?nff :t:?;tlils imhicil.it.y would not have been so strong asitis. No eye, 1 think,
counld fail to be attracted by the vacant, senseless, unmeaning expression of his face,

especially when seen in contrast with 500 others.

TR. JOHNSTONE, SAVILLE-NOW.

Mr. Johnstone, surgeon, Saville-row, corroborated the evidence of the last witness
as to the condition ot Mr. Windham at the time of his marriage, and stated that, a
few days before that event took place, Agnes Willoughby called at his houge and

wversation with him, !
hk%]:ac:!iimess was asked to state the substance of the -:;r:-nwra_uhnu, but Mr. Cole-
ridge objected to the question on the ground that nothing which passed between
My, Johustone and Agnes Willonghby when Mr. Windham was pot present could
be evidence in this case. The objection was sustained, but Mr. Johnstone was per-
mitted to state, in reply to a guestion from the jury, that, although his conversation
with Willoughby was professional, it had no reference to that person herself.

The inquiry was again adjourned. -

ELEVENTH DAY—Moxpay, DEc. 31,

The adjonrned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C. one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, (.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, ().C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C,, and Mr. Millward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

Dr. Buck, of Cromer, Norfolk, said—I was sent foy to see Mr. Windham at
Fellbrigg-hall on the 21st of September. Mr. Windham told me he was suffering
from sickness, headache, and a slight diarrheea. ” I prescribed for him. He followed
me into the ball and had some conversation with me. I called the following day,
and found Mr. and Mrs. Windham, Mr. Roberts, and two sisters of Mrs. Windham at
‘breaklast. Mr. Windbam told me he was better, but that his throat was alittle sore,
I asked him whether be conld see me alone, but Mrs. Windham came up at that
moment and he made no reply. I examined his throat, it was slightly relaxed, but
there was nothing wrong with the palate. Mra. Windham asked me to call again
next day. When I went next day I was shown into the billiard-room, and Mrs.
Windham came to me there. In consequence of what she said I left withont seeing
Mr. Windbam. I returned at four ¢’clock the same alternoon, and the servant on
opening the door, gave me & letter, which ran as follows : — :

“ Fellbrigg, Sept. 26, 1861,

“ Dear Sir,—My wife prefers me having her medical man to attend me, and he
is now here. I am sorry for this, but she will have it.

“Yours truly, “W. F. Winpgax™

I wrote a note to Mr. Windham in answer. [ believed that Mr. Windham was
deficient in his intellect, and was unable, without proper control, to take care of
aimselfl or his affairs,

Cross-examived by Mr. Karslake.—Never saw Mr. Windbam transact any matter
of buginess. His imbecility was econgenital. That cpinion was formed from what I
had seen and heard of Mr. Windham.

DH. FOEBER WINSLOW.

Dr. Forbes Winslow, examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have given my attention for
many years past to mental diseases, and have had considerable experience in the
treatment of such cases. Under an order of the Lords Justices, Dr. Mayo and I
examimed Mr. Windham in the presence of Dr. Bright on the 11th and 14th of
December. Dr. Bright was appointed by the Lords Justices to attend and listen to
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what might be said. Previously to my interview with Mr. Wi

certain affidavits which had huenfﬂlad :*.nrhia case, 1 had duﬁlzghiimm]&a]inihﬁa%
might be able, to the best of my judgment, to question him upon certain points, I
had not read any of the medical affidavits. The two interviews took place at 'my
houge in Cavendish-square. Mr. Windham was bronght there, according to appoint-
ment, by his solicitor. The first interview extended over more than two hours. and
the second lasted for nearly an hour. Both Dr. Mayo and I put questions to *him
suggested by the affidavits. The conversations were necessarily discursive in their
character, for My, Windham would jump from one subject to another, and we had
great difficulty in getting him to command his attention and concentrate his thoughta
upon any one particular point.  All that I ean do, therefore, is to give a general
account of what passed. 1 tried totake notes of the conversation, but Mr. Windham
was so discursive and erratic that I was obliged to abandon the attempt in despair.
I questioned him respecting the misconduct of his wife before marriage, and
veferred to her alleged impurity. He said he was fully aware that she had been
kept by several men, but he did not see why that shoald be an objection to his
marrying her, as other pereons—men of rank and distinction—had done the sama
thing with impunity. He mentioned only one name, but it was a distinguished one.
1 referred to the state of his bodily ‘health previously to his marriage, and said I was
informed that he was soffering at that time from an aggravated form of a particuar
disease. He said the character of* the discase had been mistaken. A remark was
then made to the effect that he had communicated the disease to his wife, where-
upon he referred in general terms to some compensdtion which he had awarded to
her. IHe said he had given her a large quantity of jewellery, and mentioned the
amount—between £13,000 and £14,000—and he said that was the compensation he
bad given her for the injury he had done her. I remarked that it was an unusual
thing for a husband to compensate a wife for ill treatment of such a deseription,
and I also observed that the amount was a very large one. He said he thought she
was entitled to it, and he had given it to her because he conld afford it. I then
referred to the fact that a My, - , with whom his wife had been living previously
to her marriage, slept in the same house with her the night before she was married.
He admitted that he knew that the gentlemanin question had been living with Mrs.
Windham before her marriage, and that they had slept in the same house
on the eve of the marriage; but he denied that they had slept together. I under-
stood from himthat he did mot sleep in the honse himself, but he adinitted having seen
the rentleman's boot's at his bedroom door. The house,’ he said, was in Wimpole-
street, and Mrs. Windham lived there. I endeavoured to impress mpon his mind
the impropriety of such a proceeding as that to which I have alluded, and told him
that, seeing that Mr., ——— had kept Mrs. Windham almost up to the period of her
marriage, the only reasonable supposition under the circumstances was !:-hat they
slept together the night before she was married. He replied that he did not be-
lieve it. I then referred to another person with whom it was alleged she had
cohabited after her marriage. e had himself, indeed, volunteered the statement
that his wife had, shortly after marriage, cohabited with Mr. —— No. 32, with
whom she had been living previously to her marringe, and he said that it was in
consequence of that act of adultery with Mr. —— No. 2 that he had determined to
commence proceedings for a divorce. I made a remark to the effect that, from my
knowledge of the proceedings in the Divorce Court, I entertained great _doubts
whether such an application would be successful, he having mm:ned Mrz. Windham
with a foll knowledge of her character and previous life. He did not sce why that
should be any objection to his snit. I understood from him at the same time thas
he had lived with his wife subsequently to ber adultery with Mr. ——— No. E’. and
therefore, as I told him, the offence had been condoned. * He talked very wildly

and discursively upon this matter, and impressed me with the conviction that he
had no idea of applying to the Divorce Court. Inext questioned him on the subject
of his debts. He said he conld not state the precise amount he owed. His debts,
however, certainly amounted to£20,000; but they might be much more.  They had

been contracted, in the main, be said, by his wife. Fresh bills were coming in every

day, and he was in a state of such alarm that he was actually afraid toopen his own
letters. 1 had heard about the sale of his timber npﬂ Epﬂlf'! to him on tho H“Etlf'ﬁt-

1 said I understood that ho had sold a large quantity of timber on his estatd, ¢

admitted the fact, stating that his income was small, and that be hﬂg 80 l'tdﬂ
- timber as s means of increasing it. I asked him the price he had got. le replhed,
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. per foot. I inquired whether that was the real value of the timber, and he said
gwpu:. 1 told higl that I onderstood the timber was worth about 2s. ‘Ed. a loot.
That, he said, was a mistake; 1s. was its full value. He then observed, in reply to
a question, that it was not the most valuable portion of the tfmh-ar which was to be
cut down. I told him I understood that if the large quantity of timber which he
had sold were cut down it would do serious injury to the estate, innsmuch as it wounld
throw the estate entirély open to the sea, the timber being upon belt land. THe

lied that it was his wish to eut down only one tree in three. I asked to whom
he had sold the timber, He said, *To Messva. Lawrence and Fry.” ¢ Where did
the sale take place?” At Fellbrigg." ¢ Where was the contract ﬂigned’ T
Fellbrigg.” “ Who was present ?” * No one but myself and the buyer.” “Was
any one else in the house atthe time?’ ¢ Mr, Roberts.” f¢Are you satisfied in
your own mind that Messrs. Lawrence and Fry are the bona fide pnrchasers of the
timber, and not merely acting as agents for another party £ “ I am satisfied they
are the purchasers;” ond he assigned as a reason for so thinking that they had
given him a check for either £500 or £1,000—1 forget which. He said that after
the contract was signed they all dined together. 1 said, “ Do you not
believe, Mr. Windham, that the party who really purchased the timber was Mr.
Roberts, and that Messrs. Lawrence and Fry were only acting as his agents 7 He
replied that he could mot believe such a thing, as Messrs. Lawrence and Fry gave
him the money. I said, * But supposing it to be proved that you are under amistake,
and that the timber was really sold to Mr. Roberts, what would you say then ' The
only answer I could get from him was, I will wait till the matter comes before the
Court"—referring, 1 presnme, to the present inquiry. In reply to a question whether
his fecling for Roberts wounld be altered if it were proved in court that Roberts had
purchased the timber, he said, “I should consider him a scamp.” A remark was
then made to the effect that such a disclosure should interfere with  his friendship
for Roberts. He replied generally that he did not see that. He said he did not
know Roberts before his marriage. 1 asked him who Roberts was. He merely
replied that he had been staying with Roberts for some time, and that he looked
upon him a8 a friend; and then he remarked that he had heard from Mr. Davis,
his solicitor, that Roberts was generally known by the name of * Bawdy-honse Bob.”
I inquired whether Roberts was the owner of brothels, He said, “I am informed
that he is the owner of a nomber of brothels in Shepherd-street.” 1 asked him
where he was then residing, and he replied * In Piccadilly, with Roberts.” T in-
quired what he paid. He said he had apartments, for which he was paying £10
per week. I asked him whether, in addition, he paid any portion of the expenses of the
honse. He said that he and Roberta paid the expenses between them ; but npon my in-
quiring what his share was, he said he could not tell me. He presumed that £1 a day
wonld be a fair saum, but he had had no account rendered to him, nor had he made any
agreement with Hoberts on the subject. He told me that on one occesion he had a
quarrel with Roberts about money matters, and that Roberts in a fit of anger had
declared that he had slept with Mrs. Windham previously to her marriage. I
expressed my surprise that, under these circnmstances, he should continne to reside
with Roberts. The reply he made was, “ Roberts is a very good fellow, and I can
gee no reason why I should not congider him as my friend.” I then referred to the
placard calling a monster meeting in Hyde Park, and said 1t was a singular thing
for him to do to issue such a document. He seemed to pooh-pooh the affair. I
said, * Are you not aware that your name is at the bottom of the placard ? He
replied, ** Yes ; but I do not consider myself answerable for it. It was brought to
me by HRoberts, with my name attached toit”” “Then you did not authorise your
name to be printed ¥ 4 No.” I then told him that a forgery had been committed
=@ vary serions offence; and I tried to impress him with a sense of the gravity of
bne proceeding ; but he could not see it in that light. I asked him what he said when.
theplacard wasshown to him, He replied, * T said, ‘Oh, take care what yon are ahont—
take care what what you are about.'”  During the interviews I observed no particular
excibement about him.  When he told me that Roberts was a good fellow he gigglod
and langhed, and when he referred to the sobriguet under which Roberts was
generally known he langhed loudly, as if he thonght it a good joke. There was a
p_e{:ulmrnty abont 1_ua expresgion and his laugh. I attach no importance, however, to
his mode of langhing, though I thonght it rather strange his laughing at all upon
the snbject. His physiognomy impressed me with the notion that he isa man
of very weak intelleot. I must eay, at the same time, that his physiognomy is

E 2
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not very strongly marked, nor is it calenlated to attra i i
has been specially called to it, and yon examine Mmq:;:ﬂb;ﬁuﬂqli:ﬂﬂgnmﬁﬁﬁn
whethm-‘ there ave present any of theusoal physical characteristics of imhggﬂit.g
Buf_a having your attention so directed, you cannot fail to observe physical si f;
which are unmistakeable. The opinion which I formed was that he iajirn. & dugE-u
of mental imbecility ; that he is a person of unsound mind, incapable of managin
.';ﬂm&_:rlf or his affairs ; the degree of mental unsoundness which I attribute tg
ufrélanle.?gijlaﬁ is:w JEE inconsietent \leh ability to Wribe lath_am, acquire a certain amount

class (] ge, orthe ordinary rules of arithmetie, comprehend the value of
coins, settle small accounts, and make purchases to a limited extent.

[Mr. Chambers proposed, in conclusion, to ask the witness whether the evidence
he had heard in court strengthened or weakened the opinion he had formed as to
the state of mind of the alleged lunatic; but Sir H. Cairns objected to the question
on the ground that it invelved the further question whether the evidence t.ende:m:i
for the petitioner was‘troe or false, érnstworthy or the reverze, which was a matter
for the jury to deecide. A discussion of some length took place upon this point, but
the Master eventually ruled that the question could not be put, though he suggested
to Mr. Chambers that he might select some of the more prominent facts which had
been proved in evidence, and, putting them one by one to the witness, agk him
whether, supposing they were true, they wonld strengthen or confirm the opinion
he ha_d alreaﬂy expressed. Mr. Chambers, however, stating that he intended to
rely, in his final address to the jury, not upon isolated acts or expressions on the
part of Mr. Windham, but upon his whole conduct and habits siace childhood,
declined to avail himself of the enggestion of the Master, and declared the examina-
tion of the witness concluded. ] .

Cross-examined by Sir H. Cairns.—The first interview took placein the afterncon,
and lasted upwards of two hours. At its conclusion I asked Mr. Windham to write
aletter. He did so, and the letter is in the possession of Dr. Mayo, who will be
called asa witness. T was first consulted about this case at the end of the last or
the beginning of the present month. It was Mr. Nichols, of Norwich, the gentleman
who has been examined, who consulted me. I had seen General Windham before,
amzl 1 have had several interviews with him since, ns well as with Dr. Neil. Dr.
Bright, Dr. Mayo, Mr. Windham, and myself sat round a table. I have
not a list of the affidavits which I read before the interview with Mr. Windham. I
got them from Mr. Field, the solicitor for the petitioners. 1 had the affidavits on
one side only, theside of the petitioners. When I said that I did not see the medical
affidavits, I meant the medical affidavits against the petition. ' I saw the greater
portion of those for the petition. I got the affidavits three or four days before the
first interview with Mr. Windham. 1 suggested that Dr. Mayo should be associated
with me. He also was furnished with the affidavits for the petitioners. We had a
short consultation before seeing Mr. Windham. I made a few notes of the conversa-
tions with Mr, Windham. Mr. Field suzgested certain questions to be put to Mr.
Windham, and T had them copied out on a sheet of paper. Beyond those questions
and the affidavits T bad no information supplied to me. I had scen General
Windham before the 11th of Necember five or six times, None of those interviews
lasted more than an hour. T =aw him twice at his house, and sometimes at my
own. T do not think I have had an interview with him which exceeded half-
an-hourin length. Iam perfectly eatisfied that the opportunities I had of conversing
with Mr. Windham were sufficient to enable me to form an opinion upon the
state of his mind. I came to a conclusion on the first interview, but 1 did not
express any opinion until after the second. My objectin having a gecond interview was
to satisfy my mind on certain points. 1 wished to go over the ground again, Thero
were some points upon which I had not formed a conelusive opinion in the first
interview, and, therefore, I thought it desirable that I ghould see Mr. Windham
again. I refer particularly to his present mode of living. [ do mot recollect seeing
either Mr. Field or General Windham between the two interviews, or having any
communiecation with them. I do not believe that Mr. Windham is capable of
m“naging himg&lf_ I m? BO, bﬂl}ﬂ'ﬂm I dﬂ not t‘hink i TNATL iﬂ m].'lﬂhlﬂ Whﬂ m'ﬂ].d
contract marriage while suffering from a foul disease, and when he knew the
anmuur with w]lgm hin 'ﬂifﬁ hﬂ,ﬂ hEﬂ-ﬂ ]i\’ing Hlﬂpt i'n t-hﬂ EAMBe hﬂ““ l“'i.l.lll-'l h'ﬂr t‘hﬂ
night before the marriage ; who could act as Mr. Windham admitted he had done as
a railway-guard and engine-driver ; and who could not form a right apprecintion
of the position in which he had placed himself by contracting such & marringe,
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s g saoaa TEEE o had declared he had slept with

and by living in friendship ‘I‘I"l_i‘..hal- n'?['alllu wdhat:: AT i Thie e
his wife previous to her nmrrlagf. Ao RS R
that Mr Windham is not f._:apﬂl:i:: o ﬂ?:lzl‘?m;%ﬂ Tl S S
admitted he I"f“'d' ot Hhﬂ.ﬂ- SN AMISK 1 Bt cing in a course of proceeding which

imself in serious liabilities ; his quietly acquiescing : L =
e t the consegquence of his own actions, he mu
if he had been able to reason on st gl e b i s
have seen would ruin his property—I Ih“;“ ot et R U g o
o i S o e EEEIM rks he made in answer to

f expenditure he was incurring; the gene rema i i
Duﬁtiﬁ relative to his affairs; and the gift of £14,000 Wﬂl"‘-:h DfJE“iﬂi!ﬂrgmﬂ =
f:.ril"na as a compensation for having :iufuqtﬁdh}zfr xﬁﬂ]ﬁ}fﬂ n:;h:f;i&:‘.h . inafnrm&ti (’i
il iRl e it iR e e
vt s that under the contract Fellbrizg counld and
BT aan e mn;aaufg,t £14ui;ﬂﬂ worth of jewels had been given to
;culdwlr:u_:. EIE::]dgg !::ri; ;I;'b::;n;anmt?m for the injury I have mentioned, If ?1 {jouu%

i L ing gambling debt
man, just come of age, were to roin his Pm]:;ri?]:] bl; ::?fgﬂ:l?ﬁ:?;pacitgte 1 ﬁ%m
ghould not n-:mclm?a from thatdfaph ailnqu - r:sm:cu e (I
SRS E it T]Ia; nu: u::gvn: u‘::ﬂrgunﬂnesa of mind; nor would a present
LETIRY _unc]?auta B8.000 ot f jawell supposing he were rich enongh to
made to hiz wife of £6,000 worth ol Jjewellery, supposing -ty Bl ontds 1 d
afford it, make him insane. Mr. Windham Fc-lr:l me tha: :hmt'm?t uigel?ia Zenan
informed him that the disease he was labouring under a @ ;1;1{1 e ;r;ag
wad not infections ; but I was not aware that he had ‘Eeen a:m;:af o mfm Hrg
with safety. He did not tell me it had been n;rug_:; th;t ]I: 5 :mau w;% Lan
i inwelgse :1?5;0 tak%{piat_r.a l;at:;!;i;u ?Ew‘r;:a:nuf :u%;? a character is

viously lived wi er. arviag & T A !

in};i : p{ﬂ-nf' of insanity; but, in my opinion, it m;kei;_ a u:?at?mla ;I];Ear.
ence when the paramour lives with the woman up to t ]B{-, ';::f?} [-,he mnrﬁu.gu,
and actually sleeps in the same huus:n with her t]‘mhmg: ra u]ﬂﬂ dr; un?g:;
To marry under such circumstances i8 an act whie nﬂﬂlmnlt; Wll::: P T
he were drunk, drogged, or insane. I did not know :chat. 8 hrﬂl. :r o ¥
was living in the house ; that the house belonged to him, and t.haf. i[r Was an%agnf
for the wedding. Mr. Windham assured me %m did not believe t E:.t» d.‘_T_’ 31;.1 é
slept with his wife the night before her marriage. Amat&nrhangme tr;ﬂ?fhw
not, if it stood alone, be a proof t?f insanity ; but it is one c_uf the elemen of E case,
and we must take all in combination. I regard the driving of an angfma ¥y nt:
amateur, though he may be competent, a8 an act of folly, The dnw:ﬁw, o ?[. EH?
four-in-hand or of a stage coach by an amateur is not an act of folly. ef wo
cases are different; in one the amatear endangers the lives of hqudrﬂfla o hun-
conscious passengers, while in the other he is dealing with a few friends who have
placed themselves at his mercy by their own voluntary act. Another distinction is
that the driving of a railway train is a more difficult and critical performance than
the driving of a stage conch or a private carriage. When talking about the timber,
AMr. Windham did not say that it would have to be carried 4 long distance from
Fellbrigg to Norwich; but he did say something abont a distance of 20 or 23 miles
from the railway, as connected with the carriage of timber. He did not tell me that
the ornamental timber was not to be felled, but he said the most valuable trees were
not to be cat. He did not tell me that Messrs, Lawrence and Fry were eminent in their
business, nor did he say that General Windham had been informed by Messrs. Law-
rence and Fry that they were the real purchasers of the timber, and not Mr. Roberts.
He himself introduced a conversation abont a resettlement of the property, which
had been suggested by General Windham. e said his uncle had madea propo.
gition to him—he did not say when or where—to place his property in the ]m'nﬂz. of
trustees, to pay a nominal rent for Fellbrigg, and to reside there until he arrived at
acertain age. He did not mention any other particulars. He told me he bad re-
fased the offer becanse he thought it was to benefit General Windham aud his
children. He said his uncle eared nothing for him ; he only wanted to get l_ua pro-
perty. I asked him about the Lewellins. He said they were excitable people, but
Mra. Lowellin was very kind to him. Healso said that Mr. Lewellinwas a passionate
man and swore at his wife. T did not endeavour to elicit some langhter from him
in order to judge of it. One of my instructions from My, Field was as follows :—
“ Mem.—Windham's fancy must be tickled to get him to laugh,” T did not
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attempt to “tickle his faney;” he was treated with re
I did not find when I introduced disagreeable anh_]g:::aﬁ Efmﬁ[rﬂlﬁr:g:fh
was ‘particularly anxions to change them. The interviews wers 1:2.1':11.‘:.1:,’1:1;mj?1
of a very trying character for Mr. Windham. He showed a vETy -I!Iun{l
amount of intellizence, and he certainly did not go through the examination
very creditably. There was no particular excitement about him, nor was there
anything in his behaviour or language inconsistent with t’i:a character of
a gentleman. His remarks were very childish. I asked Lim whether he himself
had not been intimate with his wife before marriage. He said he had not. Then I
asked him, *Have you not said soto others#” He denied that he had made an
remark of the kind.  Afterwards I repeated the guestion pointedly to him, when h‘g
admitted having said that he had had all he wanted out of his wife: * but.*’ he
added, ““I said eo by way of a blind, not wishing other parties to lmnw’what I was
going to do."h I learnt the fact of Mr. » No. 1, baving slept in the same house
with Mrs. Windham the night before her marriage, from Mr. Field, [ did not ask
Mr. W;i}dham for any details of his debts. He seemed to be aware that he was
regponsible for his wife's debts, and he told me he had advertised in the papers that
after a certain time he would not be answerable for any obligations she might incur.
He 'was asked whether his feelings of friendship for Roberts would be altered if it
were proved that Roberts, and not Messre, Lawrence and Fry, was the real pur-
chaser of the timber. His reply was that he did not see why that shonld interfore
with his friendship with Roberts. 1 attached great importance to that answer,
[ Here the witness, at the request of Sir Hugh Cairns, referred to the notes he had
taken on the spbt; they did not containany allusion to the answer attributed to Mr.
Windham about Roberts.] I think Dr. Mayo asked Mr. Windham whether Roberts
was not called “ Mahogany Roberts.” 1 donot recollect the answer. I am quite posi.
tive it was mnot I who referred to the nickname of “Mahogany.” 1 was
not aware at the time that Roberts was known by that sebrigusf. [The
witness was told by Sir Hugh Cairns to look at the paper of instroction
farnished to him by Mr. Field previous to his interview with Mr. Wind-
ham. He did so, and found that one of the instructions related to
* Mahogany Roberts.'] I communicated the result of my examination of Mr.,
Windham to the advisers of the petitioners before the case was opened by Mr.
Chambers. I do not think that a casual pbserver, judging merely from his appear-
ance, would come to the conclusion that Mr. Windham has an unsound mind.
Such a person as I have described Mr. Windham tc be, may be capable of writing
a rational letter, and making bargains®o a certain extent. Some lunatics, inmates
of a public establishment, are permitted to go abroad for the purpose of making
small purchases. I canmot tell yon where sanity ends and insanity begins, It is
impossible to trace the line of demarcation. Judging alone from what I saw of Mr.
Windham in the two interviews I had with him, supposing I had met him with my
mind a tebula rasa, I should have been loth to form the opinion which I have
expressed to-day with respeet to his imbecility. But the truth is, that indepen-
dently of the dafe supplied to me by Mr. Field, and of certain circumstances which
I assumed to be true, I had no meaus of testing Mr, Windham so as to arrive at any
eonclugion oa the snbject of his mental condition. I repeat that the ppinion which
I have stated is partly founded upon. the assnmption that certain actions which I
have heard attributed tu him, and which formed the prineipal topic of conversation,
were really committed by Mr. Windham.

The cross-examination’ of the witness was not concluded when the Court ad-

Jjourned.

TWELFTH DAY —WEDNSEDAY, JAN, L.

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resamed this day in the Counrt of Exchequer, Westminster, before
Mr. Warren, ().C., one of the Magters in Luuney, and a special jury. .

Mr. M. Chambers, (J.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Willinms appeared for the peti-
tioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged lunatie ; Bir Hugh Cairng, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for
Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham. -

The Master remarked that on Tuesday o question was raised whether a skilled
witness, such as Dr. Forbes Winslow, was entitled to express an opinion fnl_.mﬂnd
upon the evidence taken in court. ~He had ventured to decide that question in the
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and he would now take the liberty to read, as the matter was one of con-
siderable importance, a terse and cogent statement of the rule of law npon which he
intended to act. In the case of Lientenant Pate, tried some years ago before Baron
Alderson, Dr. ——, one of the medical witnesses, made the following statement :—
« From all T have heard to-day and from my personal observation I am satisfied that
the prisoner is of unsound mind.” Thereupon Baron Alderson made the following
observations :—* Be so good, Dr. ——, as not to take upon yﬂura!ali :b]1e functions

If you can give us the results of your scientific knowledge

both of judge and jury, : ir £ k
upon th1"]a pgoiut w%u:iull be glad to hear it, but while Iam sitting on this bench I

will not permit any medical witness to usurp the functions of both the judge and
juory.”

megative,

TR, FORBES WINSLOW— CONTINUED.

Dr. Forbes Winslow, cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge—I had not seen Mr. Wind-
ham before my interviews with him under the order of the Lords Justices. I con-
sider his a very remarkable case, and in some of its features it may be unusual.
I have had very large experience of such cases—for the last twenty years I have
confined my attention to them. I have seldom less than from seventy to eighty
persons in various stages of lunacy under my care. I class the case of Mr. Windham
ag a case of imbecility. In medical langnage it would be called a case of amentic
as distinguished from dementiz. 1 have constantly applications to examine persons,
under the Lunacy Acts, and Iam in the habit of giving certificates. They are
occasionally persons whom I have never seen before they are brought to me for the
purpose of examination. If T am satisfied that they are of unsound mind I give a
- certificate to that effect.

Re-examined by Mr. Chambers. I have seen vast numbers of cases of amentia.
Amentia ig not downright idiocy, but something between idiocy and Junacy. If T
were called upon to give a certificate in the case of Mr. Windham, with a view to hia
confinement in a lunatie asylum, judging merely from what I have seen of him, T
should hesitate to do so. In my opinion, however, his cage is one which requires
gontrol, thongh I would not consign him to an asylum. Tt is an unusual case in
some of its features. Mr. Windham might be able to conduct himself with propriety
if he had some person to take care of him. I have had several similar cases under
my supervision. In my interviews with Mr. Windham I noticed some things which
led me to the conclugion that he is a person of unsound mind. I refer, among other
things, to his insensibility to the impropriety of living with a person like Roberts.
In many cases of insanity we have what is called a paralysis of the moral sengse—an
insensibility to decency and propriety. From what I saw of Mr. Windbham it struck
me that he was not in a state of mind to realise his moral obligations. He had no
apparent sense of shame. I could not get him to understand that it was an act of
indecency in him to marry a woman who had been living with a paramour up to the
night before her marriage.

By the Master.—Insanity is a disease very difficult to define. No definition can
be framed that will be philosophically accurate ; in other words, that will be neg-
atively and positively correct, embracing within its scope all who are insane, and
exclnding all who are not insane, Mental unsoundness may be appreciated ; it is
easily recognized ; but it cannot be defined. T cannot better describe my idea of
the legal term “ nnsoundness of mind” than by repeating the words uttered by
Lord Eldon in the case of the Earl of Portsmouth—viz., * a condition or state of in-
tellect between actunal lunacy and idiocy, or such a degree of mental deficiency as
would incapacitate a person for the management of himself and his affairs,” If I
were asked to test the sanity of a man, T am eatisfied I should be able to arrive nt a
safe conclusion if I were to place before the alleged lunatic a series of designedly
fietitious facts, asking him how he would conduct himself, supposing those facts were
trug. If I found that, under certain given conditions, whether those conditions were
hypothetical or not, he would comporthimself in a manner inconsistent with sanity and
rationality, I shonld consider the conclusion that he was of unsound mind a perfectly
legitimato one. The cunning of the insane is proverbial. I may mention the case
in which the late Purﬂ Erskine was engaged during an entire day in examining an
alleged lunatic without being able, with all his wonderfal skill and sagacity, to
detect the elements of his insanity. It was only when Dr. Sims, comiug acci-
deﬂtf'-".? into court, suggested to Lord Erskine to question the alleged lunatic
relative to a delusion under which he laboured that he was Jesus Christ that ho
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sncceeded in establishing the fact of insanity. In my judgment the questionl e’
t_.hu Court is one of evidence and of degree. FEvery -::LJE 'iiﬁa the preainl: a;?e:nakn ﬁ::
itself, and laymen, men of the world, are quite as competent as professional wit-
nesges to come to a right conclusion, provided they have all the facts before them.
In cases of amentia—among which I class the case of Mr. Windham—one should
pay more attention to the actions and eonduct of the alleged lunatic than to any-
thing which one might observe in conversation. A person like Mr. Windham may
so condnet himself in even a lengthened examination as to convey the impression to
your mind that he is really competent to manage bis affaiis, but immediately
afterwards he may exhibit such weakness of intellect as to prove his utter incom.
petence.

By the Jury—In my interviews with Mr. Windham I did not draw his attention
to the sinfulness of his condict; in fact, we did not go into the ethics of the
matter at all. He appeared to be insensible to shame. When I am called in to
see patients I am very frequently furnished with the history of the case. The
general practice is to be put in possession of certain facts. The opinion which T
have expressed of Mr. Windham is formed partly upon the information I have
derived from others, and partly upon his mode of answering the questions put to
him, the difficulty in getting him to concentrate his thoughts, and his apparent
moral oblizations. No right investigation could be made without a previons
acquaintance with the facts of the case. Those facts are the tests by which the
capacity of the patient is ascertained. I have patients now under my charge with
whom you might converse for a whole day without perceiving that there was any-
thing the matter with them ; whereas if I gave you the clue, you wounld detect their
infirmity at once. '

By the Master—Inability to command the attention and incapability of sustained
thought are symptoms of the peculiar kind of mental imbeeility which I attribute
to Mr. Windham. Deadness to a sense of moral obligations is frequently observed
in such cases, in other words, thongh not & constant, it is a frequent concomitant.

DR. MAYO, PRESIDENT ROYAL COLLEGE OF PHYSICTANS.

Dr. Mayo, examined by Mr. Chambers:—I am President of the Colleze of
Physicians. 1 have given my attention to disorders or diseases of the mind, and
early in life’ wrote a work on the subject, I was present when Dr. Winslow on two
occasions had interviews with Mr. Windham. I heard the evidence given by Dr.
Winslow yesterday. Substantially he bas given a very accurate account of what
occurred in my presence. From the opportunities I had of having conversations
with and putting questions to Mr. Windham, I formed the opinion that he has a
very weak intellect and a very impure mind—one that I ghould expect to turn ont
eminently unsound, if further particulars of his conduct could be given me. Speak-
ing of his intellect, I should say he is childish and inconsequent, particularly under
circnmstances where a man of intellience would be serions. He makes disjointed
vemarks, Speaking of the ethical part of the case, by far the most i:_l}:lm:ﬁmnt, my
attention was most attracted by the method in whick he treated the relation of hiz
wife to himself, . All the phenomena of that part of the subject have been correctly
stated by Dr. Winslow. I remarked the utter and entire shamelessness he mani-
fested during the interviews. I would particularly specify the indifference with
which he treated the question whether he had said that he had been intimate with
his wife before marriage, and that had satisfied him, and that, therefore, he was
not likely to marry her. Seeing that he had produced an nnfavourable impression
upu'u us, he very cunningly said he had only made that remark to blind pecple as
to his intended marriage. When asked by me whether he ever had been in bed
with three women at oue time, he trented the question with great levity. Ha Emf!-‘
« No,” but langhed. The adhesiveness he showed in his attachment to Roberts, in
gpite of admitting a low opinion of him, was another circumstance Wh‘lﬂh. indicated
an indiference to decency and decorum. It augg&at&d LE‘I me his incapacity in anothar
gonse—ineapacity in regard to the management of aflnirs—for such a man would be
sure to have bad nssociatesand to give way to them. Those were the principal points
which I noticed leading to the opinion I have a:_nprpssnd_. I also observed that he had
made little progress in education, and on questioning him nhuut'mnthsmntm,_w}uoh
he said he had stndied at Eton, I found him to possess a certain amonnt of intelli-
gence, but no more than would tend to deceive himself. I did not test him on the
subject of vanity or self-admiration. When 1 saw him I had not read the affi-
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davits, but had only glanced at some of them. Tl'!a only information I pﬂﬂfﬂﬂlﬂl
was derived from Dr. Winslow in a short consultation we had on the morning of
the first interview. I found my judgment almost entirely upon my own observation
of Mr. Windham. In my opinion, judging from what happened at the interviews,
he is certainly not competent to manage himself or his affairs. Ther:': are too many
names for insanity. My own judgment would direct me to be eatisfied with the
gimple expression that Mr. Windham is of unsound mind. < I should say, however,
that I do not differ from Dr. Winslow in his definition of the ease. That condition
of mind is not inconsistent with the power of acquiring a ecertain amount of classical
' knowledge, thongh a person so afflicted generally breaks down in his education. At
. Eron, where Mr. Windham was educated, I believe promotion to a form is obtained
by something very like favour, and without examination. I waa not at Eton my-
self, and I speak from what I have heard here. The power of making bargaing and
doing certain sums is consistent with the unsoundness of mind which 1 find in Mr.
Windham. Incertain states of unsoundness the party may be kept under restraint

the presence of pergons who have a control over him; but when the disease has
reached the point developed in Mr. Windham it becomes nncontrollable and defies
the obligations of decency and society. It may be controlled to a certain extent by
fear, or by being cowed ; but the restraint to be effectual must amount to constrainr.
If it be partial and imperfect, such as that which Mr. Cheales, Mr. Horrocks, and
even (olonel Bathurst seem to have exercised over Mr. Windham, it will only irri-
tate and intensify the conduct with respect to social impropriety. But, at the same
time, 1 would rather not place such an individual as Mr. Windham in a lunatic
asylom. I would put him in the hands of a person who would prevent him
meddling with aftairs. It is quite possible that so treated he might recover so far
as to be able to go about with eafety to himself and others.

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake.—He must be stationary at first. I do not
propuse to put him under the control of a keeper. His attendant should be himself
under the surveillance of a physician, who wonld see that he did not abuse his trust.
1 do not think that every young man who enters upon a reckless and ruinous
course of life should be placed under restraint. I have mentioned the defect in
his treatment by his tutors, bwt I by no means say that he would have heen better
without them. Itis probable that he did many things to annoy his tutors, but he
did them in an unsound way, and in substance they were irrational. The modes in
which boys annoy and irritate tutors whom they dislike are very numerous; but
the things done by Mr. Windham were abnormal acts, carried out in a very intense
way. The actions to which I allude are those which have been described in
evidence. The idea which they suggest was thoroughly borne out by what I
observed during the interviews with Mr. Windham. I entered upon the examination
of Mr. Windham with the belief that there was a large body of evidence which would
prove that his mind was unsound. I did not read the affidavit of Dr. Donald
Dalrymple, in which it is stated that Mr, Windham was addicted to vicious courses
of a peculiar character, nutil after the interviews. 1 did not see the paper of
instructions which was furnished to Dr. Winslow by Mr. Field. I do mot recollect
Dr. Winslow asking Mr. Windham whether he knew that Roberts was called
“ Mahogany Roberts.” I certainly did not pubt that question myself. Several
of the questions ssked by Dr. Winslow were new to me. My opinion
that unsoundness of the mind in Mr. Windham has reached such a poing
that it is uncontrollable by a sense of decency or sociul obligations is not founded
upon my own observations. I observed sufficient to convince me that he is cunning
enough to seem to be aware of social obligations. Assuming the statement of the
Marquis of Bristol to be correct, that Mr, Windham dined with him on two oceasions
and behaved himself like o gentleman, I should attribute his conduct rather to
cunning than to a sense of self-respect or the decencics of society. The reason is
t-hur-rI know him to be entirely destitute of any such feeling,  To induce me to
attribute them toanything like a sense of decency the number of instances in which
he has behaved himself well must be enormous. When a man like My, Windham
commits a series of beastly and irrational acts there is a reaction, caused by fear
of ihla:r consequences, and during that interval he may behave himself well enough ;
but his conduct then must be attributed, not to a sense of propriety, but to cuuning -
and relculln-n:t.:'ﬂn that he had behaved badly before. I admit, of conrae, that soch
behaviour as that of Myr. Windham, in the presence of the Marquis of Bristol and his
tamily, i8 more consistent with soundness of mind than with unsoundness.. If it
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could be shown that My, Windbam got into fhe fifth form at Eton by an examina-
tion, that I admit would make hiscase an unusual one. If I were told that he reached
without favour the remove below the fifth form, I should say that wonld also make
his' case an extracrdinary one, provided that the studies, as you say, consisted of
Virgil, Horace, Cornelius Nepos, the Greek Testament, Mathematice, and Geography.
Unupunﬂnem of mind is not incuugi.abant. ‘with a certain degree of efficiency in arith-
metie. A person of unscand mind may go throungh the practical parts of Long
Division, the Rule of Three, and Vulgar Fractions, provided he has somebody by the
- gide of him to state the proposition. Mr. Windbam could not repeat the Greek
alphabet to me or recite any portion of Virgil—a circumstance which increascs
my guspicion that he did not get into the fifth form at Eton without favour.
It is possible he may have told me that he had not looked into & book since he had
left Eton.  When 1 examined him I was not aware of the manner in which he had
been brought up and treated by his parents and others. The questions I put to
him-were very simple. He denied having slept with three women at once, but he
did so in a shameless: manner, a8 if he could ses nothing indecent in such a pro-
ceeding. 1 had no reason to believe that he bad so slept with three women, Many
guestions of an absurd character were put to him. I have said that his remarks
were childish and inconsistent. I cannot give you particular instances. His talk
on many points consisted of bits of sentences tacked together withont any natural
connection ; and as I did not take notes on the spot I am unable to repeat his words.
He giggled during the whole of the conversation upon the subject of his wife and her,
relations to himself and others. I do not remember an exampls of his disjpinted
remarks. - Tt struck me that he had a good memery for events, bat that is not an
extraordinary  phenomenon in cases of unsoundness of mind. . Upon the whole,
however, it is more consistent with soundness of mind than unsoundness. He could
pot do the first proposition in uclid, but he told me he had always disliked mathe-
maties. I did not test very severely his memory for events, because I did not attach.
much importance to it. He knew perfectly well for what purpose he was being ex-
amined and answered the guestions very readily. Some of the embjects were dis-
agreeable, but mot to him; on the contrary he seemed to like them. I did nof
observe that Dr. Winslow endeavoured to make him langh. At the conclusion of
the interview I asked him to write a letter to me. 1 said, * You know the general
purpnse for which vou are here. I think it would be good for you if you would
have the kindness to write me a letter.” Hbé immediately took pen and paper, and
I am bound to say wrote  a letter without the slightest appearance of difficnlty.
He handed it to me in the room, but said nothing. I believe I remarked it was a
very zood letter, or something to that effect. The letter is as follows:
“ December 12, 1861,
“Dear Sir,—I hope after your examination of me this evening that you will be,
able to give a favonrable opinion as regards my case, which will aid to terminate
these proceedings againet me, as I think Iam wrongly treated in having such a
charge bronght against me. T am, déar sir, yours truly,
#To Dr. Mayo. “W. F. WivpEam.
T have not had delivered to meby General Windham or anybody else letters ad-
dressed to him by Mr. Windham. The' letter to me is far more consistent with
soundness of mind than with nnsoundness, but it is nobk incongistent with the latter.
By Mr. Coleridge.—I am frequently called upon to certify the sanity or insanity
of individuals. I always see the patient alone. It is notrusual to supply the physi-
cian with instructions in such cases. He goes to the patient and does the best he
can toascertain the state of his mind. I have generally received a statement of
faots to enable me to examine the patient. Unsoundness of n_zinl:'l'iﬂ a fitter nul:qant.
for deseription than for definition. Moral obliguity, supposing it to mean perversion,
is one element in the proof of unsonndness. The violation of a child is not an in-,
dication of moral or intellectunl perversion. It is a very vicious act, but vice is not
perversion. If the offence were eommitted in public, or under circumstances of
groat indecency, that would make some difference, but still it would not.amount to
a proof of insanity. An netof gross and shameless indecency, if frequently repeated,
wonld lead me to believe that upon inqoiry I might find indications of uuu.uun!inum
of mind. There are many gross and shameless vices which are perfectly cousistent
with the soundness of the mind of the person guilty of them. .
Re.examined by Mr, Chambiors.—If aman lying in bed, with a respectable middle-
aged woman sitting beside him, were suddenly 1o cast off the bedclothes and expose




=g
i ]

i sink it very probable he wonld be found of unsonnd mind. Calling
3:2 m::;ul:.{ui ﬂftyolmg l:l:{lgs to mules while staling, if done hubjbually._wuuld.ha an
element in the proof of insanity. The same observations may be applied to the act
attributed to Mr. Windham of locking his wifein a railway carringe with a person
whom he knew had lived with her before her mamage. Mr. Windbam econld not
repeat a single line of Virgil, but I draw no inference from that except that he was

ignorant young man. . :
% EIE;F th%»nJury.jlt is not uncommon for persons who were formexly pure in conver-
eation to mbter coarse and filthy langnage when they become insane. Slavering at
the mouth is an indication of the want of self-control. I did not: notice anything of
that kind in Mr. Windham. If the whole of the facts stated in the affidavits were
untrue T should still say, from my own personal cbservation of him, that he is &
weak man, but I should hesitate to declare him incapable of managing himself.

RS, LEWELLIN—RECALLED,

Mrs. Lewellin was. here recalled, at the instance of Bir Hugh Cairns, and
examined by him.—I havea brother named Canway Dignam. I have not seen him
tospeak to him since May or June last, when he stopped my cab in Vauxhall-bridge-
road, and gaid, ¢ Augusta, how do you do " I merely said, in reply, © Conway, be
a good boy,” and then droveaway. My mother died last year, and since then I
have seen him begging in the streets. Heiza ail_!ﬂnlutﬂ, wurthleas_, 1&;:_?‘ fellow, aEJ.ﬂ
never earned p shilling in his life. I did not meet him and speak to him in St. James’s-
‘sireet any time in September, October, November, or December last. I did not say
to him, * 1'1.]1, ﬂ.ﬂﬂ-‘WﬂF, how. do you do P and mqﬂu'e_ what he was ﬂumg- ?'i"_l;an I
saw him begging, which was in June, I was so horrified at the condition to which he
bad reduced himself—for he was left well off—that I endeavoured, through my
mother's solicitor, to obtain a situation for him, I had no interview with him in St.
James s-street, and, of course, I did not say to him inany shape or form, “ I know
of acapital thing you.can do nicely. Did you ever hear of young Windham ? A His
unele, the General, has begun to try to bring him in insane, and if you would swear
for the General it would be the making of you, and you would not require a, situa-
tion.” I did not say to him,* The General will have the money, and not his nephew.
What you will have to swear is this—that you lived with Lewellin as elerk, and had
ample chances of hearing young Windham's hideous noises and seeing his, mad
ways.” My brother did not reply, *Oh, Augusta, how can you try to brisg a
younger brother into such amess ¥ You are aware that I know neither the General
nor young Mr. Windham, and I wonld not get myself into trouble by false swearing
for yon or twenty Generals.” I did not then say, ‘‘ You are very foolish ; you know
as much as other people that are on the General's side;” nor did I say, “ Will yon
go to a solicitor with me ?” He did not reply “No, I shall not do anything
of the sort ; I wounld sooner stop, in my present position than try to
injure & young man I know nothing about.” I did not say, “If you do
not eomply with my wishes I cannot do anything for you ; you are very
foolish.” He did not say, “I would not go into any court to forswear mys=If or
injure my family's name.” I did not say, * You can take your own course. What
does it signify if you do bring in young Windham insane ? It will not injure yon,
but be the making of you. You don't suppose I am doing this for nothing, do
you "' No snch conversation ever took place, or anything like it.

By Mr. Chambers.—When L saw my brother in May or June he was begging of
passers-by like a ragged beggarman. He never earned a shilling in his lifa; he
lived on his mother till ber death. He is about twenty-two years of age. The last
time I saw him was the day before Christmas-day. He was standing opposite our
house, poiating at it, hooting, and getting a mob round him. Mr. Lewellin went
for the police. Two policemen came, and he went away, My mother died on the
Znd of June, 1860. I think it wag ip May last that I, recommended him to my
mother's eolicitor; but that gentleman would do nothing for him, On that occasion
he was aware that 1 was using my exertions to geb him a sitnation.. I have not
spoken to him since he stopped me n Vanxhall-bridge road.

By the Master.—We took him, to our house after my mother's death, but Mr.
Lewellin put. him awoy and ordered me nob to speak to him. Before I came here
to-day I had not the moat remote idea of the kind of guestions which were to be
put to me, 1 solemnly swear that the couversation which has been detailed is
totally fulse. May 1 die in your presence if I do not speak the truth,
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'Elfha witness, who said she was suffering from ill health, and who had given her
evidence with considerable warmth, immediately left the court,

DR, SOUTHEY.

Dr Eun.thﬂyl.—I wag directed by the Lords Justice to visit Mr. Windham. T had
two interviews with him, having previously read the affidavits on both sides. Each
interview lasted about an hour. My object was to form an opinion and make a
report to the Lords Justice npon the state of his' mind. T examined him at some
length and found the case a difficult one. His conversation was better and more
sensible than his conduct had been. From his conversation alone I ghould not have
come to the conclusion that he is a person of unsound mind. My opinion was
formed partly npon what I saw, and partly upon what 1 read in the affidavits. It
was that he 18 not competent to take care of his property.

Cross-examined by Mr. Earslake—The aflidavits were sent to me in November.
I have not a list of them. I assumed the facts stated in them to be true, and my
opinion was formed npon that assumption. Mr. Windham knew the purpose fur
which I was making the ingniry, and behaved in all respecta like a gentleman.

Roe-exafmined by Mr. Chambers—He fenced with some of the questions and
avoided giving answers to them,

By the Master.—I think his case is one of imbecility. His nnsoundness of mind
is consistent with a good technical memory and with a certain degree of cunning.
T spoke to him abount the state of his health at the time of his marringe. He said he ,
had eonsulted Dr. Illingworth and Mr. Johnstone, but he denied that they had told
him that the disease was of a nature nnfitting him to marry. Supposing all the facts
stated in the affidavits to be untroe, I ghould still say, judging from my interviews
with him alone, that he is'a person of weak intellect, thongh I should hesitate to
express the opinion that he i3 not capable of mavaging himself or his affuirs.

The marriage settlement and the register of the marriage were then put in and
read. By the former Mr. Windham granted to his wife a perpetual rentcharge of
£500 a year, to be increased to £1,500 in 1869, when he should coms into posses-
gion of the devised estates. It was also stipulated that the jewels shonld remain to
her separate use. ' The marriare took place on the 30th of Angust at the distriot
church of All Saints, St. John's-wood, and was solemnized by the Rev. Mr.
Maddock. s

Here, near the end of the 12th day, the case for the petitioners was declared
closed.

Sir Hugh Cairns said—Tt now becomes my duty to address yon on behalf of Mr.
Windham, the subject of the present inquiry, and I 1:}0 so under circumstances which
are to some extent almost unparalleled. The inquiry has lasted now [for almost 12
days, and during that time o demand has been made uwpon your patience and
attention which, 8o far as I am aware, has had no precedent in modern times. The
petitioners have raked np and paraded before the world the events of a life of 21
years. They have exposed to the public gaze, and that in no dim or hazy licht—
they have piclured to the public view, and that ir no delicate toqct_nm—.t.ha }rmu;t[l'ul
vices and follies and frailties of their relative—the subject of this inquiry. ~During
the whole of that exposure his counsel has sat there in constrained acquiescence,
except so far as by the privilege of cross-examination they kave been enabled to
correct the errors into which the witnesses have l'u!ten, F“d to elicic  the
facts which they have withheld, and to expose the inconsistencies with which they
are chargeable. - Now, when at lust [ rise to address you on behalfof Mr. Windhaz,
T venture most earnestly and respectfully to make of yon two requests. T:hﬂ tirat 18
on behalf of Mr. Windham himself. On his behalf T entreat you to bring to the
consideration of the remarks which T have to offer to you minds calm, d}*P’-‘?‘“““WE
anbiassed, and, T will add, jndicial. Yon must remember that, short of Lh:d‘%ng
life or death, there is hardly any issue more momentons than that iuvolv tlt:vlad t-:
present inquiry. No more important issne, with one exception, can be ﬂ“b:;"

a jury or fall to bo decided upon the fate of any fellow-creature. The seond raquoss

is that yon will extend to me your indulgence while [ gndeavonr, howeaver ;m.ﬁal; ect F:i

o dai i he eon ot ans wp ) e LS B L e
i jer i ut & du

:it:-f: fhr;n;h:t?efﬁ:;:;uﬁtlws:illll Hr?r:-tl. ask for your forbearance i vain ; and n““iby thi

cum:ictinn that T am about to defend Mr, Windham from a charge most cruel, mos

unjust, and most unjnstifiable. (Cleers.)
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The Master intimated that, if he eaw or heard any farther exhibition of feeling
on the part of the audience, he should male use of the power at his command, _uud
adjourn the Court. .

Sir H. Cairns resumed by saying, It may be convenient to remind you of what the
precisa issue is. You are to decide whether Mr. Windham ig incapable of managing
his affairs—not whether he is of unsound mind—but whether he is incapable of
managing his affairs by reason of unsoundness of mind. The object of making that
distinetion is plain and simple. There are many cases in which 8 man may fairly
be said to be incapable of managing his affairs. He may be incapable by reason of
ignorance, or on account of inexperience aud the want of peculiar skill, or becaunse .
of a preference for literary or other pursuits of a kind ntterly unconnected with the -
management of property, or in consequence of a ruinous and inveterate habit of
gambling. Such a person may justly be said, in a certain sense, to be incapable
of managing his affairs, and, indeed, the Roman law made no distinetion
between anthrifts and idiots. DBut in England a man cannot be deprived of his
pergonal liberty or his property on the ground of inecapacity until a jury of
his conntrymen ave satisfied, first, that he is incapable of maunaging his affairs, and
secondly, that his incapacity arises from unsoundness of mind. The learned counsel,
having fortified his observations upon this point by guotations from Blackstone,
Shelford, and the declaration of Lord Eldon in the Portsmouth case, proceeded to ask
the jury also to bear in mind that the presumption is in fayour of sanity, and that
it lies upon those who allege unsoundness to make out and prove their case. I eall
your attention to the peculiar nature of the insanity allezed in the petition against
Mr. Windham. It is not an ordinary case of insanity accompanied by delusions—a
casein which the great and critical test of sanity is the absence or presence of
hallucinations —but a case of imbeoility approaching to idiocy, or amonnting to
unsoandness of mind. In acase of insanity accompanied by delusions, the mode
of iuvestizgating it so as to arrive at the truth is a matter of great diffi-
culty and doubt ; but in a case of imbecilily, where there is either no mind at all
or nexb to none, the task of coming to a right and just decision is comparatively
easy, It is impossible for a man who is said to have only a limited amount
of mind, or none at all, to assume at any moment or for any purpose a greater
amount of mind than he really possesses. If the mind is not there, or only therein
a certamn small and limited guantity, no desire on the part of the individual to show
a greater amount of mind, or to assnme the appearance of a greater amount of mind =
can supply him with that which Nature has denied him. Hence, when a man i;
“hﬂf‘!'ﬁd with imbeeility, if it, can be shown that for a considerable time and in
various situatious he has acted like a natural being, any acts of folly which might
be alleged against him should be carefully, deliberately, and keenly investigated
hEcR]:l-ﬂa at first sight it is next to impossible that a man can at certain times assumc:
& mind and intelligence which are wholly absent. Something has already been
said on the amount of property at stake in the present case, The only remark
I have to offer upon. that point is that theve is no graduate or sliding scale which
ieqnqua for a certamn amount of property a certain amount of mind; and that if
Mr. Windham. is capable of managing his affairs, he is 80 whether his property may
be l?-ﬂhmﬂfﬂd ok £Lmj ;E'].,{.IUD, or :EED,GD[] 4 year. 1 nexg mk yon to put aside
entively that portion of the evidence where the witnesses, nog confining themselves
E&mﬁfﬂ of facts which had occurred nunder their observation, or to statements
ieriri L‘;d“ﬁﬁ“'ﬂ;mﬁmm have gone further, and said that in their opinion, from
$ha i L card, Mr, Windham is of unsound mind. Itis the proyince of
o i";.:r 5 bi:r;: _auﬂd express an opinion upon th_a evidence, and I hope you will

The invaded by witnesses, whether skilled or otherwise.

learned counsel had barely commenced his epeech when the eourt adjonrned.

THIRTEENTH DAY.—Tiursnay, Dc, 2,

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windhan '
: L O ham, of Fellbrigg-
gﬂl’g“rﬁ]“‘rm resumed to-day in the Court of Exchequer, Weabmlinutﬂr, hufﬁﬁa
. “;;:W’é:hqﬂ-. one of the Mastersin Lunaoy, and a special jury.
g ﬁ"'"ﬁ"’* Q.C.. Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
Fog aomerd s Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giabilei, the mother of
1@ alleged lnnatic;  8ir Hugh Oairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr.

Milward for Mr. Willi . . .
- I::]Ti:m.“ William Frederick Windham; and Mr, Coleridge; Q.C.; for Mrs.
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' BIR HUGH CAIRNS' SPEECH—CONTINUED.

Sir H. Cairns resumed his ch to the jury on: - i

said, When the Conrt nﬂjnuru;ﬁn Wﬂdnaaﬂiyri?ani:;hlﬂia:f al:hi::;t Emﬂi?lamt:urf:
tention, before proceeding to comment upon the ‘evidence, to what T l‘iﬂl‘idar
a point well worthy of observation—viz, the very great advantage which
the petitioners have enjoyed with respect to the evidence to be procured.
'I:hﬂ petition was garnished with an array of names of persons of very con-
giderable position and distinction in society. It will be wy duty in the
course of my observations to comment, and I will claim the right . to
comment, with freedom upon the ecourse adepted by the petitioners. I may
remark at the outset that the heads of familics who have signed the petition must
possess, by the ramification of their connections and the weight of their
Enﬂqﬁnm: considerabla power in procuring from every partof the kingdom every
Jjot and tittle of evidence which could be obtained in their favour. My, Windham,
on the other hand, stands alone against the family, with the exception of his mother.
We have here, for the first time in my recollection, that which seems to me ex-
tremely like the introduction into this country of the terror of domestic life abroad—
viz., the working and operation of a family council. The decree of the family coon-
il has gone forth ; everything which it is in their power to do had been put in
operation, and the consequence is that members of the family who during the early
life of my client were in relation and connection wivh his tators and other persons
who had charge of him in childhood and boyhood are ablp at once to go to those
tutors and companions, to state their views to thém, and 'to command everything
they can give in the shape of evidence. If the present had been a ease in which
the members of the family were sinceyely and fairly desirous of taking the opinion
of an English jury upon the mental state of their relative, as testified by their own
medical witnesses, there wonld have been an easy and simple way of doing so.
Nothing could have been easier, without overlaying the ease with the flimsy and
ridicnlons evidence of railway guards, policemen, lodging-house keepers, and other
persons, deposing to acts, some the most trivial and others the most disagreeable,
which conld be well conceived, to have said—“We are ofopinion that the state of mind
of ourrelative is such that he cannot be intrusted with the management of himself
or his affairs; our medical witnesses say that his sanity or insanity can be tested
by an examination on hypothetical cases; will yon be kind enongh to
see that those tests are applied to the mind of ounr relative, not for the purpose of
showing nnsoundness, but for the purpose of fairly ascertaining whether his mind is-
sound or nnsound ; and then let a jury eay, having heard the results of such an
examination, whether there is ‘or is not that unsoundness of mind which we allege
in our petition.” That prudent and judicious course has not been adopted, but on
the contrary,, the members of the family have brought forward a mass of evidence
~ some of whichis of the most disagreeable, not to say disgusting deseription, and have
not hesitated to expose to the public gaze all the boyish acts, follies, and vices of
their youthful relative. One obvions and important eonsequence of bringing forward
such evidenceis to deter impartial and nnprejudiced pergons, whowould have liked to
state the results of their own observation of the acts of Mr. Windham, from coming
forward inhisbehalf. S8nch persons might have saidto themselves, “Weknow Mr.Wind-
bham very well; we have observed him doing various acts in the course of business ; he
always seamed to us to be a man perfectly competent to manage his own affairs and
we are willing to say so in open court.” Their friends, however, after reading the
the reports in the newspapers, might have remarked to them, * Bee how his relatives
are bringing forward, day after day, instances of the most disgusting acts committed
by Mr. Windham; these acts must really have been committed by him, or his
velatives would never have ventured to exhibit them to the publie gaze; we
hope you are not going to mix yourselves up with a case of that kind ; consider what
a disagreeable position you will be placed in when you find that a person whom yon
think so decent and well behaved has, withont your knowledge, committed acts of so

grosd o character that his relatives wonld never have dreamt of attributing themto
him, far less of parading them before the world, without the best and strongest
grounds for believing them to be truel”” I thiuk the petitioners ought to have con-
sidered that ‘such would be the natural and inevitable tendency of the counrse they
have adopted. There is another observation which I have to make at the outset—
viz., that the position of the partiesin this case is different in one most important
vespect, The petitioners have enjoyed, for the purpose of making out their case, an
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: timo wholly dispropovtioned to that which has been allotted to Mr.
:%?:Efmi:m dmngu. Iiwlzil be rennlletct.ud that so long ago as Epptamhar 11!'[1‘.
Corbellis had a consultation with General Windham with regard tﬂj;lﬂﬂ proceeding.
During the whole of that month, doring th:a ?hmi? of the two ﬁ:nllnm?g months, and
up to the middle of December, when this inquiry begau, the petitioners had an
opportunity of scouring high and low—in Russia, in Scotland, in Ireland, at
Spa, and in every part, of England—for every particle of Eﬂdﬂﬂﬂ'{ which
could be procured in support of their allegations. The advisers of Mr. Wmdhqm,
on the other hand, had no means of knowing what the petitioners were doing
antil the commencement of the proceedings in the Court of Chancery ; it was not
until the end of November that an order was made by the Lords Justices for the
issuing of a commission de lunatico ; and between the date of that order and the
beginning of this inquiry there was an interval of not more than three weeks.
During that short period Mr. Windham and his_adﬁaers had to gutr up their case in
opposition to that of the petitioners, perfectly ignorant of the 'E‘P’l?ﬂnﬂﬂ which the
petitioners intended to adduce, except in so far as they were enlightened by the
affidavits filed before the Lords Justices. Moreover, in a case of this kind, where
agreat number of acts and sayings were spoken to which wers said to_ have
ooenrred between Mr. Windham aud some other person, the only pergson who could
be brought forward to rebut what was alleged by the petitioners was Mr. Windham
himgelf; but, unfortunately, the law and practice of England do not admit of their
producing Mr. Windham a8 a witness before the Court. With respect to a great
many of those acts and comwersations which occurred within the kuowledge only of
Mr. Windham and of some other person, examined as a witness in support of the
petition, I and my learned friends have been able to elicit from the witnesses many
details which they either had forgotten or had omitted to state, and have obtained
considerable additions to the evidence which the witnesses gave by addressing
to them proper and fit inquiries for the purpose. To whom was it supposed
shey could be indebted for the information which enabled them to put those gunes-
tions in cross-examination? To whose shrewdneas, intellizence, and elear and accurate
knowledge of what really had ocourred counld they be indebted except to those of
Mr. Windham himself? T will show you in the conrse of my observations, the facts
which they had been thus enabled to bring before you, and the impossibility of their
having derived their knpwledge from any person except Mr. Windham himself. It
is not my intention to complain of the order, as regarded narrative and witness, in
which the ecase has been brought before yon ; but, without making any complaint,
I think a better and more econvenient arrangement might have been adopted for
directing attention to the whole of the facts. I do not propose to follow that order,
but, on the contrary, to take an order of narrative which I think will enable yon
much more usefully and conveniently to follow the history of the case and the evi-
dence of the witnesses. There are four periods to which I will endeavonr to direct
your attention, and under each of which T will supply you with proper evidence.
The first will extend from the earliest childhood of Mr. Winduam, up to the time
when he came tolodge with the Lewellins, in Duke-street, on the 27th of May, 1861 ;
the second will be from that date up to the time of his marringe; the third will
. imelude the time of his marriage and the events immediatoly and closely connected
‘with it; and, finally, the fourth will embrace the time which' has passed since his
marriage, and the events which are relied upon during that period. In approaching
the consideration of the first period, T am 'anxious still further to clear the
ground by stating most fairly and frankly the points a repards the character of
Mr. Windham which T am ready to concede, and npon which I agree with some
of the evidence which has been brought before you. Mr. Windham has the misfortune
«~for 1 callit advisably a misfortune—to be an only child.  He is not only an only
(ﬁh{::lﬂ, but ho is what is commnp[y called a ﬂpmlb child. Ho wnas spoiled, as Dr,

ald Dalrymple had very fairly told them, in the clearest and fullest sense of the
term, by his parenta—at onee indulged and irregularly and capricionsly restrained.
His father was a passionate man, and, a8 Dr. Dalrymple hag said, his mother is
also a person of excitable temper. Thore can be no doubt that he was never fond of
learning. He was pagsionately fond of out-door employments. The two sometimes
go tﬂgﬂthﬂr, hﬂ:ﬁ mmﬁ‘ﬁ'ﬁ{ﬂﬂﬂﬂj’ th'ﬂf are found Hﬂparﬂtﬂu After he left Bton he
really had W"vhmg which eonld properly be called education. There 18 not a gingle
tutor he had wl]n ever attempted seriously and eamestly to give him any proper
kind of instruction. At Fellbrigg-hall, as Dr. Daltymple has fairly stated, he had
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the run of the house :
brothers and gisters, ::ilfhtil; ;g“r:]I'lTniauI: uﬁ o s e s
ever except tntora whom he disliked, eagerly toembrase Yeikh: xio compadions ihak-
ing tl:!E society of those who were t:::--l:u fuﬂnﬂ Eﬁnmhbiiigppo:tm; oniihnia
especially of persons like grooms and stable-boys, who are u;u andiatablag; arom
with boys who are allowed to frequent the a:al.';] S yCT R TR0 K i e
most ready to encou d i s amliny. plosdjuond
3 y courage and humour the whims of their young master. I
clear thl}t- hq was a boy of excitable temperament—a i e A0
Il[t- was likewise evident that he was a boy of rusti g okl Koy & e
in his boyhood; that he was allowed to be mmﬁ:::gn:;rz alr:d e
x;empb to givﬁ hi? any kind of proper tminingf The faant ti‘;.h;[t'.-e h‘;aﬂw;u TE'(E' s
nners and speech was in some degree to be accon e
zﬁ:ﬂ f.; u%lidw?"]t upp;:r llJI:a:: it_::;e hade%n early lifa;flﬂy nﬂt‘;gmio:n?t;t:t? 1:1:::::1 E;I:u:lﬁ
ulies ; that he ne sisters i 3
converse with him; that, in short, as an 2;@3&}3 ratlﬁt.[vel? Drﬁnr i
run]:{h-nut the honse and the stables unchecked aﬂabu sger:gij asdwn.s pMmltta%m
could it be denied that in early life he was a sloven in d s o
respect he became v i . el Ussensiboe
o e g S o S e | e i e
:::lis:':: biarﬂgﬂnvsertah p:ﬂtﬁliarzmnn;l they would learn, from z:%;n::a:f 11111:3 ::::
v kind, that the structure of his month was such that his voi i
laugh eould not be otherwise than pecaliar. It ikewi e
he had very considerable powers ofl:;imitnhinn, an?u;:n!ak:m h&::{l_:ﬂni?uw]eﬂgud ey
and, 1o doubt, to a very noisy extent. He had a great puwarpgc[‘ imit.ati:: T?];I i;_rgu
folk dmleqt, _nnq representations and pantomimes seen on the stage. He tFmi : ur;
power of imitating the acts and condact of other people, and hl;l‘-lﬂﬂﬂ it in fx
which very likely was pleasant to himself, but sometimes not to those who were aar:
gociated with him. It might also be taken as a fuct, which counld not be disputed
that he was a boy of boisterous animal epirvits. His mind upon the whole wp ‘
a powerful one, but, little more could be said on the gubject. If, indeed WMWME
e bloutil o mwible e i Peh aflves Gord}lido e bh:he HDA] - St DO b i saeare
curate mental standard, just as we counld get a correct standard of height —I think
we might be able to show at what part of the mental standard the mind of Mr
Windham _m:ght. to be put. Jf we had ench a mental standard—if we counld shm;
that the highest degree of mental capacity is represented by 100, and the lawest by
20—if the mean between 20 and 100 might be taken to represent the average standard
of mental capacity, very likely the mind of Mr. Windham would fall below, and not
above, the average standard ; but I think that just as we do not call a man a dwarf
h_an_ﬂ,nae his height might not happen to reach the average standard, so it would be
ridiculous to say that the mind of Mr, Windham, even if below the average mental
standard, is unsound or incapable of managing affairs. You will be supplied witi
the clearest and most convincing proof that he is a person of great sensibility and
of great powers of attachment and affection. You will also find this remarkable
fact, that while, on one hand, he always. evinced the greatest disposition to resist
and oppose any person who he did not think treated him fairly and properly
go, on the other, to any one who treated him kindly, and with judgment n:u:;
moderation applied the restraints which ought to be applied to young men of
his age, he uniformly exhibited respect and deference, obedience and at.
tachment. A word may be spoken here about what are called his eccentric tastes.
IlE::cunt.neity ig not unsoundness of mind, mor are eccentric tastes proofs of mental
incapacity. Two eccentric tastes are attributed to Mr. Windham. The first isa
taste for the management of railways and the society of railway guards. Upon this
. point nobody who has heard it ean have fuiled to be struck by something which
came ont at a late part of the evidence. Some of the tutors, as a proof that he was
a boy of low tastes, had stated that when at Eton he was constantly about the rail-
way, and in the soviety of guards, observing, at the same time, that none of the
other boys ever imitated his example in that respect. Bat it will be remembered
that Bradley, the guard osn the Eastern Counties Railway, who was called to speal
to something which occurred on that line, stated in cross-examination that when
Mr. Windham was at Eton he himself was a guard on the North-Western line ; thas
Mr. Windham was then in the habit of riding in the van, and that every
Eton boy did the same thing whenever he got the opportunity. There
conld be no doubt, indeed, that if au Bton boy could get upon the engine,
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or care and supervision to work the lever or blow

gac, e ?Fiﬁedt:hzf{r;ap:ggnﬂy what he P:;nnid desire to do. Yon will see,
oo a}aam?:hzg tho taste is one which in Mr, Windham has been a constant taste, and
Eﬁnﬁ’ has indulged from the earliest times whenever he had the opportunity of
Joine so. Mr. Chambers, has asserted, in his opening speech, that Mr. Windham
has been in the habit of acting as a railway porter. That stetement bas not been
ved. Some of the witnesses have said that he used to shut earriage doors and

eall ont to the passengers to take the'rseats when the train vas about to start; bub
that was part of the business of a guard, and not uf‘ a porter. When coaches ran
between London and Brighton they were ﬂn-n:en habitually by ?mﬂt&ﬂ:‘ﬂ, who took
tHe shillings from the passengers, and acted in every respect like coachmen ; and
one of the sovereigns of a neighbouring country, remarkable for shrewdness and
sagacity, used to spend a gonsiderable portion c_at' his time in the m_a.h_ug of llar:ka.
and his fancy and delight was to associate with locksmiths. It is impossible to
account for such tastes; they ave eccentrie, but not proofs of unsoundness of
mind. You will have evidence placed before you, not only that Mr. Windham has
a taste for the management of railway traing, but that he has always performed his
work extremely well; not only that he was allowed to drive an engine, but that he
knew perfectly well how to do it. T venture to submit that it is no small proof of
competency, and of the power of acquiring knowledge, to find that a young man,
whether by means permitted by the railway company or not, has so informed him-
self of the working and operations of a complicated piece of machinery like a steam-
engine as to be able with precision, and to the satisfaction of gkilled persong, to drivea
railway train. Mr. Windham perfectly understood how to apply the break; he has been
again and again allowed to drive the engine, and, with one exception o be noticed
in its proper place, not only has no accident ever occurred, but there never has
been the slightest appearance of an accident likely to cccar in consequence of any
incompetency on his part. The other eccentric taste attributed to Mr. Windham
was a fondness for walking about with the police and imitating their actions. Even
apon the evidence adduced by the petitioners, there is nothing serions in his
association with the police. It was evidently meant as a joke, thongh, perhaps, a
bad one. Owing to circumstances which are greatly to be regretted, and for which
his guardians were in no small degree responsible, Mr. Windham went through a
season of London dissipation, in the course of which he was in the habit of fre-
quenting the Haymarket, deseribed as the noisiest part of the town. He took a
fancy, not of obstructing the police in the exeeution of their duty, which some others
did withont being called mad, but of making acquaintance with them and imitating
their airs and authority. The joke may have been a bad one, but iz it seriously to
be brooght forward as a proof of insanity than a young man, under such circum-
stances as I have described, not attempting to interfere with or embarrass the
police, should choose to form an acquaintance with them, imitate their manners,
and show that he appreciated them in a high degree by comparing their superior
arts with the clumsy contrivances of the country police? A great deal
of evidence has been adduced in support of the petition; but there is one
kind of evidence which, I think, to use a phrase now familiar to all, is
“conspicuous by its absence.” I confess that I was much surprised to
hear Mr. Chamberas say on Wednesday, “Here we close our case”” With the
arrangements of my learned friend as to his witnesses I have no right to interfere;
'nut‘I certainly have assumed that the case against Mr. Windham would not be closed
until you had seen in the witness-box every one of the petitioners who could by
physical possibility have attended the inquiry, and more especially until you had
heard the evidence of such of the petitioners as in the privacy and retirement of the
‘:'}Ol:l.rt. of Chancery made affidavita for the purpose of inducing the Lords Justices to
1e8ue an order for this inguiry. What has happened? Two of the petitioners have
been produced, and two only—the Marquis of Bristol and Lord 'Alfred Hervey. It
will be my duty to comment upon their evidence, but the Marquis of Bristol and
Lord Alfred Hervey are not petitioners who can tell you anything of the least con-
sequence with reapect to Mr. Windham, his acts, or his conduct. The petitioneras
who could have told you what would have been of consequence are not produced and
are not examined. In a ease of this kind, where, with a single exception, the whole
of o l'amlil;,r are arrayed against one of its members for the purpese of trying to per-
suade o jury that he is of unsound mind, it is the poeitive obligation and duty of
every member of the family who so asserts to come forward and tell in open court
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all that he knew—to state whe i
Znch is the bounden duty of bh:ﬁt?ﬁuﬁgm::ﬂﬁgc;: zﬂzﬁlf zcted on hoarsay.
Eura to say t_hqt- it is also the privilege and right of the jury to inaﬁtﬁat;:%t?d e
F %ﬂnﬁ’ or if it should not be done, to draw proper conclusions from the Iﬂl:huul.d
uh t_ ese Persons. Speaking of the petitioners as a body, what is che con B S
Eh?a]rr;:?::ﬁu;ng pt:t::uceg as witnlfnaea? I give them the choice of Estfﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁ §§
] a—either during the fifteen i i
:el;h;: over which this inqugiry has afif:!nd;ll; E;::::: iiafﬁg Eih?bifll;za;::;tt?w
nd obeserving his course of life, or they we 2 i T
thﬁj' wt:}mé wh{D haﬁvﬁu’ tﬂl&y not been mim&dr? n\c';l“';hy E::::J;:l :ot;;{acgimfﬂimu
urg, pa, inburgh, to almost every part of the kin ' :
from transitory glimpses of him at a dinner FIE I BEOTH A1 oep
there was something in his laugh, or the sgz ﬂ? o?a_hall,_formad_ B APilghthel
be an idiot? Why are the patit.!lnnm th 4 ?} o  bis o ] [_Jr-:.wud i
have b een the observers of his wlml; lif} SFTLCRS SR OF L i YD
: se 8 e, to absent themselves, and decli
sapport iheir petition by their evidence i k iz
horn of the dilemma. Supposing the iti 18 .. 90Am. 001 | ‘:I‘ake P, Ol
:ny i:gntqzi'pnursn with him,pﬁrl :E*:t- a8 p:t gfdn;mm;;?iaf hailg’ or ﬁm?:v ;irm]}:]t?:
our families, never associated with him, or endeavoured to i rove his mi
it was defective, or ‘his manners whare’ they were c::jimprom m_nund_where
guage, I am not surprised at their EBEEIEIFGE. 1 :{:Efig lik: rt:?:n:f tli:l:w a2
whether the petitionera have really stayed away because they are afraiﬂt of Teiv'h?lr,
Et:f:e;hﬂ{m ne:r?:'i Baw t];zir relative, never associated with him, never informed tt]’mm,g.'
5 about him until a time came when they thoun i
question. Mr. Chambers in his opening speech, rgfemj:;jgg ﬁtﬁiuﬁ}ggfﬁr r:a:rtm
takes credit for the motives of the petitioners, and states that General Wil:EiIhEm 14
g0 much older than his nephew that he could not benefit from the propert Lh:.
trhem‘e:m]n}nﬂ that point. There iz an estate called Fellbrigg, which whaj::l' Lm;
Sophia’s jointure falls in, will be worth £3,000 a year. The dl;viaerl e:’:tatﬁa in 1EEEF
when the mortgages will be nearly paid off, will prodace about £9,000 per anuu :
Here is an income of £12,000 a year in all. Supposing it could be dEtEEI?niﬂEﬂ tht:tl
Mr. Windham is an imbecile and incapable of taking care of his affairs, and that
his marriage is null and void, what will be the consequence? The erson next i
rqmg.mder to the whole of this property of £12,000 a year is Genemlp Windham fm
his life, with the remainder again to every one of his sons. If Mr. Windham Wﬂrﬂﬁ}
imbeeile mind no marriage could be contracted ; he would live and die a bachelor
and the wh‘nla of t.ha: property of £12,000 a year would be as well and firmly secured tu,
General Windham, if he lived long enough, but, at all events, to his family, as if the
best conveyancer in England or the world were now to convey and settle it in that
way. It is idle to say that General Windham is free from the possibility of suspicion
because, fnrsr:_pul:h, he is older than his nephew. Here is the transfer of the entire
property to his family, whether he might himself live to enjoy his life interest or not
But the matter does not stop there. Look at the position of the petitioners. Were
Mr. Wmdhm:n to be declared insape, the anthorities in lonacy wounld regnlate the
property. Everybody khows that a certain sum is allowed for the maintenance of
the lnnatic. Supposing that, out of the £12,000, some £3,000 or £4,000 a-year are
allowed for the _cumfnrtn,ble maintenance of the lunatic as a ha-:lshelﬂr, £5,000
per annum remain. Supposing that the contingency of the lunatic living a II|f=1=l.g'
time, say forty years, and the General not coming into possession, were to happen
there wonld be at the death of the lunatic an accumulation of between £300,000 and
£400,000—a very pleasant thing for the next of kin. Who is the next kin ? The
other petitioners. I am not going to impute motives, but those who carry on an ingniry
of this kind ought to be above not merely blame but suspicion, and they are notabove
suspicion if they shrink from the light of day and from telling everything they know.
‘_I‘hmr are not above suspicion if they shrink from coming before the court, and allow-
ing to be investigated the course which they have taken in getting up these procped-
ings ; and they must not think it hard if their conduct in not coming forward and
submitting to cross examination is severely eriticised. I find that there are eleven
heads of families who are petitioners before the Lords Justices. One is Mrs. Cecilia
Ann Baring, who has made an affidavlt that she is an aunt of Mr. Windham. Has
she offered to repeat in court what she has sworn before the Lords Justices? Then
they have Mr. John Henry Windham, called Captain Windham, who has been
veceiver of the whole of the estates, He is intimately acquainted with them, and
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e . +oh has been done abont them. He knows all about Fellbrigg.
;:Slu ?: i?tu-f';ﬂlénr to his nephew, or to the acts he has committed. He has made
anz:mﬂm-it that is part of the material before the Lords Justices, and before
the medical men, Where is Captain Windham ¢ Is he unable to attend ? or is it
‘suzcested that he cannot give valuable information ? What is the reason he cannot
como forward and repeat in the court, in the light of day, what he has told the Lords
Justices, and give me and my learned friends an opportanity of testing the accuracy
of his statements ? Then thereis Mr. Hook, a banker in London, and one of the

ardians of this young man, appointed by the Court of Chancery. He could ha.vq
told the jury something about Mr. Windham's money matters, and the means that
have been taken with regard to his education. Is it to be tolerated that such a
gentleman should be allowed to make affidavits before the Lords Justices upon
which he could not be cross-examined, and then withhold from the jury in open
conrt? I should have liked to ask how it came that he allowed Mr. Windham to go
to London to make his own bargains, and to expose himself to all the vices and tempta-
tions of London life ; and whether at that time he was of opinion that Mr. Windham
was of unsound mind; and if he was, has he not neglected his duty? I
ghonld have liked to ask him whether he ever sought to restrain and
rebuke him, or recommend to him a purer and better course of +llfi:n. Mr. Hook,
gold the alleged lunatic a horse in in the summer of 1861. He believed the horse
was worth what it was sold for, and that Mr. Windham koew ita value very
well ; but how comes Mr. Hook to sell his ward a horse, believing him to be
of unsound mind, and not able to manage himself or his affaira # TIs it this circum-
stance that keepsMr. Hook out of the box ? I should have liked to ask Mr. Hook what
stepa he has taken to prevent the marriage of his ward with Agnes Willoughby, of
which he wasapprised ; or whetherhe communicated the fact to the Conrt of Chancery,
who appointed him the guardian of this young man. Now I cometo the Coryphens
of the petition, General Windham, who was appointed gnardian under the will of
the father, and who, from his intimate knowledge of the young man, conld
have given the fullest information. General Windham has been in Court through
the trial, but he dares not appear in the open light of day before an English jury,
and dares not repeat on oath what he has stated in four affidavits before the Lords
Justices. I should like to know when General Windham first entertained the idea
that his nephew was of unsound mind—whether, when he allowed him to rush into
London life, he was satisfied with his mode of life—whether he remonstrated with
him and reproved him—and whether he endeavoured to restrain him—whether,
when he complained of the fondness of his nephew for lew company, he (General
Windham) living in London, and in a distinguished position, took any steps to
introduce him into better society, and to enable him to consort with better
company. I should like to know, farther, what steps he took to prevent the
contemplated marriage, of which he was apprised on the 28th of August; and
why he introduced Mr. Jackson to Fellbrigg, for the purpose of bringing about
a transfer of the estate. To the evidence of the two petititioners who have
come forward I give the fullest weight, bat I sghall endeavour to show
the jory what is the effect of it. I will take Lord Alfred Hervey first. He
agreed with Dr. Dalrymple that Mr. Windham was an ill-trained and spoiled child,
and then gave various details of his after life. (The learned counsel read and com-
mented upon the witness's evidence.) The other petitioner, the Marquis of Bristol,
who has been examined, does not even venture to hint that Mr. Windham is of
unsound mind. The learned counsel commented at great length on the evidence of
Mr. Cheales, Mr. Windham’s private tutor at Eton, which he said was inconclusive,
and did not jastify the opinion at which the witness had arrived. Adverting to the
evidente of another tuntor at Eton, he observed that Mr. Hale, his mathematical
tator, said that, though he had made a row when he came up first, he * funked,”
after being put into the bill, and ever after that, waa very amenable to diseipline,
showing that he acted like any other properly-minded boy. It was only when he
was treated unfairly or capriciously, as he had been by his private tutora, that
he attempted to resist anthority. Then, again, Mr. Whiteside, the cornot of
Hussars, gaid that he had never heard any one called “ mad” at Hton but Mr.
Windham. I (continued Bir H. Cairns) appeal to all who have been at the public
schools to know whether Mr. Whiteside’s acquaintance must not have been
very limited at Kton if he has not heard that term applied to more than
one boy. The learned counsel commented on the evidence of Mr. Goodwin,
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another tutor, as i i = e
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 No. 12, Grand Parade, Hastings, Toesday, 28th.

i ma—Alfred (Lord A. Hervey) ia really too bad. He has written
ngai]zetu; Hlf::-mnka, ta]liug(%im to tell me that I shall not be allowed to go to Fell-
brigg, as I have not gone abroad, but I shall be sent to some strict tutor s to
till 1 'u.m of age, in some obscure part of England. _]Ia geems to think he is above
Sir Wood and everybody else concerned. Now I think very probably we shall have
o war with Spain or some other country soom, by what the papers seem to say.
Now, what I want is to get our regiment embodied, and then Alfred cannot help my
being with them, and allowing me a good round sum of money. Now, if Lord
C—— and some others were to try, I think it might be managed that we should be
embodied and stationed in gome jolly place like Shorneliffe or Plymouth. I think
you might ask him, or else I shall try and get into the Life Guards, or some other
regiment, as the money is now reduced for commissions. If I go on with this life T
shall go melancholy mad. I cannot bear it. D:ﬁ_ lozik sharp and do something.
- hnson.—Balieve me, your affectionate son,

SR =0T, el e #W. F. WinpHEAN”

(The Lord C—— in the above letter was understood to refer to the EHarl of

i don.
Giavendon.  Pavilion, Folkestone, Monday Morning.

# Dearest Mama,—Horrocks has written to Alfred stating that we shall be here
for some fow days, and that he hopes to be across the water some fine morning. He
is very much mistaken though as regards that. He has been writing to Lord
Belhaven and others, saying that you have tried to ruin him for life. Yon musttry
and settle with Lord C—— at once, and lose no time when you see him on Wednesday
in getting him to do the thing at once. Horrocks says that he will never go back
to Fellbrigg, and that he should be very soon dead if he was to go; so we must

e to get the appeal go worded that I can come and live with you altogether.

1 hope Lord C—— will succeed, because I want to have a London season. If any

letter comes for me from Norwich or anywhere, forward it to me here—FPavilion,

Folkestone. I must now say good bye, with love to mama, Theodore, Emily, and
Constance.—Ever your affectionate son,  W. F. Wixpaan.”
* Bandgate, March 22.

“ My dear Mama,—The reason we left St. Leonard’'s is rather good. You will
be much amused how some of our friends find it rather hot for themselves. 1 found
some of our Torquay acquaintances there with whom I used to amuse myself, and I
found then that Horrocks had met them abroad. Well, I got to like the place, and
enjoyed myself. He found a lot of people he knew, but I only knew these people.
Well, we went to their house, and they and I got on very well together. One of
them which I liked best was a Roman Catholic. Well, I found out that they alzo
knew a little about Horrocks, and the moment he saw how matters stood, that
I was generally with them, he took it into hig head to leave, and almost insulted the
young lady he knew of the party, though she shut him up very qguickly. Direct
Post-office, Sandgate, Kent, to me. I enclose you a note for Sir E. Lacon, which
mfamuﬂ at once, and explain all which I told you to write as well as to him,

-bye, dear mama, and believe me your affectionate son, * Winre.”
. : “ Saturday Morning, Sandgate.

“ Dear Mama,—TI told you that we moved here and the reason in my last letter.
Well, the adjntant has written to the Horse Guards to get me leave; 8o, at least, he
wrote to Horrocks. Now I want that stopped. You asked me in your last letter
how I was off for money. Not very well, considering that I have only 28 shillings
a week, and here that soon goes if any of the officers ask me to go with them any-
where, and it is no good to ask Horrocks, as he says, ¢ You only spend it and throw
it away.” A donation of a £5 note would be exceedingly acceptable on Monday
morning next, if I conld get it, but I don’t like to borrow, for there is so much row,
and one is really treated so much like a dog. Now one cannot get even £100a yenr,
nor yet enough to amuse myself with, and it looks so foolish for me not to be able to
have any money, and people all seem to think so. I must now say adieu, trusting on
Monday morning to hear from you, and perhaps to get a little donation in the shape

of a £5 note, which will be acceptable. Good bye, dear ma d beli
your aﬂhnﬁin;ate son, o i = M:'Wmll.?::r.’rm

’ ‘ Sandgate, March 29,
Dear Mama,—1 got your letter and telegraph. I have written to uncle Hook,
amd shall aleo write to Sir W. Wood and tell him I wish to join, I wan my tailor to
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make me & pair of trousers (military) for every day. He knows. if vou i
what sort. Try and see uncle Hook and get ::g £E§ﬂ a year. N::nw Irﬁm::]llml:r:naj
yearly allowance, and directly, as I must join with money, like others. It onght to
be paid to Cox and Co., the regimental agents. Bee to this at once. I think wa
shall go to the Isle of Wight soon. I shall write a letter to Sir W. Wood, whom
and see, and tell him from me I wigh to join, and also that my colonel thinks I
ought. Look sharp, go and do it, or better go with Unele Hook, as he always sticks
up for me and mine. Good-bye. Your ever affectionate son, “ WiLniam.”
: “ April 25, Bunday.

“ Dear Mama,—Horrocks watched me so close, and heaidea,thing no moiar,
I could not get away last Sunday. He goes up to-morrow to London, to see my
uncles Hook and Alfred about what is to be done, so Jook out. 1 write in haste.
Send me my clothes down here; that is, my blue uniform and my white coat
which I left, and my white waistcoat also. Try and get me two weeks' holiday to
spend with you while they are settling, and come down and spend them in the Tsle
of Wight, and then the Vice-Chancellor will grant it—more likely so than for me
to come to Brompton. Now do as requested. Love to Johnstone, and believe me,
your ever affectionate son, “W. F. Windham."

- * Sunday, 22nd, Victoria Hotel.

** Deareat Mama,—I am happy and contented, praised by the adjutant, and told
I march and hold myself, and learn my drill quick and well. I marched this morn-
ing at the head of my company. If they attempt to touch me, go to Cambridge
at once. That will stop all nonsense. Come down to see me when the weather
gets warmer. We are ordered to hold ourselves in readiness for being embodied
perbaps. Good by, dear mama ; please send me a little donation, as I have nothing,
and believe me your affectionate son, “W.F. Wixpran®

Now would the jury, from what has been expressed of Mr. Windham’s youthful
conduct, have believed without hearing them that he could have written such
letters as those? The last tutor Mr. Windham has had was Mr. Peatfield, with
whom he was when the Vice-Chancellor decided Mr. Windham was quite competent
to determine whether he should go abroad or remain at home. He travelled in
Scotland, Ireland, and the Channel Islands. In Edinburgh they appeared to have
been very fond of going to the theatre, where Mr. Windham picked up a song from
a burlesque of Fra Diavolo. All that Mr. Peatfield could say of that was that Mr.
Windham in repeating it ont-heroded Herod. Mr. Peatfield said that liquor excited
Mr. Windham, though Mr. Horrocks said that it only made him heavy and sleepy.
The whole evidence of that witness is strongly in favour of the perfect sanity of Mr.
Windham. The learned counsel, after commenting nupon Dr. Nichol's evidenoe,
said that the way in which his father has left his property to Mr. W. F.
Windham is a proof that he thought him of perfectly sound mind at the time
of his death. Commenting npon the evidence which had been offered by Mr. Johnson
and Mr. Scott, the learned counsel said nothing conld be more trivial than that
which they had stated as proof of the unsonndness of Mr. Windham's mind. Coming
to the second period to which he had referred—viz., that from fthe period when Mr.
Windham came to Duke-street until the period of his marriage he said—I shonld
like to know how the guardians of Mr. Windham and Mr, Peatfield can justify bring-
ing him from the country and allowing him to choose the lodgings in Duoke-
street, and keep the company which he did there? His bargain with
Mr. Lewellin - a8 regarded having wine st the wholesale price was cer-
tainly that of a rational man. His conduct, too, in allowing Mr. Lewellin
to take care of money which he did not require, was that of a capable man. He
was treated like any other lodger there, and had a lateh-key. Could any conduct
be more rational than that by which he had protected himsell from an improper and
unjust charge on the part of his groom.? If he had all the objectionable gualities which
Mr. and Mra. Llewellin now stated, how was it that they had accepted him as a
yearly tenant after having & month or six weeks’ experieuce of his conduct ? The only
instance of elovenly dressing which Mr. Llewellin gave was when Mr, Windham eame
home after driving the train, and when he himself had stated that he was in a jolly
pickle. As regarded the alleged noise he made, the jury must test thatby the fact
that there was not a single lodger, or neighbour, or passer by, who conld be pro-
duced, to say that they were annoyed by any one of those noises, or had felt them
to bo a nuisance. The learned connsel referred to conversations of Mr. Windham
with the Llewellins as a proof of his mental capaciby, more especially where he had
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attempted to blind them as to hig intentions in regard to marrying Agues
Willoughby. Much of the evidence of the Llewelling was mere rubbish ; such for
instance, as the running naked out of the bath-room, which amounted to rothing
more than Mr. Windham's partially undressing himself in the office before going into
the bath-room, and frequently running from one room to the other to complete his
toilette. Thereis nothing in the evidence, even assuming it all true, which indicates
any wilfol or designed exposure. The thing is grossly incredible, and overthrows
the credibility of the witness, who has involved himself in nunmberless contradic-
tions in giving the evidence. The next pigce of rubbish is the evidence of Mrs.
Llewellin, that when alone with Mr. Windham he had threatened to
rip her up. All such things as that generally happened when there was
no one present to speak to the facts. Her whole evidence is foll of gross
and palpable inconsistencies. His shouting could be resolved into the desire
of a boisterons young man, who desired to give utterance to his exhuberant
spirits by a hunting cry, wishing to do so with the least possible annoyance to those
in the house by throwing up the window and hallooing out into an enclosed back
yard. As regards the cases of exposure, with which Mrs. Llewellin has charged
Mr. Windham, they are clearly and palpably false as regards the second and third
times of their alleged occurrence ; and if the witness can make a false statement as
regards the second and third times, she would not hesitate to invent the story al-
together. Then, again, with respect to the charge of dirtying the bed, than which
there was not an instance in the annals of justice of a more cruel and barbarouns
charge having been made as between man and man, much less as between a number
of relatives and the youngest member of the family. It has been introduced by his
learned friend, and stated by witnesses to be habitual, the inference which it is
desired should be drawn being of conrse that it was that want of self-control which
frequently attends imbecility ; but cross-examination has reduced the matter to two
or three doubtful cases, when Mr. Windham had been suffering from disease.
The proceedings were here adjourned until next day.

FOURTEENTH DAY.—Fripay, Jax. 3.

The inguiry into the alleged luracy of William Frederick Windham was continued
in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, this being the fourteenth day of the pro-
ceedings,

SIR HUGH CAIRNS' SPEECH—CONCLUDED.

Sir H. Cairns continued his opening speech. He said, I have yesterday taken the
liberty of reading toyou some letters from Mr. Windham, written in the year 1860,
principally relating to matters which were then in dispute between himself and Mr.
Horroeks, and his own movements connected with them. Letters from Mr. Windham
will be produced in evidence, as it were by accident, becanse letters of that kind
will not naturally be kept. It is by the mere accident that they are relevant to the
inguiry before the Vice-Chancellor that they have been preserved by his mother.
But since yesterday a few more letters have been obtained, simply by accident ; for
Alr. Windham’s mother, who lies on a bed of sickness, and I fear on a bed of death,
is the only person from whom we could obtain such letters. I will read four letters
from Mr. Windham to Lady Sophia, written while he was at Eton, in the year 1855.
The date is not given ; but they written shortly before he left Eton ;:—

The letters are as follows :—

“ Eton, Bunday:.

“My dear Mama,—I am very glad to hear you have written. I thonght yom
would have done so before now ; though I do not wish to break my promise, yeb
it 18 very hard to find anything to do—in fact, there is nothing now, and the ice
is 8o thick. Now, Mr. Younge took some boys to skate the other day from here,
and would have taken me only the promise prevented him. But still I don’t wish
to break my promige, only, a8 I say, there is nothing else to do. My cold is botter,
and 8o is my eye. Have you got Don (his pony) down there with yon yet, or
not 7 Will you write and ‘answer me soon. There is very nearly a fair on the
Thames ; there are quantities of people everywhere. You can skate from King-
ston to London on the Thames. So hard is the frost that I had my sponge sud
water frozen this morning in my room, thongh I hiad a fire. Five weeks more aud
1 shall be at Torquay, I hope well and souud. Mr. Younge will write to-morrow.
or the next day, as I am writing to you to-night. I have been vaccinnted, but ik
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did not take. My cold is better. Good bye, dear mama, I must finish now.—

Believe me, ever your most affectionate son, “W. F. Winpmay.

* Eaton, Sunday 18th.”

_“My dear Mama—Saturday, the 31st, is the day, at four o'clock, if it all goea
right. I shall see - 1 wanttogive two leaving books, if I may, of a guinea
each. Will you give me leave P Mr. Youngewill givemean order.  Will you write
me an answer, please, as soon as possible, because I have chosen them. Mr.
Younge is making me get np my collections. May I ride Don up to the house ?
Won't he jump, when I sea the train come in ? I wish you would let me have one
of the retrievers up. I want to make them accustomed to me. I should like
Duchess. I think the reason Goodford would not give me leave was because he
thonght so many others would ask for it also. I don’t think they would, because
;:;'a:,r would not know anything about it. Mr. Younge hopes you have received his

ter.

* Good bye, dear; T hope I shall see your letter when I come on Saturday.—
Believe me ever your affectionate son, “W. F. WiNDHAM.

‘¢ Eton, SBunday, 25th

“ Please answer me immediately about the bookss”

“ Rimpton, Friday 23rd,

“ My dear mama,—I am wvery sorry for not having written before, but I have
so much to do that I have hardly any time for doing anything. May Mr. Hawtry
advance me some money—about £3 of my next allowance, as I paid several bills
myself, and so I have none left # Will you write and let me know soon, please?
I wish to ask you becaunse I thought it was best to do so, as I did not know whether
you had teld him to give any besides my allowance. I should like a little present
of £4, because it is such a temptation to run into debt (if one has no money to
pay), as well as to borrow of the other fellows, and as I want things now and
then. Besides, there is my drawing lesson, which costs 6d. every time, as I must
put up at the hotel, and so it comes rather expensive. I canassure you it is only
a guinea and a half if I go there to the man, as it is a public class, but there is
only one other person besides myself yet, but if he came here he would charge a
great deal more, Dutchman comes very useful for me to ride on every Wednes-
day to Sherborne for my lesson—in fict, I do not know what I shonld do without
him, ag itis a good five miles from here. I have made my momey last as long as
ever I could, and Ispent my last 2s. to get a ticket for the lecture, which we all
went to the other evening. Thackeray was the man—the celebrated man who
went to America. One heard a great deal about him in the papers. So if you will
write soon and give me leave to ask of Mr. Hawtry for £4, or half of it, I shall be
much obliged. I should have asked to have had the little present of money which
you were unable to give me. I wish you could do it, because I am sure I do notask
without reason—that is, I like to have moneyin my pocket, and keep out of debt.

“Good bye, dear Mama.

“ Trusting yon are well; and, also that you will let me have what I ask for,

: “ Believe me your affectionate Son.

“P.8.—When will yon come to Rimpton? ¢ Gloria Deo in excelsis.’

# P.8.—I think I shall be home about the 30th or 31st of March. Try and learn
“Euclid,” so as to be able to do it well during my Easter holidays.”

: “ Tuesday, Dec. 2. :

My dear Uncle Alfred,—Excuse my writing and troubling you again for adwvice;
but I have received a letter from my uncle Charles, who wants an answer, and T
want your advice, because he now says he does not want to send Jeily away, but to
let her live there without any pay, and to give Mary Turner a place under her; and
when T receive your answer (or from mama will do) I shall write to uncle Charles.
Now the first question is—Will Jeffy stay at Fellbrigg without wages or not, and, :f
ghe will, what, then, can we give Turner under her, who has only been a lady’s
maid? The only plan I can think of is, that Woods should leave mama, because s}hn
has not lived in the family except with mama, and let Mary Turner come and live
with mama as her maid. Give my best love to grondpapa and mama. I enclose
the letter of my uncle Charlesto me for you to look at, and when I get your answer

shall write to him about it. 5
“ Good bye dear uncle Alfred. This will not trouble you much.—Believe me, your

L
affectionate nephew J MWL B, WinDHAM.
I do not think, Eftﬂ; reading these letters, that the jury will be of opinion that they
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have been writien by a boy who had at Eton, according to my learned friend's
opeuing speech, only dm_playnfl the instincts of the lower animals, and who wasa
totally unable to appreciate the value of money, and whose extravagance was 8o
extreme as to amount to positive folly, I have seen many boys of 16 or 17 who
could not have discussed the propesition about Fellbrigg with the acoteness, deli-
beration, and shrewdness with which it is disenssed in the last letter. With 1‘égq.rd
also, to the handwriting of the letters, it strikes me as rather remarkable that a h{:g:
who had lost the top joint of his thumb at that time, from the accident at Kton
slould have been able to write as well as those letters ave written. The loarned
connsel then proceeded to comment at great length upon the evidence of Mr. and
Mrs. Llewellin. He said: The particanship they have exhibited in favour of
General Windham has been so apparent that it is scarcely necessary for me to re-
mind the jury of it. Added to that, they have contradicted themselves, and each
other ; and altogether their evidence is such as will nofi receive in any court of
justice in England the slightest weight or attention. I pass by the evidence of
Mr. Corballis relating to matters in Duke-street, as being of no weight; but
what has become of all the men servants 7 Why have they not been hréaugl;t for-
ward to ah-e-n_gtheu the evidence of Mr. and Mrs. Llewellin # What has become of
the lodgers in the hounse, of the two Mr. Campbells, and Colonel Broughton ?
Surely, as Colonel Broughton had dined with Mr. Windham, and had made a pilgrim
age with Mrs. Llewellin to getup evidence against him, he might have given evi--
dence of some value to the case. The Rev. Mr. Bates has told you that his remon-
gtrances with Mr. Windham for swearing produced in him a mixture of sheepish
ness and fear. Surely that was not to the discredit of Mr. Windham, Thaplrm:
gentleman has also astated that Mr. Windham told objectless lies; but whm:;
pressed to give an instanee of such a lie, he could only specily the i:m::nrraﬁua t
the South-Western Railway terminus, which, if a lie, was certainly not an object] "
Lie. Mr. Atkins, the boot-maker, has formed his opinion of Mr. Windham's gt t W:‘
mind, from his having, on one occasion, orderad two set of boot-trees for un: o
of boots ; assuming that he was to supply two sets of trees for every pair of b S
The fa,ct. was that the order bore no such construction, and that Mr. Atkins h'nmff
admitted that two sets of trees for one pair of boots was not an um:aasnnahl ]mge
from a g.jentlamnn who lived sometimes in London and sometimes in th i,
ﬁ:ﬂﬁtﬁﬁ, ;ﬁau, ;thai; thﬂl.:m;mhﬂr of pairs of boots ordered was not umu:nfl?linirg:i
. Windham’a mode of gettling his accounts was mos iness.-li ;
;I:mf;g been rewthby ham t:}l his solicitor for payment. Mtr]:;irdu thl;k{?;:grl:annini
rigg on and 8th of August, I was surprised that Mr. Hang
ut into the box on that matter, instead of General Windh i . a1
nnd ount that it was the endeaw’ur- of Mr. Hanm]lmm ::n o luma?]f, s
matter that would lead the jury to suppose that young MI:- %E;nglﬁlihfu%nbun i
Mr, J_auksun t.hur_a instead of General Windham., Mr. Ee;uaall and M J;r:‘il':h%h .
Eﬂhﬂz ;:l'atht: mm“ﬂ, of (_ianeml Windham, talked over the proposal wiligh was tt.In,
22 z
g hj;ﬂﬁ;g :' ‘_er:ﬂhn.m on the evening of Angust 7. Mr. Jackson, who
; e solicitor of young Mr, Windham, the next morni
Eﬁfnbmral wh];lﬁhshug-] ;Fiu&ham had never heard of before That pmmgw?;iia:
brigg- ould be taken from Mr. Windham, that h
for life only, and that it shoul : e e
estate, subject to the trusts afcih'iﬂal’fﬁfid Tﬂrmwd ' e e
certain amount of the devised property E}Easlljd h:jr1I o mtu-m - Fell‘pﬁgg :
B il To s i . e given over to Mr. Windbam
P with, The object of the roposal i
ghould come at the right time into the i : e T
o : possession of General Windham. That
f: ;uu made by one who is said to be Mr. Windham's own solicito . i
gally of age on that day (the Sthof August), th e b 2
A s i 7 ! gust), though his birthday was not until th
ﬂid* syaibd o 18 now said to be insane. Mr. Hansell has said that Mr. Wi .
yre l:ll._ erstand the proposition; bub his answer to Dr. Winsl - b e
ully understand it, for he had bt o i
7 el x as accurately described the propositi
could have done; he had at once refused th R
though Mr. Jackson was left alone for half an h e e
he said that he could do nothing with him. Mer. Jackson, th o s dng
ﬁ t{m:.t that he conld ent timber from the devisad esrbnta' huz aﬁum‘i%‘lmam i
o dm:-a h&:::ﬁ 3111:1 :ll:a will of the late Mr. Windham ahuwe:‘: thﬁdljl?&:;ug?idi;z
98- . at the ngiti i
Windhem and his sons, Mﬂm\dﬂﬂﬁg 1::; l;ii::;];'l lbnnuﬁt, but for that'of Gans
g clearly and accurately hefore



92

his mind, gt&aﬂﬂy refused to have anything to do with the matter. If Mr. Jackson
had prevailed, and an agreement had been made, then you would never have heard
of these proceedings, and yon would never have heard it suggested that Mr,
Windham was of unsonnd mind. 1 now come to the third period into which T
divided the case. With regard to the marriage, I wish to state exactly the view I
desire to present ofthat part ofthe case. We have had very little given to us by way
of evidence of the circumstaces which led to that marriage. There were two
witnesses present at that marriage who could have given much information as to
the way in which the relations conducted the inquiry into the state of mind of their
nephew, excluding from the view of the jury the full history of the transactions which
were only given in such isolated instances as they thought proper to give. They there-
fore have simply proved the marriage by the registrar, withont calling the witnesses
to the marriage. The whole history of the marriage may be thus stated. Mr. Windham
had formed the acquaintance of this lady about the time of Ascot races, in 1861.
She was at that time in the keeping of a gentleman whom they would eall A.B.
She had a very handeome allowance from that gentleman. I believe of £2,000
a-year. Mr. Windham was very much struck with her, or, to nse a common
expression, had fallen over head and ears in love with her. The lady at first
was not at all anxious or desirons to leave the position she was in, or to enter
into the married state. The gentleman A.B. had no objection that she shounld
do 8o, and the matter was one of negotiation for some time, the gentleman eay-
ing that he was willing, if the parties themselves arranged it, to resign all
claim upon the lady, and after her marriage to discontinue any acquaintance
with her whatever. He is a gentleman known to Mr. Windham, and known by
him to be a man of honour. The lady was tempted by Mr. Windham with the
offer of a settlement, and she said, very candidly and fairly, what weighed in
her mind was the advantage she might derive, not so much for herself as for
the benefit of two young sisters, whom she wished to bring up and educate as
ladies, and to whom she could by marriace now give a better position in
gociety than that which she maintained. This had occurred at a time when
the subjrct of the position of ladies of this kind in the world had been very
much de! at>d and written about in the public newspapers. It was a subject
that Mr. Windham tock some interest in, and it was the subject of conversa-
tion between him and his old, faithful, and attached friend, Mrs. Martin, the
housekeeper at Fellbrigg. He did not get any encouragement from Mrs. Martin,
to whom they could well imagine how utterly distasteful such a marriage was
and would be. However, the lady was tempted to entertain the proposal by
the advantages which were held out. You will find by the evidence which will be
offered that both she and Mr. Windham consulted Mr. Bowen May, a well-known
golicitor in London, who had previously been consulted by her in some small legal
affairs. You will find that Mr. Bowen May had given them both very whole-
gome advice. He first suggested to the lady that she might be doing herself
an injury by changing her state. Te suggested to the gentleman that
he was enamonred of a young lady of very expensive habits. He put it to him
whether his means were such as to support a wife of that kind. Mr. Windham
discussed with Mr. May his means and property. He fold him the extent to which
he could make arrangement for the settlement to be made on the marriage. Yunr
will find that the lady first wished for an immediate settlement to be mﬂnriah-::r
£1,000 a year. You will find that Mr. Windham, enamoured a3 he was o lt; o
lady, and anxious by any means to accomplish the marna.ga,hdamurmd to if it,
and said that, having regard to his mother’s jointure, and taking the state o the
property into consideration, he could not in his present state of incoms, ae:aurﬂt:u
large an immediate annnity as £1,000 a year; but after some nonuﬂum@:-nh o
matter was accommodated thus : After most careful consideration by Mr. Windham
he said, “If you will take a small annuity for the present, I will agreo to an
increase in 1869, when I come into the larger income that I expect t.c:-ifream:a
then.” It then became a guestion whether the annuity shonld be for lifo I?r-HII
perpetnity. Mr. Windham wished it to be a life annuity. The lady ng' hﬂ_ ;

have told you candidly that T desire tosecure a position for my sisters, and to ril“g
them up a8 ladies. If I had a life annuity which m.lghl]:-1 dtl-ln;; I do hn::ek::;m‘;n?it
wonld coms to them. I must have an unnultrg over which . ﬂl:]'l; T e usit.iﬂ::

if necessary, to make provision for them.” It was an intelligible prop
::.rjh?zﬂ might Bit.htz; have been refused or accepted. It wasaccepted by Mr. -
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at footing the settlements were prepared. Allwill say that such a marriage
::;i E:l':;g regratte% as being properly distasteful to society ; but at the same time
nobody can say thatsuch a marriage was in the slightest degree evidence of insanity.
The medical witnesses have said nothing of the sort. It was a question of taste,
and of very bad taste; but at the same time men often get very much enamoured
and infatuated ; there have been instances of such thmgg, and there will be again,
If My, Windham had married a lady of his own rank in life, and had made such a
settlemant upon her, would any one have snggested tha}t they conld take the settle-
ment as a proof of unsoundness of mind ? If the marriage was only a guestion of
taste, and no proof of insanity, so also the amount of settlement was no evidence of
insanity. Now, what was the course taken by the guardians in relation to this
marriage ?  Although it was so noised abroad as to be perfectly well known to
Mr. Hook, Mr. Chapple, and Genoeral Windham, on the ESth_Jn_ly, none of them
had gone to Mr. Windham and said to him, “Tell us about this affair, and let .us
give you advice on the subject.” The relatives would not interfere, although,
a8 Mr. Windham was then a ward in Chancery, there was an ample time to
have stopped the marriage. Even as regarded Miss Willoughby, whatever might
have been her previous life and merits, it was known that she was going to
eacrifice the position she held in order to become My. Windbham's wife, and
would it not have been right for some of those who now profess so much
distaste for the marriage to have gone to her and said, *“Now, do not misunder-
stand ; let us inform you of our views on this marriage. We believe that there is
not sufficient capacity in point of mind in Mr. Windham to coutract a marriage,
and if you take any further steps youn will do it at your peril”” Would not that
~ have been a fair and reasonable course to take even as regarded Miss Willoughhy ?
But nothing of the kind was done. Yet General Windham was in the habit of
seeing his nephew at that time. He had taken him to Mr. Jackson, in Essex-street,
to get him down to Fellbrigg. As long as that little affair was to be done about
Fellbrigg Hall, there was not a word about incapacity to contract marriage, because
that wounld have heen fatal to the lifftle affair of the 7th Auguet; and it was not
until General Windham had been foiled in hiz small negotiation, that he seemed to
think about the 26th or 27th of August that the marriage had better be stopped.
But had he then gone to his nephew or to the lady ? No. He had taken the very
mild course of saying to Mrs. Martin, “ Youn have a great deal of influence with my
nephew ; don’t you think you had better go up to town and try and reason him out
of this marriage 7’ As no interference was attempted on the part of any of the
guardians, the marriage had taken place. I now come to a disgnsting subject,
which I will dispose of as rapidly as possible: that is, the state of health of Mr.
Windham at the period of his marriage. Dr. Illingworth said that on the 23rd of
Aungust he found Mr. Windham suffering from a disease which ought to have pre-
vented marriage. He failed to convince Mr. Windham of its gravity, but induced him
to go with him to Mr. Johnson. That eminent surgeon had said nothing to himabout
marriage. All he told him was that “he must be quiet, and take great care of himself.”?
We have not heard what had passed between Mr. Johnson and Miss Willoughby
when she called on him but we will show, by a witness who ought to have been
called to prove the marriage—Dr. Witburn, who knew Miss Willoughby, and who
was sent by her before the marriage to examine the state of health of Mr.
Wm:!ham—wu will prove that he examined him, and told him that he counld ohserve
nunhtng except an abrasion of the gkin, which could be easily remedied ; that it was
of no importance, and that there was no reason why the marriage should not be
consummated. On the strength of that opinion Mr. Windham concluded the
marriage, and Dr. Whitburn himself was one of the witnesses to it. The question
of the jewels ia one which is very easily disposed of. There were two sets of jewels
one purchased before the marriage, and one set afterwards. The set bought befora
were worth £ﬁ,ﬂ_ﬂﬂ or £7,000. 1Is that present of jewels an unusual present for
the heir of considerable property, and of illustrions name, to make to a lady to
whom he is going to be married, who is not anxious to marry, and to whom Mr.
'W'lmlhﬂ‘.m has t—urmﬂkﬂ presents to induce her to do so? The reason of the second
Bet of jewels being presented to Mrs. Windham, after tho marringe, has been dis-
tIIIIEl-lf stated in the evidence of Mr., D[I."ﬁ", and bj" Mr. Windham himaelfto Dr. Winslow,
:][;t was to compensate her for the injury which had been unintentionally inflicted on
0r by Mr. Windham from his ignorance of the disense under which he had been
labouring at the time of the marringe. Surely that present is no proof of callous-
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ness, insensibility, or want of proper feeling. Mr. Daw’s evidence, continmed the
learned counsel, is of a character to prove distinetly and clearly that, in extending
the times of the bills of exchange, the conduct of Mr. Windham was perfectly sane
and sensible, and that he knew how to look after his own interests in business
matters. T will ask the jury whether in the matterof the jewels, altogether, they
consider that Mr. Windham acted from what my learned friend calls merely the
instinets of the lower animals ? The timber contract has been much misrepresented.
When Mr. Windham came of age he had no rendy money. He might have sold part
, Of the Fellbrigy estate. He might have borrowed money on mortgage, or he might
have sold timber off the estate. That was the clear and wise course for him totake,
and that was the course which he had taken. Now, they will prove in evidence by
Messrs. Lawrence and Fry that, in the contract made by them with Mr. Windham,
not a stick of ornamental timber was to have been ent. The contraet was for them
to take the whols of the timber which might be cot upon the estate to the
extent of £5,000 a-year if Mr. Windham insisted upon it. The point of
the contract was for the contractors to take all the timber of all kinds—
oak, beech, chestnut, and sycamore—which might be ent. It is a question
of the average price of all the different kinds of timber on the estate, and
not of oak timber alone, and therefore the contract was as reasonable and
proper as the wisest man in the kingdom counld make. Messrs, Lawrence and
Fry have given a copy of the contract to General Windham, and have told him that if
any one would repay them the £1,000 they have advanced on the contract, they
are perfectly ready to give it mp. Mr. Roberts is not the contractor, although en-
titled to a commission for having recommended the vendor to the contractors. Re-
ferring to the events which had oconrred after the marriage, the learned counsel said
that the greatest wisdom was displayed in getting rid of Mr. Buck. In SBeptember
General Windham visited Mr. and Mrs. Windham, and attempted to make a bargain,
which would be laid before them. Mrs. Windham left Fellbrigg and came up to the
Euston Hotel, Mr. Wheeler's evidence in this case, as regards the state of mind of
Mr. Windham, is most explicit, thoungh he could not remember a single word he said.
As regards the fracas, did that indicate any want of sanity on the part of Mr. Wind-
ham? As regards the handbill, it appears that if that indicated insanity, it must be
on the part of Mr. Roberts, since acting as an injudicious friend he did it all withount
Mr. Windham's knowledge. The evidence of the policeman in the Haymarket is
not of much value. Although Mr. Windham is not a drunkard he evidently took a
good deal of champagne, and though according to a notion of a policeman he might
not be drank, he was still clearly in such a condition that it was most unfair that his
conversations in the Hayvmarket should be brought forward to prove his state of mind.
With respect to the evidence of the guard, who stated that he locked up Mr.
Roberts and Mrs. Windham in the same carriage, it must be kept m view t]:m:{'. at
that time there is not the slightest euggestion that Mr. Windham was acquainted
with the statement that Mr. Roberts was intimate with Mrs. Windham before mar-
riage. As regards the medical evidence, the object in this case being merely to
establish the mental capacity of Mr. Windham, it is not fair to have supplied sug-
gestions to the medical men to drive a man into admissions of ungonndness. It is,
in this case, not like a fair examination, but like the torture and rack of the Irf~
quisition. None of the medical men ventured to say that, as the result of their
investigation alone, they could have pronounced Mr. Windham to be of unsounc
mind. 'That, from opposing witnesses, is a tolerable admission. They all agreed
that the conduct of Mr. Windham was respectful and gentlemanly ; and if the con-
versation was discursive, it was necessarily so from the nature of the matter upon
which they were speaking, and from both doctors interposing’questions at the same
time, I object to the mode in which Dr. Winslow and Dr. Mayo condueted the
examination of Mr. Windham, that the questions were not put to ascertain the
actual state of the mind, far less to elicit proofs of soundness, but to drive
Mr. Windham into admissions of unsoundness. Next to the partisan of a
plaintif or a defendant, the most dangerous witness 18 the partisan of a
theory. Dr. Mayo is the standard-bearer and champion of the theory of moral in-
ganity—a theory always repudiated by the Bench and the law of England—and the
jury cannot have failed to be struck by his curious and unfair reasoning. Ina:;;ag
of loading the case with casual and useless witnesses, speaking to things whio
have no bearing upon the great jssue before the jury, I will adduce enﬂenng cﬁ;
enlated to give a general view of the life and habits of Mr, Windham, an
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capacity for managing affairs. In opening his case Mr. Chambers, referring to my
client, frequently used the ‘words *“ This unfortunate young man.” I attribute to
my learned friend perfect sincerity and kindness of feeling, and T accept the expres-
gion from him in all frankness. Would that the feelings of those who have in-
" structed my learned friend were equally kindly! But after all, gentlemen, the
expression is a true one. The man is unfortunate who is the subject of such a
proceeding as the present. The man is unfortunate who is the subject of a pro-
ceeding conducted by his relatives as this has been conducted. The man is un-
fortunate who in three weeks has to justify himself for a lifetime of 21 years against
those who have had months to prepare their case. But have you given a thought
to the expenses of this inquiry ? Suppose it were all at an end—suppose yon come
to the conclusion, as I trust you will, that Mr. Windham is of sound mind and
capable of managing his affairs—what compensation will hereceive, I do not say
for the facts and events which have been exposed to the public gaze—for such things
no compensation ecan be given—but for the mere pecuniary loss he has incurred ?
Gentlemen, I do not believe that the bill of Mr. Emmanunel—large as it is—
wounld pay for the costs which Mr. Windham will be left to pay eat of his own
estate for a proceeding which he has succeeded in defeating. My client is, indeed,
an unfortunate man. Other men bhave passed their youth in excess, in riof, in
debanchery. They have purchased, by an expenditure of health and property, o
conviction of their folly, and they have settled down into active, mseful, if not
brilliant members of society. Other men have had youthful vices and immoralities,
over which the kind hands of friends and relatives have gently and tenderly drawn
the veil of concealment and oblivion. Mr. Windham has been received on his
entrance into publie life by a panoramie view unfolded by his relatives to the public
eye, in which have been portrayed, not the events of his life, but all such isolated
acis as ingenmily or perversion could twist into the appearance of that which is
hideous and obscene. And what is the object for which this has been done P That
a young man, the heir to a considerable property and to an illustrions name, who
from his boyhood upwards has gone out and come in, who has acted and been
treated by all about him as capable and sane, with whom his relatives have dealt
and bargained and negotiated upon a footing of perfect equality, who has been
deliberately allowed by them to go out into theworld and to enter into contracts,
including among them the most momentons eontract of life, should now be adjudged
incapable of taking care of himself, in order that his persecutors should be anthorized
to administer his estate. In one of the books which Mr. Windham used to read at
Eton there is a story told of a tyrant in ancient days who invented for his prisoners
the terrible torture of chaining a living man to a lifeless body, leaving the living to
die, and both to decompose together.

“Mortua quin etiam jungebat corpora vivis,
Componens manibusque manus atque oribus ora,
Tormenti genns ; et sanie taboque fluentes
Complexu in misero, longf sic morte necabat.”

That, in troth, was a melancholy and terrible fate; but T own that sesms to mo a
Beverer punishment, and a more croel, becanse a more exquisite and & more enduring
torture, which wonld consign a warm and living soul, with all its sensibilities and
affections, with allits hopes and aspirations, with all its powers of enjoying life and
everything that makes life valuable, to the icy and corpse-like embrace of legal
incapacity and lunatic restraint. Such, gentlemen, is the torture which his
relatives have preparved for Mr. Windham, and of that torture they ask you to be
the ministrants and agents. But, gentlemen, I appeal from them to yom. From
them, from whom I can anticipate no meroy, I appeal to you, from whom T can
W}?Iﬁdﬂnﬂy expect justice. T implore of yon, gentlemen, to eweep away the cobweba
which theory and’ prejudice, which partizanship and ignorance, which interest and
falsehood have woven around this case, and to show by your verdict, as often has

been shown before, that, whatever gloss und whatever covering may be thrown
fi;hnﬁt :nEl'D:llgﬂ;:'mg such as T have endeavoured to expose, it is at once the

e grateful duty of an English jury to detect deceit and to defeat

At the conclusion of the learned gentlemnan’s s

p : ech, a burst of choori fro
the andience, which the officers of the court peech, a burst of cheering rose

were unable to repress.
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WITNESSES FOR THE DEFENCE.—DR..H. TUKE.

Dr. Harrington Tuke (examined by Mr. Karslake)—I have entirely devoted my
attention to the treatment of diseases or disorders of the mind. I have examined
Mr. Windham on several occasions in order to test the state of his mind. Thoge
interviews lasted altogether about 14 hours. I had nob previously received any
instructions. On the 12th of November, Mr. Windham told me what things were
alleged against him—his marriages, his purchases of jewellery, his engine-driving,
and the barring of the entail of his estates. He said the petition against him would
not succeed, and he told me the reason why. The principal mover, he said, was
General Windham, his uncle ; but he did not think he would dare to pursue the
matter. *° The old general,” he added, “knows I am quite well.” He said his father
had saved General Windham from the consequences of some act which he had done
years ago by pretending that he was insane. 1 remarked that it was a disagreeabls
family quarrel, and that a compromise should be effected. We went to the office of
Mr. Coe, his solicitor, in Essex-street, and Mr. Windham there gave orders for his
defence against the suit of the petitioners. During our conversations I had many
opportunities of seeing his deportment with his solicitor and his counsel. He
perfectly understood the nature of the proceedings againat him, and took a consider-
able part in all the discussions, showing great powers of memory and attention, and
1 thorough knowledge of the nature of his estate, and how it would be affected.
During those interviews I ascertained many facts connected with his history and
property, and I read carefully all the affidavits filed against him. It was stated in
the affidavits that he had no religion. I called his attention to that subject. He
told me he was a Protestant, had been confirmed, regularly attended church, and
believed in the doctrine of rewards and punishments. He seemed to meto be guite
clear on the subject of religion. . On one occasion he said, * This marriage of mine isall
my uncle’s doing. He would not let me marry a young lady to whom L was much
attached.” He deseribed her as the daughter of a near, neighbour of his in the
country. He added, * Things would have been very different if I had married her.”
The next topic was his education. He told me he had been at Eton in the fifth
form, and had read Homer and Virgil. There was a Cicero on the table—a volume
of the Orafions. He said he had never read Cicero at school. I asked him
whether he could do the first proposition in Fuclid. He said he th:mght‘ha could
do it, and went throngh it very correctly. We spoke about the value of his estates,
and le said Fellbrigg was worth £3,000 odd a-year, but he had to pay his mother’s
jointnre and his wife's annuity, besides taxes and other, expenses, and so had
little remaining for himself. = He said his debts were about £25,000 or £30,000. I
asked how he proposed to pay them. He replied, “ Oh! I hope Ishalllive quietly at
Fellbrigz. My debts are principally to Emmanuel, the jeweller, and he won't
press me. I shall have £350 a month for my timber, and my mother's jointure
must some day fall in.’  On another occasion he said if he had no other
way of paying his debts he wonld have to sell his reversion. "About his eng ne-
driving he said he was passionately fond of it, and if he were mad for that, so also
were two noblemen whose names he mentioned. He said he could drive a railway
#rain to a minute, and added, “ Youn would hardly believe it possible that .when in a
railway carriage I can time by my watch the exact rate of our progress.’ .I,','ﬂk“"i
about his being called “ Captain.” He denied that he was called * Captain ™ as a
general rule, or that he liked it ; but he said he was a senior IIIE?JF.EIIﬂ.nt, or acted as
senior lientenant, sometimes even as captain, in the Norfolk Militia, T alluded to an
insinuation in the affidavits that he bad threatensd to shoot himself with pistols ;
he replied, * Oh, those pistols were given to me by my uncle. They are ornamental,
and 1 was fond of having them with me. My uncle told me he had shot six men
" with one of them at Cawnpore.” He said the charge n+l‘ having threatened to
commit suicide svas all nonsense, and he convinced me that it was so. He also told
me that the presenting of pistols at Atkins, the bootmaker, was a piece of fan. 1
asked him if he had or had not communicated aeertain disorder to hig wife, and if
he had done so knowingly. He said I loved her too much for t.]lut. It has made
a dreadful quarrel between us; she 18 g0 dreadfully angry about it. He told me he
had been ill_a long time before marriage, but he did not know the disease he was
suffering from was infections. He said he had consulted Dr. Whitburn, the medical
attendant Miss of Willoughby, and had been informed that he wasina fit state to marry.
I spoke to him about slavering at the mouth. He said he had nearly conquered
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the "habit, but the malformation of his mouth prevented him . from getting
rid of it, altogether. 1 questioned him about his alleged dirty habits. He
replied ghat the afidavit made by Mrs. Lewellin was o “ pack of lies.” He said that
on one oocasion after eating pickled cabbage he had a severa nttnle: of diarrhoea.
Speaking of the dinner parties mentioned by tha‘frawellins,_ he said he had asked
friends to dine with him, but the parties were put off, and it was all untrue about
his ordering dinner and forgedting it. I drew his attention to his alleged mig-
conduet in the Norwich Theatre. He replied, “Oh, I was rather too fast, I sup-

o He denied all the allegations of the Lewellina as to indecency. He talked
about the affidavit made by Horrocks, He said, “Lﬂh, Hm:mckg will at once say I
am a fool. #I got him torned out of his place for his behaviour to me, and I argned
the case myself before the Vice-Chancellor.” He told me he had been at a Roman
Catholic chapel once, and might have said that he would as soon be a Roman
Catholic as a Protestant. He treated the matter lightly, as if he did not think
much of it. On the 12th of November I had a second interview with him at the
house of Dr. Sutherland. Dr. Sutherland examined him at considerable length, and
afterwards Mr. Windham gave him an outline of the allegations against him. His
account was an accurate one—extremely correct. The next time I saw Mr.
Windham was on the 5th of December. He came to my apartments in Albemarle-
gtreet with Mr. Coe, his solicitor, who bronght a placard addressed to ** the people
‘of Great Britain,” and was very much annoyed at Mr. Windham for havin
a8 he thonght, written it. Mr. Windham gave us an account of Roberis
having writlen it, and I think he said that Roberfs had signed his
name for him, and then asked him to sancfion the gignatare. 1 told
him he had become respousible for it, and said the placard was calcu-
lated to do great mischief. He replied, “Oh, as long as it was not libellous, L
said to Roberts he might print it.” I said to him “ Don't you think it a great shame
to publish the names of all these ladies who certainly do not seem to have taken
proceedings against you? " He said he had not thonght of that, but would stop the
cirenlation as faras he conld, and after some time he went off expressing his intention
to do go. Next day I saw him again, and told him the placard had been circulated.
He said “ It is a great shame; that obstinate fellow Roberts wounld doit. I tock
them all off in a cab yﬁﬂj:erﬂ&y from Piccadilly, but he sent for them afterwards
withont my knowledge, and has distributed them all over London.,” The last time
T spoke to him before this inquiry commenced was on the 11th of December, the day
on which he waa examined by Dr. Winslow and Dr. Mayo. Heé said he was very
much tired and exhausted, and gave me a general account of his interview with Dr.
Winslow and Dr. Mayo. Dr. Connolly, who was present, thought he was too tired
to undergo another examination, and then Mr, Windham left us. I never, during
the whole of the interview, saw the slightest indication of unsoundness of mind. I
found no inconsequence, no incoherency, no want of attention. - His views appeared
to me to be clear and well-defined. At the first interview we waited some time for
the arrival of his solicitor. Mr. Windham at last eaid, “ We need not wait any longer;
he is always drank, and T intend having another solicitor.,” The gentleman in ques-
tion was not Mr. Coe.

The inquiry was again adjonrned.

SIXTEENTH DAY.—Moxbpay, Jax. 6.

The adjonrned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed thia day inthe Court of Exchequer, Westmiuster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters im Lunaey, and a speeial jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q C., Mr. Ficld, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Rassell for Lady Sophin Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. Willinm Frederick Windbam ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs, Windham,

EXAMINATION OF MR, WINDHAM,

At the opening of the Court this day, the Master said—Tt is the unanimous
opinion of the jury and myself that an interview with Mr. Windham, at the cloge
of the case, should take pluce withont the presence of ceunsel,

Mr. Chambers said—I think this is hardly according to the usual practice, I
sk the Master to come to no decision on the subject until the time arrives

One of the Jurymen remarked, that in the case of Sir Henry Meux, in which
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Mr. Chambera himself was engaged, non 1ol were prese

exﬁzﬁin;.;iuu of the alleged I|:mEut.i:.a'lg;ﬂI ; Gl e
: aster.—The same thing happened in a ease tried i

shire, when both Mr. Eularidgagaud I:IIE'IEr Karslake n,ppen.rsé] i&lﬁmgfwn Bl
Mr. Coleridge begged to remind the Master that the reason why neither he nor

Mr. Karslake conld be present at the interview with the alleged lunatic in Devon.

sliire waa that they were obliged to go to the sessions at Bristol, which happened to

be held on the same day; and the learned gentleman added, with a smile, that

which ﬁxn'a the cirenmstance so strongly in my memory is that both myself an:.l my

learned friend, and, indeed the whole Western Circuit, got into a terrible mess with

theI t:newapape-rﬂ, bﬁ:lmnsa we could not be in two places at one time. ¢

. was eventually arranged that the question of the presence of

interview with Mr. Windham shounld utm;]d over for fnrbhg]r cnnsidaraﬁnuo::.m“l gk i

DR. TUKE'S EXAMINATION—CONCLUDED.

Dr. Tuke cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have seen Mr. Windham abont
ten times in all. T had 20 hours of absolute interviews and long conversations with
him. I was alone with him only on the 12th of November. A% the first inter-
-view—on the 6th of November—Mrs., Windham, Mr. Gwin, Dr, Neale, and Dr.
Stevens were present. That interview took placein the drawing-room of the house
in Piccadilly. It was Mr. Gwin who first applied to me to go there. No informa-
tion, or next to none, was given to me beforehand. Roberts was not present ;
indeed, I have never seen him. The two medical gentlemen heard only part of the”
conversation, and for 20 minntes I talked with Mr. Windham alone in the
embrasure cf the window. T did not learn that Dr. Neale and Dr. Stevens had been
brought by Mrs. Windham. Mr. Berry Hutchinson, the solicitor of Mr. Windham,
was also expected. I have already given an accurate acconnt of the conversation.
Mr. Windham told me, in the presence of the medical men, that his uncle, the
General, would not dare to get into the witness-box ; but it was when we were alone
that he referred to his father having saved the General many years ago from
a gerions charge under the plea that he was insane. The medical men seemad
to pay little attention to the conversation; but it is possible that they may .
have heard all that passed while they were there. They left the house in about.
halfan-hour after my arrival. Mr. Windham also told*me that another uncle
whom he did mot name, but who he said was always drunk, who had
snffered from delirium fremens, and who was mnearly blind, would not dare
to appear in the witness-box. I think he said that the gentleman in question was
his eldest uncle. 1 do not recollect his saying that General Windham had had
delirim tremens ; but he may have said so. T distinctly state that it was General
Windham who he said had been protected by his father under the plea thathe was in--
sane. [ Here Mr. Chambers handed np to the witness a few sheets of paper containing
notes which Dr. Tuke had produced while under examination by Mr. Karslake the
day before, and asked him to refresh his memory upon the point to which he had just
gpoken.] I see I have written in my notes that the words used by Mr. Windham
were, *“ My eldest uncle has had delirum fremens, and my father saved him from.
prison by pretending he was mad. Hischaracter will not bear investigation, and he'
knows I am quite well.” The explanation is that I have confounded the two uncles
in my notes. When I made the notes I wrote what my impression was at that
time, bub my recollection is now quite clear that it was General Windham, and
not his eldest unele, whom he said had been saved from prison by bis father, en the
ground of insanity. The notes I now hold in my hand are not the original notes,
but copies of the nrisinal notes and of gome other notes which I made on margins
of the affidavits. I destroyed the original notes. T am aware that it is always im-
portant to preserve original notes; but in the present instance their destractionis a
matter of little importance, because the notes before me are correct copies of
them, with the additions I have mentioned. T am quite positive that Mr. Windham
told me that his eldest uncle had had delirium fremens. His eldest nunele is Captain
Windham.

Mr. Chambers.— And he never had delirium tremens.

Mr. Karslake.—I object {0 my learned friend giving evidence in this case, espe-
cinlly gince Captain Windham will not come into the witness-box. y :

Mr. Chambers.—He und all other petitioners will come into the wituess-box if you

- eall them.
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A precions proposal, indeed! iy

?\['tha:: ﬂ:’;inefjlqgree I:-itﬂﬂ Pr. Winslow that the sanity or imm];ty of ]-Irl.
s A e ;ﬂ.apﬂnﬂ upon facts ﬂnﬂ. f'ﬂ_‘[;t,ﬂ, u,]gne., Among l]h_ﬂ nf['tﬂ&.ﬂl:ﬂ'_l I}']ﬁm
that of Dr. Buck. Iregarded it as quite immaterial, but 1 spoke to Mr. Windham
about one statement in it to the eifect that he had nearly cut ofl his hand. Mr..
Windham explained the occurrence. 1 did not question him as to another statement
in the affidavit of Dr. Buck—viz., that when Dr. Buck was sent for to see Mr. Wind-
ham at Fellbrigg, in September, he was asked by Mrs. Windham whether he did not
think her husband was being poisoned by his relatives. I wish you to understand
that I entirely wiped out of my mind the notion that Mr. Windham was labouring
ander delusions. If he had told me that he had suggested to his wife the idea that
his relatives, were trying to poigson him I think 1 should have attributed it to a de-
lusion. It would also have indicated very weak intellectual capacity. There are
absolute idiots, and there are persous afflicted with deficiency of intellect and im-
becility of mind. Among the imbecile class, not qualified for the Asylum for Idiots,
there are many persons of unsound mind. Itisquite possible that some of these
persons may have admirable mamnrm:aT-thnq iz, on one or two points; but the
eneral rule is guite the reverse. Bome imbeciles may be educated, and !_:c ablg _tu
be tanght Latin and Greek, but such casesfare very rare, and wl_zara the imbecility
is congenital little or notking in the shape of education can beimparted. In cases
of congenital imbecility the memory deteriorates as time goes on. I Ftald Mr.
Windham himself that I thought in four or five years he would be a lunatie or kill
himself if he persisted in such habits as those which were attributed to himin the
affidavits. The habita I referred to were drinking and dissipation. I gathered from
Mr. Windham that he was addicted to drinking, though his own words were that he
sometimes got “ fresh;” and unpless I am greatly mmstaken there is a statement in
four of the affidavita to the effect that he had been seen drunk. He told me that
ke was engaged to be married to a young lady in the country—the daughter of a
near neighbour of his own—Dbut bis uncle, the General, prevented the marriage. I
made no inguiries to ascertain whether his statement was true or not. I did not
hear subsequently that thelady lived in one of the western counties. I never asked
him to aceount for his marriage with Miss Willoughby, nor did I ever gpeak to him
about the circamstance of a tormer paramour of his wife's having slept in the same
house with her the night before her marriage. I always took his truthfulness for
granted, and never thought of testing it. 1 told him that he was represented in
the affidavits as being in the habit of telling objectless, caunseless, transparvent lies,
He denied the allegation, and inour interviews I never detected him in telling
useless and purposeless falsehoods. Itis very likely that I joined with Mr. Cole, his
solicitor, in attempting to persuade him to break off hig acquaintance with Robertg,
because I was at that time under the impression that Roberts was a swindler. I
have no recollection, however, of having done so. I had some conversation with
Mr. Windham abont some person having been’intimate with his wife after the
marriage. He told me that the circumstance was brought to his knowledge by two
letters written by Mrs. Windham having come to him from the Dead Letter-
office. He said he was very angry, and proposed never to speak to her
again, because the letters were addressed to another gentleman as* My
dear darling ——."  This conversation wok place in my rooms in Albemarle-
street, in the presence of his solicitor. 1 believe at that time Mrs. Windham
wad away hunting in the neighbourhood of Melton Mowbray. Mr. Windham
- did not tell me that hie wife had followed “her dear darling )
Dublin, Glasgow, or the north of England. T was told that she had done so be-
fore marriage. If I were to be told as a fact that Mr. Windham knew that his
WIFG hﬂ-d rﬂi]lﬂ'ﬂ'ﬂd her * dear dﬂr‘liﬂg pv t.o GIMEGW af't,gr hgr ‘mur:n'_ﬂge} I.l.'.ﬂ.d.
that, nevertheless, he still continued to cohabit with her, I should say his conduct in-
dicated a weak intellect, if I were not aware that Mr. Windham was and is firmly
convinced that the same state ofhealth which prevented his wife from Bleeping
with him must also have prevented her from having criminal conneetion with any
other gentleman. On one occasion he said, “ I know what Agnes Willoughby
Was ; .hﬂ_ta I never will believe that Agnes Windham could be false to me
ﬂll.l.'.ll It 18 Perﬁd-” i He told me that immediately before the marriage Miss
Willonghby 3'—"‘“];, to him, * William, you are ill; I have seen Mr. Johnstone, ad
I know you are. He replied, * I think I am not.” Miss Willoughby then asked
him to allow Dr. Whitburn to examine him. He consented, and Dr. Whitburn,
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shaking him by the hand, and almost with tears in his eyes, said, “Mv d

you are all right ; you need be under no alarm.” My, Wji:nd,hnm ’a.lng]gid '::: EEE
Dr. Whitburn attended the marriage and gave the bride away. I did not call his
attention to the allegation in the affidavit made by Mr. Johnstone, the Burgeon

that shortly before the marriage he was consulted by Miss Willoughby, and that he
told her Mr, Windham was most certainly not then in a marriageable condition. T
was not disposed to question him about the story of his having infected his wife,
but I spoke to Mr. Johnstone on the subject, and he told me that when he saw Mr.
Windham before the marriage the disease had assumed so virulent a ghape that it
did not occur to him to give Mr. Windham any caution about it, I believe that M.
Windham is of perfectly sound mind and capable of managing his affairs. I have
uever said. that he is unfit to manage his property. g

Be-examined by Mr. Karslake.—When the conversation about the letters to My
dear darling " took place, Mr. and Mrs. Windham were living apart. Mr.
Windham was very angry, and he spoke to Mr. Cole, his solicitor, about the matter.
Mrs. Windham said in my presence that she wonld never live with her husband
again, and I do not suppose they have lived together since. Before that Mr. Wind-
ham had said that he had made his wife ill; that she was greatly enraged at it,
and threatened not to live with him agaihk During the iuterviews I had with him
there were many statements made by Mr. Windham which I could not have investi-
gated without the power of calling witnesses before me ; but they were all, as faras I
could judge, perfectly consistent with truth. All the inmates of the Asylum for Idiots
were born idiots. I know all the characteristics of idicey. Mr. Windham is cer-
tainly not an idiot, nor could it ever enter my mind that he is an imbecile when I
consider his powers of observation, the manner in which he instrueted his solicitor
about his defence, and his delicacy in conversation when talking upon matters which
afforded opportunity for the introduction of indelicate remarks,

By the Jury.—The idea of his sanity is perfectly consistent with his getting into
debt to the amount of £25,000 or £30,000, and giving £14,000 worth of jewellery to
his wife. My explanation iz that'he was so desperately in love with bis wife that
he gave her the jewels in order to secure her affections. 1 do not believe that a
sane man would knowingly communicate a particular disease to a woman with
whom he was in love. Mr. Windham did not know that his malady was infectious.

By the Master—1I think that the fact that the jewellery was intended for the use
of his wife, and was to be at Fellbrigg-hall, may be regarded as a justification of the
outlay; but if that outlay had been £60,000 instead of £14,000 it would have
indicated weakness of mind, Had Mr. Windham settled the whole of his estate upon
hig wife I should have taken it as a proof of unsoundness of mind.

IR. BEYMOUH.

Dr. E. Seymour examined by Mr. Milward.—I have directed my attention to dis-
orders affecting the mind, and have written on the subject. I was for eight years
one of the metropolitan Commissioners in Lunacy. During that time, I periodieally
visited every lunatic asylum within the bills of mortality, and had many opportuni=
ties of testing the minds of alleged lunatics. On the 7ith November, I was asked to
gee Mr. Windham. On the following day he was brought to me, but he was not
alone, and I refused to examine him. Bubaequently, I had a private interview with
him, and conversed with him on the subject of the charges against him. After we
had talked for some time, I said to him, © Well, sir, as faras I can jodge
" from your manner and appearance, I think it is impossible for a juyy to find you of
. pnsound mind ; but if you will call again and furnish me with the accusations made
' against you, I will examine you more completely.” In consequence of that Mr.
» Jole, the solieitor, sent me copies of the affidavits. I made mysell master of their
contents, and I next saw Mr. Windham on the 14th. Upon b_hat“um:gmlm I entered
seriatim into the principal allegations in the affidavits. I gaid, E‘Lrlt, O AL6.a0-
cused of falling into most violent and irrational passions.” * Yes,” he mphqm‘.l_:Ir 1
am very passionate ; my father was passionate; and 1 am very sorry for it.” I
then spoke to him upon the imputation of gluttony, gﬂpum:}lly mentioning that he
had eaten as many as 18 eggs at breakfast, He replied, "fh“ pumber is Ay
exaggerated, and I never had anything else for breakfast.” I then spoke t;umi
about his alleged cruelty to animals. He denied the accusation. IEInE:td X
his attention to the charge about his singing “Old Bob Ridley,” and soe
trash as that. He acquiesced, and said he had a habit of humming and beating
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guch tunes on many occasions. I told him he was a silly fellow. I then
o to him about his marriage, saying it was a very wrong thing and deeply to
be deplored ; but, inasmuch as the very same action had been committed by the
wisest, noblest, and richest in the land, T nhcmh_:l not take it as pm?f of insanity.
He seemed very much hurt at the way in which I characterized his marriage in
the first instance. I then spoke aboub the jewels. * You are charged,” 1 Hﬂ.lif'::
« yith having spentan enormons sum, in comparison with your means, 'I:lpur:_tjﬂwe]ﬂ.
He replied that he was very much in love, and that he had given fnrim::-m Jjewellery
to his wife after marriage than before it. He added that he had given her a com-
giderable quantity after marrisge becaunse he had done her a serious injury. I then
spoke about the state of his health at the time of his marriage. 1 told him his
conduct was very vicious ; but, as vice had never been reckoned as insamity, but
the contrary with some people, and as I had had the misfortune in a long profes-
sional life of knowing similar cases, in which men had married, being incapacitated
as he was, I could not myself take it as = proof of insanity. He denied positively
that he had had connection with his wife before marriage. He snid that the gentle-
‘man with whom she had lived before marriage was willing that he should marry
her, and promised as a man of honour never again to have intercourse with her.
The interview lasted about an hour; his’ manner was gentlemanlike and proper,
and he answered directly and readily. But for the affidavita I should not have
thought there was anything the matter with him. He was not incoherent. 1 saw
him again on the 4th of December, and the interview lasted about an hour. He
told me that the object of the petition was to prevent him barring the entail
of the Fellbrigg property and cutting down the timber. He said General
Windham called on him after the marriage, spoke to him very kindly, and wished
to sell him a small property, which he agreed to take. He then said—and this
remark strock me very much—*If my uncle thought me mad why did he try to
make a bargain with me #* Tasked him about his education. He said he had been
at Eton, and gained his remove into the lower fifth form by examination. He also
told me that on that very morning he had done a proposition in Euclid to the satis-
faction of Dr. Sutherland. He admitted having gone with guards on the railway,
and sometimes worked the engine. He said he had purchased a complete guit like
a guard, and bought a railway whistle. He remarked that many young men did the
same. I told him I hadheard go. I was with him a sufficient time to enable me to
form an opinion npon his ‘state of mind. I saw nothing sufficient to justify me in
saying that he is of unsound mind. He is certainly not a lunatic; he is under no
delusion. Mr. Windham, if 1 may use the .term, is a very yonng man for his age,
unable to judge properly, but I have seen no radical defect in his mind. He is
capable of managing himself and his affairs, and I think this ingoiry will have a
considerable effect in improving him. It will have a steadying effect upon him,
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—It will make him more like a man, I think
he has mind enough to profit by thelessor. I believe that if his majority could have .
been kept back for two years he wonld not have acted as he has done. I know
many young men of his age, in possession of their property, who have weaker minds.

_ The cross-examination of the witness was not concluded when the Court ad-
Jﬂm&d.

: ~ SIXTEENTH DAY.—MorpAy, Jax. 6.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of ind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster, before
Mr. Warren, (.C., one of the Mastersin Lunacy, and a special jury.

f!t[:r M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitionera ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of

the alleged lunatic; Sir Huogh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr.

Milward for Mr. Willi ; . 5 ;
Windham, 1am Ff ederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs.

ILLNESS OF A JURYMAN.

At the sitting of the Conrt an announcement was made to the effect that Colonel
Anderson, one of the jurymen, was nnable to attend from illness. Dr. Ballard, the
medical attendant of Colonel Anderson, stated that the gallant gentleman was
enffering from a severe attack of congestion of the lungs, and that it would be dange-
rous to his health, perhaps to his life, to continue his attendance in court. Colonel
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Anderson, he added, had been suffering more or less for a fortnight, but he had been
much worse since Satarday, and was now confined to his bed.

The Master said, I am extremely sorry to hear the statement of Dr. Ballard and
I suppose I must discharge Colonel Anderson from further attendance. ;

Mr. Chambers agked whether the trial could go on lawfully in the absence of one
of the jurymen.

* Mr. Karslake congidered it so essential for the interests of Mr. Windham that all
the jurymen shonld hear the case to the end, that he must protest against the
comtinuauee of the inquiry in the absence of any one of them.

Mr. Coleridge, for Mrs. Windham, joined in the protest of his learned friend.

The Master asked Mr. Chambers whether he proposed, in the face of the pro-
tests from the other side, to take upon himself the respongibility of going on with
the ingniry.

Mr. Chambers was not prepared to say what should be done, but it strueck him,
although he knew of no precedent for it, that it would be perfectly legal to proceed
with the case in the absence of Colonel Anderson.

The Master said, The Act of Parliament requires that there shounld be a verdict of
at least twelve jurymen. As the jury originally consisted of twenty-three gentlemen,
and the absence of Colonel Anderson will still leave twenty-two, I see no reason wh
the case should not be proceeded with. A lawful verdict may be returned if there
are no more than thirteen jurymen present. A

Mr. Karslake did not wish to argue the question, which was one of principle, but
he might remark that in an ordinary civil or criminal case, it was indispensable
that all the jurymen ghonld be present from the beginning to the end.

. The Master said, The learned gentleman is perfectly correct, but the reason is that
the verdict mugt be unanimous. Such is not the case here, for, as I have stated,
the Act only requires that the verdict shall be concurred in by twelve jurymen.

A juror remarked that the case of Bir Henry Meunx was tried before only seventeen
jarymen,

Mr. Karslake was aware of that fact, but those seventeen jurymen were the only
gentlemen sworn to hear and try the case. A larger number had been impanneled
in this case, but that made no difference with respect to the matter of principle.
His argnment was that the case could not go on in the absence of any one of the
jurymen, whatever the number might be—whether seventeen, as in the case of Sir
Henry Meux, or twenty-three, as in the present instance.

The Master said he had from the first contemplated such a contingency as the
present, and for that very reason he had secured a larger number of jurors than
usnal ;

The Jury intimated, through their foreman, that they were very anxious to pro-
.oeed with the case at once.

Mr. Chambers said the only analogy which ocenrred to him was that of a grand jury,
which, according to the ancient law of England, ought to be composed of twenty-
. three gentlemen, but which frequently consisted of not more than fifteen or twenty.

The finding of a trae bill by twelve gentlemen was never disputed. ;

Mr. Coleridge said it was not impossible than when the jury, reduced by the
absence of Colonel Anderson to twenty-two gentlemen, retired to consider their
verdict, they might be equally divided. Supposing, then, that Colonel Anderson
when discharged from farther attendance had a strong impression in favour of Mr.
Windham, was the latter, by no fault of his own, and without his consent, to be de-
prived of the vote of a gentleman who had been impanneled to try the case, and
had heard all the evidence? Moreover, if the remaining jurymen were equally
divided, there could be no verdict, and the whole inguiry would end in enormons and
useless ense.

Mr. éﬁ.‘mborn admitted that the difficulty stated by his learned friend on the
other side was a vory grave one, and he knew of no precedent for the present case.

The Master na.id—]%rthe jury consisted of twelve gentlemen, and one had
retired, I could not have proceeded even with the consent of parties. But, as the
jury is still composed of twenty-two gentlemen, and it can return a verdict according
to the Act, 1 think we may go on. The inquiry has already lasted fifteen days ;
faarful expense has been incurred, and I am not [:_nrapn.reﬂ. at so late a stage to take
the responsibility of discharging the jury. It is simply a chaice of ovils. [:.f' I were
to be pronounced by the Lords Justices in error in discharging the jury under eiguatﬁ
ing circumstances, the consequences would be disastrous, for there would be a fres
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ingui hole of the expenses would beincurred again. On the other hand,
;21;:3&? F;l;;wm say the cﬂs?might proceed, it is not 1ilmly_ that the expense of
finishing the inguiry will be at all equal in nn:mnnt— to t-'lm.F- whml:t has already hEEn
incurred, and which will simply be so mnch money wn.:at.ef_i Ll‘_ the jury are nowto be
discharged without returning a verdiet. When the verdict 18 I‘:Ep::l!'t-ed to the Lcrn:!s
Justices the question of its validity may be argued by the parties interested, L}Ildrhlh
will remain for the Lords Justices to determine whether I am right or wrong in the
course 1 now propose to pursue. I will take a note of the protest made on behalf
of Mr.and Mrs. Windham, but, under all the circumstances, I think I shall exercise
a sound discretion in ruling.that Colonel Anderson shall bo tlmnha_lg:gd, and that
the case shal! be continued to its natural termination before the remaining jurymen.

—Ruled accordingly.
COMMENTS BY THE PUBLIC PRESS,

Mr. Chambers, addressing the Master, said—Before we begin to-day I wish to
make an observation. I know that I shall be lnying myself open to censure.. I care
not. I deem it my duty, in consequence of slamment_a that have been _made to me,
to suggest to the consideration of the Court, whether it should nof caution the public
press against making any comments on the case whilst it is proceeding ; also against
making comments on the evidence that has been given on the one side or the other.
1 need hardly state, because it is so pertinently obvious to all sensible men, that
nothing can be more dangerons to the impartial administration of justice and any
proceeding of law whatsoever. In the first place it may seriously injure those whom
it i3 intended to serve— :

The Master—Are you founding your address to the Court on anything that has
actnally happened ? ;

Mr. Chambers—Yes. Upon occurrences that have taken place more than once, I
am so instructed. '

The Master—Do you mean comments on the evidence ?

Mr. Chambers—Commentaries on the evidence of the witnesses, and on the nature
of the case as it is proceeding from day to day. I wae about to say this—and I
submit it to the attention of all those who have written the articles with reference
to the proceedings in this case—I gay it may have the effect of injuring the parties
whom it is intended to gerve, becanse there are those who are unwige and indiscreet
enough to suppose—it would be wrong for me to imagine that any such thing can
occur—that the press is open to influences of a very despicable character, and the
consequence might be, if that be the supposition, that the parties intended to be
gerved might, in point of fact, be seriously injured or utterly ruined. On the other
hand, while a proceeding of this imporiant description is going on, if one party in
the press, or one set of newspapers, proceeds to take one particular view, in justice
it may be said that another party or another set of writers might take a different
view, and the result inevitably would be that, instead of the case being tried as it
ought to be, impartially and justly, by the evidence that is presented to the jury,
the determination, nltimately, when the case comes to a conclusion, according to
thie best of their ability, that a state of excitement wounld be got up in the publie
mind which would baffle and entirely destroy the character and the great objects of
Engligh justice. Therefore, sir, with a most perfect desire that everything shounld
be done fairly and justly, I submit to your consideration whether it would be fit
that a caution should be made to those writers who may have inadvertently taken
this course, with a view that we may have a froe and pure exercise of that impartial
Jjustice which belonga to this country ; the free liberty of the press being alwaye a
trust highly prized by those who have evjoyed its blessings and received its advan-
tages, Bat, at the same time, it being the duty of every man that desires to
sapport that great liberty which we all boast of—it being the duty of every man,

-especially when he is engaged as an advocate, to state publicly that which is brought
to his knowledge with reference to the course taken, with a perfect conviction that,
if a caution be given, such commentarics will in future be abstained from.

Mr. Knrs!n!na——l will only say one word. I hope not a word that has fallen from
my learned fﬂﬂﬂii will be taken in any way as reflecting on the character of those
who are fmnt'lum'-i_ng this defence. There were expressions which fell from my learned
friend, probably inadvertently, and they were accompanied by remarks which seemed
to imply that it was in consequence of some sceret agency which was at work.,  All
I have to say is this : I do trust that thé public and the jury, and everybody who
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is concerned in this case, will suspend their decision upon it until they have heard
the whole evidence in the case.

Mr. Coleridge—I stand also on the same side of the court as my learned friend
Mr. I{nrslak_n. and as some misconstruction might be placed on my silence, if T were
to observe silence, I beg to say that if directly or indirectly Mr. Chambers meant
to cast the smallest imputation on me or any person who instructs me, I repudiate
it With the autmost indignation.

Mr. Chambers—I had not the least conception of any such thing.

Mr. Coleridge—And I join with Mr. Karslake in saying that as Mr. Chambers has
plada an address to the jury throngh the Court, I earnestly hupe all parties, includ-
ing those who have to pass judgment on the case, will wait till they have heard
thgl Fvimlu of the evidence before either they make up their minds or express their
ﬂP'lI:'IIDIlH--

Mr. Chambers,—I will say one word. I mnever had the remotest intention of
imputing to the highly respectable solicitors who have the eonduct of this case that
they would lend themselves in any way to any kind of dealing with the press for
the purpose of advanecing, or perhaps destroying, the interest of their clients ; for
I believe they would not. But I venture to suggest that unfortunately there were
those who might take a different view, and imagining even the most respectable
newspaper might have been binssed in writing the articles, then the very party
intended to be served might be seriously injured. Of course, as far as Mr. Karslake
and Mr. Coleridge are concerned, I do not intend to insinuate anything of the sort,
but it was an observation arising ont of what I bave received information upon. I
myself have read but one article on the subject ; the others I have not seen, for I have
been so engaged that it has been impossible for me to read the divers newspapers ;
it has been brought to my attention. Pity ’tis it was so, and I hope it will not
bappen again.

The Master.—Are you alluding to something in the papers to-day ?

Mr. Chambers.—I believe the morning papers.

The Master.—I have seen the Times this morning.

Mr. Chambers.—The Times has abstained most cantiously from any observations.

The Master.—The Times has reported the case fully and fairly.

Mr. Chambers.—It has abstained eautiounsly from auy comments on the case.

The Master.—All I can say i, I am very much concerned for the necessity that
has arisen for this serious intimation to me, and which I have not the least doubt,
from the character of counsel, is founded on knowledge justifying this application to
me. By the 48th section of the Lunacy Regulation Act it is enacted, *that any
person executing an inquiry with a jury, while so employed shall have all the right,
power, authority, and discretion as a judge of a court of record.”” T think it is in my
power, under that section, to prohibit the publication of the aﬂdu_nm from day to day,
if I think it inconsistent with the course of justice to do otherwise.

Mr. Chambers.—It was done in the case of “ King v. Clement.”

The Master.—I was alluding to that very case. The law arises ont of that very
matter, but after this public intimation by counsel I hope it will not be necessary
for me to interfere in any way. It was unnecessary for Mr. Coleridge and Mr.
Karslake to make the repudiation which they have done on the part of their respec-
tive clients. The solicitors engaged in this matter are eminent firms, whom I know
perfectly well, both of them, by reputation. Those disclaimers have been made
which were utterly unnecessary in my opinion, and, I believe, in that of the jury.

Several jurors : Yes, quite so. b

The Master : I do take this opportunity of solemnly entreating the members of
the public press for the future, as they love the pure administration of justice, to .
abatain from that wllziinh h.:g now been imputed.

The subject then dro e et

AMr. Ka.lgq'la.ka stated t.ptl:at, ginee the adjonrnment on Eaturﬂay_, inqmnen‘ha.d been
for the purpose of ascertaining whether there was any court in Westminster-hall
which could be seoared for the sittings after Thuraday next. He understood that
there was none fit for the purpose, and expressed his hope and belief that there was
no foundation for the impression which had gone abroad, that they were going to sit
in one of the committee-rooms Ppﬂtairﬂ. :

The Master.—Heaven forbid! ; 2

Mr. Chambers.—That ia the only comment which the Times has made,

The Master,—1It is not a comment, buta statement. ‘
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Tt was then arranged that an application should be made for the use of the West-

minster Sessions-house.
The examination of witnesses was then resumed,

. DR. SEYMOUR—CORTINUED.

Dr. Seymour, cross-examined by Mr, Chambers.—Af my second interview with
Mr. Windham T taxed him with the charge of cruelty, in having cansed a horse to
be shot in a passion. He told me that the leg of the horse had been broken, and
that the animal was shot upon the advice of the people in the stables, He did not
tell me that he was charged with cruelty to the horse when it was saffering from the
broken leg. I made no inguiries into the truth of the charge. He told me that he
was not intemperate in either dripking or smoking. I believe that is correct. When
he told me that he was In the habit of driving a railway engine, and that he had
purchased a complete snit like a gnard, he added that many young men did the same.
I told him that I had heard so. I have never heard that other yonng men clothed
themselves like railway guards, but I have been told in society of three young noble-
men who arein the habit of driving the engine. -

The Master—That is not very satisfactory information for the public.

Witness resumed.—1 have never heard of young nobleman being driven home
in a brongham covered with soot aund dirt, like a stoker. Mr. Windham never
spoke to me of his having been in love with or engaged to a young lady living in
the country. I did nobt question him about the statement in the affidayit of the
Lewellins, that he had stated to them that Miss Willonghby had been left £GIII
a-year by her father. I did not ask him to give an accouxnt of the sudden vanish-
ing of that £60,000, nor did I speak to him at any great length abont his presents
of jewellery to the lady. The fact is that so many young men have been led into
extravagzance by love that his purchases of jewellery did not strike me as ymportant
in an inquiry into the state of his mind. You remember the lines—

“ What lost the world and make a warrior fly ?

The timid tear in Cleopatra’s eye.”
I think this inqniry will improve Mr. Windhama So very solemn a process will
have = steadying effect upon him. He has reason enough to profit by the lesson
When I saw him he seemed to be impressed with the importance of conducting
himself with propriety during these proceedings. I advised him to abstain from
boisterous orgilly acts in fature. Upon all occaszions he ezpressed himself in an
extremely affsctionate manner towards his wife. IHe never told me that she bad
been unfaithful to him since the marriage. I have never seen them together. He
did not tell me that in consequence of her infidelity he contemplated proceedings
in the Divorce. Court, nor did he tell me that proceedings had actnally been
commenced. If I were told that when he spoke so affectionately about his wife
he was under the impression that she had committed adultery, and that he
contemplated a snit in the Divorce Court in consequence, I shounld have regarded
his conduct as inconsistent, but should not have taken it as a proof of insanity,
It would have been one of those inconsistencies which are too common to
mankind.

Re-examined by Mr. Karslake.—I read the charge of cruelty to a horse in the
affidavits. He said the men in his stables would come forward and give evidence
on thg sobject. He told me that he neither drank nor smoked. I asked him
especially about drinking, because, in my judgment and experience, it is the most
fertile source ofinsanity. From what I have heard in society I believe that certain
young noblemen are in the habit of driving railway engines. I can give you on
paper the names of the young noblemen in question. One of them is now a duke.
Another is connected with the Court. .

Hr&l}hﬂmbﬁﬂ.—l can state that, although such is the public report, it is not

Mr. Karslake.—I hope my learned friend will not persist in giving evidence.

Witness resumed.—Boys of all ages are untruthful, and I do not aceept falsehoods
a8 proofs of insanity. 1 think that Mr. Windham would have been very much
lmP'_'“V“"] by care and kindness. When vulgar and bad habits are once contracted,
they are not easily removed ; but my impression is that as Mr, Windham mixes in
good society he will improve, ,

By the Jury.—I am not aware that one of the noblemen to whom I have referred
was a director of the railway, and drove the engine in his oflicial capacity. I under-
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stood he.did so for his own amusement. Mr. Windbam left school much too early.
He is young for his age, as I said before, but he has mind enough to take care of
himself and his properly. His mind is gound, thongh he is rather slower than some
other young men of his years. 1 know several persons who were much worse than
Mr. Windham, and who have improved sufficiently to manage themaglves and their
property. I expect that Mr. Windham will make even greater proffress than has
been made in those cases.

By the Master.—I do not believe in moral insanity. No amount of what is called
eccentricity wounld, in my opinion amonnt to insanity., If a young nobleman were

to choose to act as a sweep, and carry a soot-bag in the streets, I ghould not there-
fore consider him of nnsound mind.

MR HANCOCK, CHRARING CROSS HOSFITAL.

‘Mr. Hancock, chief surgeon of the Charing-cross Hospital.—I have carefully ex-
amined Mr, Windkam’e mouth. It is a pecaliarly ghaped mouth. The upper jaw is
exceedingly narrow, and drawn so much te a point in front that there is room for only
two teeth. Tt meaeures rather less than an inch from one front molar tooth to the
other, whereas the average width ol well-developed jaws is from 14in. to 13in. The
roofof the mouth, or hard palate, instead of being a plano-concave is extremely lofty
and shaped like a ‘pointed arch, so that it diminishes to a very greatdegree the cavity
of the nose. The depth from the soft palate to the back of the throat is unusually
great. The lower jaw is also narrow, but not so much contracted as the npper one.
His tongue is fully developed—Ilarge in proportion to the size of the jaws. This
condition of the mouth would affect very materially the sound of hia voice, and lead
to or favour very much the slavering that has been described, and also the noisy and
apparently disagreeable mode of eating. It wonld also have a considerable effeet
upon the appearance of his face, and would likewise very much affect the tone of
hig laugh. I should doubt whether Mr. Windham could halloa or laugh as other
people do. The relative volume of the different air passages is so very much inter-
fered with by this formation of the mocth that the sound of the voice and the langh
must be materially altered. In deglutition the tongue is always pressed againgt
the roof of the mouth, and in the natural formation of the mouth the aet of
swallowing is done almost unconsciously; but in consequence of the extreme
height of the roof of Mr. Windham's mouth, that formation would require
gome unusual attention from the party himeelf; so that, while from the size
of the tongue and the contraction of the jaws, the pressure upon the
galivary glands would produce, when Mr. Windham, was excited an tnusnal secre-
tion of saliva, the height of the roof of the mouth would prevent that ealiva
being conducted down the throat in the usual way. The same remark applies o
the swallowing of food. The peculiar structzre of the hard palate must interfere
with the passage of air through the nose by inspiration, and it is obvions that in
Mr. Windham's ease, in order to obtain the passage of the proper amnuqﬁ of air
into the lunga, he has fallen into the habit of keeping bis mouth open, and this habit,
added to the peculiar action of the muecles of the upper lip, gives that apparently
vacant look which appears about the lower part of Mr. Windham’s faqﬂ. )

By the Master.—I have scen similar mouths before, presenting similar results,

Witness resumed.—The formation of the back of his mouth would lead to snoring.
He told me that some years ago his mother took him to Mr. Lintott, a dentist,
who extracted some of his teeth, and then introduced a plate with pegs or wedges
into hia month for the purpose of stretching the upper jaw. e aleo told me it was
a formation prevalent in his family on the maternul side. He referred to three
persons in particular who had a pecnliarity of the same deecription. He told me his
mother had attributed the slavering to his having been tongue-tied as a child, and
the operation Iaving been improperly performed. 1 asked him whether he
recollected it, and he langhed and E;uid,d “I recollect & gn-ﬂ:lil-wny back, _hut
I don't recollect that, for I was an infant at the time. My examina-
tion was made, I think, on the 17th of December. He told me he had
nearly cured himself of the slavering. 1 eaw him first on the 1st of h:;uvﬂmber-
On that oceasion I waa with him nearly three-quarters of an honr. Dr. Iﬁ-?lﬂn was
present. I had no previons knowledge of the case. When I went to Pijqea.l.‘l_lllj'
Mr. Windham accompanied Dr. Neale and m_?sqlf into a room. I placed 1:1-; ]:!: a
chair opposite the window that I might wateh his countenance while he ;‘“'# tﬁh;ng
to me. IHe told me that he wished to see me because his uncle, General Windham,
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was endeavouring to prove him insane; that long before he came of age the general
had spread reports that he was an idiot and squandered his money ; that it was
very foolish of the general to treat him so, because he had over and over again told
him that it wonld be the worse for him and for his sons. * But it was no use,” he
ndded, *“and therefore, as my father left me power by his will to cut off the entail,
I have done so.” He also told me that upon a more recent occasion the general
had sent him word that if he married he would be —— if he wonldn’t have him
locked np. I asked him whether he had any evidence to that effect, and he replied
that his uncle sent the message through his bailiff. He then continued, * He
accused me of keeping improper company, alluding to Mr. Roberts. Mr. Roberts
has been a good friend to me, for yon must koow that I have only come into a
portion of my property—£3,000 a year. Of this I have to pay my mother £1,5

a year, and 1 leave you to judge whether I can support a wife and keep up a lan
place in the country, besides having apartments in London, upon the remainder. I,
therefore, was in want of money. My father had always cautioned me against getting
into the hands of the Jews, and I was determined not to do so. Now, Mr. Roberta
was with me at my eatate in the country, when one day outriding he said, ¢ Why should
you borrow money, paying interest npon interest, when you have the money here
upon your estate? You have so many trees; they are being spoilt, and I can intro-
duce youn to a timber merchant who would not attempt to cheat yon by taking the
timber in & lomp, but would pay you so mnech a foot for it Of course I consented,
and he accordingly introduced me to Messrs. Lawrence and Fry, who are very
respectable timber merchants, and who paid me £1,000 down, agreeing to give me
gome £350 a month up to £5,000 a year for four years, or £20,000 in all.” He said,
“The trees havs not been cat for so many years that, so far from the estate being
injored, it weunld be much benefitted by having the timber cut down ;" and he added,
* You may depend upon it I shall take care that they don’t ent down anything that
will icjure the estate.”” He told me that afier his marriage, on coming to town, he
could not afford to take a house, and therefore his wife advised him to take apart-
ments in Mr. Roberta's house, he being her trustee. He declined telling me what
vent he paid, but he assured me it was not exorbitant. I asked him whether they
could bring any accusation of intemperance or extreme extravagance against him.
He said, * No;” he lived well, but was not intemperate, and he was very fond of
driving horses, but there was nothing in that. I asked him how may horses
he kept. He replied that before his marriage he kept only two, but that
since then, as his wife was fond of riding on horseback, he had bouzht
a riding horse for her, another for himself, and two carringe horses. I.gaid,
“You have six in all;” to which he replied, * No, only the two riding horges and
the two earriage horses.” I then asked him how much food he gave his horses.
He said, = I keep them down at my estats in the country, and I am very particular
that the grooms don't cheat me, I allow the horses as much as they can eat, and
each has four feeds of corn a day. You can easily tell how much it has in the
conrse of the week.” T said, * But how much do you make it yourself#’ And he
answered, “ We calculate differently in Norfolk from what you do in London. You
calenlate by the bushel or quarter, we caleulate by the boll; but it is somewhere
about a sack of corn per week for two horses.” I said, * You have not mentioned
the straw.” “ Oh,” he replied, * that doesn't cost me anything, my tenants are
obliged to supply me with that.” I then said, ** As insanity has been alleged against
you, have you ever been examined by any medical man on the part of General
Windham #* He replied, I don't know whether it was a medical man or no, but
somebody called me upon a short time ago pretending that he came about a debt
which he aaid was owing to him by my mother. [ therefore began to suspect, and
very quietly bowed him cut of the room, saying he muss know as well as [ did that
I had nothing to do with my mother’s debts” [ chon said [ was sorry to hear
that his wife had left him. He said very ealmly,  Yes, she has; but T know whers
she is. T have employed a detective to trace her, and I am going to Scotland this
evening o bring her back.” T cantioned him against using any violence,
leat it should be brought forward against him; and he said “ Yon need
not be afraid. 1 ean be firm without being violent. She knows that 1
have right on my gide. T shall tell her that I am acting ander my lawyer's advice.
and that the law gives me great power as a husband, and I shall, therefore, tell her
to come home without making any piece of work.” He then added, * Here again

Ll
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— they are spreading all mannerof reports about my wife; among others, that
?rheu I married her she owed Emmanuel, the jeweller, several hundred pounds ; but,
in fact, she owed him somewhere about £60, which she paid out of her own money.”
I think that was the whole of the conversation T had with him. I told Mr. Bury
Hutehinson, the solicitor of Mr. Windham, that T was only a consulting eurgeon,
and did not pay special attention to mental diseases. 1 therefore advised that he
should send for Dr. Sutherland, Dr. Tuke, Mr. Connolly, and Mr. Lawrence, who
were considered first-rate authorities on such subjects. Dr. Winslow’s name was
mentioned ; but Dr. Neale had previously informed me that when he ealled on Dr.
Winslow in the morning for the purpose of obtaining his services he fonnd General
Windham sitting in the waiting room, and, consequently, nothing further was eaid
%uut Dr. Winslow. 1 frequently in the conrse of my practice meet with cases of

heanity. During my interview with Mr. Windbam I neither saw nor Leard any-
thing which would justify mein arriving at any other conclusion than that he is of
sound mind. His demeanour was characterized by perfect self-possession, perfect
calmness, and total absence of levity, especially when he referred to his father. I
- observed no signs of slavering. I should say that Mr. Windham, as far as his
physical appearance goes, is a well developed young man.  He seems to me to
have plenty of animal spirits, and is the kind of man who would be fond of athletio
exercises.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The formation of Mr. Windham’s mouth
would not lessen the space filled by the brain. There are the two orbits, and the
whole cavity of the nose between the eranium and the roof of the mouth. The
pecnliar formation of Mr. Windbam’s mouth is not confined to idiots, nor are idiota
restricted to that formation, It may be observed in idiots; but it occurs in other
cases as well. Mr. Windham did not tell me how long he had worn the plate in-
troduced into his mouth by Mr. Lintock, the dentist, for the purpose of shieldi
the upper jaw. I made an affidavit in this case, butl I have gone more into d
in my evidence to-day. 1 did not ask Mr. Windham how it happened that his wife
had gone to SBcotland.

Re-examined.—In my epinion the formation of Mr. Windham’s mouth has no rela-
tion at all to the question of his sanity or insanity.

DR. GWIN, HAMMERSMITH,

Dr. Gwin, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am a medical man, praetising in
Hammersmith. I am a native of Norfolk, and it was my uncle who proposed
General Windham at the last election. Early in September I saw Mr. Windham
in Norwich, and upon his invitation I went to Fellbrigg-hall on the 23rd. Mra.
Windham and Mr. Roberts were there. Mr. Windham consalted me professioually
about his throat. I attended him for some time, going down from town for the
purpose. He made a pecuniary arrangement with me himself. I went out shooting
with him. He proved a capital shot and a good driver. His demeanour was that
of an ordinary person. I never saw him do anything that could not be done with
propriety by a person of sound mind.

By Mr. Coleridge.—I had never seen nor heard of Mrs. Windham before I went
to Fellbrigg-hall, near the end of September. On the 23rd of September 1 know
she was perfectly well; since the 8th of October she has suffered very severely.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham never told me of cdttain letlers
which had been returned to him from the Dead Letter-office. I accompanied him
down to Scotland on Sunday, the 3rd of November. He told me that he wanted me
to go with him to Glasgow, and mentioned something about a paramour or 'luvar_uf
Mrs. Windham. He eaid he suspected that she bad been unfaithful to him with
that person and had ran away with him to Glasgow, where he was then living as a
member of an operatic company. I told Lim that owing to the illness she was
suffering from, it was not likely she conld be unfaithfal to him at that time. Ie
did not tell me, as far as I recollect, that he had received information that l:hn_:y were
gleeping in the same bedroom in the hotel. He did not tell me that Mrs, Windham
had been in Dublin with the same individual after her marringe. He informed me
that he had received a letter from his wife saying she was staying in Dublin. Mrs.
Windham left Fellbrigg owing to her husband’s illuess on the 29th of September,
and she returned from Dublin on the 8th of October. I was not aware that the
opera singer was in Dublin at the same time. I slept all the way to Glmiuw’
and have no idea how Mr. Windham got on. During the journey I did not hear
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i me of the on whom he suspected of cohabiting in Glasgow
!:i‘:}ilul]::i':n\:i?':t tt':‘i?::ﬁd not ﬂnzg:ad in finding Mrs. Windham. After staying only
forty minutes in Glasgow we returned to Londom, and Mrs. Windham was found
in the Euston Hotel. In Glasgow we were told by the landlerd of the hotel in which
Mrs. Windham had lived that while there she condueted ha::ueli‘ with perfect pro.
priety. Mr. , I think, was still in Glasgow, fﬂr_I saw his name in a playhbill in
the hall of the hotel, but we ]!_}.‘:]::1]:::1 no gteps to find him out. Mr. Windham sat in

i 11 the way to on.
th?_[‘hn:murmngﬂ ::mtilninatign of the witness was not concluded when the Courg

adjonrned.

SEVENTEENTH D&Y*—TI;ELBID&% Jﬁn:ﬁ?' i b

diourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hﬁ?%:rgﬂlk, wad r%amrﬂad on this day, in the Court of Emhaqum:, Westminster,
before Mr, Warren, .C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Bir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for
Mr, William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

DR, GWIN—CONTINUED.

Dr. Gwin, cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—After Mr. Windham and T re-
turned from Glasgow we found Mrs. Windham at the Eusfon Hotel, and remained
there with her till late at night. Mr. Windham has complained to me that his wife
had deceived him in her statement that she had known only one man before her
marriage, Mr, ——. He never mentioned to me that he had discovered that she
had been connected with a young gentleman im a dragoon regiment. I have not
the least recollection of his eaying that she had ruined a young man. He told me
that Mre. Windham disliked Roberts; but he did not say that the reagon was that
she had slept with Roberts in Wilton-place, or anywhere else. He has men-
tioned to me lately that Roberts told him he had slept with his wife before
her marriage. He did not say that Roberts stated he had slept with her after
as well as before marriage. I do not remember whether he sail he believed
Roberts or not. He told me that Mr. , No. 1, with whom she acknowledged
having lived with before marriage, slept in the same house with her on the eve of
the mn.rrmge He never said that _ﬂhe had eohabited or gone to Paria with Mr.
——,; No. 2. I have no recollection of his telling me that she had left his honse,
gone to Dublin, and committed adultery with a foreigner. He did not tell me that
gshe had grossly deceived him about the marriage. I have attended him up to tha
present time, and am now attending him. I ceased to attend Mrs. Windham on the
20th of November, bnt she had a consultation with me abont the state of her health
last Friday., Ihave seen Mr, Windham from fime to time when he cama down to
this court. T saw him speaking to his wife last Friday. Mr. Windham and I got
into her brougham, and we put him down at Morley’s Hotel. She et me down in
Regent-street, and she went her way and I went mine. I do not know where she
ia living. Mr. Windham has told me that he has seen her occasionally during the
inguiry, but he did not say that he has lnnched with her.

By the Ma#ter.—When they were in the brougham together they were respectful
to each other, and conducted themselves calmly and quietly, as any other man and
wife wonld do. :

Re-examined.—TI told Mr. Cole, the golicitor, confidentially what took place in
Scotland when Mr. Windham and I went down there, but T told nobody else. I have
been questioned about many conversations which I had with Mr. Windham about
hia wife. I repeated those conversations to Mr. Cole confidentially, but to nobody
else. Mr. Cole ceased to act as solicitor for Mr. Windham on the 8th of December
shortly before the commencement of the present proceedings. 1 saw Mrs, Windham
professionally on Friday last for an hour. Bhe was still suffering from the same
disense which she waa labonring under on the Sth of October. On the 23rd of
Beptember_ 1 examined Mr, Windham at Fellbrige-hall, and found him suffering
from the disease. I made a communication to Mrs, Windham on the subject, and
asked her whether she had received any warning. In consequence of what p::aaud.
between us I examined her, but conld detect no active disense. She left Feallbrige
on the 26th of September, and returned on the 8th of October.,

I examined her on
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that day, and discovered that ehe must have been guffering from the disease for
geveral days. She continued at Fellbrigg, till the 12th of October. I went downon
the J.L{it.h_m:d found her gone. During our journey to and from Scotland there was
notlung: in the demeanour of Mr. Windham which at all attracted my attention. T did
not notice anyhody in the train who seemed to be watching onr motions.

By the Jury.—Mrs. Windham left Fellbrigg on the 26th of September with her
hna}mnd’a consent and upon my advice. Mr. Windham received a letter from her,
gaying she was staying in Dublin. He did not geem to be surprised at the receipt
or contents of the letter, and I suppose he knew she had gone to Dublin, thongh I
cannot epeak with certainty. I have had no conversations with Mr. Windham sbout
the jewels, nor do I know what has become of them. I never found anything
incoherent or unconneoted in his talk. During the journey to Glasgow I found him
a pleasant companion. He described the country and the different breeds of sheep as
we went along. I believe he has broken off acquaintance with Roberta.

MIS8 RAUSCHEN, NURSERY GOVERNESS.

Miss Rauschen said—I was formerly in the Inte Lady Bristol's family as nursery-
governess, Afterwards I went to Fellbrigg-hall to take charge of young Mr. Wind-
bham, who was not quite four years of age at that time. I left when he was abont
his gixth year. I found bim a very high-spirited child, requiring a great deal of
chastisement at his lessons, which, however, he did pretty well—much better than
the child I had charge of previously. I considered him sharp and intelligent in
his lessons. His father and mother treated him very indnlgently. I have seen him
imitating the butler and waiting at table in their presence. His father sesmed
pleased at it, and had a snit of clothes made for hia son for the express purpose of
enabling him to wait at table. After I left Fellbrigg I met young Mr. Windham
occasionally in London with his father. The last time I saw him was in 1850; he
was then in his tenth year. 1 mever saw in him any signs of any want of intel-
lect ; he was just like other boys, and appeared to be of sound mind, competent to
learn his lessons and conduct himself properly. \

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—He used to be punished by getting an extra
lesson. I never saw a whip nsed to him. He waited at table frequently, but I never
heard of him going to the kitchen and washing up dishes. He had a pony. and was
very fond of it. He rode generally very slewly. ‘He spoke plainly, but thickly.
When I saw him in London with his father I believed he was still fond of waiting at
table. On these occasions the Windhams were on a visit to the Bristol family in
8t. Jomee's-square. I never heard of Lady Alfred Hervey haviog been frightened
by him.

Cross-examined.—When I gaw him in London his voice was much improved. He
behaved himself, as far I know, very well in St. James's-square.

By the Master.—The pecnliar formation of his mouth was observable in childhood.
I never eaw the saliva running from-the corners. %

3ES. MARTIN, BAILIFF'S WIFE AT FELLBRIGG. .

Mrs. Martin, wife of the bailiff at Fellbrigg, said, My husband now ho'ds the home
farm. From 1832 recently, I was cook and honsekeeper at Fellbrigg. Lady Sophia
and Mr. Windham alw ays treated me as a confidential servant. I recollect young
Mr. Windbam being born. . He was an only child. 0Old Mr. Windham was quick,
hasty, and passicnate at times. He was always properin conversation, but I was not

~much in hiz way. As young Mr. Windham grew up I saw a great deal of him. He
was, and is very fond of me. He was sbout eight years of age when he went to
school first. He came home for his holidays from time to time. In1854 he went to
Eton. While at home he epent a good deal of his time with me in my room of an
evening. When a child he used to smuse himself in, the kitchen. He was not
checked at sll in that habit. Old Mr. Windham farmed himself, and was a great
denl out of doors. When the boy came home he very frequently accompanied his
father about the estate, and he learned to ride at a very early age. When he was
abont seven years of age he began to play whist. The party usuvally consisted,
when there was no company in the house, of Lady Sophia, Mr. Windham, the boy,
and myself. That went on till the death of old Mr. Windham. When the boy went
down 10 the kitchen there were many old servants in the house, and he nsed to be
with them a good deal., His amusement of & morning in the kitchen congisted of
playing at railways, opening and shutting doors, and calling out the names of
the stations. The servunts petted him, and the father used to say, * Poor little
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follow, let him amuse himself; he has no playfellows.” That is a fact. He
had no companions of his own age, He was fond of imitating people. At times
he waited at table in the presence of his parents, His father had a livery made for
him—blue coat, red waistcoat, red plush breeches, and dress buttons, It was the
Windham livery. He wore the livery both before and after he went to school. He
nsed to come into the kitchen to camry up the dishes with the other servants. In
doing so he imitated the airs and manners of the servants. After dinner he helped
the servants in the pantry. All this was well known to his parenta. He did not act
thus when there were strangers in the honse, He continued working with the ser-
. wants until the death of his father, and wore the livery until it became too small for
him.  The family were a good deal alone. After dinner old Mr. Windham generally
. fell asleep. Sometimes the parents were very indulgent to the boy ; at others they
were very severe. Their treatment of him was irregular and capricions. T at.
tended old Mr. Windham on his deathbed. The son came home from Fton in time
to ses his father die. He used to enter the bedroom, shake his father by the hand
and kiss him. His conduct at the funeral was becoming. On his return from the
charech he cried very much, kissed me, and asked me net to leave him. T replied,
% 1 promised your father, and I will not leave you until you are twenty-one. He
said, * I am very glad of it,” and then went off with Lord Alfred Hervey. His man-
ner towards me had always been vegy kind and affectionate. He was quick and hasty,
resembling his father in many respects—in making a noise, laughing, singing, and
whistling about the house; but he was generally kind to all the servants. He did not
like to lose at cards, and nsed to bepome pettish when the game was going against him.
He played whist very well. When young Mr, Windham and his tutors were at Fell.
brigg ; there was very little company in the house. Mr. Martin and myself used
to play whist of an evening with AMr. Horrocks and Mr. Windham. Mr. Windham,
who waa at that time about eighteen or nineteen years of age, was quite able to hold
hisown at cards. - He had horses, and spent the greater part of his time in the open
air. His father was not a reading man. Both father and sen were regnlar choreh-
ers. The church is in the park, and the whole of the parish belongs to the
indbams. The conduct of young]Mr. Windham in church was always unobjection-
able. I saw little differcnce between the way he went on, and the ordinary
demeanonr of his father in the honse; both made a good deal of noise, and noise of
the same kind—laughing, singing and whistling. Young Mr. Windham was as
cleanly in his habits as other boys, and never misnsed his bed. In 1856 there was
something said of me leaving, [ wrote to Mr. Windham that Thad been discharged,
and in consequence of his interference an arrangement was made by which I
remained. His manner on all occasions was that of a rational and sound man. I
was a good deal distressed at hig marriage. Two days before it took place General
Windham sent for me and my husband to Hanworth-hall, and told us he had been
telegraphed for to stop the marrisge. That was the first time I believed
the report. The general requnested us to go at omce to London, as he believed
we could do more to stop the marriage than he could, and he gaid he wonld
follow us next morning. Myself and husband went off directly, and
arrived at Duke-street abont ‘five o'clock in the morning. We saw Mr.
Windham, and did all we could to prevent the marriage. He said that he would
not marry, but wonld go down to Fellbrige with us. He did not keep his promise,
and the next thing I heard of him was that he was married. Mr. Windham came
to Fellbrigz abont a week afterwards, accompanied by his wife and two' of her
sisters—young girla about sixteen years of age. I was not disposed to live in the
house any longer, and myself and husband went to the Home-farm. Subsequently
T saw Genersl Windham at Fellbrigg-hall, while Mr. and Mrs, Windham were
thers. I believe he saw his nephew. Duoring the absence of old Mr. Windham
‘Lady Sophia used to have the servants up into the dining-room to dance and
romp abont to smuse the child, while she played the piano in the drawing-room.
Crosg-examined by Mr. Chambersi—I think that young Mr. Windham waited at
table when he came home from Eton for the holidays. After he finally left Eton I
saw him wipe glasses in the pantry, but I de not think he waited at table. When
AMr. Horrocks was at Fellbrigg Mr. Windham used to go to the pantry, but he did
not wash up the dishea. Hs wiped the glasses and romped with the maids. Ho
“did not tock up his shivt-slecves. He discontinned amusing Himself in the kitchen
by playing at railways some time before his father's death. After he left Bion lie
P 1L A
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had a railway whistle, and nsed to blow it. I am not aware that, when Mr. Horrocks.
or Mr. Peatfield was at Fellbrigg, Mr. Windham was in the habit of slamming doors
to imitate the opening and shatting of carriage doors on the railway, but he con-
tinued to blow the railway whistle. The neises has made were not different from
those which his father made; they might be a little londer, but that was all. T did
not know that they were sometimes made during the night. I have observed him
slavering, and have told him to use his handkerchief more. Bometimes he wounld
do s0, and sometimes not. His manner of speaking and his habit of slavering have
greatly improved during the last three or four years. He continued his holloaings.
Old Mr. Windham seldom swore in the honse before the servants, but I have heard
him swear ont of the house. Ihave also heard young Mr. Windham swear, but
very little. It was long before his death that his father said, * Poor
little fellow; let him amuse himself; he has no playfellows.” There
were some young children belonging to the families in the neighbourhood,
but I never sawany of them at the hall. The other members of the Windham
family lived a good distance off, I did not think that young Mr,Windham was a
troublesome boy, or that Mr. Horrocks had considerable difficulty in keeping him
in order. Mr. Horrocks had not a tedions task. [Here, at the request of Mr.
Chambers, a letter addressed by the witness to Mr, Horrocks in June, 1840, was
read by the clerk. *Iam sorry,” it said, “that you have had so much trouble and
annoyance with Mr. Windham, and think yon are'relieved from a very tedious task.”]
I cannot state precisely what I meant by the words “ tedions task” in that letter.
Mr. Horrocks used to want his pupil to read more than he was disposed to do; but
they went out a great deal together, and on the whole, I think, got on very well. Some-
times Mr. Horrocks chid him for making & noise. Before I got the information from
General Windham I did not believe that Mr. Windham was going to be married. A
romour had reached my ears that the lady was not of good character. Shortly
afterwards I gaw Mr. Windham in London, and T told him what I had heard. He
gaid it was not troe that he was going to marry a person of bad character. WhenI
showed him a portrait of Miss Willoughby which he had sent down to Fellbrigg, and

asked him whether that was the lady he intended to marry, he laughed, and said,

¢ Don’t believe half you hear.” On the 28th of August Mr. Windham agreed to
meet me and my husband at the Shoreditch Station and go down with us to
Norfolk, but he did not keep his promise, although his things were all packed up by
his groom.

Ri.e:u.mined.—ﬂr. Horrocks and Mr. Windham rode out a great deal at Fellbrigg.
What I mean by saying that Mr. Horrocks chid his pupil was that he would call him
a silly fellow and try to imitate him. Colonel Bathurst was at Fellbrigg on (a visit
while Mr. Horrocks was there. He stayed about a week. In the evening Mr.
_ Horrocks used to allow Mr. Windham to fall asleep, and then amaused himself in his

OWIL Wa¥.

By t-hi Jury.—Young Mr. Windham did not always speak the truth, but he did
not tell more falsehoods than other boys. He and his uncle, the General, wera
always on good terms, She had never been asked to give evidence for the petitioners.

By the Master.—Witness saw very little of Mrs. Windham at Fellbrigg. When I
gaw Mr, Windham in London, on the 28th of August, I told him that his uncle would
get a commission of lunacy againgt him. I wanted to frighten him more than
anything else, He said, “He is up to that, is he? On what grounds I think
Mr. Windham guite able to manage himself and to give orders in his own house, but
I can say mothing about the management of his property.

CHAELES MEERING, HEAD GAMEKEER AT FELLBRIGG. ;

Charles Meering, head gamekeeper at Fellbrigg, said—I have known Mr. Windham
from his earliest years, He has carried a gun for the last five or six years, and has
always conducted himself very well in the field. He loaded his own gun w‘han he
thought proper, and when he did not, he gave it to his servant, like other geutlemen.
He gave orders himself to witness about everything connected with the game and
shooting parties, and interested himeelf a good deal in the prevention of poaching.
He is & good master, and always behaved well to me. Sometimes he recalled to mo
old shooting events which occurred when he was very young ; witness himself could
hardly recollect them. 0Old Mr. Windham was hot and passionate, and when he was
¢ pat np” used Lo swear a great deal. Young Mr. Windham conduncted himself while
out quite as well as his father. Witnees thonght hie mind was perfectly sound 3

nobody would ever get bim to believe anything else,
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Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham was pretty much like other
young men. His manners were not more odd than those of other people. T have
never said I was not surprised at their attempting to make Mr. Windham a
Iunatic. I have never said, * Windham is an idiot, and n‘lwn}:a will be ; and what
else conld be expected but that they should attempt to make him a lunatis? " Mr.
Windham was sometimes in a passion, and on those occasions I observed a little
gpittle about his mouth, but I have never seen it running down upon his clothes. T
have never seen him crying. His langh is very loud, and he occasionally shouts
to amuse himself. I never heard him yelping like a dog, or imitating a cat, or
blowing a railway whistle. T am not aware that Mr. Windham on one occasion
shot directly at two men loading turnips in a cart. I never heard anything of it.
1 do not remember saying to Mr. Peatfield that Mr. Windham was careless with
his gun. A Major Smith never complained to me, or in my hearing, that Mr. Wind-
ham was careless with his gun. When I was getting over a fence, or helping
geutlomen over, Mr. Windbam has more than once said to me, © Be careful of
ur gun.”

Ja.g.:ﬂ Catton, a bricklayer at Fellbripg, said—I have been employed on the
estate for more than 30 years. I have frequently talked with the present Mr.
Windham abont business, and have received orders from him to spare no expense
in reason to make the cottages on the estate comfortable. There is no difference
between his mode of doing business and that of his father and grandfather before
him. I believe him to be a gentleman of sound mind. P

Cross-examined.—There was nothing odd in his manner or his voice.

ROBERT CAWSTON, CARFENTER AT FELLBRIGG.

Robert Cawston, the earpenter on the Fellbrige estate, said I have been there for
88 years, and have received orders from the young squire about the fitting up of a
cottage. Mr, Windham told me to make two apartments, because one was nob
decent. I believed him to be of sound mind, and capable of managing his affairs.

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham slaversd when a child, but of late years he has
almost got rid of the habit. He sometimes got into a passion, but mnot oftener
than his father.

MARY BADCOCK, HOUSEMAID AT FELLBRIGG.

Mrs. Mary Badeock, honsemaid at Fellbrige during the last fonr months, said—I

have known Mr. Windham for four years. Since 1 entered his service he has con-
ducted himself like a gentleman. He has never given inconsistent orders. He is
haaty in temper, but his passion is goon over. There is nothing at all strange in
the management of his honse. He is most domesticated, and, I believe, perfectly
Bane,
Cross-examined by Mr, Chambers.—Mr. Windham gave a dinner to his tenantry
on Christmas-day. He sat at the head of the table and the butler at the bottom.
The dinner took place in the servants’ hall. All the servants were present, and
some tradespeople. Many of the witnesses were there. The company drank Mr.
Windham's health and snccess to his cause. Mr. Windham was the only gentleman
present. Since October*Mr. Windham has had three or four dinner parties—not
gentlemen, but farmers and others of that class. I believe they are all witnesses.
My husband was formerly a railway guard, and Mr. Windham used to call and see
him at his house in Norwich. It was there that I became acquainted with Mr.
Windham. My husband is now his valet. When me and my husband lived in
Norwich I sometimes saw Mr. Windham coming off the railway in a dirty state-
There ia nothing peculiar in his voice. He is fond of singing about the house, but he
18 nok particularly noisy. His room- is kept in an orderly state.

Re-examined.—There i8 nothing in Mr. Windham's conduct in the house which
renders it disagreeable to serve there.

By the Master.—At the Christmas dinner Mr. Windham proposed the health of
Mrs. Windham, and hoped the company would drink it with him. He said nothing
more.

The inguiry waa again adjonrned.

EIGHTEENTH DAY.—WEeDNESDAY, JAN. 8.
The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fell-
brigg-hall, Norfolk, was resamed in the Court of Exchequer, Westmiuster, before
Mr. Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.
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Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. llume Williams appeared for th
petitioners ; Mr, Charles Russell for I:u.u:'l;,r Sophia Elizabeth Giubi]m}:ﬁﬁ_ mother ot;‘
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mra. Windham.

THE REV., ME. BICEKMORE.

The Rev. Mr. Bickmore, Rector of Cranwich and Tidlington, in Norfolk, said—I
knew the late Mr. Windham ; I also knew the Barings, of Cromer-hall. In 1847 I
went with Mr. Baring to Fellbrige to dinner. In 1848 Mr, Windham applied to me
to take his #on as a pupil. Bome of the young Barings were pupils of mine at that
time. I was then living was Eagle-hall, near Norwich, and prepared boys for public
gehools. I had a conversation at Fellbrigg with Mr. Windham and Lady Sophia
about theirson, and I also talked with the boy himself. I understeod that young
Mr. Windbam was to be prepared for Eton. I ascertained his character from his
parents, and likewise judged for myself. The hoy came to me in September, 1848,
and stayed till Christmas, 1850. During that time he said his lessons sometimes to
me, and sometimes to Mrs. Bickmore. His studies were those pursued by boys of
hisage. He was certainly not studious, but if he chose to apply himself he had
not the shghtest dificulty in learning his lessons. When he came to me he could
read, write, do some arithmetie, and had commenced Latin. He was known as
* Gla,” which was the name of his childhood. Witness prepared him in the usual
system for Eton, and had every reason to believe that he did Greek and Latin.
There wus no mental ineapacity whatever about him, He was rude and boisterous
in manner; and not very tidy in his dress, but he was amenable to authority. I
observed a peculiarity about his mouth. During one vacation young Windham was
taken to a dentist, and had an ivory plate introduced into his mouth. At the end
of 1850' I suggested to old Mr. Windham that his son should be sent somewhere else,
in erder that he might have the society of biggerboys. When about eight years of
age young Mr. Windham wrote the following letter to his mother:— 3

" My dear Mama,—I am very much pleased with what papa has given me, and I
hope he will receive this simple present in return to his great one, and, as I have
told him, I am so thankful to him I really cannot express myself for his kindness
to me, and I hopé you are stronger than you weré. But I can almost guess by
what' Bir- John Boilean told Mr. Bickmore, who dined thers on Friday night, and
I am sorry to say, very indeed, that Sir John fell down, I think, and has hurt
himself very much indeed, and is very ill indeed, the day before to.dine there, and
Lady Catherine was very kind to ns indeed to us, and played with us as if she
was a little girl,  Tom and Mina are quite well, except that Mina has a little cold,
and send their love to you. Dear Mama, I shall soon be home now; it iz only &
week now and My, Bickmore has written to papa to say 1 am to come home cun the
14th, but do ask to have me home on the 13th; by-the-bye I never received that
little present I asked you to give me for Mr. Bickmore. :
“ Good bye, dear Mama, your most affectionate son,
; ! [13 GIJ-..."
. I recollect Sir John Boilean meeting with an accident. - :
. &ross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—The present he sent to his father was a
walentine inscribed with the following lines :—
. . *¢ Acoept this token of my love,
@ And let your heart incline
A ! To chase away all doubts and fears,
p And be my Valentine.
He was not more than eight years of age at that time. I had no doubt that Wind-
haii did Greek while under my care, and I might go forther and say that the book
he used was Arnold's Introduction. 1 had nine pupils—all young gentlemen—swhen
Windham came to me, The numberflactnated while he was there. Two boysslept
in one room. Windham had no particular chum; they were all as one family. The
boys came to me young, and left when they were about thirteen or fourteen. Wind-
ham left when he was about ten. Some of the new boys who came when Windham
left might be ten, eleven, or twelve yearaofage, but I think they were younger than
Windham. Windham had the ivory plate in his mouth when he left school. I
endeavoured to check his habit of slavering,but I did not succeed ..lltrﬂ'gﬁt-hﬂ- At times,
when the bay was speaking fost, there was a, cerfain amount of moisture about his
mounth, It did not * dribble.”
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T did not ©dismiss” young Windham ; I simply advised his father
"tﬂ]'l%l:?n::cl:]:a{:;g to some school whemrhe wounld have the pociety of bigger boys.
Another reason for my wishing the boy to be removed was, .ﬂlﬂ_ﬁ I ha_ui heard young .
Windham used violent language and onths, and I did not think it desirable to expose
other boys, fresh from home, to the influence of such an example. 1 myself never
 heard Windham swearing, He pursned the same studies as the other boys of his
age, and I did not pay any particular attention to him. Instances of violent passion
on the part of Windham were not bronght to my knowledge. Windham required to
be treated with firmness, for he was o spoilt child, and I was occasionally obliged to
punish him rather severely. When he left me he was. not sufficiently advanced for
Eton, but I refused to keep him any longer.

MAES. BICKMORE.

Mrs. Bickmore corroborated the evidence of her hnsband, and stated that Win@-
ham did his lessons in the same way as the other boys. BShe had mo trouble in
managing him, and never heard him use bad language. He was not: neat in his
dress, and sometimes, owing to the slavering caused by the defect in his mouth,
his face was rather dirty. Otherwise shemever had reason to complain of his habits,
Tt never entered her head that he was not as sound in his mind as other boys.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers,—In play he sometimes made his face dirtier
than other boys, buf witness attributed that to the escape of saliva from his mouth.

Cross-examined.—The boys often played at eoldiers, and Windham acted as a
leader among them. Some boys were tidier than others.

' SIR EDMUND LACON, COLONEL EAST NORFOLH MILITTA,

Sir BEdmund Lacon.—TI am colonel of the East Norfolk Militia. T remember re-
ceiving & letter from Mr. Windham applying for a commission. It was written
somewhere in Belgium, and was dated December, 1859, The letter was forwarded
to the Lord:-Lieutenant, and the application was granted. Mr. Windham joined tha'
regiment in 1860. He wrote a letter to the adjutant from Bandgate, Kent, on the
29th of March, in which he gaid:— :

1 have to inform you that I have just received a letter from Bir Edmund Lacon,
in which he says it rests with myself entirely whether I come or not. Since I de-
sire it, L certainly shall join on the 9th; and perhaps you will be kind enough to
write and inform me whether I am to appear in undress uniform or not. 1 should
feel obliged also if you conld inform me where I can get good lodgings near the sea,
ag it will be cheaper fur me to live there than at an hotel.” '

.When Mr. Windham joined, the regiment was out for a month’s training. Assoon
as he joined be commenced to learn his drill, and took his part in all the business of
the regiment. He got on very well with his drill—more quickly, indeed, than others,
beeanse he told me he had learnt his drill at Shorneliffe.  He was in all respects as

-competent ag the other young officers, and did all the duties required of a lientenant.

There was a. regimental mess at the hotel. I dined at the mess every day. Mr.
Windham was generally present, and many of the other officers. T saw nothing in
his conduct to attract my attention. He behaved like an officer and a gentleman.
In my conversations with him I never noticed any deficieney of intellect. He
talked like the other officers, and was alwaye rational and sensible in everything
he said or did.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Ha left Yarmouth when the training was
over. I saw Mr. Horrocks in Yarmounth. Mr. Windham never told me how he had
managed to come and join the regiment. Officers on joining have to learn the sword
and musket exercise and marching. Mr. Windham could do the manual and platoon
exercise. I mever had any complaints made to me about his conduct in Yarmouth.
One day, when the regiment was marching on to the parade-ground, Mr. Windham
called out, “ Shall I double up # T thonght that expression so strange coming from

-a recruib that I spoke to him on the subject, and it was then he told me that he had
learned his drill at Shorncliffe.  He was not reported to me for riding about with a
woman during the training. y :

Re-examined.—It was after the training wns over that T saw Mr. Horrocks in
Yarmouth. I had then no authority over Mr, Windham.

By the jury.—1I never saw Mr. Windham at a ball or in the society of ladies at
Yarmouth. He conducted himself like a gentleman at mess. He applied in the

firat instance for an ensigney, but there was several licutenancies vacant at the ti
i
-and he got one of them. y e
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ANTHONY HANLON, BERGEANT-MAJOR, EAST NORFOLK MILITIA,
Anthony Hanlon, sergeant-major of the East Norfolk Militia, said Mr. Windhams

‘when he joined came into his hands to be drilled. He attended regularly to his

drill, and learnt it faster than others—so fast, indeed, that I often all i
to stand at ease while the rest were going on with their ::lrill. He wnaﬂi:r:reiﬁg
tive, and gave not the slightest trouble. I thonght him a very smart officer, and
was sorry when he left the regiment. ;
- Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham commenced the drill from the
beginning, but he eould march well when he joined the regiment, and he was cone
sequently put into an advanced squad. He went through both the manual and platoon
exercises, but witness could not say whether he liked it or not. He was at drill five
hours a-day. He held a lientenancy in No, 3 Company, Captain Ensor ; there were
noother officersin the company. He was either junior lieutenant or junior but one.
Captain Ensor was generally with his company. None of the lieutenants had'
been long in the service.

Re-examined.—At an inspection of the regiment My, Windham carried the colours,
and did all his work properly on the occasion.

By the Jury.—I never saw him command the company in the captain’s absence.

ME. HOLMES, ADJUTANT BAST NORFOLK MILITIA,

Mr. Holmes.—I was formerly in the Hussars, and served in India and the
Crimea. I am adjutant of the East Norfolk Militia, and remember Mr. Windham:
joining in 1860. I saw him the whole time he was with the regiment. He drilled
under my directions, and was quicker at it than most other officers. 1 oceasionally
dined at the mess; Mr., Windbam was always present when I was there, and his
conduct was that of an officer and a gentleman. His address and conversation
were those of a sensible man. As paymaster I had to settle his accounts with him
he appeared to understand them, and he conducted the business the ssme as the
other officers.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—He always told me the truth. I may have
expressed an opinion about him, as other people have done, and I may have used
the words, “ He is an awful liar.” I live at Yarmouth, and have a family. The
officers of the regiment used to visit me. I do not think Mr. Windham ever ealled
at my house. The Yarmouth people are very hospitable. I know that Mr. Wind-
ham was in society at Yarmonth, but I was much engaged at the time, and never
met him in the social circle, Under the commanding officer I had the superin-
tendence of the whole of the drill. The whole of the regimental business passed
through my hands. I donot remember any report being made of young Windbam
going about in his regimentals with improper characters. It was his duty as ome-
of the junior lieutenants to carry the colours on parade. I heard that he had
joined the regiment without the knowledpe of his tutor, Mr. Horrocks, but 1 do not
remember whether he told me so himself or mot. I was not aware that he was in
the habit of driving railway engines.

Re-examined.—Mr. Windham was a good officer. During the training I never
went into society, Mr. Windham always told me the truth, and I said he was “an-
awful liar" on hearsay.

ME. SMITH, SURGEON, EAST NOEFOLK MILITIA.

Mr. Smith, surgeon of the East Norfolk Militia.—I dined at the mess several times.
during the training in 1860. Mr. Windham was always there, and conducied him- .
gelf very well indeed. I have had conversations with him. He wag uniformly

i gentlemanly in his behaviour, and appeared to be a man eof sense, quite aware of

what he was about, I saw no difference between him and the other officers.
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have met Mr. Windham in society. I
recollect seeing him at a musical party in Yarmouth. He conducted himself with
propriety in the drawing-room. 1 never had occasion to make any complaint about
him, We were not on very intimate terms. The musical party was given by Mr.
Harcourt, who at one time was member for Bucks.
By the Jury.—I did not see a great deal of Mr. Windham.

NICHOLAS CAWSTON, CARFENTER.

Nicholas Cawston, carpenter, said—1I have lived at Fellbrigg pretty nearly all my
life, and 1 am now E:eventy-ﬂﬂ?an years of age. 1 knew the great Mr. Windham,
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The late Mr. Windkam was a clever sort of a man, but hasty sometimes, and when
in o passion he wonld swear a little. He had great confidence in me, and left me
£5 when he died. I have kuown the present squire since his childhood. I am
elerk of the parish, and have no hesitation in saying that no man in England conld
eonduct himself better in church than Mr. Windham did. Mr. Windham has always
behaved well to me. He is perfectly sound in his mind, “and,” to Mr. Karslake,
¢ if he had your wig on his head he wonld make a very good counsellor.”
A langh.

¢ Gmss-eiaminaﬂ by Mr. Chambers.—Four or five weeks ago Mr. Windham sent
his servant to church to invite me to dinner. I accepted the invitation, and
have dined once or twice at Fellbrigg-hall since. I dined with the servants. Mr,
Windham did not sit down at table with us. I wasdischarged by Captain Windham,
the receiver, when the estate was put into Chancery, but I did not make a song
about the gallant gentleman in consequence, or sing it at the Hall at Christmas
in 1860.

Re-examined.—Captain Windham told me that the workhonse was the best place
for me. He iz a good sort, heis, I don't think! (A laugh.) I have managed to
keep out of the workhouse.

JANE MORRIS, CHAMBERMAID AT VICTORIA HOTEL, YARMOUTH,

Jane Morris, chambermaid at the Victoria Hotel, Yarmounth, said—I remember Mr.
Windham staying at the Victoria Hotel when the militia were out for training. It
was my duty to attend to his bedroom. T never noticed anything out of thensual
way about his clothes or his bed. He always behaved like a gentleman, and it never
struek me that there was anything wrong in his head.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers,—I’had nothing to do with Mr. Windham exceptin
the way of business, and never received a farthing frem him in my life. I have not
had much conversation with him at any time.

JAMES EETNOLDS, A WAGGONEE AT FELLBRIGG.

James Heynolds, a waggoner at Fellbrigg, had known Mr. Windham all his lifetime
had often talked with him about ploughing and farming operations generally,
and had never heard or seen him do anything which was nnusual, or which would
lead him to suppose that he was not right in his mind.

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham was very fond of horses, and drove a team pretty
well. There was nothing peculiar in his laugh, and I never heard him shouting
He was always very quiet when with me.

ANNE THURSTON, BERVANT AT FELLBRIGG.

Anne Thurston said—I was in the service of old Mr. Windham at Fellbrigg at the
time of his death. The household was then reduced, but I returned to Fellbrigg abont
three yeas ago. Since then I have seen young Mr. Windham from time to time. I
left with Mrs. Martin, Mr. Windham was always gentlemanly and cleanly in his
habits; there was no difference between him and other gentlemen.

Cross-Examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have often seen him in the pantry, but
never wiping glasses. He would sometimes go into the kitchen, but he would not
stop long. His object was to speak to Mrs. Martin. His hands and face were
always remarkably clean, and his clothes were particulavly neat and tidy, while in
his linen he was as particnlar a8 a lady. I have seen a little slaver at his mouth, but
he always used his pocket-handkerchief. I never noticed anything peculiar about
his voice or his langh. He langhed loudly, but not very much—just like other

young men. I never heard him swear. He waa fond of joking with the servants
but he was not particularly rough or noisy.

THOMAB SCOTT, LAROURER, FELLERIGG.

Thomas Scott, a labourer at Fellbrigg, had often talked with Mr. Windham about
the dairy business, and believed hin to be of perfectly sound mind. k

ALLAN SHEPHERD, BLACKSMITH; FELLBRIGG.

Allan Shepherd, blacksmith on the estate, gave similar evidence. He denied in
eross-examination that after making an affidavit, he bad said, “I'm not going to
lose my bread.” He did all the iron work on the Fellbrigg estate.

By the Jury.—Had heard old Mr. Windham holloa when he was alone in the pare

The son sometimes did the same,
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JONATHAN LINES, PELLBRIGS.

Jonathan Lines, who attended Mr. Windham when ont shooting, eaid he was
very careful with his gun, and always condueted himself like the other gentlemen.
Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham had cantioned other gentlemen to be careful with
their guns, and he had given a similar warning to the gamekeeper. Wher I have
been at his gide,l have heard him ery out to the other gentlemen not to fire, or they
would shoot me. : '
JAMES KNOWLES, BUTLER, FELLBRIGG.

James Knowles, butler at Fellbrigg, said he entered the service in 1843, and
staypd till 1847. I went back again a few months ago, and am there now. In the
interval 1 served in the Bristol family, and in the Army and Navy Club. Mr.
‘Windham told me years age that when he came of age he wounld have me for his
butler. He has carried out his promise. 3r. Windham when a boy was very high-
spirited, and was indulged by his parents. He now gave all the orders in his house,
and presided at table. His conduct towards the servants was very kind. He ia

assionate at times, but his father was the same, and worse. The fita do not last
long. 1 believe him to be a man of sound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Everything in the honse is left to me.
Mr. Windham unever told me, though I was a confidential servant, that he was
going to be married. I donot know whether Lady Sophia had a whip to keep her
son i order ; if she had I never saw it. I was not present when Mr. Windham
tucked up his sleeves and helped the servants to clear the table at the Marquis of
Bristol's, in St. James's-square, Mr, Windham, when in a passion, was not more
violent than other yonng gentlemen. I have observed a little saliva about his
month, but nothing very particular; I bave certainly never seen it running down
upen his clothes. I was engaged to go down as butler to Fellbrige by Mr. Lewsllin,
who over and over again told me that I would find Mr, Windbam a good master.
I was present ab the Christmas drink. There were 45 persons present. The dinner
consisted of wine and beer. There were half-a:dozen of champagne, half-a-dozen
of claret, and some port and sherry. In the evening the carpet was taken up in
the dining-room, and the company engaged in dancing. I heard Mr. Windham in
the room, but I did not notice that his face was blacked, and that he was dressed
something like a clown. Mr. Windham did not kick the candlesticks ont of my
hands. 1 dropped a candlestick, and Mr. Windham kicked it—perhaps acei-
dentally—in passing, and told me to bring another. I did mot see Mr. Windham
throw himself nmpon the floor and imitate. the action of swimming. There were
gome people at the dinner who were not tenants of Mr. Windham. Many of the
witnesses were present. When I gaw Mr. Windham the following morning he did
not speak to me abont what he had heard of his conduct the night before. Mr.
Windham was at Fellbrigg for several days at Christmas. He dined at home every
day. Once or twiee he had a guest, but I do not remember the name, thongh I
have sesn the same gentieman some years ago. I do not know whether Mr.
Windham was away on the Monday before Christmas, but he was away on the
Tnesday.

Renu:umined.—ln his bovhood Mr. Windham was allowed to wait at table from the
soup to the dessert. He used to go throngh the work with the mtmost gravitv, and
his parents never interfered with him. In old Mr. Windham's time all the servants
about the hounse, and the principal people employed on the estate, dined at the hall
on Christmas-day, and had a dance in the evening. I have no idea in the world who
has given all the information about the dinner last Christmas. .

By the Jury.—Mr. Windham was merry on Christmas night, but he was not
' ® fregh.” 1 was never told anything abont Mr. Windham having his face blackened.
There is a regular wine account kept in the hounse. Mr. Windham allowed me to
zeep the key of the wine callar,

: EDWARD SMITH, CLERK TO MR, BUCKMASTER, TAILOR.

Edward Bmith, travelling clerk to Mr. Buckmaster, tailor, New Burlington.streets
gaid—in March 1861, I was staying at the Yacht Hotel, Guernsey, aad saw M-
Windham there. Mr. Windham told me that he expected in May to get a commission

in the 2nd Life Guards, and gave me an order for some clothes. He conducted him-
welf like a gentleman, and T had not the slightest suspicion that there was anything

wrong in his mind, He talked sensibly enough.
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.examined.—There were many young officera wh-la. were not particularly wise
in E:ﬁfr!ersmiun. Mr. Buckmaster's bill had not been paid.

The inquiry was again adjourned. |

NINETEENTH DAY.—THurspAY, Jax. 9. .

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of M. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
ball, Norfolk, was resumed yesterday in the Court of Exchequer, Westminster,
b fore Mr. Warren, Q.0., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Home Williams appeared for the
petitioners; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophis Giubilei, the mother of the alleged
lunatic ; Sir Hogh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for Mr. Willinm

Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

. Mr. Karslake, in reply to a question from the Master, stated that he hoped to
finizsh the evidence for Mr. Windbam by Monday or Tuesday next.

Mr. Robinson, surgeon, stated that Lady Sophia Giubilei, the mother of Mr,
Windham, was unable from illness to attend and be re-examined as a witness n
this case. !

CAPTAIN ENSOR, 38TH REGIMENT.

Captain Ensor.—T was at one time in the 38th Regiment. After Ileft the army
T abtained a commission in the East Norfolk Militia. I hold it now. When 3lr.
Windham joined the regiment he was posted to my company. I was in daily com-
munication with him doring the training of 1860. Isaw him at mess, as well as else-

where, almost every day. He was constant in his duty on parade, and performed
hiz duty exceedingly well—very zealonsly indeed. He proved himself an unusually -
efficient subaltern to me. At mess his conduet was unobjectionable. From first to
last, as far as my observation went, he behaved like an officer and a gentleman.
. After the training I saw nothing of him till the end of September, 1861. = At that
time I was on a visit to a brother officer in the neighbourhood of Fellbrige. L
called on Mr. Windham, and I found him with his wife and two of her sisters. Hia
manner was very friendly. He introduced me to the ladies. After some conversa-
' tion, he told me that he and his wife were going to ride, and asked me toaccompany

them. We rode through the park to a cottage, which he said he wighed to look aw,.
with a view to necessary repairs. He got off his horse and inspected the cottage,
both outside and inside. We then rode to a farmhouse, when he introduced Mrs,
Windham in the nsual way to the farmer's wife, When wa returned to the hall he
asked m>2 to stay to dinmer. He said he wished to dine early, as he had to attend
an agricultural meeting at South-honse. I declined the invitation, in consequence
of an engagement elsewhere, and after taking a glass of wine I left the hall. I
believe him to be of perfectly sonnd mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—As his captain I was very intimate with him
but 1 do not know how he passed his evenings after mess. He did not tell me how
he had managed to join the regiment, nor did he make me acquainted with his
passion for driving railway engines, or with his habit of acting as a policeman. I

“do not know with what persons he associated at reviews. 1was present at a review
in Norwich, but T did not see 3r. Windham there. I cannot give you the name of
any youug officer with whom he was in the habit of associating as & friend. He had
just joined the regiment; he was friendly with us ail; but I do not know that he
had any particnlar companion. As the youngest officer it was his duty to carry the
colours when the regiment was paraded, aud, as far as I recollect, he always did soe
I associated with him at my own lodgings and at mess, but I had no time to walk.
with him arm-in-arm about the town. 1 do not think he was in the habitof leaving
the mess before it broke up. I have seen him associating with ladies at pavties. I
saw him at a ball. - T did not see him making a great noise on the stairs; he was in
the room dancing. T saw him at a musical party given by Mr. Havcourt. He
behaved himself in a becoming manmer. He used to talk a good deal, and there
was a peculiarity in the sonnd of his voice. I had neither seen nor heard of Mra,
Windham before I was introduced to her by her husband.

Be-examined.—The peculiarity in his voice arese, 1 think, from a difficulty in
articnlation. There was nothing in his conduct at mess which at all attracted my .
abtemtion. Any miscondut wonld have been noticed at once. He used to visit me
at my lodgings. Once or twice I aent him to march my company up from the
private parade to the general parade. ,

By the Master.—He seemed to have a great liking for military service.
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By the Jury.—He performed his duoties as a subaltern to my satisfaction. Wa
]:.n]:il no iiald days, but we had an inspection. His conversation was consequent and
coherent.

ME, BINGHAM, TATLOLR, NORWICH,

Mr. Thomas Bingham, tailor in Norwich, said he had known Mr, Windham sinca
October, 1859. He had supplied him with clothes; his orders were always sgensibla
and moderate, and he showed great shrewdness in selecting the different articles
which I made up forhim. In August, 1861, just after he came of age, he gave an
order to me for for clothes for his servants, and also for an overcoat for himself.
His orders, both then and at other times, were exactly similar to those which I was

in the habit of receiving from other gentlemen. He was very particular abont the .

fit of his clothes, especially his trousers. I had a conversation with him in November
last. On that occasion he said his education had been neglected, and he had nothing
to thank his family for in that respect. I never suspected that there was anything
wrong in his head.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—His conversation with witness was alwaya
extremely sensible. It was not superior, but was equal to that of other young
gentlemen in the neighbonrhood of Norwich. Witness never heard that an
ebjection was made to the payment of one of hia bills against Mr. Windham. Tha
amonnt of a bill which witneas rendered to Mr. Martin, the bailiff, and which still
remained nnpaid, was a little over £57. It was all due for clothes for Mr. Windham
himself. Mr. Windham showed great shrewdness in choosing the patterns and
examining the guality of the eloth. He never ordered a railway suit. Witness
never heard of his propensity for driving engines and acting as a guard. When
he told witness that his education had been neglected, and that he had nothing to
thank his family for in that respeect, he spoke seriously, like a mam who really
believed what he said. ; ; }

Mr. Charles Howlitt, an ironmonger in Norwich, said he had transactions in
business with Mr. Windham, extending over three years. Mr. Windham gave hiz

orders himself, and they were always sensible, moderate, and proper. At vrions-

times he ordered cast-iron mangers for the stables, a hot and cold water bath,
powder, and shot, and other things. His conduct and _conversation were n_lwn}:n
those of a sensible man. He instructed witness from time to time to send in his
account, and managed his business like other gentlemen. :
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers—When Mr. Windham came to the shop in
Norwich he wore the dress of a gentleman, and was clean and neat in his appear-
ance. I do mot know where the Fellbrigg gamekeeper got his powder and shof.
It was not at his shop. Mr. Windham was always alone when he came to the shop.
On one oeccasion he ordered a tea urn and an electro-plated tea service, and took
them away in a cab. I understood that Mr. Windham was at Fellbrigg at that time.
Once he gave me a £50 note for a £5 note, and a sovereign in payment of a bill. He
appeared to have three or four other notes in his pocket-book at the time. I once

eaw Mr. Windham in the theatre in Norwich. He was in one of the npper boxes, and

conducted himself properly. A week or two ago I accompanied Mr. Windham and
a party to Ilrnryala.l:m P’i‘hegt:-u. We occupied & box. W? went tu}ha theatre from
Brett’s Hotel, in Holborn, where I was staying. Mr. Windham did not dine there.
The party met him by appointment outside the theatre. He treated us all. We Etﬂyﬁf
till the end of the pantomime. Mr. Windbam drove off from the theatre ina :II: 4
and I went to the Haymarket, where I had a glass of ale. 1 thought 1 ua.wI m?il ;:-
. witness in the Haymarket. After I had the glass of ale I went straight home. I had the
ale in Barnes'sa public-house inthe Haymarket, on the left hand going up. 1had t?m
geen Mr. Windham there at night since the commencement of this inquiry. he
firgt time was about ten o'clock, and Mr. Windbam was talking to the ln;ﬁlogg in
front of the bar. The second time was about the same hour, and Mr. ]ﬂIlld aﬂ
was speaking to a gentleman with a moustache. He had a glass of ale. I : n
think it necessary to caution him abont frequenting the Haymarket dun:g: the I:um;
gress of these proceedings. 1 was mot presumptuous enough to offer ;mhnt :
gentleman like Mr. Windham. Mr. Windham conducted himself PTEBT ¥s ol
did not think it was right for him, under present circumstances, mf& t_“ Erl:houﬁ
in the Haymarket, though he declined to say whether it was the act o 131 o
man or not. At that time Mr. Windham was staying with Buhertl-'ti! in ':h :
and T had dined with him there along with others. Roberts did not dine with them
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cham 0. After dinner Mr. Windham weont
ol 'hﬂg ff:‘lfﬂt?mﬁa ;lr:loasggdmm the E?hg;mhm, where I saw General Windham.
?'aﬁ;.fa Emtllﬂ time with Mr. Windham ntl; P:'[iizadﬂf WCI.::;. tt]il;t ﬂﬂ:.l:::imnlrc:u:: ]ﬁm t?li
I m that he cught not to live wit erte. : :
E:a E.i;ﬂdha ful to live wi%h such a fellow. M’r Windham said Imhm::g wn.f ? hnr.;
gort, and he intended to leave him. After j.min;.r n;hqi‘::dpn;gt:dﬁn}:;tm BF:rTh ct;:?e
i in Barnes’s. Intha interval, visit I 5
;{Ejdwzth:t:ty till the end of the performance. Mr. Windham did not tell me that
night, or on any other occasion, that he intended to give a grand ball It:ru t!..er?n?;;
in the Haymarket, nor did he tell me that he was still in the habit of going a. mth
nightly to the Haymarket. 1 presumed, however, from seeing him twice 1;11 ]
Haymarket that he was still in the habit of going there. I saw Mr. Win n.u;
talking to a woman in the Haymarket, but did not hear what he said. He was no
laughing or making a noise, nor was thera a crowd of women u_l'-u.nltlhng about him.
Tt was last Thuredsy night I wentto the Alhambra. I never said, “They have got
up young Windham very well; he really looks a clever young fellow.” At Norwich
T never associated with Mr. Windham, except in the way of business. ]
Re.examined.—All the persons who went to Drury-lane Theatre with M::.
Windham, and who dined with him in Piceadilly, were witnesses from Norfolk,
staying in London at his expense. I believe that 3r. Windham had broken off his
acquaintance with Roberts, and was now living at Morley’s Hotel. When he saw
Geperal Windham in the Alhambra, he was accompanied by Mr. Hangsell, his
solicitor ; they left early, and I could noteay whether or not he met them afterwards
in the Haymarket. ; :
By the {In:.abar.—%an I dined with Mr. Windham, and went with him to the
theatre, he did not seem cast down or dejected ; on the contrary, he was in excellent
irits. _ :
ﬂ:E]I:'I_r,r the Jury.—I gave Mrs. Windham a stamped receipt for the money given to
him in payment of his account.

MR, COLMAN, FISHMONGER, NORWICH.

Mr. Charles Colman, fishmooger and dealer in game in Norwich, said—I have
transacted business with Mr, Windham, The prices I gave to Mr. Windham for his
extra game were—5s. a brace for pheasants, 2s. for partridges, hares 2s. each, and
9g. a dozen for rabbits. Mr. Windham discussed the prices, and seemed to under-
stand perfectly what he was abont. He eame for the money himself, and gave a
stamped receipt ; in fact, he conducted the business just like any other gentleman.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—It was usual for gentlemen themselves,
and not their gamekeepers, to bargain for the sale of their extra game, Mr.
Windham was alone when he agreed upon terms with me.

Re-examined.—My account with Mr. Windham was kept precisely in the same
way as those with other gentlemen.

ME. H. W. BURE, BEERKS.

Mr. H. W. Burr, of Wokingham, Berks, said I have been in the habit for gome
years of preparing young gentlemen for the army. In November, 18568, Mr.
Windham came to me, and stayed till February, 1859. During that time he was
away on a short vacation. He came to me to read for the army examination.
His studies were history, geography, mathematics, classics, French, and fortifi-
cations. I had other pupils at the same time. I consider Mr. Windham rather
quick at learning than otherwise. He was not assiduous, but if he chose he could
learn more than some others. He had two horses, and occasionally went out
shooting. T was occupied with him, more or less, daily. Mr. Windham, when he
. came to me, knew something of the classics, but his education in common things—

apelling, grammar, and the modern langnages—had been meglected. His manner
was nniformly regular and gentlemanly ; he behaved in the house quite as well as
the majority of pupils. There was nothing dirty or unbecoming in his dress, and
he was as dainty as others about hig linen. At times he was rather particular
" than otherwise about his personal appearance. There was nothing at all in his
conduct to find fault with. He did not work go hard as somg other boys, but he
had sufficient ability to pass the army examination. Indeed, if he had chosen to
apply himself, he could have passed better than some who have paseed since. I
believe him to be a man of perfectly sound mind, ; R
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- Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers, —His i they .
in such an establishment. Mr: Windham \::Iaﬂ .ﬁ::;lla;- %tpﬁctmwﬁuﬁgnm
and made no peculiar noise while eating. T observed the unusal formation of his
mouth, and oceasionally noticed the saliva: running from the corners, but not to an
great extent. EEZa had seen him rather pxeited from drink, but némr heard hmji
FWear. Me. Windham was not in the habit of drinking more than was d for
him. He had a good appetite, but he did not eat voracionsly, I uuﬁ hi
“ Buclid.”  He got about half way through the first book. Hp had a v gnc:il
knowledge of geography and history. Mr. Windham eame to me to be mi‘;.?mmd
and he would Lave been crammed well if he had remained fop six weeks or two
months longer. 1 was under the impression that he left because he had got into
debt in the neighbourhood. = His debts altogether amounted to abont €70, [ heard
of his fondness for driving railway engines, but could not say that I had seen him
coming home covered with dirt and soot. He bad not an idiotic laugh, nor was he
JI:; ert]::y habit of langhing more than others. He was taken away by Lord Alfred
Re-examined.—I got in Mr. Windham's bi i i
O s theﬁ?:. ham's bills and paid them. There was nothing
méBy the Master.—Mr. Windham was grounded in many branches before he came to
MRS. BURR.

Mrs. Burr corroborated the evidence of her husband as to the gantlemanly conduct
and manner of Mr. Windham. His habits, she said, were cleauly. He was rather
particular about his linen, and his langnage was never offensive. From first to last
he behaved himself decently and rationally. He was kind to the servants.

Cross-examined.—I have observed a little saliva at the corners of his mouth while
eating, but not much. :

: | REV. MR. HURST, OF WOKINGHAM.

The Rev. Mr. Hurst, curate of Wokingham, said he became acquainied with Mr.
Windham when he was staying at Mr. Burr's, and gave him lessons in mathematics.
Mp. Windham had the average ability in learning mathematics, and there was
nothing abont him to lead to the conclusion that his mind was impaired. 1 believe
him to be perfectly sane.

Cross.examined.—What he taught Mr. Windham wasarithmetic—addition, sub-
traction, and vulgar fractions, ,

By the Master—I considered him the brightest youth in mathematics at Mr. Burr’s.

ME. COOE, SOLICITOR, WORINGHAM.

Mr. Cook, solicitor at Wokingham, said—T knew Mr. Windham when he was at
Mr. Burr's. Mr. Windham rode and drove about a good deal, and on one occasion
he drove me himself. After the Reading Steeple-chase in TFebruary, 1859, Ar.
Windham told me that somebody had run into’and broken his dog-eart, and wished
me to find out who it was,  becanse he wanted to make the person pay the coach-
maker's bill. = I made inqniries, found out the person, and obtained the amount of
the bill—£1, 10s. I met Mr. Windham at the opening of the Wellington College,
and on many other oceasions, and believed him to be a man of sound mind.

Cross-examined.—Never saw him do anything strange.

ELIZABETH CROSSLEY, NORWICH.

Elizabeth Crossley, chambermaid and barmaid at the Doke's Palace Hotel, Nor-
wich, said Mr. Windham was in the habit of staying there occasionally as well as
his two uncles, Captain and General Windham. Younng Mr. Windham had slept at
the hotel. He always conducted himself like a gentleman, and she never observed
anything peculiar in his room.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers—Mr. Windham was last at the hotel on the
Saturday before Christmas, I do nob recoilect whether there was anybody with
him except his servant. :

By the Jury.—Mr. Windham was owing money at the hotel. 1 did not know tho
amount, but it was over £100. I g

By the Master.—The bill began in September; 1860, and was principally for things
supplied to Mr. Windham and the keep of his horses.

MRS, ANN WARNER, BEDFORD HOTEL, COVEXT GARDEN.

Mrs, Ann Warner, landlady of the Bedford Hotel, Covent Garden, said—Mr.
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Windham stayed with her in May last for a fortnight. During that time she had
constant mmﬂicatinn with him; he conducted himself like a gentleman, and ghe

did not notice anything peculiar about him. {1'e
Cross-examined.—Mr, Peatfield, his tator, was with him,

By the Master.—He paid thebill himself.  There was nothing in his appearance
or conyersation to lead her to suppose that he was deficient in understanding,

ME. SEELEY, STATIONMASTER, B, U. LINE.

" Mr. W. Seeley, stationmaster on the Eastern Union line at Norwich, had seen
Ar. Windham at the station as an occasional traveller. He took out his ticket in
the usual way, and conducted himself in all respeets like an ordinary passenger.
" Mr. Chambers.—I have no question to put to the witness, who has cost much and
told ns little. _.
' MR. PABKER, INSPECTOR, THORFE STATION.
Mr. Parker, passenger in tor, at the Thorpe Station, near Norwich, gave

similar avid::ca, and stated t’{h[zﬂlh. Windbam, in F;i‘sund:m militia uniform, might.

easily have been mistaken for a railway gnard. s !
Cross-examined.—A belt and pouch formed no part of the Militia uniform.

ME. CHAPMAN, RECIEVING OFFICER, PELLDRIGG.

Mr. Chapman, relieving officer of the union in which Fellbrigg is included, said—
1 have known Mr. Windham for many yeats, and have negotiated the taking of a
farm with him. The negotiation took place about this time last year, and I took
possession of the farm, in the presence of Mr. Windham, at Michaelmas. I believe.
the squire to be a man of sense.

Other evidence of a similar character was given, and the inguiry was adjourned.

TWENTIETH DAY.—Fripay, Jax. 10.

The adjonrned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigz-
hall, Norfolk, was resomed in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr,
Werren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury. :

AMr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Home Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hogh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karalake, .C., and My. Milward
for My, Willinm Frederiek Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

It was arranged this morning that counsel should be present at the interview
which the Master and jury proposed to have with Mr. Windham at the close
of the case. . '
Carrain IVES oF NORFOLK.

‘Captain Ives, examined by Mr, Karslake.—I am a county magistrate and deputy-
lientenant of Norfolk, and have known the Windham family for many years. 1 first.
met young Mr. Windham about two years ago at a dinner party in Norwich. At
that time Mr. Horrocks was living with him. Mr. Windham acted like any other
gentleman in the room. Shortly afier he invited me to Fellbrigg to meet the hounds.
and asked me to send my horses. I accepted the invitation, which was given
through Br, Horrocks, and went to Fellbrigg on the 10th of January, 1860. There
was nobody in the houseexcept Mr. Horrocks. I stayed three days and four nights.
On one of the evenings Mr., Mrs., and Miss SBcott and Captain Windham diuved there.
One day Mr. Windham went out to dinewith Lord Suffield; Mr. Horrocks remained
with me. T went ont with the hounds twice: Mr. Windkam accompanied me. ;. He
rode o horse belonging to Lord Buffield. He dined at my house at the end of
Jannary. During my stay at Fellbrigg he behaved like 'a gentleman, as far as I
coulil judge, and he rode very well with the hounds. Lord Suffield lent him a.
horse on two oceasions while I was there. T went into the stables with My, Wind-
. ham. ' Neither there nor in the hunting-field did I ever see any cruelty on his part
- towards the horses. Last summer T met him frequently in Londoen,; Mrs, lves
was in London'at the time, and was in the habit of riding with me in the Park,
We tsed to se¢ Mr. Windham frequently in the Park, riding. = He joined ns once
ar twice. I liked thelook of tho horse he was riding one day, aud asked him
whether he would sell it. He said he had just bought it for £40, and seemod
ﬂmﬂmcline& to part with it. ' As san indocement I offered him £50 for the animal,
thinking he wonld easily get anether for himself, for I considered him to bea good
judge of horses. 1 have seen him driving once since hs married. |1 was going:

/
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throngh Aylsham, and T saw him driving a fonr-in-hand i
h | overtook him very soon. He pulled r.-ng::mu side and T diﬁ:ﬂu;h:iimzhﬂﬁ'
1 asked him about the horse I had fancied in London, and ke told me it had met
with an accident and T could not ‘have it at all. He drove very steadily on thai
occasion. I believe him to be a person of gound mind, %

Cross.examined by Mr. Chambers.—I had an impression that he was & fast driver
and thonght he might try to pass me on the Norwich road, but he made no attempt
todo so. I had heard that he had driven the mail cart once from Cromer to
Aylsham, and that circumstance may have given me the notion that he was a fast
driver. I was invited to Fellbrigg by Mr. Horrocks at the request of Mr. Windham.
I had gone to bed when Mr. Windham returned from the dinner at Lord Saffield’s
‘When I overtook him on the Norwich road he was by himeelf. 1 have not EEBI;.
him since that day. When I met him in the park last summer he was generally
riding alone. He joined Mrs. Ives and me once or twice, but generally, if I wanted
to gpeak to him, T turned and rode with him. He rode rather faster than we did. T
saw him riding once with a lady who breaks in horses. It waa not Miss Gilbert,
but I think it was a lady of good character. That was the only time I saw him
riding with a lady. Mr. Horrocks and he did not seem to be on very good terms.
Mr. Windham did not appear to like his tutor. At the dinner party of which I
have epoken Mr. Horrocks sat opposite Mr. Windham.

Re-examined.—I formed the opinion that Mr. Windham and Mr. Horrocks were
not very good friends from what the latter told me.

By the jury.—Mr. Horrocks told me that Mr. Windham was difficult to manage.

Major Glover, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I reside near Fellbrigg, and am Major
in the East Norfolk Militia. I was out with the regiment for training in 1860.
I had known Mr. Windham for a short time before that. I dined with him at
Fellbrigg in December, 1859. Dauring the training in 1860 he learnt his drill very
quickly, performed all his duties in an efficient manner, and his conduct at
mess was that of an officer and a gentleman. I did not observe in him an
indication of want of intellect. When I dined with him at Fellbrigg he behav
himeelf properly. I have notseen him since the training in 1860,

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Colonel S8ir Edward Lacon dined every day
at mess and kept very good order. I saw very little of Mr. Windham except at
mess and had no means of judging of his truthfulness. 1 never saw him in the
streets after mess. At drill, as far as I saw, he was obedient, and seemed to like it.
I saw no difference between his conduct and that of the other young officers. I
am not aware that he had any particular ‘companion in the regiment.

Re-examined.—Mr. Windham did not require to be kept in order at mess. Hea
was the youngest officer in the corps. ] :

By the Master.—1 saw Mr. Windham at a ball in Yarmouth, but observed
nothing particular in his behaviour. Any misconduct on his part would have been,
noticed at ence. - When I dined at Fellbrigg the guests were Mr,, Mra,, m}d Mies
Scott ; Mr. Pears, Captain King, Mr. Baring, and Mr. Horrocks. = Mr. Windham
and Mr. Horrocks seemed to get on very well together at dinner. .

REY. ME. DOLPHIN, OF ANTINGHAM,

The Rev. Mr. Dolphin, rector of Antingham, in Norfolk.—I knew the late Mr
Windham very well, and have known the present Mr. Windham since his child-
hood. His father was a passionate man. I made the remark more than once that
T did not think the present Mr. Windham would turn out well in consequence of
the then contradictory and inconsistent control he received from his parents. In ,
December, 1860, he and Mr. Peatfield dined with me. There were ladies as well -
as gentlemen at table. Mr. Windham talked ina loud tone of voice, but thara :
was nothing particular in his conduct. I am chairman of the Board of Guardians.
On one oceasion Mr. Windham came and spoke to me about a pauper in one of his
parishes. He said it was o case deserving of relief; the man had been out of
work for two or three weeks, but as he was s single man Mr. Windham thought
he had not been attended to. I told him that his statements m::ulﬂ receive every
attention. An inguiry was made into the case. Mr. Windham's rﬂpr_ﬁﬂﬂﬂtat-mn;
turned ont to be perfectly correct, and the man was relieved. Last spring 1 hear
that Mr. Windham was sbout to bo marsied to a lady of good family. About that
time T met him near my own house, snd congratulated him upon the proposed
marriage. He replied, * Thank you,” and upon my mentioning the name of
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td. “Yes, that is the lady.”” Last summer—in July—I saw Mr
%’?ﬁﬁh&?n Eﬂ;::l' Lord ’Suﬁ'ialﬂ's. Ha agayetl and dined. Before _ﬂinPEr Lord
Suffield, My, Windham, and T walked throngh the grounds to the dairy tu?m. On
that occasion I was with him an hour, His remarks were perfectly gensible and
yational, and he seemed to understand the subjects of mrfvemntmn. From what I
have seen of him I balieve him to be a person of gound mind. - ]
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—And as eapable of managing his estate as
_many others who come into their property without knowing the value of money.
Old Mr. Windham was a passionate man, and on two occasions h\? exhibited his
passion at the board of guardians. I think he swore. I have seen him angry with
myself about politics. Young Mr. Windham, as I,predicted, has not turned oub
very well. I never saw his parents severe to him. He was an affectionate boy, and
1 never saw him in a passion. IHis parents treated him irregulavly and capricicusly.
When be came down after dinner his father would tell him one thing, and the next
minute his mother would tell him the very reverse. I have mot heard at different
times that he was about to be marvied to different ladies. Besides the occasion I
have mentioned, there wans some talk of his going to be married to a young lady at
Torquay. I have not heard that he wasin the habit of falling in love with young
ladies

By i—.he Master,—I never saw him waiting at table in the dress of a page.
Re-examined.—I should call old Mr. Windham a hasty man.
By the Jary.—I know General Windham very well. He has never expressed
himsell in an unkindly manner towards his nephew in my hearing.
gIE HENRY ROBINSON.

Sir Henry Robinson.—I live near Fellbrigg, and made Mr, Windham's acquaintance
abont a year ago at a dinner given by the last witness. I spoke to kim aboug
shooting and other matters. His conduct during the evening was that of a gentle-
man. %waa present at a review near Cromer. Mr, Windham was mounted and
acted as aide-de-camp. He rode rather fast, and was not quite careful enough of
the spectators, but otherwise his conduct was quite proper. In August last I gave
an archery ball; Mr. Windham was invited, but did not come in consequence of his

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers,.—Mr. Windham talked rather loudly at dinner,
but not so as to attract attention. The review near Cromer was not an important
affair. The mounted force consisted of about half-a-seore of irregular cavalry. (A
langh.) Mr. Windham was aide-de-camp to the commander, Mr. Charles Buxton,
and earried his orders from one part of the field to another. (A langh.)) He did
not wear a cocked hat and feathers, but he had a sword by his side. He rode ata
- brisk trot, and when the coast was clear he broke into a gallop. I believe the troops
ultimately made a charge. (A laungh.)

" MmS. VOYSEY, BOARDING-HOUSE KEEPER, ETON.

Mrs. Voysey said she had kept a boarding-house at Eton for eight years. Mr.
W‘i-nﬂhﬁm came to my house in the Faster quarter of 1855, and stayed till J nly,
1856. 1 bad from fifteen to twenty boys in my house when he was there, 1 saw
them daily, and was always present with them at dinner and supper. Windham
was a decu}edijr noigy boy, but he was always obedient to me and treated me with:
respect. No complaint of his conduct was made to me personally. He associated
::th the other boys in the house on equal terms, I heard of his being called

mad Windbam.” That is a very common thing at Hton. . Ai the present
moment there are several boys called “mad.” He was not extravagant, rather
the contrary. Alter he left my house I saw him from time to time in the street,
and I have seen him once since he left Bton, On that occasion hig manner was
perfectly gentlemanly and proper. I considered him to be peculiar, but he was
decidedly a boy of sound mind. I have appeared as a witness much against my will.

Cross-examined by Mr, Glzamher&—\%‘inﬂhnm was noisy and rackety in the
house, bat he was not in the habit of slamming doors and shonting about the:
ﬁggaugca._ He was once rude to one of the servants, and was punished for it. I

o not think he swore at the servant, The epithet * mad” was not one which they
E.‘H‘] much attention to at Eton. I do not remember receiving & complaint aboat
8 doing injury fo his bed. When he was in my house he could take cave of

himeelf, but T might have eaid that ; i
St n::-:l s h%.m. at 1t wounld be advissble to Lave some one to logk!

L3
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Re-examined.—T have read a good deal about him in the newspapers. When T
last saw him he was quite able to manage himself.

By the jury.—‘-"i’in%hum left my house in consequence of a misunderstandi
'be!,;']reanﬂ Lady Sophia and herself. I thought he was a boy who would be
easily led.

MRS, SOPEIA GIBSON, ETON,

Mra. Sophia Gibson, examined by Sir H. Cairns, said—I was head boys’ maid at Mr.
Balston's one of the masters at Eton, when Mr. Windham lodged there. I never
saw him at all extravagant—indeed, quite the reverse; and I heard him say he had
been warned by his father not fo get into debt at Eton. Lord Marsham was his
most intimate friend. On one oceasion Lord Marsham fell upon a knife which Mr.
Windham held in his hand, but that made no difference in their friendship: it was
always considered an accident. Windham was rough and rude, but nobody brought
his best behaviour to school. I consider him to be of perfectly sound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham was not particularly neisy. I
never heard him called ** mad.” Many boys were called “mad’ at Eton, and it
was generally the more clever boys who were termed so. (A laugh.) Windham was
not the cleanest boy at Eton, but he was not particalarly dirty in his habits. There
was something peculiar in the sound of his voice, but I do not reco llect secing the
galiva running from his mouth. I have seen him often with a dirty face and hands,
but Eton boys are very often dirty.

Re-examined.—It often happened that the ringleader at Eton was called © mad ™

MRS, COCKBEURN, ETON.

Mrs. Cockburn, head boys’ maid at Mrs. Drury’s, in Eton, when Mr. Windbam:
was there, said—I attended to him and looked after his linen. He played with the
other boys, and always behaved like a gentleman. Many have been called *“ mad™ as
well as he. He did not get into more scrapes than the other boys. He was always
full of spirits, but did not give unusnal trouble. He has visited me geveral times
since he left Hton, and always appeared like a gentleman. I believe he was as sonnd -
in his mind as I am myself. (A laugh.)

Cross-examined by Mr. Field—Mr. Cheales, the tutor, lived in the houre with
Windham The latter was not particnlarly rough and rode, and I never heard him
speak strangely. There was nothing particular in his veice; in fact, he was in all
respects like other young gentlemen.

MISS KATE ARCHEZ,

Miss Kate Archer, the 100th witness, examined by Mr. Karslake.—1I live in George--
street, Portman-square. At the beginning of the summer of 1560, contrary to my
usual practice in town, I was riling in the park one morning without a servant. My
horse became restive. Mr, Windham rode up, and assisted me, as any gentleman
wonld have done, and he has often since visited me as a friend. On the .‘SSEI'&!. of Sa_p-
tember last General Windham called at my honse, and I had a conversation with.
him.

Mr. Karslake.—What did he say? 3

Mr. Chambers did not know what was coming, but he submitted that a conver-
sation between General Windham and Miss Archer conld not be accepted as evidence-
in this easze,. : . .

Sir H. Cairns maintained that he was entitled to place before the jury evidence-
of the conduct pursued by General Windham, one of the petitioners, during the
getting up of the case against his nephew. Supposing he could prove that General
Windham had either tampered with witnesses, or declared that he thonght his
nephew to be perfectly sane, surely that would be strictly revelant to the present- @
inquiry. :

Mr Karslake and Mr. Milward were heard on the same side. :

Mr. Chambers contended that as they m{:;rﬁ not trying ?epem&l Windham, bub.

i insanity of his nephew, ths evidence was not admissable. "
th?[‘;:rnﬁ::.u‘:;r]:;id tgnt if he wgre tr}ing Genersl Windham for maliciously obtain-,
ing a commission of lunacy against his nephew he wonld admit the evidence, but as .
the question before the Court was the state of mind of Mr. Windham he was boand
to reject it, becanse it would raise a collateral iszoe, and lead them beyond the
limita of the present inguiry. : ey . 3

Sir H. UniFﬂﬂ ntutodqthﬁ the question put to the witness was the begiuning of 1
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peveral which were meant to show, first, that General Windham, being one of the
pdii.im:m, had’ actively interfered in getting up t!_w cago n.n‘ﬂ evidanep ‘I;u guppork
it : secondly, that he had attempted to induce n witness, against her opinion avowed
h’him- to give evidence in favour of the petitioners ; tlhlrdll_-,r, that he had stated that,
whatever might be the real facts as to the sanity or insanity uf his nephgw. he was
determined to prosecute these proceedings in order to prove hllﬂ nephew insane, and
to ebtain control of the property; and, fourthly, that M. Wmdhg.m having stated,
as appeared from Dr. Tuke's evidence, that he believed General Windham wonld not
ventare to go into the witness-box, the evidence of Miss Archer wonld have shown
that the facts stated by her were communicated to Mr. Windham, and among other
matters, naturally influenced him to make that statement to Dr. Take. o

The Master asked Mr. Chambera whether he was prepared to take a decision
in his favour, and thereby risk the ultimate issueof the inguiry ? :

Mr. Chambers replied in the affirmative. i E

The Master then decided that the evidence was inadmissible on the ground that
the conduct of General Windham whether good or bad, was not the qu estion before
the Conrs.

ME. HENEY DRAKE; BARRISTER.

Mr. Henry Drake, examined by Mr. Milward, said I am a barrister and belong to,
the Norwich family of Drakes. I was with Mr. Windham at Dr. Badham's school
at Blackheath. Iam much older than Windham, who was about jten or eleven
{;ﬂl‘ﬂ of age. I eaw Windham every day at meals and cther times, and I thonght
“he behaved himself much like other boys. I saw nothing to indnce me to believe
that he was an idict, Af that time Windham was qguite as capable of taking care
of himself as other boys of his age. I have been at Eton, and have known several
"boys and one master called * mad.”

By Wr. Coleridge.—When witness was at Eton promotion was obtained by
examination, and not by favour. If at Christmas, 1856, Mr. Windham was in the

remove of the lower division of the fifth form, he must have been doing fifth
form work for several months.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham was a dirty boy at Blackheath,

LORD CLAUDE HAMILTON, M.P,

Lord Clande Hamilton, M.P. examined by Sir H. Cairns.—I am colonel of the
PDonegal Militia, which was quartered at Yarmonth in 1860, I made the acquain-
stance of Mr. Windham in that year. T first met him on the railway at Norwich.
We were both going to Yarmonth, Ihappened to mention that I had spent a few
-daye shooting atFellbrize in 1856. He expressed great gratification ab meetiug a
friend of his parents. We talked for about an hour and a half, and he conversed |
in the most cordial, rational, and gentlemanly manner. Whean I knew he was young
‘Windham I immedintely watched him, becanse I had heard he was irregular in his
conduct and fond of low company. On arriving at Yarmouth he walked with me
-to my hotel, and afterwards I met him once or twiee in the town. In september
I saw him at a foll.dress ball in Yarmouth. On that occasion he
was decidedly intoxicated. He recngnized me and spoke to me, complaining that
the young ladies wonld not dance with him, and I advised him to go home. He
. was nokmaking any noise. I do not consider a taste for driving railway engines a
~ proofof insanity, and such is the opinion of many who hold a distingunished rank
- In mociety. Many years ago T joined with half-a-dozen others in studying the
| 'great motive power of medern times. We attended a course of lectures of the

Polytechnic, and went into the matter as thoronghly as we conld. After a time
»we were allowed, under proper supervision, to drive engines on railways. I must
-eay, however, that we were not permitted to experiment with passenger trains, but
were restricted to ballast and coke trains. I can assure you thatib requires a good
‘deal of skill, self-possession, coolness of head, and delicacy of tonch to drive a
railway engine. It is decidedly an intellectual study.

By the Jury.—I do not know that Mr. Windham has gone through the same
course of study as T did. If he can drive an engine—a point upon which I know
nothing—he must have roceived instruction.

MRE. BADCOCK, VALET TO ME. WINDHAM,

William Badcock, examined by Mr, Karslake, snid—I am now valet ta Mr, Wind-
Jam. He entered his service in September, 1861. At one time he was a gnard on
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the Tastern Counties. Bailway, and on many oceasions Mr. Windham travolled in
my van. I have seen bim on the engine with the regulator in his hand. Mre
Windham generally talked about the management and working of railways and
seemed very anxious to obtain a thorongh mastery of the subject. He Fave a ﬂinnur
to between 30 and 40 people on Christmas-day. There was a dance in the evening
I, by his orders, sang negro melodies to amuse the company. During the avening-
when the fun was at its height, Mr. Windham put on a pair of hunting-hrmhaa:
and blacked his face on the cheeks and chin, to resemble whiskers and ai
imperial. He remained. thus for two hours. He was not noisy. The company
were very merry ; bub there was nothing like disorder. Mr. Windham retired about
a guarter past 2, and then the house was shut up. |
ross-examined by Mr, Chambers.—My, Windham is not a queer or an odd sort of
young man. As far as conduct and bebaviour were concerned, he was like others
of his age. I never saw him in the uniform of a gnard, but I have seen him with a
belt and ponch and a common dog-whistle. Mr. Windham often blew the whistle
belore the train started. He did so under the divections of myself. Some of the
railway officials must have seen him. He frequently told the passengers to take
their seats, and called out the names of the stations. I eounld have trusted him with
the management of a train. Sometimes he sorted the parcels in the van, and hedid
‘the work remarkably well. He never paid anything for the privilege of riding in
the van, nor did he ever take champagne or any other kind of drink intoit. Occa-
sionally he treated me at the stations. On the occasion of his marrigge he gave
me & silver watch and guard, with the following inscription :—% Presented to-
William Badeock, by W. F. Windham, Esq., in acknowledgment of his civility
and atteution.” I never saw him covered with dirt and soob like a stoker.
‘Btoking would be a strange occupation for a young gentleman. I do not know how
my master passed his evenings when in London. He lived with Roberts, in Picca-
‘dilly. - Sometimes he would go out after dinner, but I always found him in his room.
in the morning. I did not know at what hour he returned home. I never accom-
‘panied him to the Haymarket. I blacked my face to sing the negro melodies at
Fellbrigg on Christmas-day. I had a banjo, and wore a characteristic costume—a
white shirt, knee-breeches, and low shoes., The coachman was dressed in the same
way, and laterin the evening Mr. Windham made hisappearance in a gimilar costume
and joined in the choros, but he did not throw himself on the floor and imitate
“the action of swimming. The refreshments consisted of champagne, sherry, ale, and
a bowl of punch. The company were merry and applandsd the singing, but I did
‘not think that the applause was monopolised by Mr. Windham. (A langh.) Mr.
Windham went to bed himself quite steadily, and rose next morning about 5 o'clock.
He ia now at Fellbrigg, but when in town he stayed at Morley's Hotel, having
broken off his acquaintance with Roberts. I have not seen that person lately, nor
have I seen Mrs. Windham to speak to her since Christmaa.

Re-examined.—There is no pretence for saying that Mr. Windham was drunk en
Christmas-day. He used to be fond of putiing on aguard’s belt, hecause he thought
it gave him a kind of military appearance.

By the Jury.—1I was not a valet before Beptember last. The railway directors
‘objected to my accepting thé watch and guard presented to me in Augunst by Mr.
Windham, and, as they made some difficulty about it, Mr. Windham agreed to take

‘me into his own service. My wages were £40.a year, I kept a petty cash book,
. and my master regularly looked over and checked the items.

Sir H. Cairps stated that there was one head of evidenca which he would wish to
‘avaid, if possible. It would be recollected that Mr. Windham, in conversation with
Dr. Tuke, spoke of certain circumstaness connected with the conduct of two of his
uncles which led him to believe that they wonld not come forward as witnesses, or
prosecute their petition before a jury, Nothing eould well be more irksome than to
adduce evidence for the purpose of showing the grounds which Mr, Windham had
for believing in the truth of those statements, and he should gladly refrain from doing
go if Mr. Chambers would give him an assurance that he did not intend to allege
that the assertions of Mr. Windhmn were altogether withont fonndation.

Mr. Chambers was prepared to say that he wounld not use the statements in gnes-
tion as at all militating against Mr, Windham's sanity, bat, he would deal with them
as statements which might fairly come out of the mouth of a rational man. £

Sir H. Cairns expressed himself satisfied with the assurance of his learned friend ;.
and
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" hg Master congratulated all pnfties upon having got rid of what might have been

=]

a painful and amburmqsiug head of evidence.

-

’ TWENTY.-FIRST DAY.—BATURDAY, JANUARY 11, .
" The adjournedinquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to.day, in the Westminster Seasions-house, before My.
Warren, Q.C., oneof the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jory. g
Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and My. H. Williams appeared for the peti-
tioners ; Mr. Charles Ruesell, for Lady Sophin Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William' Frederick Wirdham ; and Mr. Coleridge, .C., for Mrs. Windham.

ME, DREW, SOMERESEET HOTEL, STRAND.

Mr. H. Drew, examined by Mr. Milward, said—I am now the landlord of the
Somerset Hotel in the Strand.  In 1859 and 1860 I kept the Royal Kent Hotel in
Sandgate. Young DMr. Windham came to my house in March, 1860, and stopped
abont a fortnight. Mr. Horrocks was with him. Isaw Mr. Windham every morning
‘aad evening, and observed that he associated with some of the officers at Shorneliffe.
Mr. Windham sometimes dined at the Camp, returning to the hotel about eleven
o’elock. . He behaved himself very well indeed, and his conduct was mot different
from that of other gentlomen, I never noticed in him any indication of want of
.intellect; and believed him to be of sound mind.

Crosg-examined by Mp. Chamberg.—-Mr. Windham was a very quiet young man,
and his spirits were not particularly high. I never heard him shouting or blowing
a railway whistle, nor was he aware of his fondness for driving railway engines.
In-the morning after breakfast, before he went ont, he used to have a glass of sherry
and bitters. I never saw the saliva dropping upon his clothes, nor did I observe.
the peculiar formation of his month until my attention was drawn to it.

Re-examined.—It was Mrs. Drew who called my astention to Mr. Windham's
mouth. Even then. I did not see any spittle dropping down. Mr. Windham had
sherry and bitters only occasionally.

ME. CREMER, NORFOLK, ;

Mr. W. Cremer, examined by Mr. Karslake, said—I live at Beeston, in Norfolk.
My father was a clergyman, and his property and residence are about five miles from
Fellbriger. 1 knew old Mr. Windham, and oceasionally dined with him. The eld
gentleman used to tell comie tales in the Norfolk dialect, for the amusement of his
friends, and he did it very well. I saw a good deal of young Windham when he
was a boy. At the end of 1860 I dined with him at Fellbrigg. My. Peatfield was
there at the time. Captain Windham and Captain Brereton were algo of the party.
Mr. Windham sat at the head of the table and behaved like a gentleman, The party
played whist in the evening, and Mr. Windham seemed able to hold his own, 1
visited Fellbrigg after Mr. Windham came of age, but before his marriage—be-
tween the 10th and the 30th of August. After dinner we walked round the stables
to look at the horses. Mr. Windham seemed to be quite conversant with all sub-
jects connected with horses, and his remarks upon them were sensibls and rational.
I shot with him in September 1859, and on- other occasions. He was a rather bad
sl!l_uti but managed his gun properly and carefully. I believe him to be a man of sound
min
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham had a pecnliarly-formed mouth,
but I cannot say that when a boy he had a particularly dirty face. e waa always
very noisy, and used to halloo and laugh in a loud tone. There was nothing other-
W88 to attract notice in his laugh. I have heard that he was in the habib of
waiting at table, but never saw him doing s6. I am not aware whether Windham
in his boyhood had & companion of his own age. I have been told that he was in
t-hﬁ'h‘lﬂ.:llt- of acting as a puard on railways, but thought it perfectly consistent with
samity in a gentleman of rank and property, after coming of age, to dress himself up
a8 o guard and perform the duties of a guard on a railway. Pointing the attention
of ladies to mules while staling is not gentlemaaly couduet, but 1 cannot accept it as
a proof ::-fmaftmt;,:. Windham was generally boisterouns in his manner. When I
was at Fellbrige in August last Windham did not tell me that he was abont to
marry Agnesa Willoughby ; if he had, I would have advised him not to marry such a
Peraon.  Old Mr. Windham could imitate the sing-song Norfolk dialect very well.
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By the Jury.—Attrviouted Mr. Windham's hoisterousness to his high spirits, and
not to unsoundness of mind,

MES. BROWN, VAUXHALL-ROAD, LONDON.

Mrs. Brown, examined by Mr. Karslake, saidl—I am alanndress, living in the
Vauxhall-road, and washed for the Lewellins for four months from the beginning of
July last. I washed Mr. Windham's things, and ascertained, from the staina upon
hig linen, that he was suffering from a particular disease. In consequence of that T
asked Mrs. Lewellin for a larger price. I washed all Mr. Windham's things, as far
as I know, and never observed his linen stained in any other way. I also washed
the honsehold linen, but did not wash any sheets stained ag a child would stain
them. On Christmas-day General Windham called at my honse, and spoke about
my having acted as lanndress for the Lewellins.

The learned gentleman was proceeding to put questions to the witness for the
purpose of eliciting from her the purport of her conversation with General Windham
when he was interrupted by Mr. Chambers, who submitted that the questions were
not such as could be asked after the decision of the Master on Friday, that matters
relating to the conduct of General Windham were not relevant to the present
inquiry. The objection was sustained by the Master, and the examination in chief
of the witness was declared closed.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I keep washerwomen, and wash for a good
many families ; some of them very large. In the summer there are sometimes
pairs of sheets washed in my establishment in a week. Mra. Lewellin refused to
pay ‘extra far Mr. Windham’s linen. I, at that time, washed for a good many
gentlemen, and was occasionally required to do the things very quickly.

By the Jury.—Nobody besides witness washed for the Lewellins from the begin.
ning of July to the end of October, with the exception of the second week in July,
when I was unable to do the work.

MRES. PRITCHARD, ME. LEWELLIN'S SERVANT,

Mrs, Pritchard, examined by Mr. Milward.—I went to live with Lewellins as a
servant on the 21st of June last, and stayed about seven wedks, I did the work
of a housemaid.. Mr. Windham was in the house at the time; but sometimes he
went into the country for aday or two. I had charge of his bedroom, and I
never saw, either in the room or in the bed, anything peculiar or unusnal. I occa-
sionally gave him his breakfast, which generally consisted of poached eegs, with
gometimes a little bacon. The quantity was not greater than that served up to’
other gentlemen. I also collected his linen' for the wash. He always behaved likea
gentleman, When tipsy he talked rather loudly and laughed a good deal. I have
seen him drinking after lunch, at half-past two ; I have also seen him occasionally
take something in the morning. He usually lunched with Mr. Peatfield, Mr.
. Lewellin, and sometimes Mr. Partridge. 1 have known them having a dozen of
champagne at one lunch, and sometimes they sat till 7 in_the evening. Mr.
. Lewellin occasionally got tipsy and abusive. On such occasions I used fo hear
them all laughing together. I have heard Mr. Windbham imitating a cat when he
was tipsy, bot not when he wassober. I never saw or heard of him running along
the passage naked, though I was always about the house. I have very often
seen General Windham in Duke-street. He used to see Mr. and Mrs. Lewellin
alone, and occasionally he saw his nephew. He generally ta.‘l.kad mth Mr. and Mrs.
Lewellin in the bar-parlour or office. I have seen Mr. Lewellin giving Mr. Windham
his account-book. On one occasion I heard Mr. Windham cry out to Mr. L?Fel]m,
“ Come here, old fellow, what is this? You are sticking it on too strong. Mr.
Tewellin took the book, and, I suppose, rectified it. During all the time Mr.
Windham was in the house he condneted himself in the same way as other gentle-
men, and I believe him to be a person of sound mind. About ten weeks
ago Mrs. Lewellin came to me in a cab by herself. I was then at work in
Eecleston-place. Mrs. Lewellin said to me, “You know that Mr. Wmdhl_ir.:
nsed to dirty his bed and run about the house naked when you were "’;:u
us! She then asked me to go to her house and see the General and
him go, in return for which she said he would do something good forme ﬂﬂg my
husband, I refused, wherenpon she said she would bring a gentleman down

on Friday and make me go. Nothing more passed then, and she went away. She

"
returned with Colonel Broughton, whom she nsed to call her “ baby, cu?:n f:wbudg;

afterwards. They came in o cab. Mrs, Lewellin said, ‘Youn must
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1o General, for Mr. Windham has been and married a bad woman and
ljf,:';ﬂ;:ﬁﬂnﬂﬁig fartun::, and we want to do what we can in it for the General.”
Sho also snid that the bad woman was goiug to bring Mr. Windham a child, and the
thing must be done guickly. I told her I would not go to the house, and she
went away. Colonel Broughton heard the conversation. Mrs. Lewellin called
again, but [ did not seeher. She came a fourth time with another gentleman and
wished me to go to her house and see the General and tell him that I had seen his
nephew running naked about the house. I told her that I bad never seen or heard
of such o thing, and that I wounld not go. She then eaid it would be the making of

. me and my husband, as the General had a great many offices into which he c::-::ld
put us, if L would go. I still refused. Nothing more pussarl!, I have nut-_ﬂean Mra.
Lewellin since. I never told her that I had seen Mr, Windham running naked
down the passage. On one occasion, I heard Mrs. Lewellin say to her hu.shapﬂ.
¢ Younare sucking the poor boy dry, and while he has any money left you will stick
to him?' That was after I had been in Duke-street, about a month. When Colonel
Broughton was in the cab, Mrs. Lewellin wished me to tell the General that Mr.
Windham was a great gorger and had eaten 17 egzs for breakfast. I told her that
was not true, and refused to say anything of the kind.

i Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham's linen when gent to the wash
was as clean as any other gentleman’s. His sheets were changed once a forfnight.
1 was first examined on Mr. Windham's side about three weeks ago. The gentle-

. man who came tome was Mr. Hunt, a solicitor; he saw me in Eecleston-place,
where T was working as a charwoman, My husband is a bookbinder, but he is in
jll-health and does not work at his trade. He does porter's work, and is an anxiliary
in the Post-office. Mrs. Lewellin had not employed me before July last, I was re-
commended to her by the lady in Eccleston-place. Mr. Windham and Mr, Peatfield
were in Doke-street when I first went. Except when he was drunk I never saw
in Mr. Windbam anything different frem other gentlemen. He wad sober in tha
morning, but generally tipsy in the evening, and then he would langh and talk
with Mr. Peatfield, Mr. Lewellin, and occasionally with Mr. Partridge. Sometimes
he went out in the evening, and I do not know at what hour he returned. Iheard
caterwauling several times, and was told it was Mr. Windham, but I did not see
bim. Mr. Peatfield was always yery quiet over his drink, but Mr. Partridge showed
he was tipsy by laughing and making fun. I was never in the rcom when they °
were in this state, but I heard them. Buch junketings took place three or four
times a week. I do not remember the precise day on which they drank a dozen of
champagne at lanch. I assisted to carry the empty bottles down stairs. The party on
that oceasion consisted of Mr. Windham, Mr. Lewellin, Mr. Peatfield, Mr. Partridge,
and a clergyman named Baty. The clergyman talked a good deal and was as
merry as the rest. I saw them through an open door as I passed up and down
stairs. When the same gentlemen came together at lunch they generally indulged
in thiz way, and they would not separate until five, six, or seven o'clock in the
evening. The imitation of the cat was done very well. I have heard Mr. Windham
shonting in the room with the window open. I never heard him ginging *“ Old Bob

“Ridley,” but I have heard him cry out to Mr, Lewellin, * Well, old fellow, we have
'been very jolly together.” I never heard him even allude to *“Old Bob Ridley,” nor
did I ever hear him sing something abouta * haughty ruffian,” ending with “ Pop
goes his Weasand !” Mr. Windham did not eat more eggs at breakfast than Mr.
Peatfield. He generally breakiasted in his dressing-gown and took his bath after
breakfast. Mr. Lewellin prepared the bath, and then Mr. Windham would go in
and lock the door, like other gentlemen. I last saw him tipsy abont the end of
July. He got tipsy in the house. He langhed rather loudly, but I never saw him
‘blowing a railway whistle. I never heard that he had a giard’s dress and was fond
of driving railway engines; nor did I ever hear him yelping like a dog. He had a
peculiar voice, and when he was talking quickly he would slobber at the mouth, but
he always used his pocket hankerchief. When I told Mrs. Lewellin that Mr. Wind.-
ham was not in the habit of dirtying his bed she said, *Oh, I used to change the
sheets before yon went up to make the bed.” I replied, * You never did nnything
of the sort; you never helped me or meddled with any of the gentlemen's beds ;"
and I refused to go and see the General. Colonel Broughion was present and must
have heard the conversation. All the conversations which Mrs. Lewellin had with
e, whether in the presence of Colonel Broughton or alone, were pretty much alike.
The last time I saw her she was accompanied by Mr, Wood, clerk to Messrs, Field
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and Roscoe, the solicitors for the petitioners. She said, *1 have brou

man, a8 I said T wonld, aboat Mr. Windham dirtying hi:; bed and mtmg}iﬁgﬁﬁ:ﬁ
breakfust. You know he used to dirty his bed, ron about naked, and go dnmf into
the kitchen and sit on thetable.” I replied, *He did not go into the kitchen withous
Mr. Lewellin persuading him to go.” "1 was then called away to my work, and
Mrs. Lewellin, referring, T suppose, to the lady who had- ealled me, said, “Yon are
the most uncivilised lot of people I ever knew.” I do not recollect at the present
moment anything more that passed. Mr. Woeod took notes of the conversation. Mr

Windham has made an attempt to kiss me more than once when be was tipsy. Ha‘ :
always did so in the hall, and never in a bedroom. He laughed when he attempted

to kiss me, and would run away quickly. I tried to slap his face, but he was ioo
swift for me. He did not handle me roughly, nor was he boisterous.

Re-exsmined.—There was almost always champagne at lanch. Mr, Pentfield .
was generally present, and his friends, Mr. Partridge and M, Baty, when they
came,

By the Jury.—T never found Mr. Windham’s bed made as far as the under sheet.
While I was in Duke-street Mr. Windhaw’s linen, when it went to the wasl, was
not stained in such a way as to warrant an extra charge by the laundress.

By the Master.—When Mr. Windham ordered dinner he was very punctnal to the
time. I never knew of an instance of Mr. Windham ordering a dinner for a party
of guests and nobody coming. ' Mrs. Lewellin never touched the beds. She said to
me in Eccleston-place, “You must keep all -this very quiet.” On one occasion I
heard Mrs. Lewellin say to her husband, “It's a shame for you to encourage that
boy to drink; you are old enough to be his father.”” Tt was then she said he would
stick to Mr. Windham as long as he had any money left. - Mr. and Mrs. Lewellin
nsed !:,nh quarrel and use bad language to each other, and they did not care who
heard them. ;

MES. BROWN, RE-CALLED. .

Mrs. Brown, the lanndress, was re-called.—She stated that she applied to
Mr. Leéwellin for an extra price for washing Mr. Windham’s linen in Augnst last,
and not before.
' SARAH BROWN, LEWELLIN'S COOK.

- Barah Brown, examined by Mr. Milward, said: I went to the Lewellin's as cook
.on the 24th of June last, and stayed till the 26th of July. Mr. Windham was thera
at that time. His breakfast commonly consisted of two poached eggs, with brown
bread and butter. He sometimes had a little bacon. 1 never cooked for him
seventeen eggs or anything like it. He was in all'respects like other gentlemen.
Once on returning from the country he presented a tea urn and a ernet-stand to
Mrs. Lewellin. At other times he brought up game, fruit, vegetables, and flowers.
They used to have a good deal of wine at lunch, generally champagne. 4
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Windham sometimes went down to the
Kitchen, but not often, chiefly for the purpose of asking me to be punctnal with his
lunech. He was fend of joking, but I do not recollect any of his jokes. He was
not a very loud laugher. I would not say that Mr. Windham has not kissed me,
but he never did so more than ence. T neither slapped his face nor threw the
dripping over him. On one oceasion Mrs. Pritchard told me that Mr. Windham
had taken hold of me and kissed me. I do not believe that I ever sent more than
two eggs up to Mr. Windham or Mr. Peatfield for breakfast. I do not know
. whether Mr. Windham is a large or a small eater, nor can 1 say whether, when he
had gentlemen to lunch or dine with him, they all got drank together. I was never
in the dining-room, but, if they had made a very great noise I think I must have
heard it. I mever saw Mr. Peatfield drunk, but on one occasion I was told that
Mr. Windham was tapsy. ' 3
Be-examined.—1I do not know what went on upstairs at lunch; my work was in
the kitchen, and I seldom left 1t. i
By the Jury.—Mr. Windham could not have been drunk three or four times a
week and made a noise in the honse with his friends without me knowing it.
Sueh, at least, is my opinion ; but all I can say for certainty was that I never saw
him drunk. :
By the Master.—T have seen as many as a dozen champagne bottles coming
down from one lunch. I mever cooked a dinner for Mr. Windbam when nobody

‘came. During my time Mr. Windham never gave an order for a dimner party.
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T left angva.h‘aﬂt—. because the place did not gnit her, and also because I had a
quarrel with Mr. Lewellin, who was most abusive and insulting in his language.
CATHARINE BABBAGE. -

Catharine Babbage, examined by Mr. Karslake, said—I went to the Lewellins’ as
housemaid on E.ll:algat of April, 1861, and-stayed till the latter end of June. It was
my duty to make up the beds and clean the apartments every day. I never found
Mr. Windham's bed 'in a dirty state. Mr. Windham, as far as L saw, Wn.s‘u.lw:}jrs.
gentlemanly and respectful to every one. He used to laugh and talk merrily, like
other young gentlemen of his age, but beyond that Imever heard any noise which he
made.” He was always very clean and particular about his linen and dress. He
. went out on horseback from 12 till 2 o’clock every day, and he sometimes drove a
‘" phaeton. Mrs. Lewellin used to try to be familiar with Mr. Windham, but he alwaya
repulsed her, and, therefore, it is not surprising that she shoukd always speak ill ot
him. I saw General Windham in Duke-street once. He spoke to his nephew, and I
heard him tell him in a loud voice that if he was not home by 11 o’clock every night
he wounld get the, police to follow him. That was abont three weeks before I left.
I left of my own accord, and gave Mrs, Lewellin notice three times before she would
allow me to go away. It is not true, upon my oath, that Mr. Windham or auy
other gentleman ever took indecent liberties with me.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr,” Windham kissed me once in the
presence of Mrs. Lewellin, who seemed pleased at it. Dirs. Lewellin was not
jealous of me with Mr. Windham, bub I believe she was jealous of me with Colonel
Broughton, thongh there was not the slightest foundation for it. I have seen
Mr. Windham stopid from drink on many oceasions, and once I'saw him much
intoxicated. It was about the middle of the day ; I do nob think he had slept at
home the night before. He was not noisy, but merry, sivging I wish I was with
Nancy." I mnever heard him try * Old Bob Ridley.”  He had not a musical voice,
but liked to hum about the house. I did oot find that he was a good mimie. He
langhed merrily, just as if he enjoyed the laugh, but there was nothing particular
in it. Mrs. Lewellin never complained that I was too familar with Mr. Windham.
One afternoon, when Mrs. Lewaellin and Colonel Broughton had, as nsual, gone for
an airing in a cab, Mr, Lewellin sent me npstairs with two pairs of slippers for M.
Windham. T did not go into Mr. Windham’s room, but knocked at the door, and
told him what T had for him. He said he did not want gwo pairs of slippers ;
one would do. - At that moment Mr. Lewellin came upstairs in 4 great rage,
charged me with being too familar with the gentlemen in the house, and ecalled me
by the grossest names. I left in consequence shortly afterwards.” I have a distant
relation named Yates now in the service of Mr. Windbam ; but he was not recom-
mended by me.

Be-examined.—There was no pretence whatever for saying that T was too
familiar with the gentlemen in the houge. Mr. Lewellin frequently abused me, and
his language to every person in the house, his wife included, was of the most dis-
Eﬂﬂ'ﬁt:g deseription.  When I left Duke-street I returned to a former situation, and
am Chere now. ¢

MR. -H. SHAFPIS, BEEVANT TO LEWELLIN.

Henry Shappis, a Frenchman, examined by Sir H. Cairns, said I was servant at
the Lewellin's from Augunst last till a few days ago. I waited upon Mr. Windham
at breakfast, lunch, and dinner, and slept in the house. Mr. Windham was very

?lltﬂ, and his manner at meals and at other times were those of a gentleman, He

d not make more noise than other people.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I lefs Duke-street in consequence of a quarrel
mtl} Mr. Lﬁwgllin. About a fortnight ago Mr. Lewellin asked me to give evidenco
against Mr. Windham, and told me I should be a good witness. T replied that T had
nothing tosay againat Mr, Windham. Mr. Lewellin then asked me whether I thought
Mr, Windham conld manage the affairs of his own house. I replied that in my
country gentlemen of fortune did not manage the affaira of their own houses, but
hnfl men of business for the purpose. I stated, however, that in my opinion Mr.
Windham was able to manage his affairs, and that [ had mever observed anything
Btrange ahr.:nl:— that gentleman. - i

Re-ﬂxﬂ.'mlnﬂﬂ.--'—ﬂr. Lewellin asked me again whether T thonght Mr. Windham
wag mad. _I replied that I did not think he was. Mrs. Lewellin then whispered
something in a low voice to her husband, and nothing more was said at the time,
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but Mr. Lewellin abused me every day afterwards, calling me i

other names too bad t-::- be repeated, and at last ;tmn.lc gnm ﬁ'ng fu-rrﬂ::tlil E;ﬁ&u:nff
the JE'muP..a. 1 have since applied for a summons againgt Mr, Lewellin, but the
magistrate has refused to grant it until the Windham case has been concluded

The inquiry was again adjourned. ;

_ ! TWE’R:TY-EEUDHD DAY.—Moxnpay, Jax, 13.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W, F. Windham, of Fellbrige-
hall, Norlolk, was resumed Jan. 13th, in the Westminster Segsions-house, before iﬂ-
Wazrren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury. ; .

My. M. Chambers, Q.0., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the nllegm.i l_unntm,- Sir Hagh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr, Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs, Windham,

ML, G. YONGE, PRIVATE TUTOR.

Mr. G. Yonge, examined by Mr. Karslake, said—I was Mr. Windham's private
tator at Eton from January to March, 1855, and lived in the same house with him.
Windham was in the middle remove of the fourth form, and did Ovid and Cornelins
Nepos in Latin, (Hsop and Farnalby in Greek, and a few verses every week. He
did his work like the average of boys, but was not very studious. I saw nothing in
him which induced me to think he was not of sound mind.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Windham, though not particularly cleanly,
was not dirtier than the boys in the fourth form generally, I never noticed the
saliva flowing out of the sides of his mouth, or heard that he was treated as a buffoon
by the other boys. I knew, however, that he was called “Mad Windham,” but I
do not know how he came by that name.

By the Master.—I1 did not see mugh of Windham, except in the evening, when I
asgisted him with his lessons for school.

By the Jury.—Windham was always well supplied with money. I was not aware
that he ever got into debt.

MR. INGRAM, TEACHER,

Mr. Ingram, examined by Mr. Milward.—I was the French and mathematical
master at Mr. Westmacott’s schéol, in Feltham. Mr. Windham was there for about
three years, beginning in 1850 or 1851. I tanght him French, arithmetic,
and English. He did the same lessons as other boys of his age, and he had an

average capacity.

Cross-examimed by Mr. Chambers.—Windham was rather good atFrench. He did
not speak the language fluently, but he was well up in Ollendorff, and could translate
like the other boys. He did arithmetic very well, as far as fractions and decimals.
He was not the mogt brilliant boy in school, but there were several worse. He was not
passionately fond of study, but he did as much work as he was obliged to do. Upon
the whole, however, he did not profit 8o much by the instruction he received as
gome of the other boys, becanse he was not so assiduous as they were. I have
checked other boys as well as Windham for the same reason.

MR. BARNES, WINE-MERCHANT.

Mr. Barnes, examined by Mr. Karglake.—I am a wine-merchant in Lincoln’s-inn-
fields. I know Lewellin. That person was never connected with me as a commission

ent.
ng.&. discussion here took place as to whether evidence could be adduced for the
mere purpose of discrediting a previous witness. Counsel were heard on both
sides, but eventually the Master, without deciding the question one way or the
other, induced Mr. Karslake not to press the matter further. DBlr. Barnes was
accordingly told to stand down.

MRE. CHOARD, SOLICITOR'S CLERK.

Mr. J. Choard, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am a clerk in the office of Mr.
Chappel, solicitor, Golden-square. Last summer a suit was bronght in the County
Oourt aguinst Mr. Windham by his groom. Mr. Windham was examined for
twenty minutes, and gave his evidence reasonably and intelligently. The decision
wag in his favour. The snit involved the question of accounts. Mr. Windham

discussed the items one by one, and those he objected to were disallowed.
Cross.examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have written no letters for Mr. Chappel in
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but T attended before the Lords Justices on behalf of
roposal that Lady Sophia should join in the petition.
Windham to the County Court, and took some part

the matter of the petition,
Tiady Sophin. I never made a p
My, Lewellin accompanied Mr.-

i sadings. _ 3
= Eﬁmp?;:hia [!';;J?gnam, examined by Mr. Karalake.—1 am a sister of Mrs. Lewellin,

and was in the habit of visited her in Duke-street at the time Mr. Windbam was
living there. The first visit I made was in Maroh, 1861, and 1 Hﬂg"d till “;]E" diti 0{{:
June. 1 returned two daya before Mr. Windham was married. ccasionally T ha
rone in the interval and stayed for the night. Afterwards I_ usually visited my sister
two or three times s weok. While I stayed with her I assisted in making the beds |
every day, and I have waited npon Mr. Windham at breakiast ,ﬂ'm] lancheon. His !
conduct towards me was most gentlemanly. I never saw anything wrong with him, *
nor did I ever notice anything unusual or peculiar in his bedroom. Mr. Windham
had a good appetite, but nothing exorbitant. I have remained in the room and
geen him eat his breskfast, which commonly consisted of a little bacon, two eggs,
or a mutton chop. At breakfast he nzed to read the Times and discuss the news
with me or any one else who happened to be in the room. I have heard HNr.
Windham sing .and whistle, but you could not call him noisy—only merry. In
October T went with Mrs. Lewellin to .the office of Mr. Field, the solicitor to the
petitioners. I did mot know the nature of her business. A gentleman took
down my sister's evidence. General Windham eame in three minutes after we
had arrived, and remained the whole time.. I had seen him in Duke-street
—onca before his mnephew’s marriage, bnt a dozen times after. The last
time I saw him there was on Colonel Hmughtan’u birthday, the 25th of October.
Oolonel Broughton gave a dinner, and his guests were General Windham, Mr.
Liberty, the wine merchant, Mr. and Mrs. Lewellin, and mysell We
were in Mr. Field's office for an honr and a-half or two hours. I heard the state-
ment made by my sister, and, to the best of my belief, it was entirely false. After
she had made it General Windham thanked her, said he was highly delighted with
her, and extremely obliged to her. I left the offica with my sister. « When we got
ocutside I said, * Oh, Augusta, what lies' you have been telling ! Bhe replied,
# Windham never did like me, I wopder what he will think of me now. 1 have
given it him pretty strong, I think, and his lady-love too."” Nobody asked me to
give evidence when I was in the office. Mr. Field did not say in my presence that
he would net tronble me for my evidence—one witness wonld be enongh. General
Windham said, referring to me, * This little woman would say what she knows, but
I have never asked her what it ia; she is also very nervons, and I am afraid she
would break down in cross-examination’’ I have mot slept in the hounse in Duke-
street since that occasion. Up to that time I do not remember having any quarrel
with my sister.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—One evening last summer I went to Cremorne-
gardens, accompanied by two little girls, and a gentleman who said his name was
Hoberts, and he lived in Piceadilly, offered to drive me home in his brougham. He
said, “Oh! what pretty eyes yon have; I could see them half a mile off.” 1 replied,
““What a pity Simpson does not know it; he might save his gas.” (A langh.)
Roberts stayed with me about five minutes and then weunt away. I have
seen him with his brougham in the street, but 1 never called at his house in
Piccadilly except onee, when Mrs. Lewellin took me there on business of her
own. One of the girla T had at Cremorne was about eight years of age and the other
about 14. The former was staying with me on a visit at the time, and the latter
was the daughter of a neighbour. I was then and am now living in apartments in
mn Pimlico, which had been taken for me by my sister. She paid the rent for
pome time, butshe has long ceased to do so. I have no income of my own and am
supported by kind friends. I had a quarrel with the Lewelling in 1860 about an
10U for £30. I sued him in the County Court and got the money. Some time
after 1 wrote a letter to Mr. Lewellin asking forgiveness. T was then living with my
brother Conway in Fulham.-fields, and was very ill-off. Tt was after that lotter was
* written that my sister took apartments for me snd gent me toa finishing school.
Conway and I have never made a disturbance in the house in Duke-street. My
brother often visita me. I knew that he was very ill-off last antumn, but T was not
aware that ho begged in the streets. He came to the court with me to-day, for I
am to frightened to walk alone, as the Lewellins ave always after me.

; R“‘mmmﬁﬂ-*"ThH]' have ful!ﬂ_weﬂ me ‘ever since this trial began, I asked
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orgiveness from Mr. Lewellin in 1860, because I had. said things to him in g
passion whieh I ought not to have said, and I wanted to be friends again. My sister
hag addressed many affectionate letters te me since.
. Mr. Karslake wished to put in those letters, but Mr. Chambers objected, and, as
.they turned out to be the same letters which the Court refused to allow Mrs.
Lewellin to be examined upon gome few weeks ago, on the ground that they were
quite irrelevant to this inguiry, the objection was sustained.

CONWAY DIGNAM, BROTHER OF MRS, LEWELLIN,

Conway Dignam, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am a brother of Mrs, Lewellin,
Some time ago I met her in St. James's-street. She gaid to me, “ Ah! Conway,
what are you doing 7’ I replied, “Nothing at present.’”’ Bhe said, “ I know of a
capital thing for you. Did ever you hear of young Windham ?” I replied, “ I have
& faint recollection of the name.” She said, *Well, his: uncle, the General is going
to bring him in mad, and if yon would come forward on the General's side and state
this, it would be the making of yon, and you wounld not require a sitnation.” I
replied, “ How can yon ask me to state such a thing when you know that I know
nothing of young Mr. Windham or the General either 7 She said, * You know ag
‘much ns most people. What I shallwant you to say is this, that you lived in Duke-street
as clerk, and waited upon Mr. Windham, and had ample opportuuities of seeing his
wconduct.” T replied, “1 shall do no such thing. How can you ask me to come
against a young man and put him in & mad-house when I know nothing at all about
him ?” She said, * Yon are very foolish. It is the General will have the money,
not young Windham. You don't think that T am working for nothing do you?" I
replied, * I shan’t come and forswear myself in any court for youn, or twenty Generals,
I would sooner remain in my present position than injure & young man I know
nothing about.” She said, “If yon don't comply with my wishes yon may do
what youn like. What does it eignify if you do bring in young Windham insane? It
will not injure you, but it will be the making of you.” I then left her. I have seen
Mr. Windham walking, riding, and driving, but I do not think I bave ever spoken
to him in my life. My sister did not know whether I was scquainted with Mr,
Windbham or not. I have never been in her house in Duke-street in my life, and,
of course, I never acted as clerk there.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I have been living for abunt a week inthe
Westminster road, but do not know the mumber. I am supported by my friends.
1 am ont of a situation, but am endeavouring to get one every day. I have been ont
of a situation ever since my mother's death about two years ago. Before that event
I was in several situations. The last place I had was in Lime street, where I was
head clerk to a general merchant, with a salary of 155. a week. (A langh.) My
mother was a lady of independent means, and being the youngest child I was
selected as the one to stay at home with her. Iread, wrote, and rode with her up
to the time of her death, I have lately earred some money by writing and copying,
for I am a moderate scholar, but not enough to keep me. I have not worked nupon
any of the papers in this case. Nobody asked me to give evidence. T went mj_maﬂ'
to Mr. Gregory, the solicitor for Mr. Windham. The conversation with my sister
in St. James's street took place in October. I have corresponded with her since,
asking her to say to the police that I, had lived with her for six months, in order
thut I might be enmabled to get a conductor's license. I mever lived for six
months with her, but she had told me she would do what she could to get me a
sitnation, and would recommend me anywhere for honesty, sobriety, and industry.
She has not spoken to the police.

i e-examined.—1 have beer so reduced that I would be glad to accept the place of
a conductor. - 1 have tried everything I conld to get a situation, but have failed.
My sister did not answer my letter. I went to Mr. Gregory voluntarily, in conse-
quence of a false statement made by Mrs. Lewellin about Eliza Sophia, whom I
know to be a good, virtuous, young woman. I wasnot in Duke-street: on Christmas-
day, and did not make a disturbance. I was at Brixton toe whole of the day.

. By the Jury.—I got £60 at my mother's death, and I have a sister in America
who sends me a little money occasionally. I got £3 from her by the last mail. My
mother had ample means, but they died with her. I was in court when Mrs.
Lewecllin said she had met me in the streets ragged and begging. She gave ma

" gome clothes afterwards, including those I now wear, :
By the Master.—The statement made by Mrs. Lewellin when she was examined
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about the conversation in St. James's-street was totally false. I have taken out a
summons agaiost Mr. Lewellin for an assanlt committed upon mein the Burlington-

arcade.
MR. HILL, BANEER, NORWICH.

Mr, Hill, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am the manager of the Crown Bank in_
Norwich, and know the Windham family. In 1860 Mr. Windbam borrowed :!;"J:‘?:{}
from the bank, and in Augnst last year he opened an accotnt. The f:r_nt. sum paid
into his credit was £908 14s., and the second and last £1,000. From. time to time
he drew checka H-Hﬂ-'i'l'lﬁt- the amonnts 'F.niﬂ to hig credit.. Sometimes he drow them
in the banking-house. There is still. a small sum to his credit. '1 had no sus-
-picion that there was anything wrong with his mind. He talked rationally and
sensibly. ' '

Gmaiexaminad by Mr. Chambers.—The balance remaining to his credit was
about £17. His largest check was for £300. One drawn in favour of Mr. Bowen
May was for £200, and was dated the 29th of August, 1861. Amnother, dated ‘the
Sth of November, was drawn in favour of Mr, Barnes, a publiean in‘the Haymarket,
and was for £15 5s. A third was dated Fellbrigg, October 27, 1861, and che
gum (£139) was payable to James Roberts, A fourth, dated October 28, was for
£300, and was drawn in favour of Mrs. Windham. On the back were written the
words, * In exchange for money, Agnes Windham."  Another check, drawn on
the same da¥, was also in favour of Mrs. Windham, the amount being £157, and
it was endoraed *J. P. Davis.”” One dated November 1, 1861, for £100, was en-
dorsed on the back * Lawrence and Fry.” There were 24 checks in all. I have
no private acquaintance with Mr. Windham. (

" By Mr. Coleridge.—The check endorsed “J. P, Davis" was paid throogh the
“Bank of England. - '
MR. KEEMP, RYDE.

Mr. Kemp, examined by Mr. Milward : I am the proprietor of the Esplanade
Baths at Byde, and have a house adjoining, which I let out to lodgers. Mr. Wind-
ham lodged with me in April, 1860, for three weeks; and again in May, 1861, for
nearly a fortnight. He was in the habit of bathing every morning, and wa= par-
ticularly cleanly in his rooms. I believe him to be of sound mind. :

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham was a very sober man. What I mean by his
being particularly clean in his rooms was, that he nsed to fold up his things and put
them on a chair. I never noficed anything particular about him. '

Mrs. Kemp, the wife of the last witness, corroborated his evidence. She
said Mr. Windham behaved like a gentleman, and gave no trouble or annoyance
whatever.

By the Master.—T have heard Mr. Horrocks speak unkindly to Mr. Windham.
They did not seem to be on good terms. In 1861 the tator was Mr. Peatfield ; he
agreed very well with his papil.

JEAN SOUNEY, WAITER, PARIS.

Jean Souney, a waiter in the Hbtel Menrice, Rue de Rivoli, Paris. Mr. Windham
came to the hotel at midnight on the 31st of August last, accompanied by Mrs,
Windham, her sister, and a man and a maid servaut. , The party stayed ten or
twelve days. They had a suite of apartments on the first floor, and dined at the
table d'hote,  Mr.Windham had a bath every morning. There was nothing unusual
in the conduct of avy of the family. They rode abont during the day and went
‘to the theatre in the evening, just the same as other people. _

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham seemed to be very fond of his wife, but she did
not appear to care so much for him. i

ME. CONNOR, FRIVATE TUTOR, TORQUAY.

Mz, Connor, a private tutor, Torquay :—I knew Mr. Windham and have fre-
quently conversed with him, and I think him to be a person of sound mind.

Cross-examined.—I have seen Mr. Windham only once since 1858, I never
gaw him acting as a linkboy and lighting people to their carringes. 2

By the Master.—The last time I saw Mr. Windham was on the 18th of lash
month. I met him accidentally in Palace-yard, and said T eupposed it was an
anxious time fc_rr him, and asked him how he thought the case was going on. Mr.
Windham replied that he was not making himself very miserable, and that he
had no doubt about the resnlt. He seemed to be in good epirits ;

The inquiry was then adjonrned. .
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The jury intimated in writing their unanimous oping
pinion to the Conrt that Coungsl
should not be present at their interview with Mr. Wi ham final decisi
was come to on the matter. 1 o o febain.

et s _TWEHTY—ThHLHB DAY.—Tugrspay, JaN, 14.

Journed ingquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W, F', Windham, of Fellbrice.
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Westminster Husaiﬂnu-hou;nu ba?urznlgig
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a epecial jury, : :

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatie ; Sir 1[1;1_9;]1 Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward -
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs, Windham.

THE MABTER.

I am sorry to say that I have been informed by several jurymen that
very ill, at_ncl that nothing but a strong sense of ];ub]ic dutJy ﬁl& have #il:a?nzﬁ
them to disregard the advice of their medical attendants, and to leave their homes
to-day. The present iz the 23rd day of the inquiry, and the jury are npaturally
anxious to know when the case will be conclnded. For my own part, I can do
mothing but rely, which I do implicitly, npon the discretion of counsel, and I wounld
advise the jury to hear the case to the end with that tranquillity and patience
which they have manifested hitherto.  If I had endeavoured to interfere with the
petitioners. in any way, they wonld probably have said that they were not allowed
to lay their case fuirly and fally before the jury. I have not so interfered, and it

sappears to me that I wonld hBﬂ-ﬂlTlTlg mOoss 'll.'l:l.jllﬂt-iy if T were to place any restric-

tions upon Mr. Windham and his advisers, who have an equal right with the peti-
tioners to a fair and ample hearing. P

Mr. Chambers.—Something has been said elsewhere abont the cross-examination
of the witnesses for Mr. Windham. All T have to state upon that point is that
Af I were not to erogs-examine the witnesses as they appeared in the box I shounld
probably be obliged, when the time came, to address the jury for four daya. 1 think it
better in order to save time, to deal with the defects in the evidence as they arize.

Mr; Milward.—As the representative of Mr. Windham, I have to make only one
or two observations. It will be recollectad that the case for the petitioners oceapied
twelve days. Up to the present time only eight days have been devoted to the
defence of Mr. Windham. ; _ e P ; :

The Master.—More than that. This is the twenty-third day of the inguiry.

Mr. Milward.—1 meant to say that the evidence for Mr. Windham has oceupied
ﬂcnly eight days, the other two days having been given to the speech of Sir Hugh

airns, ; ;

The Master.—Yes, but that speech was part of your defence. _

Mr. Milward.—I must remind the Court that the inquiry extends over the whole
of Mr. Windham’s life, and that it is more difficult to answer a proposition than to
state it. However, I have much pleasure in announcing that the whole of the re-
maining proof has been ecarefully sifted and weeded, that every piece of evidence
has been withdrawn which can be omitted with justice to Mr. Windham, and that
in future not a single moment of time will be wasted. T am not without hopes that
in a day or two the advisers of Mr. Windham will be enabled to close their evidence.

The Master.—I am glad to hear the remarks of Mr. Milward, and think the jury
cannot do better than trost to the discretion of counsel. I am sure that all parties
must be anxions to conclude the case as soon as possible.

BIGNOR CAMPANA, TEACHER OF MUSBIC,

_ Signor Campana, interpreted by Mr. Albert.—I am a composer and teacher of
music, and reside in Westbourne-place, Haton-square. In 1857 I was living in
Torquay, and was on terms of intimacy with Lady Sophia Windham and her son,
the subject of tbe present inguiry. On one or two occasions Mr. Windham pulled
me gently by the whiskers by way of joke—pour #'amuser—but he never pushed
me against the wall, or did aaything to give me offence.
ME. MURRAY, IRONMASTER,

Mr. ‘Murray, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am an ironmaster in the neighbour-
hood of Glasgow. I have been for several years a director of the Gartnavel Lunatic
Asylam, near that city. In Angust, 1858, I was trayelling with tio of my danghters
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in the Highlands, I met Mr. Windham during the course of the journey, and we
travelled by the same route for one or two days. I conversed with him upon the
ordinary topics of the day. Mr. Windham was a rollicking, t_.hungm,mas, fmg.a.nd.
easy young man, boisterous in his mauner sometimes, and fond of fun, like a boy
fresh from schoel; but I saw in Lim no indication of insanity. :

By the Master—There was a tutor with him, but they did not seem to associate
much on the journey.

: MR, ANDREWS, FPARMEER.

' . Mr. Andrews, of Rimpton, Somersetshire.—I became acquainted with Mr. Wind-
" ham in the summer of 1857. Mr. Windbam was then a pupil with the rector of
Rimpton. I know him intimately, and have often had him at my house, T}}a ac-
quaintance continued till Mr. Windham left, in the latter part of 1858. At first I
had rather a prejndice against him for his appearance and manners, but afterwards
T changed my opinion of him. Mr. Windham bas high animal spirits, and is very
open and unreserved. He is affectionate to those wlio treat him with kindness, and
on one occasion he acted kindly and benevelently to a poor parishioner. There
is nothing ungentlemanly or unbecoming in his conduet. He oeeasionally drove out
Mrs. Andrews and her danghters. Before he left in 1858, he made a proposal of
marriage to one of the youug ladies. Subsequently a correspondence took place on
the subject between Mr. Windham and myself, but the result was that the proposal
was rejected on the ground of the extreme youth of the parties. I had no other
reason for refusing my assent fo the proposed marriage, Lady Sophia, when
appealed to on the subject, concnrred in this decision. There were no personal
reasons, intellectual or otherwise, which induced me to reject the propesal. I
thought that the obvious faults of Mr. Windham—openness and unguardedness—
would disappear as he advanced in life, as they were only such as were frequently
observable in boys of his age, It never crossed my mind that Mr. Windham showe -
any indication either of imbecility or of insanity.
Cross-examined. —Mr. Windham did not tell me at any time that he had proposed to
other young ladies.

SIR W, FOSTER, SOLICITOR, NORWICH.

Sir W. Foster, a solicitor in Norwich : I was professional adviser to the late Mr,
Windham, who was rather hasty and choleric in temper. I had the steward-
ghip of the Windham estates for 40 years. I have known young Mr. Windbham
from his birth. Afterthat gentleman came of age I wrote to him to say that I should
be glad to be continued in the stewardship. Mr. Windham did not reply by letter,
but he met me shortly afterwards in Norwich, and said to me, * Of eourse, old fellow,
1 shonld not dream of taking the manors away from yon, and I beg you will continue
to act as usual.” On that occasion we talked together for a gquarter of an hour
Mr. Windham spoke of his marriage, and invited me to Fellbriggr to be introduced
to his wife. I did not go. I have transacted business with Mr. Windham, and
beliave him to be a person of sound mind.

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham wanted a good deal of assiatance, but he was,
perfectly sound in mind. He knew nothing about his estate, like hondreds of other
young men, but he was perfectly competent to manage it with help. I never said
he was incompetent to manage his affairs. 1 absolutely declined to be introduced to
Mrs. Windham, becanse, as I told Mr. Windham, T understood he married a person
of not very good character, and I did not want to make her acnuaintance. Mr,
Windham replied, * I assure you she is a lady.” T said, *“T must have something
more than your ipse dizit on that subject,” and 1 added that if Mr. Windham counld
refer me to any authority for satisfaction npon the point I should be delighted to
do my best to set him right with the connty. Mr. Windham repeated that his wife
was a lady, and so the subject dropped. T knew that Mr. Windham did not always
speak the truth, bnt I cannot say that his falsehoods were causeless or objectless.

Mr. Windham had no idea of the value of his timber, and he reqnired the assistance
of a person who would manage his estate, or teach him how to do so himself. He
had had no edneation at all, nobody to teach him, no opportunity of learning the
value of his timber, or how to manage his estate. 1 do not recollect saying
“ Windham cannot be guided ; nobody can hold him;” but I might have said so,
meaning simply that Mr. Windham was a wild boy. T do not believe that in four
years £20,000 worth of timber could be eut down at Fellbrigg without damaging
the ornamental character of the park, Mr, Windham never consulted ma about

kg
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selling off his timber. I do not think he feels conscions is i

value or management of his property. OF (8 fmoringe of th
. Re-examined.—I never had any means of testing the knowledge of Mr. Windham
about the value of his timber; in fact, I never talked to him about his property
and the opinion which I expressed upon that point in cross-examination was formed
opon what I had read in the newspapers. I believe that Mr. Windham is quite
capable of being tanght how to manage his affairs, but he would require more
teaching than most other young men. He waa always, as it seemed to me, a difficult
young man to hold together. £40,000 worth of timber might without injury be
cut on the Windham estates, including the devised property, The marriage of Mr,

3 Windham caused n strong feeling against him in the connty.

By the Jury.—When I said that Mr. Windham had no education, T meant in the
- management of property, Old Mr. Windham was gquite competent to manage his
affaiva. Young Mr. Windham is below par; but I do not believe him to be an idiot
or o lanatie. His marriage has been his ruin, but if he had fallen into better hands
he would have got on very well. It is impossible to account for many things in his
conduct, but I believe his marriage, the unusual terms of the marriage settlement,
and his getting into debt to the extent of £30,000 in four months to be consistent
with sanity. Young men do strange thingsin love ; and, besides, Mr., Windham is
4 person easily persuaded by others.
ME. BRUCE.

Mr. Broce, residing in Westbourne-terrace : I met Colonel Bathurst and Mr.
Windham at Baden Baden in 1859, and travelled with them for ten days or a fort-
night in the Black Forest. I believe Mr. Windham to be a person of perfectly
gound mind.

Cross-examined.—Mr. Windham was uneducated, nncouth in his manners, and
more like a groom than a gentleman. On one oceasion, when he was misbehaving
himsgelf, Colonel Bathurst knocked him down, and he blubbered like a child. Mr.
Windham called Colonel Bathurst © a —— aristoeratic hnmbug.” The Colonel told
him that if he repeated such langnage he would knock him down. Windkam did
repeat it, and the Colonel knocked him down. He was in the habit of using coarse
and filthy language and of langhing rather londly.

Re-examined.—Windham called Colonel Bathurst *a —— aristocratic hambuog
becanse the Colonel had expressed his displeasure at Windham imitating his style
of walking.

ME. TAWRENCE, TIMBER BROKER.

Mr. Lawrence, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am in partnership with Mr. Fry.
We carry on the business of timber.-brokers in the city of London. I have known
Mr. Roberts for many years as a person connected with the timber trade. Mr. Fry,
my partner, is a consin of Mr. Gurney, of Gurney, Overend, and Co. T believe
Mr. Roberts has been concerned in Government contracts for timber. He intro-
‘duced Mr. Windham to me in the first or second week of October last. Mr. Wind-
 ham eaid he had some timber to sell, and asked me if we were in a position to
-purchase it. He said he was very short of money, and asked me to examine a paper
of conditions. I did so, and then told him I would go into the matter, and I had no
donbt we would purchase the timber. I afterwards went down to Fellbrige, but
before leaving town I had a second interview with Mr. Windham on the subject. I
went to Fellbrigg on the 24th October. Mr. Fry accompanied me. I‘hn.d pre-
viously seen Mr. Robinson, a large timber contractor, and had mentioned the
contract to him. He authorized us, if we found it a snitable contract, to enter
into it for him. We stayed at Fellbrigg till the morning of the 26th of October.
I had the rongh draught of the contract, or agreement, with me. On the 25th I
was driven over the estate to see the timber by Mr. Windham. I ascertained
generally what timber there was on the estate, and afterwards inquired into the
means of carriage. We found that we should have to take the timber by road
‘to Norwich, a distance of about twenty-three miles, and then by railway to London,
or by water from Yarmouth, The agreement was signed on the 25th. It runa

a8 follows:— ¢t Dotober 25, 1861,

« William Frederick Windham, Beq., of Fellbrigg-hall, Norfolk, agrees for himself,
his heirs, successors, and assigns, to sell to William Francis Lawrence n.nfl Walter
Joseph Fry, of 10, New Broad-street, London, the whole of the timber which may
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s Worfolk estates during the next four years, to the extent of not less
ES&T h:Eg:Jﬁngmpfr annum, and on thﬁgfﬂlluwing ﬂu_:lditiﬂ-nﬂ :—The oak timber trees to
be paid for at the rate of 12d. per cubie foot, string measure, for all above 13 inches
square, and 8d. per cubie foot for all oak timber trees that may be under 13 inches
square, and for all other kinds of timber trees abont 14 inches square at Gd. per
cubio foot. The trees to be taken by the buyers as they now are and stand, the lop
and top branches and bark to be the property of the buyers in consideration of their
paying all expenses for felling, &c. . . The measurement for the girth to be
taken (clear of the bark) at two-thirds from the butt-end of the tree, and for the
length, by two parties to be appointed, who are to choose an umpire before they
begin to work, to decide in case of dispute. Mr. Windham agrees to give free
ingress and egress to the buyers, their men, horses, &e., for the ahove purposes, and
to let them a piece of land of four or five acres at the rate of £1 per acre. This
contract only to be binding on the payment of £1,000 into the hands of Mr. ?]i'mlihu.m,
and the remainder in monthly payments of £350 per month, commencing from
January, 1862. Timber trees which may required to be cut down, and which are
under 10 inches square, to be agreed for afterwards, as the above contract does notb
contemplate any trees being cut down of small gize unles s absolutely necessary,

* W F. WiNpHas,
¢ Witness to the sicnatare of W. F. Windham, Esq., —
bk 8 s “ AgnEs WiNDHAM,"

I saw a groat deal of ornamental timber about the estate. It was perfecily under-
stood that we were not to cat the ornamental timber; it was 2o stated. The object
of the last clanse was that the growing timber should not be tonched—that no more
ghould be cut than was absolutely necessary. The £1,000, which we agreed to pay,
was paid on the 25th. Winter-felled timber could be cut at any time after Novem-
ber. We shonld not get the bark in that case. The timber of which we wanted to
get the bark would be cut in March. I saw a good deal of overgrown timber on.
the estaté. We were to take all sorts of timber. I calcnlated that before getting
any reburn we should have to expend between £3,000 and £4,000. Mr. Robinson
took the contract, and gave us the £1,000 to pay to Mr, Windham. We are only
the brokers, but Mr. Windham does not know Mr. Robinson, as we never give the
names of our principals. A Mr. Freebridge went down and examined the timber
at eur request. He his a man of great experience in valuing timber. Shortly after
entering into the contract General Windham called upon me, and learnt from me
the terms of the agreement. I forget whether I gave him a copy of it, but I think
Idid. T saw him twice. We made him an offer with respect to the contract. We
proposed to give it up, provided we got our money back, and an indemnity against
future legal proceedings. Having regard to the nature of the timber and the
distance, the contract is not particularly advantageons to us. Inall his dealings
with us Mr. Windham conducted himself like a reasonable and sane man,
Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Mr. Fry attends to the financial part of tha
business ; he knows nothing about timber. I got the £1,000 which I paid to Mr.
Windham from my ownbankers. Onthe 29th of October I received £4,250 in the
form of acceptances from Mr. Robinson. That was after I had advanced the £1,000
by way of deposit. Some of the acceptances have been discounted ; the others we
have. It is possible, indeed, that all have been discounted. 1 cannot say when
they were discounted, or where they are to be found now. They are all six-
months’ bills, but I do not recollect how they are divided as to amounts. Mr,
Robinson earries on his business at 14, Mark-lane; he has bheen there for abount
two years. DBefore that he was a member of the Stock-Exchange. He rents a
honse in the Clapham-road which I formerly lived in, but it does not belong to me.
- He took it off my hands about nine months or a year ago. My eldest brother is
his partner, and has been so nearly two years. Oar principals in the Fellbrige
transactions were Robinson and Company. I have known Roberts for twenty years.
He was a bankrnpt about ten years ago. I was not a creditor of his; but I have
had dealings with himin the timber trade. Roberts was a timber merchant and
Government contractor. Our place of business is No. 10, New Broad-street. Mr.
Windham came to our office aceompanied by Roberts, who said,  Here is a gentle-
man who has some timber to sell,”” That was the first time I heard of Mr. Wind-
ham having timber to sell. I had not had any conversation with Roberts on
the subject before. T did not recognize the handwriting of the paper of
conditions. I told Mr. Windham that I would look into the matter, and
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let him know the result in a few days. He gave me his address
in Piccadilly. I did not go there, but Mr. Windbham and Mr. R?:!I;J;E:: 2:;::3.
at aur office a second time. 1 then told Mr. Windham that 1 would go down to Fell-
brige myszelf, and that if the timber was there we should probably take it from him
My partner and 1 travelled to Fellbrige alone, It was not arranged that Bnbari.;
shonld meet us ut Fellbrigg, but we found him there. The only other persong we
saw at Fellbrigg were Mr. and Mrs, Windham, We remained two nights and one
day. It is the habit of timber-growers to prepare their own contracts.
ient ingtance I copied out the paper which had been brought
am and Mr. Rcberts, and left the original at Fellbri The copy w igned
Mr. Windham before dinuer on the evening of the Eﬁtfguf Gutﬂbﬁrfyiu at;:i‘preaantg
of Mrs. Windham, Mr. Fry, and myself. Mr. Roberts was not present, but I think
he was in the honse. Mr. Mostin, the bailiff, may also have been in the housa, but
I did not see him. No arrangement was made as to the time when we shonld com-
mence to cat. Not a single stick has been felled. I made the offer which I have
mentioned to General Windham the first time I saw him. After a time I became
so disgusted with the whole affair that I may have said to Mr. Hansell, the solicitor
to General Windham, that it was so low a transaction that I would rather lose my
£1,000 than have anything to do with it ; but I do not recollect having used those
words. Roberts wonld have received the usual consideration of 1 per cent. upon
the gross amount of the contract, but that was all the interest he had in it. Mr.
Robinson gave us his orders about the contract verbally, and I ean show no writing
from him on the subject. We depended upon his honour for fulfilling the terms of
the contract which he had entrusted us to conclude for him.

Re-examined.—We enter into a great many timber contracts for Mr. Robinson
in the course of a year. There was nothing unusual in the present case. Roberts
was entitled to 1 per cent. because he in‘roduced the business. He has been paid,
nothing. At one time Roberts had a large business as a mahogany merchant. I
became acquainted with him when I was a timber measurer, and I have done
busginess for him as a broker. We have very large contracts passing throngh our
hands—sometimes to the amonnt of a quarter of a million. ;

By the Jury.—We never made a contract for the purchase of growing timber
before. The average price of oak, delivered in the yard of the purchaser, is aboug
2g. per cubic foot. Here the price was fixed at ls. per cobic foot, but we were to
pay for the carriage, and Fellbrigg is far from the market. It was optional for Mr.
Windham to cant what quantity of timber he pleased, but we were bound, if required
by him, to take it to the extent of £5,000 per annum. It was understood that none
of the ornamental trees were to be cut. It is not a nsual mode of measurement for
the girth to take it at two-thirds of the length from the butt-end, but here uo
allowance was to be made for defects, which ought to count as equal to a difference
of 10 per cent. in the price. 1 do not consider the contract a particularly advan-

tageouns one.
SIR HUGH CAIRNS.

Before calling the next witness I wish to refer to a conversation which took place
on Monday with respect to the examination of Mr. Windham, and the guestion
whether or not counsel shounld be present. It is frequently desirable to examine
alleged lunatics in private, and sometimes the sex or the health of the parties
malke it necessary to do so ; but in the present instance, speaking on behalf of Mr.
Windham, I should deprecate a private examination. There is no reason why my
client shounld not be examined in open court, and Mr. Windham himself desires
that his examination shall take place in public, in precisely the same way, as thab
of the other witnesses.

In the pre-
to me by Mr. Wind-

ME., COLEERIDGE.

Considering the manner and tone in which certain questions have been put to
many of the witnesses called on behalf of Mr. Windham—a manner and tone which
I have never in my experience seen equalled—I shall feel it my' duty to be present at
the examination of Mr. Windham, wherescever and whensoever it may take place,
to be myself a witness of every question addressed to him, of the tone in whngh it
is put, and of the person from whom it proceeded.

MR, CHAMBERS.

T have no opinion to offer on the subject, but I may state that the exclusion of
counselis not unprecedented. .
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THE MAETER.

:<h tomake Mr. Windham a public exhibition in open court, whether
wiihh::ﬂw?ﬁ;::: his consent ; and, indeed, the nature of i:.%m topics npon whlghfgf
must be guestioned is such asto vender even a private examination extremely pain
Tt would be almost inhuman to examine Mr. Windham in public, and 1 have been
thinking whether even in private I ought not to exclude certein topics. To permit
suoh topics to be gone into'in open court would s:lmu_at amonunt to a public outrage.
As far as T am coneerned, however, I have no objection to the presence of counsel ;
but in any case Mr. Windham will find himself, God knows, m very friendly hands.
Tn conclusion, I have merely to say that the thonght of the examination taking
place in public would exercise a paralyzing effect upon me, rendering me unable to
fulfil my duties.

: SR HUGH CAIRNS.

The oninion entertained and expressed by my client, is that everythingwhich could
c&usa'pagn has already been placed before the public. He is perfectly willing that
the examination shonld be conducted in open court.

SIE G. ARMYTAGE, THE FOREMAN OF THE JURY.

Our only desire is that Mr, Windham should be as much at his ease as possible
dnring his examination, and therefore we think a private interview will be better
and more fair to him than examination in open court.

The subject then dropped.

AR, FREEBEIDGE, TIMBER EURVEYOR.

Mr. Freebridge.—I have been a purveyor of timber for the Royal Navy for
thirty-five years, and am well acquainted with the value of timber and carriage
expenses. (n the 17th of November last, at the request of Messrs. Lawrence and
Fry, 1 went down to look at the timber at Fellbrige. [ made inquiries about the
expense of carriage af that place. = There was no local demand for timber. While
walking over the estate I saw many trees which had been blown down by the wind;
and which had lain unsold sinee last spring. The wvaloe of timber depends
entirely upon the locality, and in such a place as Fellbrigg timber was not worth
anything like 28. 6d. per cubic foot. Only the best cak fetched that price, and a
large proportion of the timber marked oot for felling at Fellbrigg was very inferior.

.The inguiry was again adjourned.

TWENTY-FOURTH DAY.—WEDNESDAY, JAN. 15.

“The adjonrned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. . Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day, in the Westminster Sessions-honse, before
Mr. Wearren, (.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Huome Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Rugsell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hogh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, .C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ;and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mra. Windham.

Tt was definitelv arranged that the examination of Mr, Windham should take
place in private, but in the presence of counsel, with the understanding that the
Master and the jury, if they thought it desirable, might have a second interview
with the alleged lunatic alone.

ME. FREEBRIDGE.

The examination of Mr, Freebridge continued by Mr, Milward.—Much of
the timber marked for felling at Fellbrigg was defective and inferior in  quality.
The value of the best oak at Fellbrig, when delivered in London, would ba
abount Ss. per cobic foot.  The inferior sorts would hardly be worth the
carriage, and were valuable only for the bark. I saw at Fellbrigr a
congiderable number of beeches, chestnuts and firs. With the exception of the
chestonts they were all of very good quality, and the average price all round might be
abont 6d. per foot. Perhaps the chestnuts would bring 9d. per foot. = There was no
local market for timber near Fellbrigg ; none at least that would consume any con-
giderable quantity. The timber other than cak would not bear the expence of the
carriage to London., There werea few sycamores at Fellbrige., Of the best eak I
estimate the quantity at £7,000 worth. There was a good quantity of beech, but it
was fit for nothing except firewood. There was also a good deal of Spanish chestnut,



152

which might fetch 9d. perfoot. Fir was the prevailing timber, and 3d. per :
a8 muach as it was worth. I believe that the best nmi?;hmpnni; mode ﬂrp:mfont.:;:
would be to send the timber from Fellbrigg to Norwich by road, apd then to Blackwall -
by rail. The land carriage to Norwich would be about 1. per foot. 1 saw the contract
with Lawrence & Fry, and, taking into acconnt the expense of the carriage to a market,
h‘nﬂ algo the inferior quality of part of the timber, and seeing there was no sti

tion as to the proportion between oak and other kinds of timber. I thought it was
a rather disadvantageous bargain to the buyer. The agreement ;nnﬂe no allowance
for defective timber, and that fact, together with the stipulations as to the nt
of advances to Mr. Windham, was also an ingredient in the case, S v

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I was introduced to Lawrence and Fry by
Mr. Roberts. I hadnot seen that person before, nor am I aware that he has been.
a Government contractor for timber. Lawrence and Fry wrote a note to me

enclosing a check for £20, and requesting me te call upon them. Roberts had
mentioned that I would be required to go down to the country to look at timber.
and I understood that the check for £20 was ta pay my expenses. When T called
on Lawrence and Fry I had a conversation with them, and they gave me verbal,
not written, directions as to what I was to do when I went to Fellbrigs. They
asked me to look over the timber and give them my opinion of it. What
they said was, ““We are to have £5,000 worth; give us your opinion as to what
there is on the estate.” These were all the verbal directions they gave to me before.
I went to Fellbrigg. They did not tell me to mark any of the timber. N 4
met me at Norwich. At Fellbrigg T was met by the woodman and the bailiff. I
was about a week looking over the timber. It required all that time to go over the
estate, and I could not form a judgment until I had seen the whole. I did not
make out a list of the timber, but I made notes in a book with respect to the
quality of the trees in different localities. I stayed at Cromer, and was not at
Fellbrigg at all. I did not see Roberts. It was the woodman who told me that
the carriage from Fellbrigg to Norwich would cost 1s. per foot.  As a Governments
purveyor my expervience had been principally in cak. Beech is used in the
construction of breakwaters, wharves, and canals, and also in carpentry
work, but I had little knowledge of that kind of timber. I regarded the
contract as anything but satisfactory to the buyers. I was mot cons
sulted aboutit. It was such a bargain in regard to the wording of it as a timber-
merchant would not have made. 1 should .always like, for my own part,
to see what T am going to buy. I have never bought £5,000 worth of timber
from a young gentleman, just come of age, without the seller taking advice. Om
my return from Fellbrigg I saw Mr. Lawrence. That gentleman never told me
that the agresment was an imperfect one, and that he proposed te iniroduce another
clause; nor did he ever tell me that the object of his sending me down to Fellbrigg
was that he might frame an additional clanse. I have received nothing except the
£20, which I have already mentioned. Idid not expect any more. Ihave neither
geen nor heard from Mr. Roberts since my return from Fellbrige.

Re-examined.—I have never bought £5,000 worth of timber from anybody. My
business is not to purchase, but to inspect timber. A man gkilled in timber can
form a pretty accurate judgment by going through the woods. There areno docks,
breakswaters, or canals in the neighbourhood of Fellbrigg, which want a sapply of
beech. I have inspected all kinds of timber for the Goverament. s

By the Jury.—Inmany counties before the timber is sold it is usual to have it
examined and valued ; but in others it is simply marked off in allotments and sold
by auction. The more defective trees there are at Fellbrigg the greater nt_:mhﬂr
would have to be cut, and the more the estate would have to be denuded of its timber,
to make up £5,000 worth. Firs and beeches are more valuable tothe owner of the
estate than to anybody else. A four-horse team would draw between three and
four loads of timber from Fellbrigs to Norwich. Each load consists of 40 feet of
timber, so that the carringeof one wagon-full would cost £6 er £7. When I wenf
down to Iellbrigg at the request of Lawrence and Fry those gentlemen had already
entered into an agreement for the purchase of the timber.

ME. ROBINSON, TIMBER MERCHANT, MARK-LANE. i

Mr. Robinson, examined by Mr. Milward.—I am a member of the firm of Robinson
& Co., timber merchants, 14, Mark-lane. About the month of October Mr, Lawrence
gpoke to me abont the timber at Fellbrigg, and showed me the roogh ﬂ"“ﬁ"-"'f of an
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old me that he thought it would ba worth my while to go into if.
E;-Edni'haffiaulﬂ lenve the matter entirely in his hands. When Mr. Lawrence
roturned from Fellbrigg I ascertained that the contract had been entered into by
Lawrence and Fry, a8 brokers, on my behalf. T afterwards gave them acceptances
ab six months for £4,250 to provide funds for working out the contract. Wr. Law-
rence told me when he came back from TFellbrigg, that it was understood that the
ornamental timber was not to be cut, I do not recollect whether anything was said
about the form of the contract. Mr. Roberts was to receive some gort of commiszion
but T do not know what. I am not at all acquainted with IRoberts, and what I
know about that person I have heard i‘mn}:: M. Lu\?al_ma. 1 -:mncr;lrrad in the pro-

de by Mr. Lawrence, togive up the contract at any moment.

Pm(?:c::a:ngineﬂ by Mr. Gh;tmlilrs.-—l have been in the timber trade for nearly
two vears. In the matter of the Fellbrigg contract I depended all through upon
AMr. Lawrence, whose judgment is far su ior to Iy own, ‘I was at one
time a member of the Stock Exchange. got into no difliculties ther:n_, but
retived of my own accord when I entered into the timber trade. The offices of
Robinson and Co., in Mark-lane, consisted of two apartments—one for myself and
my partner, and one for the clerk, The clerk was a youth, and his wages
were £20 a-year, besides presents. Both I and .y partner introduced
capital into the business—as much as £1,000. In May last I removed my
private residence from Peckbam to Clapham. The rent at Peckham was
£30 per annum ; I now pay £100. My house at Clapham was formerly
occupied by Mr. Lawrence. The firm of Robinson and Co. consists of myself and a
brother of My, Lawrence. When Mr, Lawrence offered to give up the contract to
General Windham he communicated the fact to me. Mr. Lawrence told me that
Goneral Windham had assured him that T would not lose the £1,000 which I had
paid to Mr. Windham. I understood that if the contract were given up, me and my
partner should have onr acceptences back, and we should not be losers by'the
transaction ; but there was no written agreement to that effect. I have no idea
where the accéptances are now.

Re-examined.—The acceptances given to Lawrence and Fry were solely on
account of the Fellbrige timber contract. In entering into contracts I and my
partner, ns nsual in the trade, left the whole management to onr brokers. Our
transactions throngh Lawrence and Fry have been considerable.

A(it. ROBERT LEMON, TIMBER MERCHANT, WHITWELL, NORFOLK.

Mr. Robert Lemon, of Whitwell, Norfolk, said : T am a timber merchant, and do a
very large business. I am acquainted with the Fellbrigg estate, and the timber
upon it. I have occasionally been a purchaser at the sales at Fellbrigz. I have
bonght Fellbrige oak in a peeled state for from 1s. 9d4. to 2s. per foot, on an
average ; some of it was as low as 1. TIn 1859 I was offered 180 loads of oak for
£600. I refused to give more than £550. The price asked was £3 6s. 8d. a-load,
or 1s. 7id. per foot. The timber was barked. He deseribed the Fellbrigg oak as
very inferior; it was red-hearted and*seamed, and was not so good as the average
timber in Norfolk. The trees round the honse are past their prime, and are every
year depreciating in value. He believed it wounld improve the place to cut them down.,
They were too near the house; some might be cuc down close to the stable wall.
There was a good deal of windfall timber on the estate. There was a very large
lot of beech, but it was short, buck-headed stuff, and some of it was going back. At
n little distance from the house there were many well-growing plantations. The
local consumption of timber was very small. The carriage from Fellbrigg to
Yarmonth, including road and canal, was 22s. per load. Last year the average
price of bark in Norfolk was £4 a-ton. It would require four loads of timber to
produce a ton of bark. Peeling would cost 6s. a-load. It was the custom in
timber contracts to make anallowance for defects. The allowance was made in
the measurement. On the Stratton estate, near Norwich, there was a large
quantity of windfall beech which might be had for much less than 6d. per foot. If
100 loads of beech were cut for sale at Fellbrigg he should not give 8d. a foot for it.

Cross-examined.—I went over the windfall timber at Fellbrigg in 1860, and said
it was worth £4 10s. a load, or 2s. 3d. a foot, without the bark, I was afterwarda
told by Capt. Windham that it fetched £4 12s. 6d. per load, and T stated that T would
have given £nﬂﬂ'r more than the actnal purchaser had given, I had a Government
contract at the time, and I was vexed at losing the timber, which I had looked upon

I rep

g
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agmy own. - £500 more than the sum given by the purchager would have made the
price upwards of £5 per load. I am not aware that the tenants on the Fellbrigg
estate were bound to cart the bark ; but they have always done so. '

Rte-examined.—The windfall timber in 1860 was of prime quality, and rather than
lose it I would have given £5 a load for it, in order to supply the Government.

MIL, HOBERT STEWARD, MAYOR OF YARMOUTIH,

Mr. Robert Steward, Mayor of Yarmouth.—I am a timber merehant, and know the
Fellbrigg estate. The Fellbrigg oak is the worst in Norfolk, and the same remark
applies to the beech. A great deal of it ought to have been cut down long ago. I
would not take the beech for nothing, if I had toremove it to Yarmouth. The value
of the marked oak is not great. The trees are red hearted, an infallible indication of
decay, and if I was & Government inspector I wouldnot allow a footof them to enter a
dockyard. If the oak were for sale I'would mnot give more than £3 10s. a load, or
1s. 9d. per foot for it. I estimate the carriage to Yarmouth at 25s. a load. In the
case of the Fellbrigg oak an allowance of from 20 o 80 per cent. should be made
for defects. To measure the girth at two-thirds of the length from the butt-end,.
instead of in the middle, would not make a difference of more than 15 per cent., and
no allowance was made for defects in'the Fellbrigg contracts.

Cross-examined.—The Fellbrige oak was defective, and the Government ought.
not to have it at any price; but 1 believe thatif anything like a good price had
been given for it the intention would be'to get the Government inspectors to passit..

: COLONEL FITZROY, STRATTON, NORWICH. -

Colonel Fitzroy.—I live at Stratton, near Norwich. I first met Mr. Windham
the ovation gziven to his uncle in Norwich, in 1856, I sat opposite to him at dinner,
and saw how he conducted himself. Mr. Windham drank a good deal of wine, and
became intoxicated before the dinner was over. Until he got drunk he was
perfectly quiet, but he was afterwards rather noisy. There wasa good deal of noise
in the room. The next time I gaw Mr. Windham was at a review in Norwich, in
1860, Mr. Windham was in uniform, and on horseback. I talked to him a good
deal during the day, and his cbservations were such'as 1 would have expected to
hear from an officer who had learned his drill. T saw him on a gimilar occasion
last year. He was sitting on the box of Lady Suoffield’s carriage, and his behaviour
was sensible and proper. I have seen him on various othre occasions, and I have
never had the slightest notion that he was either ingane or imbecile. e

] ME. HOOD, OF BETHLEHEM HOSPITAL. i
Mr. Hood, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am superintendent physician of Bethle-
hem Hospital, and was formerly connected with the Colney-hatch Asylum. T had
also at one time a large private asylum. Mr., Windham called upon me on Frida
the 18th of December. He wanted to have my opinion as to the state of his min
T conversed with him for a considerable time for the purpose of testing his mental
‘capacity, and with his consent I took notes of the conversation. I had litle pre-
vious knowledge of his case. At my request he gave me an acconnt of his early
life. He told me that he lost his father, to whom he was much attached, when he
was 14 years of age. He described his residence at Eton, stating that he was
placed in the fourth form at entrance, and that when he left he was in the fifth
form, having gained the promotion by examination. He gaid that after leaving
Eton he was placed entirely under the care of tutors whom he disliked, and that
consequently his life had not been ahappy one. He told me that he came of age in
Angugt last, and, that he had since married. He then went on to say that his pro-
perty at Fellbrigg wasworth about £3,000 a-year, and that there were other estates
worth about £3,000 per annum which he would come into possession of in 1869. I
asked him what were his tastes and pursuits. He replied that he was very fond
of all kinds of field sports—riding, driving, hunting and shooting—and that ll:_a
should like to live always in the country. 1 asked him whether he was in the habit
of reading. Fe replied that he did mot read much, that he was certainly Jliiﬂt
studions, that he was engaged all day, and in the evening was too tired to read. h (]
stated that the Lewelling were kind to him when lu? lodged with then::: but fka;f
had turned against him, and had put in their afidavits what he called & pav 131
lies.” T msked him what they charged him with. IHe said they charged him Fdljn
kicking up great rows in the house, and all sorts of accusations whmh-ﬁu??_lﬂlhﬂ s
proved, % Perhaps,” he said, “1 was rather boisterous ; hut what, then o "ﬂrf 9
him whether he had not been on familiar terms with many policemen. es,
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e veplied, “I kuew a lot of them, but I only chaffed them, and the principal
witness against me i8 & wan who can be proved to be willing fo swear
anything.” I asked him ywhether he thought his marriage was ome likely
to please his family. He replied, “Perhaps not; bunt my mother is the
onlv one that cares for me—the others would let me go to the devil if it were not
for the property. I know I have not made a good marmage, but I had an infatua.
tion for my wife. I knew she had not led a moral or respectable life, but I hoped
that being married; we would be happy together. However, the thing is done, and
thers is Do use in speaking of it.” He told me that they were not living together ;
that his wife had left him for other men; and that she had spent his mouey in a
. most extravagant manner. | He had been greatly disappointed, he said, and hoped
never to see her again ; and he added, “ When 1 get out of this trouble I.shall apply
for a divorge.” I remarked thatif he got a diverce I was afraid he wonld do the,
same thing again; to which he replied, “ I am nat guite such a fool as t-llﬂ'if‘ Once
bit twice shy.” He eaid that if he conld get rid of * all this bother” he thought he
might get on very well yet, becanse he felt perfectly able and willing to manage hig
affairs. He told me that his debts might be about £19,000, but bills. due, by his
Yife were coming mn daily, and he had that very morning reeeived, one for £300, of
of which he had no previous knowledge. He.said he had advertised that he
would pay no more of his wife's debts. I then spoke to him about the lebting
of his farms. He gaid he had not taken the home-farm in hand, because he
did not wish to engage in * fancy farming,” which was an expensive amusement,
but had let it to his bailiff at a good rent, as he did not like to have a stranger
so near the hall. I asked him whethen the railway company had made any offer to
him for the passage of the railway throngh his property. He said they had not,
but he was anxions that the railway should pass through his estate. | He was afraid,
however, that the scheme would not be carrvied ont, because the Barings, the
Buxtons; and other families were opposed to it on the ground that it would interfere
with the quietnde of Cromer. He told me that the story of Atkins about boot-
trees was. ““all lies,” and that what he wanted was a set of trees, not for
every pair of boots, but for every kind of boots. He appeared to me fally
to moderstand the value and use of money. He acknowledged that he had
led a noisy and rather fastlife, and regrested many of his actions, more particularly
his marriaze; and he told me that he shonld have avoided many of his indiscretions
if he had known that his family wers anxions to make him out a lunatic. When
putting on his overcoat he said he hoped I wonld help to proye him sane. 1 replied
that from what I had seen of im I did not believe him to be inzane, and that I
would have no objection to say as much for him. I told him, however, that he had
committed many bad and vicions actions, and expressed a hope that he would lead
a better life in future. He said he was mueh obliged to me, and trosted I would do
what I ecould for him, I saw him again for a short time on the 31st of December,
but nothing particular passed between us on that occasion. My chief object in the
second interview was to examine the structure of his month. His answers were
coherent, consequent, and rational throughont. I could not say, judging from the
interviews alone, that he is otherwise than of gound mind.

Cross-examined.—And competent to manage his own affairs. I endeavonred to
impregs npon him the desirability of aeting with cauntion during the course of these
proceedings..  He did not seem to be much impressed with what I said ; but he may
have been so. One of his solicitors—Mr. Rowcliffe—brought him to me, but I saw
].u:m alone. I bad not heard anything of the goings-on at Fellbrigg on Christmas
night when I had the second interview with him. He treated my advice with
regpect, but L cannot say what effect it had upon him. I remonstrated with him
about continuing acguaintance with Roberts. He told me on the 81st of December
that he had left Piccadilly, and intended to have nothing more to do with Roberts.

By the Jury.—I did not examine the form of his head, nor should I have paid
mugh attention to it if [ had. Amenfia is an exploded term, and I hardly know
what it means. Mr. Windham is a person of sound mind.

| MISS BABINGTOX, LICHFIELD, '

Miss Babington, a niece of the late Lord Macaulay.—T Tive at Lichfield with my
parents. In 1859 I was travelling with them abroad. We visited Spa, where we'
were introduced to Colonel Bathurst and Mra. Wilkingon. The latter seemed to

a great interest in Mr. Windham and called him ¢ Willinm.” Her daughter
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was with her, Mr. Windham, as far as T saw, was always perfectly gentlemanly in
every way. At the fable d'hiife he was rather high-spirited, but nothing more. 1
nqv?ir saw anything in him which induced me to believe that he was of nnsound
mind.

Crogs-examined.—He was rather unpolished in his manner,

The inquiry was again adjourned. :

_ TWENTY-FIFTH DAY.—THURsDAY, JANUARY 16,

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W, F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed fo.day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, .C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the peti-
tioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged lunatic; SBir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr, Milward for
Mr, William Frederick Windham; and Mr. Coleridge Q.C., for Mrs. Windham,

DR. WHIDBORNE, LONDON.

Dr. Whidborne, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I am a general practitioner in
Guildford-street, Russell-square, and in 1860 was sent for to see Miss Willoughby as
a patient. She was then living in St. John’s-wood. I have met her before in the
hunting-field in Hertfordshire. Abont a week before her marriage I recsived an
intimation to the effect that she hoped I would not refuse to be one of her trustees,
ag it would be greatly for the benefit of her mother and sisters. I consented to be a
trustee, as 1 was informed it would not involve much tromble. I saw her on the
morning of the marriage at the house in St. John's-wood. Mr. Windham sent his
brongham for me. 1 had never seen that gentleman before. The sisters of Mrs.
Windham were there. Mrs, Windham introduced me to her intended husband. Mr.
Windham said to me, * Doctor, I wish to speak to you a minute.” We withdrew
together into another room. I examined Mr. Windham, who said he had chafed
himself with a pair of tight trousers, and I told him it was a mere trifle and pre-
scribed an application of cold eream. Aboutf ten minutes afterwards we all went to
church, and the marriage took place. I saw Mr. Windham in London when he
returned from his marriage jaunt, and was told that Mrs. Windham was very ill
She was suffering from a disordered stomach, and I prescribed for her. Some time
afterwards I went down to Wellbrigg with Mr. Bowen May to pay a visit to Mr.
Windham. We arrived at Fellbrigg on a Saturday, about the middle of September,
and we left on the following Wednesday. I wished to leave on the Tuesday, but
Mr, Windham requested me to stay for another day, as he expected his uncle,
the General, to lunch, and wanted to introduce me to him. The General came on
Tuesday, and I was introduced to him. He took a glass of wine and a biscuit. I
heard a conversation between him and his nephew about the exchange of a piece
of land. The General stayed nearly an hour, and the conversation about the land
lasted the greater part of the time. Mr. Windham bebaved all throngh the visit
like a gentleman. He was a very early riser, took a great deal of exercise, and
talked rationally and sensibly. .

Grm-sxnmin{;d by Mr. Ghimbem.—I have an Edinburgh degree and n.Hmﬂal}l:igrg
one. The date of the latter is 1848. I never knew Mrs. Windham a.g nklliﬂ
Willoughby. Before her marriage she called herself Mrs. ——. Idonoft Il 5 8
apoke to her in the hunting-field. The hounds belonged to a Mr. Yuu%ti;. = ave
known Mr. Bowen May, who is my solicitor, for abont tweniy years. r;' ay is
solicitor to the company for protecting medical men from c;uacks. _I am mir a.n;«_am-
ber of the company, nor have I ever assisted Mr, May in detecting mzr?lﬁn 1{.}:.%
on the part of sham doctors. At first I made up my mind not ?10 hatu._ o :Banl
Mra. Windham, but upon hei:f assured by Mr. May that it would not invo 1 - wi
trouble or difficulty I complied with the regnest of the lady. I have nn;f']: fone
Mra. Windham except as a patient, and ha;ur:‘a nm;e:};ﬂsgnbgtnt;;n: ilirfﬂ:b“b 2

inquiries into her character or antecedents. A A . :
]61?]1 morning of the marriage 1 was suffering from a dislocation of the Inh:éc a:;d I
went to St. John's-wood much against my will. The m?mﬁf On
was that Mr. Windham wanted to consult me professionally. A

ival at the house Mra. Windham eaid to me, “I am glad you '
S . » SQhe did not tell me what Mr,
Doctor, for Mr. Windham wanta to 8ea you. ':ml men and women in the
Windham wented o 860 mp anont, 0 Sowen Msy. I understood that Mrs.
room, but the only person 1 knew was Mr., Bowen Iay.

my
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: 'e mother waa present, but I did not speak to her. I was in_t.ruﬂuneﬂ to
L‘Fﬁ;uﬁﬁnei,ﬁhﬂ il ﬂﬂl:i ES4 n:spe:l:bllh]j"; though rather common in his manners.
There were several other men in the room, but I had never seen them before, and
did not speak to them. They were between 30 and 40 years of age, and were
dressed well enough, but I do not think they were gentlemen. When I examined
Ar. Windham I observed no taint of an infectious disease. - Mr. Windham did not
tell me that he had consulted Dr. Illingworth and Mr, Johnson. He said, *lIs
there any harm in this " and I replied, © No, none whatever,” and then I told him
to apply a little cold cream. I think that Mr, Windham told me that he had not
suffered from an infectious disease for six months, He said, “Is there any objec-
tion to my being married ?"' and I replied, “ From what I have seen, none.” I was
siof much affected when Mr. Windham consulted me that morning ; the tears did
not come into my eyes, nor did 1 ghake Mr. Windham by the hand and SAY) “ My
dear boy, there is no harm.” The interview did not last more than five minutes,
and when it was over we returned to the room where the company was. I went to
church in a brongham with the bride and one of her sisters, 1 did not ohserve
how the procession was marshalled. All the company went 3 the altar. The
bridegroom was lively-—not melancholy. I acted as father of the bride and gave
her away. I wasnot presented with a pair of gloves, nor did I see any of the party
wearing favours. I do not know whether Mr. Bowen May acted as best man.
After the ceremony I returned to the house, but did not remain for the déjeuner.
The bride was married under the name of Agnes Rogers. I had a glass of wine
and drank the health of the happy couple. Mr. Windham seemed quiet and tranquil
—resigned to his fate. Roberts was not at the marriage ; indeed 1 have never seen
that person. 1 believe that after the breakfast Mr. and Mrs. Windham went ofl to
Paris. Upon their return to London I attended Mrs. Windham three times for
derangement of the stomach. Mr. Windham told me he was very well. Mr. Bowen
May and myself went down to Fellbrigg for a little shooting. One evening after
dinner Mr. Windham was taken suddenly ill and went to bed. Ile appeared to be
in a high state of fever, arising from over-exertion, but I did not discover any
symptoms of a particular disease. I questioned him on the subject, but he replied,
¢ (Oh, I have had nothing the matter with me since I was in Torquay.” 1 have not
spoken to himgsince that visit to Fellbrigg. I have not been paid for my profes-
sional services, but I expect to be paid. .

Re-examined.—After I had examined Mr. Windham on the morning of the mar-
riage, Mrs. Windham did not speak to me on the subject.

M. BOWEN MAY, SOLICITOR.

Mr. Bowen May.—I have been in practice as a solicitor for more than twenty
years. In 18539 I became acquainted with Miss Willonghby. She was introduced
to me in the buonting field as Mrys. . She was in company with two
gentlemen, neither of whom was Mr. . Bhe rode remarkably well, and was a
woman of great personal attractions. The next time I saw her was with her
Majesty’s staghounds in Buckinghamshire. She met with an accident, and I ren-
dered her what assistance I conld, and saw her to an hotel.. Afterwards she called
at my office in Russell-square to consult me professionally. I acted as her solicitor
on that occagion, as well as on another subsequent one. Her action was brought
under the name of Agnes Willoughby. She told me ghe was living under the pro-
tection of a gentleman. In the summer of last year—at the end of July or the
hﬂgir}nmg of .fi.uguat-—alne called on me again. She told me she was going to be
, married. T said she had better remain as she was. She went away, but returned

* in a few days afterwards. On that occasion she told me she had received an offer of

~ marriage from a gentleman of pesition and fortune, and she gave me the name of

Windham. We discussed the matter a good deal, but I thought there was nothing
in it. Bubsequently she brought Mr. Windham and introduced him to me as the
gentleman of whom she had spoken. She said he had made her an offer, but she
had not made up her mind whether she would accept it or not. They called
again on the 1st of Angust,a few days before Mr. Windham came of age. The conver-
sation was of a similar character. He said they were going to be married, for she
had accepted him. T asked him how old he was, and he replied he would not be of
age for a few daye. I told him it would be quite time enough to talk of being
married when he came of age. The first time the marriage was serionsly discussed
was on the 20th of August. They told me they were going to be married ; they first
#aid it wonld be in October; and then they said it would bein September. Before the
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.zad on that occasion. The draught was fﬁ_turncﬂ on the 28th of August, ready
br engrossment. I had seen counsel in the meantime, and told him of the altera-
tion with respect to the rent.charge. 1 saw Mr. Windham the same day the

“draught was returned, and asked him who the second tfusiee was to be. He said

he hfd not been able to select one of his own, but he did not care who the trustees
were, provided they were respectable and responsible. He then authorizsed me to
put in the name of Mr. Roberts, though he did not then know that persom, or, in
fact, did not see him till after the marriage. The draught, as altered with respect
to the rent-charge, was copied and engrossed on the 29th. I sent it to be executed
to Miss Willoughby's residence, in Blenheim-place, St. John's-wcod, and my clerk
broughtit back signed by both parties. At the request of Mr. Windham I went to
the wedding. The day was changed, and he asked me to go because the friends
whom he had expected counld not attend on the altered day. Miss Willoughby
‘generally came to me in a brougham with one horse. I saw Mr. Windham
in Paris, where he executed the disentailing deeds, which had been prepared
in England. The effect of the deeds was to bar the entail to the Fellbrigg estate After

‘his return from Paris I saw him in Lomdon, and it was arranged that Dr. Whid-

borne and I should go down together to Fellbrigg-hall on a visit to Mr. Windham.
I was in the room when the General and his nephew had a conversation of a busi-
ness nature. 1t related to the sale of some property. I did not know who was to.
be the buyer. I asked Mr. Windham, after the General had gone, what the property
was worth, ““Oh!” he said, “only abont £1,000;” and I understood from him that
the General wanted to sell the property to him. The bargain was not concluded.
General Windham was introduced to Mrs. Windham and her sister. He did not
take lunch with the rest of ns; he said he never took lunch, but he had wine and
biscnit at the fireside. After my return from Fellbrigg Mr. Windham called on me
geveral times. He always talked most sensibly, and seemed. to be a person of
perfectly sound mind. I told him that a very improper application had been made
to the Court of Chancery against me. His reply was,  You will cateh it, for Vice-
Chancellor Wood is a bosom friend of my uncle, the General” T said Vice-
Chancellor Wood was a perfect gentleman, and 1 was suve the application would be
dismissed. I was not even in court when the case came on.

__ Cross-examjned by Mr. Field—I did not hear the remarks which the Vice-
Chancellor made in dismissing the application. I had not my costs. I do not know
what Mr. Windham owes me. The sums I have paid for him are entered in my
book as follows :—* August 29, Windham, £200; September 10, Windham, £150 ;
September 26, Windham, £100; October 9, Attenborough, £135 4s.; October 19,
Windham, £200 ; October 31, Attenborongh, £226 8s.” The only entry on the other
gide is a payment by Mr, Windham of £200 ; in fact, on the 28th of August, we merely
exchanged checks to that amount. The two sums paid to Mr. Attenborough were to
redeem old jewellery pledged by Mrs. Windham before her marriage. Mr. Wind-
ham was threatened with an action if the jewellery was not redeemed, and that is the
rzason why I paid the money. I held the jewellery in my possession for Mr.
Windham. The £200 paid on the 19th of October was given to Mrs. Windham, and
was afterwards handed over by her to her husband. I shonld think that £50 would
pay my bill of costs against Mr. Windham, exclusive of £20 whigh I charge for going
to Paris with the disentailing deeds. He also owes ma the price which I gave for a
horse. 1 knew that ,MI' Windham was under age, for the first time, on the 4th of
ungnat. I was also informed that. he was a ward of Court. My charges before the
<Uth of Augnst are entered in my book against Miss Willoughby; but, of
course, in making out my bill of costs I shall include them in Mr. Windham's
:ﬂn?;::; I believe Mr, Windham saw the draught of the settlement, but L am

Re-examined.—On the 20th of August the stipulation was that the setil

should be £300 a-year, On the Eﬁthiﬁ. was ugrfed that the amount ahtu?i?&eﬂz

ahe would not give up her allowance of £2,000a o
: | : -year for a settlement of £300. T
am not acquainted with Chancery pmneedin:;s, and had no idea that T was guilty of
;.mntumph of Court in acting for Mr. Windham with respect to his marriage after
; i?eﬂ:;lﬂmt.ﬁ of age. He attained his majority on the 9th of August, and was married on

By the Jury.—I did not ask Mr. Windham what his.x ' i

. wreason was for saying that his.
uticle, the General, wanted to get hold of his property, I did not ahjecjlr: tE Roberts
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os a trustee. He has an income of £5,000 a-year, and T have onnd hi

man of honour and talent. The only thing against, him ig his h:i;::{;tg Ihi:.ml 5

drew aunh.a. aettiament_bufore, but it is often done. Mr. Windham said j;.--.v;:n m:f?i

have no friends or relations on earth that I care for; all my property must go to

wife ; why, therefore, should I refuse her £1,500 a-year 7 A i
The inquiry was again adjourned.

I et T:F'FE:JN;I"E'I;EI{LTE DAY.—Fripay, Jax, 17.
e adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Wi i
hall, Norfolk, was resumed in the Lords Justices’ Court, Wuhrﬁaﬂtg:mflﬂ?‘uhnﬁg-
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury. R
L_Il_-, M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr, Phar%en Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham
At the sitting of the Court the Master asked Mr. Karslake when he expected to
be able to close the evidence for Mr. Windham. Mr. Karslake declined to answer
the guestion, because, as he alleged, he had been charged in the public journals
with having wilfully ' deceived the Court on a previous occasion. The learned
gentleman wae nnderstood torefer to a statement made in the Times of the 17th inst,
Sir H. Cairns said—DBefore the business [of the day commences I wish to enter a
protest against the decision of the Master fo examine Mr. Windham in private. I
base my protest upon two grounds—first, the ground of expediency ; and, secondly
the ground of jurisdiction. Certain statements to the effect that the conversation
of Mr. Windham was childish and inconsequential, and that his manners were not
consistent with soundness of mind, had been made in open court, and Mr.
Windham desired that he should be permitted to rebnt those statements, so far as
they could be rebutted in the course of an examination, in the face of the public.
On the question of jurisdiction a most important rule was laid down by Lord Eldon
in the Portsmonth case. When excluding the public from the examinationin that case,

Tord Eldon was reported by Sir G. Cowper to have said that the act was the act of the

parties, and not the act of the judge. Moreover, it was well known that the Divorce
Court, in which extremely painfui disclosures were frequently made, had not the
power of sitting’ in private, and that a year or two ago Parliament actually refused,
when an application was made to it for the purpose, to grant such a power to that
tribunal. I am aware that alleged lunatics have ‘sometimes been examined in
private, but those private examinations have taken place only with the implied or
expressed consent of the parties, or when an examination in open court was physi-
cally impossible. Of course, at whatever time or place the Master may appoint for
the examination of Mr. Windham, that gentleman, as in duty bound, will attend with
his advisers. If the public should then be excluded, Mr. Windham must bow to the
decision of the Court, but it wonld be understood that he did so under protest.

Mr. Field stated that the advisers of the petitioners were quire content to leave the
matter in the hands of the master.

The Master, after remarking that whatever fell from Sir H. Cairns was entitled to
the utmost consideration and respect, said—I am placed in a peculiar and responsible
position, charged with the condunet of proceedings in many respects of an anomalons
character ; in Bome respects, indeed, somewhat abnormal. Having regard to many eir-
eumstances into which I will not now enter, I beg to say that I have heard nuthin%
from Sir H. Cairns which can induce me to alter the determination at which
have already arrived, for T have no hesitation in stating that if I were to accede to
the proposal now made on behalf of Mr. Windham, for a public examination of a
kind very different from any which took place in the Divorce Court—an examination
necessarily involving topics of an extremely _painful and indelicate nature—it
would simply have the effect of rendering me incapable of discharging my dutics
judicially, and in point of fact there would be no examination at all, but a mere
abortive and unseemly exhibition. Of course, counsel will be present at the
examination of Mr. Windham, and there will also be a ghorthand writer for the
protection of all parties; but I think that the jury and myself may lawfully have o
a second interview with the alleged lunatic alone, though I trast there will be na
necesgity for it.

MR. MARTIN, LATE BAILIFF AT FELLBRIGG HALL.

Mr, Martin, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I was, until Jately, bailiff at Fellbrigg,
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and have lone been connected with the Windham family. Old Mr. ‘Windham held
the ]3::11:‘{'”51 in his own hands until his death. After that event 1 continued to
live in the hall, but in 1858 the home-farm was let tome. It is about G40 acres in
extent, and until young Mr, Windham came of age I paid the rent to the receiver,
Captain Henry Windham. Old Mr. Windham was a very passionate man, but his
passion was soon over. His treatment of his son was very irregular and capricious
—sometimes he was indulgent and sometimes severe. I.was present at his
faneral. Young Mr. Windham wept bitterly, and seemed very much affected. I
noticed nothing improper or extravagant in his conduct. I saw him from time to
time during his residence at Bton. While Lady Sophia was in Torguay, he was
with a tutor at Rimpton. I went there at the request of his mother, and was with
him for four honrs. From Rimpton I returned to Fellbrigg. I discussed the ordi-
nary topies with him on that occasion, but I do not remember the conversation.
He treated me with great kindness. After that I saw little of him till he came
down to Fellbrigg with Mr. Horrocks. He stayed four or five months. Mys. Martin
and T used to play cards of an evening with Mr. Windham and Mr. Horrocks. I
thought Mr, Windham played whist very well. I next saw him when he came over
from Yarmouth, at the time he was in the militia. That was in 1860. My wife
and I went to Yarmouth, by invitation, to see a review of the militia. I saw Mr.
Windham with his regiment, and, as far as I could judge, he conducted
himself properly. He carried the colours as emnsign. 1 Innched with
him after the review, and in the evening I went with him to
the theatre, where he joined his brother officers. When I next gaw him he was
with Mr. Peatfield. They came down to Fellbrigg together in September, 1860,
and stayed till February, 1861. During that time Mr. Windham rode about a good
deal. I drove Mr. Peatfield to Aylsham when he went to inquire about the fight
with the showman, and heard him tell Mr. Windham that he must goup to London.
Myr. Windham called him a “slink,” and said he wonld not leave Fellbrigg; but I
advised him to go to London, and he eventnally consented. One of his eyes was
discolonred. The next time I saw him was in town. I came to London, by in-
vitatiop from him, in the second week in July. Istayed in Duke-street forabout a
week, 1 didnot see a great deal of Mr. Windham. On one occasion I went with
him to Richmond, and I saw him at Cremorne. I also accompanied him to the
Crystal Palace, and on the same day we went to the Wimbledon wolunteer
review. Mr. Windbam created no disturbance at Wimbledon. He spoke to a
policeman in the gateway, but there was no row or anything of the kind, ner did
he use offensive language while ladies were passing in their carriages. He got-upon
the gateway, but that was to see a charge of the volunteers. He drove me back to
town. Mr. Peatfield was living with him at that time in Duke-gtreet. I frequently
lunched with him andthe Lewellins, Mr. Peatfield, and Mr. Partridge. There was plenty
of wine on these occasions—generally champagne. During my stay in town Mr. Wind-
ham called my attention to what he termed capital articles and letters in the Times
about the *pretty horsebreakers.” T do not remember whether I read the letters
of “A Mother of Beven Danghters” and “ A Belgravian Mother,” nor do I reeollect
whether he called my attention to a communication in which the writer recom-
mended an' establishment in “ the shady groves of the Evangelist.” He said, *I
would rather marry a ‘preity horsebreaker’ than T would a lady.” It is very
likely 1T remonstrated with him on the subject, but T can’t say. After I returned
to Fellbrigg he came down several times. He brought down a portrait, and teld
me it was Agnes Willoughby's. He took down the General's portrait, and hung up
Agnes Willonghby's in its place. I advised him not to do so. I remember him
coming down just before he attained his majority. Mr. Jackson and Mr. Hansell
came to Fellbrigg when he was there. General and Captain Windham came over
on the 8th of August. I was not present at any part of the conversation which took
place between Mr. Jackson and Mr. Windham. On the morning he came of age Mr.
Windbham told me that Mr. Jackson had made a proposition to him that he shoald
give up the then settled property and live in the hall, paying a nominal rent for it,
and that he should have a larger income out of the unsettled property. He nsked
my opinion about it. I told him that I thought, if he did not understand the
matter, he had better well consider what he was doing. He admitted that he
did not understand it, and he enid it was not proposed by the General, but
by Mr. Jack:;mn. My advice to him wad, not to veject it, but to panse
before accepting. Lady Sophia wes at the hall during the visit, ‘;.mt. eho
L [
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was an invalid. T think she left the day Mr. Windham came of age.
There was no fefe or anything of that sort on the occasion. The day Mr.
Windham came of age there was a regatta at Cromer. I saw him there in
the company of Lady Suffield. I heard him say one day he wounld marry
Agnes Willoughby, I did not think he was so much of a fool as to do
anything of the kind, and told him so. Shortly before the marriage Mrs. Martin
and I were sent up *to London by General Windham, who was then living at Hax-
worth, and who wished us to do what we could to stop the marvinge. We saw Mr,
Windham in Duke-street, and tried to persuade him not to marry Agnes Willuughhr.
I told him that if he were to do so his uncle, the General, wonld get a commiszion
of lunacy against him. Something abont that had been said at Hanworth, but
I do not remember what it was, and I made the statement to him, because I thousht
it would have an effect upon him. He denied stoutly that he was going to be
married, and said there*was no truth in the report. He said, ** Who the devil gent
the General such & message as that? DBesides, if I think proper to marry Agnes
Willoughby, who has any business with it ?"’ He then mentioned the names of two
noblemen who had married women of similar character. It was then I told him
that the General would get a commission of lunacy against him. In reply to that
he said, he would call the General out, or something of that kind. He promised to
go down with us to Fellbrigg, but he did not keep his promise, and the next thing I
heard of him was that he was marrvied. I was still living in the hall when he came
down with his wife and her sisters. He spoke to me about his wife. T met him in
the park, and he said, * Well, Martin, my wife seems to think that she is no preat
favourite of yours.”' I replied, “ [ am not surprised at that from the course I have
taken.” He said, *“ I can. assure you she is a perfect lady, and I can
bring witnesses to prove it.” I replied, *Nothing could give me greatec
pleasur: than to hear it proved that she is.” [ was very much avnoyed at the
marriaga, and gave notice to quit. My wife and I then removed to the dairy-house,
and I remember speaking to Mr. Windham about repairs. After inspecting the house,
along with acarpenterandabricklayer, heordered that it should bethoroughlyrepaired,
gaying to me, © Well, old fellow, yon mnst pay half the labour.” That is the custom on
the estate, but I told him I would not go to any expense myself. I said that if he
wonld grant me a lease for twelve years I should pay four per cent. on the outlay. He
consented, and upon these terms the vargain was completed. During our connection
}ie has been in the habit of writing to. me from time to time. He has always treated
me with great kindness. I now produce some of the letters which I received from
him :—

¢ Guernsey, April 10, 1861.
¢ D¢ ar Martin,—Nothing will give me greater pleasure than to let your brother-
in-law have Melton's farm, unless he would like to have Daniell's, which Symonde
has had notice to quit. I am perfectly satisfied that he will snit me, since the
recommendation comes from you ; and it makes me only too pleased to be able to do
anything for a man who done so much, not only for my poor father but also for
me. I should like you just to let me know what state Brown's and Melton’s farma
are in, if you have an opportunity. I must now say adien; and, with love to
Jeffy, and hoping you are quite well, believe me,
4 o 5 ' “ Yours traly, W. F. WixpHANM,
« P, §,—Direct to me, ¢ Fost-office, Guernsey.” "
¢ Guernsey, April 17, 1861.

“ My dear Martin,—I have considered your letter, and what you say is very
jnst. However, Melton yon knBw last year took into his head to abscond, and
leave his wife, and go to some fair, and there stay neglecting his farru. When I
heard of it 1 said nothing at the time, but I thought that, after that, it was time
for him to guit. However, I will think over the matter, and see a]:u‘.-uh it, and
let you kuow in a day or two. Wonld Park’s house be two big with the farm
for your brother or not, as, if it would not, you can tell Mr. Park that if he likes
Daniell’s farm he may have it. Bunt do you think he would Jlike to move or not,
perhaps best nos, therefore let the matter atand for the present. I must now say

: : i
adien, and with love to Jefly, believe me, i i W. I, Winpuax.

,,Where is Lines at work ?”




169

% Guernsey, April 29, 1861,

“ 3y dear Martin,—You may tell your hrut.lmr-nlvluw_ that he may cougider
Melton’s farm his next Michaelmas; so that affair is settled. I bave thought
it over, and mow come to a conclugion. Do you know of anybody who is in want
of a farm? I shounld like to know, as I want to let Daniell's tarm. Is it troe
what I heard from Captain Windham, that Symonds, after having notice t.uhquit,
ia quite fornishing a room for his son in the farm, becanse, if so, that is just trifling,
as I do not intend him to have any one there ag his tenant, but the person who is
to be there must be my tenant, and so you have my leave to tell him, if anything
is gaid about the matter. With love to Jeffy, and hoping you are well, believe me,

“ Yours very truly, W. I, Wivouau.”
' ¢ Parig, September 4, 1861.

¢ Dear Martin,—We shall be down with you on Tuesday next. Yates will be
down on Monday, and will bring further orders. I want two rooms—one for my
wife and self, one for her maid, and one for her sister. Get the piano tuned; get
a man from Norwich. Good bye ; love to Jeffy. “ Ever yours truly,

“W. F. WiNnDHAN.

“ Have the east bedroom and dressing.room for my wife and the thoroughfare
room for her maid.”

Until Mr. Windham came of age the estate was entirely under the control of the
trostees. He has no great taste for farming, but he has been round the estate
with me several times, and on those cccasions he has always talked rationally and
sensibly. - In my jodgment he 18 a man of perfectly sound mind.

- Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Myr. Windham and I are still very friendly.
The last time I saw him was on Saturday evening. He was driving a four-in-hand
near Fellbrigg, and I did not speak to him. There were several people with him.
I had been at Fellbrigg all the day, and Mr. Windham had been away. He was
returning when I saw him. I do not know when Mr. Windham was last in town.
I was kind to him when he was a child, and he has alwayse talked to me with
perfeet familiarity and confidence. I have fancied sometimes that he told me
falsehoods ; T do not say many, but some. I do not remember ever saying to him,
“ Why, Mr. Windham, that is not true.” He has never complimented me by saying,
*You're aliar.”” I should fancy his mind is a little below the average. I should
not eall him an extraordinary clever man. Many of the letters which I have pro-
duced were written in answer to some which I had sent him. He corresponded at
the eame time with Captain Windham, but the lauguage of his letters to me could
not by any possibility have been copied from those of Captain Windham to him.
When Isaw him at Rimpton he did not tell me anything about his being in love
with a young lady there. I donot thinkhe was in love then, for he spoke rather dis-
respectfully of Mr. Andrews, who, he eaid, was, a gentleman who thought a great
deal of himself. I do not remember whether he had a dirty appearance or not. I have
seen his face dirty, but I do not know whether it was done by his rubbing the saliva
over his face with his hand. He shouted a good deal, like his father, but I never
noticed that peculiarity in his voice of which so much has been gaid. He uzed to
call oat frequently in the house, but that isa very common oceurrence in Fellbrige- .
hall. He is a very good imitator of a ecat, but I never heardf him trying
to imitate any other animal. 1 mnever heard him catawauling to amuse
the servants. I generally saw him when a boy in the housekeeper's room,
and when he came there he always behaved like a gentleman. I think I have seen
him in the livery which his father had made for him, but T am not sure. I cer-
tainly never saw him in that dress outside the house. I have seenhim outside the hall
in a soldier's dress, but never beyond the park. “He wept bitterly at his father's
funeral. I cannot say whether he stared round the church. I did not see what he
was doing before the funeral left the house, nor did I see what he did after he
returned from church. I mever accompanied him to the Haymarket, I saw no
policeman interfere with him at the Wimbledon Review. He was perfectly quiet
and did nothing to excite the attention of anybody. Some of the policemen had
beer with him. A policeman accompanied Mr. Windham and myself to the car-
riage, but he did so, I suppose, for his own pleasure. Mr. Windham seemed to be
pretty familiar with the police. He did not tell me that his object was to learn his
dulies a8 a county magistrate, I think he liked his old tenants; at least T never
hieard him gay anything to the contrary. I have told him sometimes that he shonld
not drive go fagt, but I never had any complaints on the subject. I never said to
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him that some day he would be dragged out of the d ivi

did tell him that if he persisted in egx;,gl'ling out to paupolagﬁr: E;;Ii.r:;;cgl; t?c{:::thi
road he would some day be pulled out of his dogeart and get a good drabbing. I
am not aware that he was in the habit of driving through droves of c&t.ﬂag.anﬂ
sheep. He told me that he had a capital offer for his timber from Roberts, I
advised bim not to sell it. He said he waa to get £20,000 in four or five years. 1
thonght the bargain was a foolish one to make, becaunse, in my opinion, £20,000 of
timber could not be cut down without injuring the appearsuce of the Mt.nt.a.’ After
that conversation he never mentioned the subject %o me again. I saw Roberts ab
Fellbrigg about that time. !

Re.examined.—The first time I saw Mr. Windham in London was inJuly. Gen..
Windham told me that his nephew was in the habit of consorting with policemen.
I never beard Mr. Windham halloa except for a purpose.

By the juory.—If he had consulted me alout the timber contract I should have
advised him not to sign it. I refused to go to the Christmas entertainment at the
hall beeause I did not approve it.

By the Master.—Mr. Windham did not like to have a tutor with him at Fellbrigg.
I did not altogether approve Mr. Horrock's treatment of his pupil. There are many
men on t he Norwich-road who drive as fastas Mr. Windham, [ think Mr. Windham
is a very temperate drinker,

ME, T. M. GIUBILEL

Mr. Giunbilei, examined by Mr. Milward, said—On the 10th of May, 1858, I
married Lady Sophia Windham. 1 first became acquainted with her in Torguay.
I first saw young Mr. Windham in April, 1858, and was with him a good deal. His
mother was very indulgent with him, and bad a great deal of control over him. He
was more easily moved by kindness than by force. I have seen him resist force on
many occasions. I have often driven out with him, and Mr. Windham always
conducted himself very well. I saw him twice before Vice-Chancellor Woed. On
both oecasions he made some remarks to the Vice-Chancellor, and took part in the
proceedings. During his residence in Duke-street last year, he frequently wvisited
his mother at Sidmouth-lodge, Brompton, and drove her out. He dined there very
often. On one occasion he invited his mother and myself to dine with him in
Duke-street; but he afterwards sent us a letter to say that he was obliged togo
down to Norwich on pressing bnsiness, and that he wished us to put the dinner
off till the following week. We never dined at his lodgings. He accompanied
Lady Sophia and I on a short visit to the Continent, and he spoke French pretty
well. 1 have had many conversations about Mr. Windham with General Windham,
and also with Mr. Hook. Mr. Windham is a person of sound mind.

Mr. Milward.—What did General Windham and Mr. Hook say to you about Mr.
Windham ?

Mr. Chambers objected to the question, as conversation which took place behind
the back of Mr. Windham was not evidence in this case.

The Master.—I have already decided this matter over and over again. We are
not here to inguire into the conduet of General Windham and Mr. Hook. +]f these
collateral issues are to be continunally raised, the inguiry may not terminate for
twelve months.

Mr. Karslake.—We have no wish to raise collateral issues, and allow to me to say
that we do not adduce any evidence which we believe to be unimportant.

The Master.—It was far from my intention to offend Mr. Karslake, but I say
. again, the question cannot be put. 3

Witness resumed.—He had received several letters from Mr. Windham. 1EE p
also produced many lotters written by him to hie mother. The transactions
referred toin them were real. 3 !

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—I think Mr. Windham is of gound mind. ]L:
do not recollect saying that he is a young man of very weak intellect. 1 domnob
believe he is so. { M

Mr. Chambers.—Are you aware that at one time Lady Sophia proposed to jon
in this petition ? ; A

Witness.—No. General Windham offered Lady Sophia and myself two bribes to—

Mr. Chambers.—Take care, Mr. Giubilei, or I will produce your own paper.

Mr, Karslake,— Let us have no threats, please; the witness must nok be
intimidated.
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Mr. Chambers.—I ask you again, Mr, Giubilei, do. you know that Lady Sephia
proposed to conecur in.the petition ?

Mr. Karslake objected to the quesiion as irregular.

Mr. Chambers.—Then, I ask the witness whether he was made acguainted
with the fact that Lady Sophia's solicitor offered in her behalf to concur in the

etition 7 ;
. Witness.—I was not. I am upon good terms, of course, with Lady Sophia. Mr,
Chappel was and is her solicitor. I saw him last about o week ago at his office.
At that time I had not given to Mr. Windham's solicitor any statement of my evidence.
I made a statement to them for the first time three or four days ago. They did
not come to me; I saw them in the Sessions-house, where I had gone because 1
felt interested in the case.

Mr. Chambers—Do you know that Lady Sophia made an affidavit in the Court of
Chancery P

Mr. Karslake.—1I object to the guestion.

Mr. Chambers.—Do you know Mr. Ginbilei, or do you not?

Mr. Karslake.—]I say I object to that question.

My, Chambers.—Do yon know Mr. Ginbilei, or do you not ?

Mr. Karslake.—I must say that when I have formally objected to the guestion it is
neither fair nor courteous tb go on repeating it, and at the same time to throw a
trinmphant glance at the jury.

The Master.—I think the question is a very doubtful one, and it had better not be
pressed, or we shall never get through the case.

Witness resumed.—L was in Duoke-street twice about the end of May. I do mot
recollect whether I saw Mr. Windbam in July, but I did not see him in Angust. He
ceased fo call and dine at Sidmouth-lodge at the beginning of July. 1 did not
inguire after him in Duke-sireet, but Lady Sophia wrote to him. Iesaw him with Miss
Willonghby in June last at the Lyceum. I had no suspicions of a marriage,
but I told him his income was not sufficient to justify him in keeping company
with such a person, I had been informed that she was extremely extiavagant, and
told him go.. I think he knew himself that she was living with another gentleman
at the time. I had not heard anything else against her, and I did not say any-
thing else to Mr. Windham. I spoke to him again about Miss Willoughby at the
Hampton Bacea. [ told him to take care—that was all. He made no answer. 1
think he is equal in intellect to the gemerality of young men of his age. He is
rather boisterons and excitable. 1 have heard him abuse people sometimes in
dirty langnage. He has never been in a passion with me.

By Mr. Russell.—Lady Sophia does not concur in these proceedings; on the
contrary, she disapproved them.

Lie-examined.—I have never seen him get into a passion without cause. When he
gets into a passion he lets you know it, butit does not last long,

By the Jury.—When Mr. Windham came to dine at Sidmeuth-lodge in May and
ifunﬂln: he never appeared the worse for drink, as if he had taken too much wine at

unch.

The inguiry was the nadjourned till Monday, when it was resumed in the Wgt-
minster Sessions-house.

TWENTY-SEVENTH DAY.—Moxpay, Jas. 20,

The adjourned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed this day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr,
Warren, .C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Tield, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Ginbilei, the mother of
the alleged lunatic ; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q).C., and Mr. Milward
for Mr. Willinm Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, .C., for Mrs. Windham.

The Master wished it to be understood that the ground of his decision in favour
of & private examination of Mr. Windham was that he believed a public examination
wonld tend to defeat the ends of justice. He added that, in the Armstrong case, the
late Lord Campbell refused to allow counsel to be present at the examination of the
alleged Junatie.

A joror stated, as o fack within his own knowledge, that in the Armstrong case

il'ird Camphell permitted the jury to have an interview with the alleged lunatic
e,
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Mr. Chambers said there could be no doubt the jury had a perfect right to say
that they would have an interview with the alleged lunatic either alone or in the
presence of the Master.
~ Mr. Hil\:ﬂlrﬂ put in an affidavit made by Mr. Windham on the 2nd of June, 1860,
in connection with a Chancery suoit then in progress.

THE REYV. MR, DEVERE. §

The Rev. Mr, Devere, examined by Mr. Milward, said : Mr, Windham was intro-
duced to me in Aungust, 1858, and it was arranged that I ghould travel with that
gentleman for a short time. We went first into North Wales, then visited the Lake
district, and nfterwards proceeded to Scotland, returning homewards through
Durham and York. I was with Mr. Windham abont five weeks altogether. At
Fellbrigg we had some shooting, both carrying guns. During the tour we mixed a
good deal with othér travellers. Mr. Windham behaved on the whole sensibly, and
I believe him to be of sound mind. His mauner on some occasions was - boisterons
and rather blustering, but there was nothing else objectionable in his demeanour. I
had a little trouble with him twice, but not mnech.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—What I meant by a person of sound mind
was, one who could see the bearings and consequences of his actions. Mr. Windham
did not seem to unuderstand the consequences of his boisterons and blustering
manner until I explained them to him. He did not appear to have had them
explained to him intelligibly before. I certainly made an impression upon him at
the time. By boisterousness, I mean that Mr. Windham was rather more noisy
than other people, but I never had any complaints on the subject, or saw any one
offended, Mr. Windham talked in a boastful way, and generally to people in a
lower station than himself—waiters and ostlers abont hotels. Towards the end of
our intercourse I observed that he took greater interest in the society of his equals
His capacity was not below par, and I believe that his apparent intellectual
deficiency was owing to want of education.

By the Jury.—I think it likely that the present proceedings would have a great
and good effect upon Mr. Windham. His continuing to frequent the society of bad
and immoral people shows that he has nmot yet acquired a full sense of his
positisn, but nltimately the trial heis now undergoing will work its effect upon him.

Mr. Milward then read the letters from Mr. Windham to his mother, which were
produced by Mr. Ginbilei on Friday. The following are fair samples of the corres-
pondence, which it is impossible to give in exfenso.

E “ Eton, Sunday.

“My dear Mama,—I hope you are quite well. T have got a bad cold. I am
go stupid, you know. The last night Mr. Cheales went ont to dinner, and told me
not to leave the room, as I was staying out; but I stupidly went to another boy's
room ; but really it is because I get so tired of being in one room all day. He
says that he will punish me, which I know I deserve; but yet he saye that the
way he shall do it will be to keep me back for two days, or something like that,
which I don’t like. Now, if I vever am allowed to mix with other boys, I might
just as well not be at Eton. I am thought a stingy, sulky fellow if I don’t, and
thérefore I did not see any harm in just going to another boy’s room for a little
while. Why is it that 1 am not allowed to sit in another room with my com-
panions ? Other private tutors don’t prevent their pupils, why should I be pre-
vented ? My, Cheales asked me why I did go. Itold him for nothing pacticular.
No more I did; I went to talk to the boy for a little, just for a change, not to make
a row. The Captain was there, and we were all quiet, and talking together about
the holidays, &. Now mind, I am perfectly in good temper, and am not in &
passion when I write this. If other boys disobey their tutors like this, they get 50
or 100 lines to write, not to stay for two days after the time, nor are they flogged
unless they don’t do the punishment. I hope you will consider this, becanse 1 am
at Eton, and ought to be treated by the rules if I have done wrong. Then let Mr.
Cheales complain of me to Dr. Goodford; he punishes others for disobeying their
tutors if they don't do the punishment their tutors set them; but why am Ito be
beaten like a dog becanse I go to another boy's room, or kept away from home two
days? ~ You allowed him to do anything he pleases, and never object; at least, T
never have heard you. Other boys play about, but why am I kept like & P"I';'““"I".?
—for I might just as well be in n prison, for it is just h}m it, being shat up in tins
room all day, and if I go out of it to be punished as if I had told a lie or hugtl;
impertinent. He goes out all day and leaves me alome. Well, I gel qu
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migerable if T see nobody at all; as I say, I might just as well be in prisou. Good
v g « Believe me your affectionate son,
“W. F. Winpmam.”

¢ My dear Mamn,—The real truth is, I" was tempted to goup to Lnnc’lq_:ln again
after the lost coat, which I got, but1 was only there five minutes, as the train gotin
at 7.80 and left at 7.35—that is the real tmth—}[_ Was Eorry alterworda for what 1
did—I really was; but [ think the reason I did it was that w:henIguttn Eton I left
my luggage at the station, and walked up with the note to Freddy, and when I got
back I did not like tojoin so early, so I thought I'would try and get my coat, which
Idid. My dear mama, I am very ill ; I have had , and a very near attack, in fact,

ight one as it i3, of the ——.
3 ﬂr}filﬁ‘: may nob leave my room, Mr. Boley says I must really take care of myself,
and not get cold in my chest. I hope you will pass over this offence. I really have
told the © whole truth and nothing but the truth.” T did a very foolish thing, and
I believe I have been punished by this attack of illness, I’m_m 1:fhich I have not yet
recovered ; so, dear mama, I hope you will pass it over this time, as I am leaving
Bton and getting older. Itrnst by God's help to do better for the fature ; therefore,
dear mama, I trust yon will pardon me for this fanlt this time, because I really see
in what a wicked way I have been going on for the fortnight I was in town. I have
done my best to keep straight here, and [ hope and trust, by God's help, to meet you
on Mond 1y next with a cheerful heart and conscience, and to behave for the future as
g, dutifal son should—a.comfort to his mother.
% Believe me, yours very affectionately,

“W. F. Winpaau.”
‘% Baturday.

“ My dearest Mama,—While you are in town I wish yon wounld mention to the
Vice-Chancellor that I quite agree with you that uncle Henry Windham is not at all
a proper person for a receiver. I always told Mr. Lucas and Mr. Boyle that my
wigh was that uncle Hook should be receiver, and I told my uncle Hook so myself.
When I wrote a little time ago to Sir W. Forster to wish for uncle Henry, I did so
in a passion. You know I told you how very drunk uncle Henry was at Betsy
Bonnee's and elsewhere, and what a ridienlous row he made, rolling about, swearing,
and bellowing like a mad bull; so, of course, I cannot seriously think him a fit
perzon, besides his blindness, and it wounld not, I know, be at all pleasant to the
tenants, who almost all wish him far away; besides, I know what poor papa felt
about him. So, dear mama, say what I tell yon to, and believe me,

“ Yoor affectionate son,
“W. F. WixpHaxw”
¢ Satorday, June 25,

“ Dearest Mama,—We leave here on Monday for Spa, and leave it on Thursday
for Cologne, and on Friday for Coblentz. If you write before Friday I shall get the
letters at Coblentz, and, if after, write to Frankfort-on-the Maine. Old Bathurst
gays if you come out and I get travelling with you that he shall go back home;
mind yon come go as to join me on the 9th of Aungust, my birthday. Cannot yon
get Wood's leave through Sharpe to join me, and travel for a little with us? We
are going to Dresden soon for a month or three weeks to stay. The Cary’s are still
here; I am now going to see them. Give my love to Theodore, and tell him to
come out as spon a8 he can, and then we can have a lark. I never found it so stupid
a8 I do mow; one cannot read here asif one was at home—it is impossible for
me to do so. I wish they were all at the Devil. Good-bye, dear mama; send me
my studs, and believe me, “Your affectionate son, QLA

“Can you get me a nice set of waistcoat buttons P—six T want.”

Tlée following letter is supposed to have been addressed to Vice-Chancellor Wood
in 1860 :—

 Sidmouth-lodge, Friday, 17th.

“ My dear Sir,—I am perfectly ready to go where you like in England, but I do
not wish to be any longer with Mr. Horrocks. I should wish to come and state
my reasons to you on Saturday next. I have not received any letter from yon as
yet, and therefore I await your answer at my mother's house. 1 do not wish to be
guilty of any contempt of Court, but I refuse to go with Mr. Horrocks, as he stated,
besides other things, that he would leave me directly if it were not for my money.

‘I am, dear sir, youra obediently, “W. F. WinpuaA”
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- “ Fellbrigg-hall. Norwich
“ Dearest Mama,—Will you please send me all ris,_',rﬂ’:thing:: th::l;u'lug?'t;lgn?g'“

Bidmounth-lodge ? There is a pouch and belt ; also a pair i i
I_wnnt.‘ The wuq!,har here is wretched, and most uwl."L]:IIy ;ﬁ;fmﬁ:.fr}nrg 1:;2:311
]inlleEl himself, having been pitched ont of his gig while driving about. The Norwi {
ball is on Wednesday next, so I want my belt by Wednesday morning next, 1 h:: o
ij:]:::g are bet]tg:; noW. aligcla ﬁﬁ hl:: been very kind to me indeed, and bahavﬂa
ike an uncle to me a 3 treat ik i
which Lord Alfred did. P00 R R b e sl
“ I must now say adien, and believe me your affectionate Bon,
[13
“ There is no game, orelse I would send yon some.” Bkl DK
“3, Hope-street, Edin 2
“ Dear Mama,—1 hope you are better than :,:au f:rﬂ, The wulél:;rg%eﬂ?m' at
last tnrned out fine. I read every morning with Mr, Peatfield for two honrs or so,
and then enjoy the rest of the day out. Ifind I get on better with him than any
other man I ever met with as tutor; he really is like s companion to me, which
none of the others ever were. We shall be here another week, and then commenece
our tour upwards to the North, and so work down to Norfolk sbout the
middle of September, when I expect we shall have tolerably good shooting this
year. I must now say adien, with love to Johnson, and belieye me
“ Ever your affectionate son,
_ “ W. T, Winpraa”
DR. SUTHERLAND,

Dr. Sutherland, examined by Mr. Milward.—I have devoted my aitention to
cages of insanity for twenty-two years, and bave written various works on diseases
of the brain. On November 6th, 1861, I was applied to by Dr. Neale to examine
Mr. Windham. I examined Mr. Windham on the 12th of the same month. The
interview took place in my honse in Richmond-terrace, Whitehall. I conversed
with Mr. Windham the whole time. He told me that he came of age in August
last, and that he married Agnes Willonghby on the 30th of the same month. He
stated that General Windham wished fo make out that he was insane because he
married her. The General did not wish him to marry, as he was next heir to the
estate, and had broken off an engagement with a young lady of Norwich to whom
he was much attached. If tae General had allowed him to marry her this would
not have happened. He stated the amount of his property to be £3,000 a-year, out
of which he bad to give his mother £1,500 a-year. He told me that he had settled
£800 a-year on his wife, and £1,500 a-year when he succeeded to the Hanworth
estates in 1869. 1 asked him why he was not to succeed before that year, and he
replied that there was a mortgage on the estate, which would not be paid off till
1869, and that his father borrowed the money from Mr. Gurney. He told me that
he had given kis wife £8,000 worth of jewellery and £6,000 afterwards because he
communicated to her a particular disease. I asked him how he came to do that.
He replied that he had consulted a surgeon, Dr. Whidborne, who told him he was
safe and might marry. He told me that he had charged his estate with about
£1,500 to pay the annuity. I asked him whether there was any other reason for
hig uncle thinking that he was insane. He told me that he was eonsidered to
be insane because he had been in the habit of driving engines on the railway,
because it had been stated that he was cruel to his animals, having shot one of his
horses; and becanse he threatened to shoot himself. He admitted that he had
driven eugines on the railway. He denied that he had shot his horse, but said that
his keeper shot it on account of an injury received from an accident. He stated
that he had never any inlention of shooting himself, but that he only threatened to
do so to frighten his wife. Imade another examination of Mr. Windham on the
13th of November. He then told me that he had been in the middle fifth at Eton,
where he did the first book of Enelid, and read the sixth book of Homer, the ..Euegd
of Virgil, and the Odes of Horace. Ha repeated that which he had previonsly said
abont his income. I asked him whether he had not sold his timber below its valae.
He replied * that it was uncertain what the value of the timber was at Vellbrigg,
as it was twenty-two miles from the railway, and that he borrowed meney from
Messrs. Lawrence and Fry to escape getting into the hands of the Jews, agninst
which his father had always warned him.” I asked him whether he lept his
aceonnts, He stated “that he went over the accounts with hisagents, that he
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:4 own checks, and always made them payable to order, as that was as good
S:B ;;}vhiggipt,“ I saw him ugfiin on the following day. H? brought his groom and
footman to give me evidence respecting the charge of shooting a horse and attempt-
ing to shoot himself. I examined them separately, and they corroborated his
statement to me in the first interview. I have seen Mr. Windham since, 't_:—ul: have
not examined him. I have heard all the evidence which has been given in court.
1 think Mr. Windham is of sound mind. There are mo symptoms of congenital
imbecility or of idiocy. Pl

Gmsz-tayxamiuud b';'?h[r. Chambers.—There is a difference beiween imbecility and
idiocy. In idiocy there is a wantof development of the mental and moral powers ; in
imbecility there is only a partial development. Drawing the line between soundness
and nnsoundness of mind in cases of imbecility is one of the most difficult gfiestions
of medical science. I do not concur in the following passage from Dr. Copland’s
work:— .

« Deficiency of intellect appears in every grade and form until it amounts to
complete idioey. The slighter degrees of deficiency are manifested chiefly by weak-
ness of character and capacity, or by stupidity, or deficiency of the powers of per-
eeption or of the understanding. These grudes of defect are generally not sufficient
to render an individual incompetent to the management of his affairs or to conduct
himself with propriety, and are hencenot considered sufficient to constitute unsound-
ness of mind in its legal acceptation. But as the original defect may present
grade, from the slightest of those just mentioned to complete idioey, it is difficult to
draw any line of demarcation between what may be considered sonndness or unsound-
ness of mind. This line must still remain unfixed or be only conventional, for no

tandard or eriterion can possibly be established.”

S[n cases of imbecility I always go by practical tests, ard in my opinion an imbecile
®hould be incoherent in his language and inattentive to the calls of nature. As to
Imbeciles and idiots, I conenr with Dr. Copland in the following passage :-—

* From what has been already stated it is obvious that. all the grades and forms
of original imbecility cannot be described within moderate limits. Nor ia a minute
description at all requisite. The works of Georget and Esguirol will fornish 1t,
and numercus illostrations of it. I may, however, briefly observe that imbecile
persons have a limited capacity for certain actions or employments, and aequire
some degree of facility in performing them. These they generally execute in a
tolerable manner, while they are quite incapable of any other modes of exertion or

“occupation. Habit has a great influence on all their proceedings, and gives to
many of them an appearance of regularity which may be mistaken for the resulf of
steadiness and of higher powers. All are, however, deficient in the powers of
attention and of thought. They are generally timorous, often docile, weak, and
inconstant in purpose, and frequently irascible. The senses of some give rise to
feeble and dull impressions; of others to more lively perceptions. Memory is
strong in some, while in others it is weak and confused in its most ordinary
object and frequently repeated idea, or it hardly exists. They display some indica-
tions of mind, of intellectnal faculties, and of feelings and affections, and they have
the nse of speech and of language generally in a degree proportionate to the
grade of perfection of their several senses and mental powers. They show the
same varieties of character, inclination, and moral propensity as persons of
stronger understanding. Left to themselves they are careless, lazy, and filthy.
At the age of puberty they evince the animal instinets by the most >ffensive
gestures, habits, and solitary vice.”! °

But Dr. Copland leaves ont a great deal. Imbeciles and idiots have generally
small misshapen heads, and in idiots I have remarked thick kouckles. In some
eases, also, there is total absence of the sensual passions. The flow of saliva from
the month is common inidiocy and in senile demenfiac. An attempt to control the
habit is an indication of soundness of mind. :

Re-examined.—Mr. Windham has a larger circuwmference of the head than the
average. There is mo incoherency in his conversation. He is rather below the
average in point of intellect, but he does not at all approach the line where imbe-
cility begips.

By the Master.—I do not think a case of lanacy should be brought into Court
unless it involves either delusion, incoherency, or fatuity., TIrbeciles are capable
sometimes of @ certain degree of cunwning, but they have not mind enough to
deceive & man of ordinary shrewdness, Lunatics are far more cunning than
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imbeciles. No amount of eccentricity will evidence insanity unless it iz accomn-
panied by eome unmistakeable proof of unsoundness,

By the Jury.—I have heard the letters read to-day. I never knew a person of
unsound mind who would have been capable of writing such letters.

Dit. CONNOLLY.

Dr. Connolly, examined by Mr. Karslake.—I have had three interviews with Mr.
Windham for the purpose of testing the state of his mind. They took place on the
Gth, the 12th, and the 13th of December, 1861, At the first interview there was
nobody present except Mr. Windham and myself. 1 was surpriged by his manner,
in which there was not the slightest peculiarity. He was not in the least embar-
rassed, but was perfectly cheerful, frank, and gentlemanly. I asked him whether
he was not rather tired of being continnally examined by medical men, He an-
swered good-humonredly that it was somewhat fatigning, but. that he was fully
aware of the necessity of it, inasmuch ag his family wanted to make him out insane
and incapable of managing his affairs. I then asked him upon what grounds he was
accused of being of unsound mind. He replied by enumerating the various circum-
stances which have been so frequently mentioned here—his having lived rather fast
and spent a good deal of money and having made an impradent marriage. 1 asked
him what were his general habits of life. He told me that he had sometimes drank
more wine than was good for him, but that he was not in the habit of drinking to
excess ; that he was not fond of gambling, and that he had never committed any
acts of violence which conld be taken as indications of insanity. He acknowledged
that his marriage was an injudicious step. Throughont the whole conversation he
talked rationally and sensibly, and did not utter a single expression indicative of in-
sanity. I thinkitisa great mistike in such cases to put minute and special questions,
and in my interviews with Mr. Windham I conversed with him as I would with
any other gentleman. He appeated to me to be of a somewhat hasty and impul-
sive character. I did not imagine that he was a very intellectual man, but a man
accustomed to rough and active exercise, such as the driving of railway engines.
I did not observe the slightest trace of any delusion, or the least confusion upon
any subject whatever; in fact, if I had not been informed of the charges made
against him I should not have dreamt that there was anything the matter with him.
He expressed a natural desire not to be deprived of his property or pronounced a
lunatic and unfit to take care of himself. He seemed perfectly aware that he had
not managed his property prudently, and told me that he had “ dipped’* his estate
rather deeply. When I saw him the eecond time he had just come from a long
interview with Dr. Mayo and Dr. Winslow, and appeared to be rather fatigned. He
gave me a good-humoured account of the examination he had undergone, and said
that one of the doctors had put a series of guestions to him from a paper which,
judging from its appearance, he thought must have been drawn up by a lawyer.
After telling me about the letter which he had written to Dr. Mayo at the close of
the examination—and which, by the way, I thought a very severe test—he said he
was anxious to get away to the shooting, but he saw the necessity of remaining
in town, and was veady to submit with all due deference and complacency
to the examination of medical men. He did not utter one fu-o]ishl word or
one irritable expreesion, nor did he show the least embarrassment or desire in any
way to make an impression. He was perfectly natural, simply himself, nothing
more. 1 saw him again the following day. He admitted that the placard was a
foolish thing, said it was written and signed for him by Roberts, and told me he had
tried to stop its circulation. I spoke to him about the jewellery. He said he had
been rather extravagant in that particular, and had given his wife a good deal of
jewellery as compensation for an injury he had done her. He told me that he had
just come from Dr. Mayo and Dr. Winslow, and that he was to undergo another
examination the following day. He spoke with much good humour, but seemed
to think that he was getting rather too much of the doctors. I told him that I had
come from Hanwell that morning ; that the train was full of Eton boys, and that I
was surprised to see a great number of women of the town waiting for them at the
gtation. “ Yes,” he said, it is always so; and those only can avoid them who,
having to go home with the down traing, do not reguire to leave the station, bub
have merely to pass from one gide to the other.” That appeared to me a very
gensible observation. I believe he is of perfectly sound mind. No medical man
could sign a certificate of insanity in his case, and no keeper of an asylum would
think of taking him as an inmate. There was no incoherency in his statements
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to me. I fonnd nothing inconsequential in his ideas; literally and truly, I saw
not a single indication of unsoundness of mind. Amentia is an obsolete term, but
when it was used it meant extreme imbecility. Mr. Windham is assuredly not in
an imhbecile state. i % :

Cross-examined by Mr. Chambers.—Idiots do write sensible letters, but no
frequently, and they can be taught different avocations ; bub they have all generally
a marked defezt in their personal appearance, arising from an imperfect physical
development. Slavering is seldom seen unconnected with mental weakness.

Ro-examined.—I have heard the letters read this morning. I never knew an
imbecile who could have written such letters. Idiots never attempt to get rid of
the habit of slavering. ' y ; i

By the Jury.—I believe that if Mr. Windham had one good, kind, vivtnous friend,
he would get throngh the world very well. His mind is not of a superior order,
and his misfortune has been since childhood to have been surrounded by improper
persons. He has the capacity to manage his affairs, but that is a diffevent thing
from the will to do so. i il f

By the Master.—I do not know a case in which a person is rightfully confined in
a private asylum whose unsoundness of mind could not be recognized by a non-
medical man. An originally low degree of mental power is capable of great im-
provement by education. A taste for bad company is perfectly compatible with
sounduess of mind. The present is a most instructive case, as showing the ill
effects of improper treatment and neglect in youth. It is impossible to judge of Mr.
Windham correctly without knowing how he was bronght up andto what infuences
he was exposed.

Dr. Babington was called, at his own request, to state that he was not the * family
physician” of Agnes Willoughby.

ME, BOWEN llﬁ‘E'J RECALLED.

Mr. Bowen May, recalled and examined by Mr., Chambers,—The documents I pre-
pared for Mr, Windham were his marriage settlement, the disentailing deed, and sub-
sequently his will. I took down the will to Fellbrigg-hall. He executed it in my
presence, but he has since destroyed it, in consequence, as I infer, of the misconduct
of his wife. I have noted down the contents of the will, as follows :—% To the wife. for
life, with remainder to children ; remainder again to his mother for life ; remainder
over to his sister-in-law ; the one who married first, with consent of guardians, to take
the name and arms of Windham.” There were some trifling legacies. The executers
I think, were the trustees under the marriage settlement—Dr. Whidborne and Mkr.
Roberts. Mpr, Windham told me he had destroyed the will about the time when the
application was made to the Lords Justices for a commission of lunacy against him.
I Liad delivered up the will to him a few days before, having declined to act as his
solicitor. He gave me no reason for the destruction of the will, but I inferred that
it was in consequence of Mrs, Windham having left him. I told him that he had
done perfectly right.

The inguiry was then adjonrned.

It was incidentally stated that BMr. Roberts, whose name has so often
been mentioned, has commenced proceedings against Mr. Field, one of the solicitors
for the petitioners, for words spoken during the course of these proceedings..

TWENTY-EIGHTH DAY.—Tuespay, JANUARY 21.

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. ¥. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed. to-day in the Westminster Sessions.house, before Dr.
Warren, Q.C,, oue of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

_ Mr. M. Chambers, (.C., Mr. Fieid, and Mr. Hume Williams appeared for the peti-
tioners; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged lunatic; Sir Hogh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward for
Mr, William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, 1.C., for Mrs. Windham.

Mr, Jackson, a solicitor, produced several letters addressed to him by Mr,
Windham.

This closed the evidence for the defence. :

Mr. Bussell then addressed the jury for Lady Sophia Giubilei, the mother of the
alleged lunatic. His client, he said, had no personal interest in this case apart
from the interest of her son, but the Lords Justices had thought that in an inquiry
into the mental sanity of her own child she should not be doomed to be a mere
passive spectator, and he thought it would be admitted that her counsel had not
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necessary and likely to be jus’bi.ﬁeﬂl‘:ay t;!fla result.

i Windham and the rest of the band of petitioners are really ol opinion
:ﬁiﬂﬁmmmm in the Court of Chancery amount to proof of _mmmty--—-!.f
they are satisfied that their allegations can be weonfirmed by unimpeachable
evidence in open conrt—no fault can be found with them for the course they have
adopted, even though they may saddle Mr. Wi.udhu.!n with an enormous deb,
and expose to the pablic gaze every vice and folly of his early years. But, I repeat,

the petitioners have acted thronghout, not as judges of the canse but as partisans,

and have done everything in their power to excite a prejudice in the pablie
mind against tJmirTfnungg relative.  Instead of going to Mr. and Mys. Martin,
who, above all other 3 ersons, knew the early history of Mr. Windham, they have
produced in the Court of Chancery a series of statements npon which they do not
venture to rely before a jury, and they have been guilty of a deliberate concealment
of evidence, becanse they know it would mot suit their purpose. It will be recal-
lected, moreover, that they have carefully kept ont of sight the character and peculi-
arities of old Mr, Windham ; and yet the jury have heard from Dr. Qonolly that it
is impossible to judge of young Mr. Windham without knowing something of his
treatment in early life and the influences to which he was then exposed. The truth
is, T believe, that young Mr. Windham is in many respects a counterpart of
his father, all whose frailties and foibles are perfectly well known to the peti-
tioners, who, nevertheless, acting in the spirit of partisans, had done everything
they can to conceal them from 'the jury. During the course of the case for the
petitioners, two pictnres, one of which must necessarily be untrae, have been drawn
of Mr. Windham. According to Mr. Chambers, in his opening speech, backed by a
number of policemen, Mr. Windham is a congenital imbecile, _mutinually slaver-
ing at the month, talking incoherently, and sereeching and howling like a madman.
That picture has been utterly wiped out by Dr. Winslow, Dr. Mayo, and Lord Alfred
Hervey, who have favoured the court with another portrait of Mr. Windbam, equally
jnconsistent with the first and with trnth. Mr. Windham, according to the two
doctors and his uncle, although of unsound mind and incapable of managing his
affairs, is so little of am imbecile that any person might converse with him
for hours without perceiving that there was anything the matter with him at all.
But the real issue before the jury is not whether Mr. Windham is of nnsound
mind, or whether: he is incapable of managing his affairs, but whether he iz
incompetent to the conduct of his affairs by reason of unsoundness of mind. Tt
may be troe that many of his acls have been profligate and wvicious; but what the
jory has to consider is, mot whether Mr. Windham has spent. his youth in
excesses of various kinds and has done many foolish and objectionable things, buf
whether the actsand events which have been proved in evidence are the clear and
indisputable result of insanity. I admit that thereare defects in the character
of Mr. Windham, but those defecis are attributable to the example of his father
and to the treatment he received in childhood. Mr. Windham seems to have been
allowed to do what he liked in childhood ; his education, such as it was, ceased at
too early an age, and he never was wisely or prudently directed. The evidence of
the witnesses shows that when at school he was not a boy of dirty habits, while the
slavering is completely acconuted for by the peculiar formation of his mouth,
which has nothing whatever to do with his mental capacify. At school he was
somewhat riotous and boisterous in his manners, and that circumstance, coupled
with his fondness for rough out-door sports, satisfactorily explains his soubriquet of
* Mad Windham." The learned counsel reflected with severity upon the condunct
of some of the tutors, and argued that, though apt to resent and resist force when
nsed by those whom he disliked, Mr. Windham was always amenable to anthority
properly and fairly exercised, while his letters to his mother showed that he
had an affectionate disposition. I ask the jury, he continwed, whether
it is likely, if Mr. Windham is the sort of wild beast he is repre-
sented to be by rthe petitioners—if he is a creature who spent his
time in howling and catealling, a person who never by any chance indulged
in coherent and consequential conversation, he would bave been kept so long at
Eton, or conld have induced gentlemen of edncation, ability, and position to live and
travel with him? Mr. Burr, the tutor at Wokingham, has distinetly stated that
in point of intellect Mr. Windham is not inferior to the other young men under
his charge, and that if he had continued his studies a short time longer he wonld
have possed the army examination without the smallest difficnlty. On the other

which they honestly believe to be
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It is a remarkable fact that, after he bad retained the Lewellins_as
General Windham, of whose distinetion we have heard so
o retired valet and his wife to celebrate the
birthday of a brother goldier. The homse in Dukﬁ-ntrqeh‘ is, indem]. a mysterious
establishment. Generals, colonels, clergymen, nqd distingunished scholars were
there, in the habit of dining with a common lodging-honse keeper, who one day
waited like a footman and the next sat down ab table, while }u!l;l wile took qnﬂy
airings in a cab with a gentleman whom she called “her baby,” and sometimes

travelled with him as far as Ramsgate. _
The learned gentleman had not conclnded his speech when the Gourt adjourned.

witnesses. :
his principal witnesses, ! /
much, did not seruple to dine with

TWENTY.NINTH DAY.—WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 22, :

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Sessions- honse, before Mr.
Warren, (.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, Innd a special JJ:lrj'.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother
of the alleged Innatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr, Milward,
for My, William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

The Master.—Before Mr. Karslake resumes his address for Mr. Windham, I wish
tp express the hope, in consequence of what I have read and seen alsewhere, that
there will be no attempt to interfere with the discharge by the jury and myself of
the most momentous and difficult duties which we have to perform. Every one
must be aware of the extremely painfol circumstances under which I am sitting
here, and I am bound to acknowledge that hitherto I have received the sympathy
of counsel on both sides. I trust that nothing will be done to add to the difficulty
of my position, bearing in mind how critical and important ave the duties which 1
have to discharge. - .
~ Mr. Karslake resnmed his speeeh. Hesaid: I wish to direct the attention of the
jury to the evidence of the Lewelling, which I contend is full of inconsistencies and
contradictions, one utterly unworthy of eredit. I charge Mrs. Lewellin with baving
used all her efforts to induce several persons to come into court and assert that
which she knows to be false. She has repeatedly attempted to suborn the witness
Pritchard, and thronghont the whole proceedings has betrayed the zeal of a partisan
on behalf of a gentleman whom, in one of her letters, she calls ““ the dear General.”
Her evidence has been disproved by her own servants, whom she has traduced and
maligned, as well as by other witnesses of irreproachable character. The portrait
of Mr. Lewellin has been painted by his own wife. He has been represented as a
coarse, brutal, passionate man, constantly abusing and bullying his wife, and as
constantly nsing filthy and blasphemons langnage to his ser7ants. Saoch are the
couple upon whom *the dear General” relied as his principal witnesses, and by
whose help he hoped to be able to prove his nephew insane, and to get hold of the
Fellbrigg estates. Eliza Dignam, the sister of Mra. Lewellin has deposed upon oath
that the statements made by that person in her affidavit, and repeated in open conrt
are entirely false from first to last. Gentlemen of the jury, you may believe Eliza
Dignam, or you may not, but I maintain that sheis a ten thousand times better
witness than either her sister or her respectable brother-in-law, who tried to cheat
her out of her miserable pittance of £30. Nor should it be forgotten that the
general effect of her evidence has been confirmed by her brother, Conway Dignam,
upon whom a systematic attack was made by Mrs. Lewellin for the purpose of
inducing him to give false evidence againgt Mr. Windham. It is true that Mra,
Lewellin has denied upon oath that she has ever talked to her brother about Mer.
Windham ; but in my judgment there is a great deal more blasphemy than
golemmnity in her appeal to God to strike her dead in the witness-box if what she
has said is false. After all, however, the acts of the Lewellins are a complete
angwer to their words, whether true or untrue. Is it likely that the Lewellins,
having had experience of Mr. Windham in their housefor one month, believing
him to be a noisy, filthy, howling lunatic and imbecile, would have disregarded
their own interests as lodging-house keepers so far as to let him apartments for a
whole year? Mr. Windham has been charged over and over again with
keeping Jow company. To that charge T must to a ceriain extent plead
guilty. There is nothing to be regretted in his association with railway guards and
railway porters, but dll must admit that he kept the company ef the lowest of the
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low when he consorted with the retired vale ;
liceused retailer of spirits in his own bl i st e 5,
uke-gtreet, St. James's. It is rather hard, however that G 1W; 4 f
himself had sanctioned the residence of his » | eneral Windham, who
Peatfield, who, with his friends, has mpaamm;?ﬁ::;"n;ﬂtEEuti-at.met. F[Ir:d that Mr.
th_e company of the Lewellins, should now come forward and }[:Enﬂﬂ g{ I‘f‘l’Enpll i
with a fondness for the society of his inferiors in station., The® svidenoe -t
policemen is altogether unworthy of. notice. Some of it is fulse. as n the oae s
the alleged misconduct of Mr. Windham at the Wimbledon reviers. ari (e s O
utterly trivial and unimportant. Mr. Windham may have been in Ehm;] pf,l'm o
period of his life of frequenting the Haymarket; he may have mad : abit n!;. one
he may even have imitated the police, and told the people to # mnnmses E;M;
surely he is mot to be declared insrne, and deprived ﬂ-fp}]iﬂ erE0 1Ilm.]'ll;lieﬂ'i;: ki
his property, for doing that which iz done by hEndre:'li ::rf' i
men with perfect impunity and without any impuiation upo ¥ ::n.g
mental capacity ? The learned counsel then passing on to the proceedi e ¢ F E;;r
brig-hall the day before Mr. Windbam came of age, when, at the irlnzfis i"1!,i.|:|. 5 ;‘
General Windham, a proposal was made by a London n:iiburnay’fnr the reaettlﬁzzeulil; uf
the property, said:—Here we have General Windham endeavouring with 1 ul
assistance to draw his nephew into a bargain which, if it had hﬂgf carried E
would have deprived Mr. Windham of the power of disposing of his propert Still
later the same General Windham bargained and negotiated with his nep{;aw for
'hi_u own advantage, and yet he now alleges, and attempts with hired and prejudice
witnesses to prove, that from his infancy upwards his kinsman was a lunatig. and
an imbecile, incapable of managing himself and his affairs. At Fellbrico-
ball Mr. Windham saw the Enare so cunningly set for him by Genessl
Windham and his henchman, Mr. Jackson, nor could he be persuaded on a enb-
sequent occasion to purchase the property worth £1,000 which his uncle wanted to
sell to a person whom he believed to be an idiot. The marriage contracted by Mr.
Windham is an unfortunate event, but if every man who has madea similar marriage
18 to be placed in a lunatic asylum, then the sooner lunatic asylums are enlarged
the better. It is not impossible that if we were to search the pages of a Peerage
we might discover the names of illustrions ladies, the mothers or grandmothers of
some of the proudest noblemen now living, over [whose unmarried life it would be
as well, perhaps, to draw the veil of concealment and oblivion. Miss Willoughby
has been represented as a person of great personal attractions, and it is not very
wonderfol that Mr. Windham, who cares for no member of his family except his
mother, upon whom all his relations have turned their backs, and who has read and
admired letters in the newspapera showing the advantages of an establishment in
“ the shady groves of the Evangelist,” and defending eonnections not sanctioned
by the Church, shonld have resolved to marry such a Iady, The learned counsel
next examined the terms of the marriage settlement, and referred to the evidence
of Mr. Bowen May as showing that Mr. Windham, however enamoured of Miss
Willoughby and anxious to aceomplish the marriage, discussed the conditions
in a business-like manner, and, in fact, acted throughout as any other gentle-
man wonld have done. He next reviewed at considerable length the charge
against Mr. Windham of having infected his wife with a particular disease, and
criticised minutely all the evidence bearing npon it, contending, first, that many
married men had done the same thing ; secoudly, that Mr. Windham was not aware
of the state of his bndily health when he married; and, thirdly, that the injury he
inflicted upon his wife cansed him to contract a heavy debt with Mr. BEmmannuel,
the jeweller, and to overlook many circumstances in her subsequent conduet which
he might otherwise have deplored and blamed. A great deal has been eaid, he
continued, of his connection with Roberts. It is to be hoped the jury will not judge
of the character of that person from what they have heard in this case. Roberts, 1
believe, has taken steps for the purpose of testing the statements which have been
made against him, and meanwhile it is only necessary to say that up to a very
recent period Mr. Windham knew nothing of the accusations against Roberts, what-
ever they may be worth, but, on the contrary, had every reason to regard
him a8 a friend. I cite the evidence of the tradesmen and others from Norfolk
and of the servants from Fellbrigg-hall, as proving that iMr. Windham talks
rationally and coberently, and transacts his business as a private gentleman and
landed proprietor with equal sense, prudence, and intelligence. Among other charges
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inat Mr.Windhamthree have been presentedinglowingcolours tothe Lorda Justicea
—first, that he has been guilty of Ergu’e. cruelty in shooting a hm:ae witho_ut eause ;
secondly, that he has fired his gun directly at three men loading hay in a cart ;
thirdly, that he has attempted to shoot himself. ~Meerins, the gamekeeper at Fell-
brigg, has completely disproved the first and second charges, and it now appears
that the horse was shot by Meerins because it was a vicious brute and had so in-
ured itself that it was fit only to be shot, and that thereis no ground whatever for
saying that Mr. Windham ever fired his gun at three men loading hay ; while the
act of homicidal mavia, as it was represented to be to the Lords Justices, turned
out to have been committed by a rusty revolver, taken to pieces, and locked up in a
pistol-case. Such are fair samples of the accusations laid before the Lords Jus-
tices, for the purpose of inducing them to issue a commission of lunacy. The jury
now see what they are worth; but is it not intolerable that by means of such
groundless statements, made in the privacy and retirement of the Court of Chan-
cery, the relatives of Mr. Windham are enabled to saddle him with a charge of
something like £20,0007 It has been established that up, at least, till the 17th of
September the principal petitioner did not consider his nephew to be insane. DBut
after the 17th of September Mr. Windham committed an act whichin all probability
indnced his uncle to apply for a commission of lonacy against him. He entered
into a timber contract. That contract naturally arose out of his marriage. In con-
gequence of his marringe Mr. Windham became involved in enormons debt, for it ia
a remarkable fact that he, the heir of a property which in 1869 would realize a rental
of between £12,000 and £15,000, ended his minority without a single shilling of
his own in his pocket. A snpply of money was absolutely necessary, and there were
only two modes by which it could be obtained—either a sum must be borrowed
upon the estate, or the timber must be, sold. Mr. Windham chose the latter alter-
native, and the persons with whom he made the contract are highly respectabls
timber brokers in the city of London. Supposing for a moment that the contract
i3 & bad contract, and that Mr. Windham has been defranded, is every person who
has been defranded to be declared insane and confined in a lunatic asylom? M.
Windham seems to have been under no delusion about the contract; clanse after
clause was discussed by him and Mr. Lawrence, and there is not the slightest
pretence for saying that he either acted or was treated during any part of the
negotiations as a person of unsound mind, incapable of managing his own
affairs.  Whether the contract is frandulent or not iz a question for the Court
of Chancery to decide; it has cbviously nothing to do with the sanity or in-
sanity of Mr. Windham; nor ought it to have the smallest weight with the jury
in coming to a decision upon the issue before them. I contend, however, that the
contract has been grossly misrepresented, that its terms are fair and rea-
sonable, and that, according to the evidence of skilled witnesges, it is rather disad-
vantageous than otherwise to the purchasers. If Mr. Windham had gone upon the
turf, or been enticed into one of the ““ hells” of London, he might have been obliged,
not only to sell the timber, bub to part with the whole estate, which he had the
power to do, and have gone forth a ruined and disgraced man. In October General
Windham called upon Messrs. Lawrence and Fry to get the history of the contract,
and then he proceeded secretly to gather information for his petition. From
that time forward he was in daily communication with Dr. Forbes Winslow
and others, concocting his scheme, and preparing those blunted weapons which
he uﬂam:ﬂq used before the Lords Justices, but which he has not
ventured to wield in open court. Mr. Windham thenceforth was followed by spies
and informers, hia every action was watched and scanned, and the grossest treason
was practised against him by persons who pretended to be his friends. Something
has been gaid about his conduct during these proceedings. The truth is that Mr.
Windham has ridiculed them from the first. He believes himself to be perfectly
sane ; he regards the petition as the result of a cruel and wicked conspiragy. got np
by General Windham for the purpoge of depriving. him of his prupart}; and
he shared the opinion of many others, that if General Windham, Captain
flenry Windham, and Mr. Hook did not venture to show themselves in the
witness-box they would at once withdraw their petition, and so save an
enormous amount of unnecessary expense. He has been disappointed in that
respect, but even Mr. Chambers has admitted that he has reasonable grounds
for saying that his unclea would never dare to appear againat him in open
court. I direct attention to the fact that before he examined Mr. Windham



182

Dr. Winslow had his mind poisoned by the afidavits filed in the

1 also nbjanl_; to the mode in which tl:uf examination wag mnducﬁﬁ?tﬁéﬂgﬁﬁgﬁ
that Dr. Winslow, instead of talking with Mr, Windham as he would have dene to
any other gentleman, confined his questions to the filthy and frivolous charges
which he found set forth in the affidavits.. But Dr. Winslow has admitted that no
extravagance or vice could be accepted as insanity, though his friend and eol.
league in the examination of Mr. Windbam, Dr. Mayo, holds the very contrary
opinion. Yet it is essential to the case for the petitioners that profligacy should
be treated as evidence of insanity., Where is the line to be drawnp If profligacy
and vice isinsanity, the Divorce Court onght to be abolished, and lunatic asylums to
be built for adulterers and adalteresses, Why shonld Newgate not be pulled down
and a lunatic asylum erected on its site >+ The doctrine of the petitioners is SO
strous. Which is worse—the profligacy attributed to Mr. Windham by his relatives
or the conduct of n man who, having separated from his wife, flaunts in puhlj-;
places with a rovged and shameless courtesan? Much indignation has been
expressed against Mr. Windham, but if he is to be restrained a5 a lunatic on acconnt
of his vice, what ought to be done with the man who sells his daughter to some
hoary lecher, compelling her to commit the heinous sin of praying at the altar for
her speedy widowhood ? I trust the jury will give no countenance to the theory of
moral insanity, which, though dear to Dr. Mayo and the petitioners, has always
been scouted and repudiated by the law and the bench of England. Mr. Windham
has committed many bad actions, but he is not therefore insane; and of all people
in the world General Windham and the clan Bristol ought to be the last to complain
of his misconduct, which is in a great measure the result of their own neglect and
ill-treatment. An allusion has been made to the doings at Fellbrigz-hall on Christ-
mas night, when Mr. Windham put on a pair of hunting breeches, blacked his face,
and joined in the singing of negro songs. Iadmit that Mr. Windham did a foolish
thing on that oceasion, but I submit that it canmot be magnified into anything
more than & want of taste, such as that evineed in going to the Haymarket during
the course of the present inquiry. Bunt whatever may have been the conduct
of Mr. Windham on Christmas mnight, nobody, I think, can envy the man
or woman who had played the part ofa spy in Fellbrigg-hall, and given informsation
to the other side. Thereis treason at work against Mr. Windham. His steps have
been dogged for months, his confidantial agents have been canvassed, and everything
filthy and foul has been raked up against him for the purpose of sustaining a case
founded upon falsehood and prejudice. Dr. Winslow, in his own sobtle way, has
thrown out a bait to the jury in the shape of a suggestion that Mr. Windham,
instead of being confined in a lunatic asylum for life, might merely be placed under
garveillance for a few years. Let the jury beware of falling into the snare thus set
for them. They may depend upon it that the objeet *of the petitioners,
however it may be disgnised, is to immure Mr. Windham in a madhouse for
life. Let General Windham once get his nephew within his clutches, and he will
take care that the estates are secured to his own family, and that the person-
alty is in a very ifew years divided between himself and the other petitioners.
Mr. Windham, said thelearned gentleman inconclusion, mayhave been profligate and
unfortunate, but that isthe moat that can be allegedjagainst him. The petitioners have
no right to expose his life to the public gaze, until, by snmetrhmg_ like a judicial
inguiry instituted among themselves, they had made up their minds that every
one of their positions could be maintained in the open court, and that all their
witnesses could stand unscathed the test of a cross-examination. I leave the
jury to say whether the inquiry has been conducted in this epirit. I Mr. Windham
had been penniless he might have roamed throngh the world without one of his rela-
tives reaching out a hand to save him; but because he is the owner of Fellbrigg-
hall, becanse he has entered into a contract for the sale of hig ‘tlmhar, and ‘n:ma.um
Genera] Windham fears that the property may be lost to himself and his sons
for ever, an inquiry has been instituted into the state of his mind, and he is
threatened with tho severest punishment which can be intlicted upon a human
being. Let the jury recollect that they were once young themselves, and let them
consider for a moment with what feelings they would regard the man who shm_.ﬂg
rake up and publish to the world all the follies, and possibly even vices, of “'lhg
they have been guilty in their youth, but which they now sincerely repent anc . I'Be-
plore. Is it not the partof afriend rather bo cover with a veil the foibles Pr“ﬂ'ﬁfn;:d
than to expose them to a curious and gaping public? How far General Windham
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i iant have acted upon this priuciple I will leave them to

?:113 nthuh?;n}zauﬂ:g“:ﬁ&lﬂ? thought t.hemgﬂlres.jmniﬁed in proceeding w_lth tl{mr
J tﬁ?.;n it was worth their while to go into many of the filthy and disgusting
dat;&iln with which they have overloaded their case, I will likewise leave them to
judge. 1 am eertain that I shall not appeal to them in vain to draw the ]lnﬂbetweaan
1}'&"3 and insanity,detween profligacy, however great and hmﬂn]t;ulilﬂ, and uns{;mn :i"
of mind. I am sure that I shall not againhave to remind you tha 30111]1 are % onn
to believe my client sane until the contrary 18 proved by unimpeachable evidence.
On behalf of Mr. Windham I have no necessity to appeal for mexcy. I ask simply
for justice ; and, if I can judge of the effect which the evidence will produce upon
you, I think I may safely predict that your Unamimous verdict will be that Mr.
th’r:lhn.m iz of sound mind, and ought not to be deprived of his liberty, which
ig dearer to him than life itself. ‘

The learned gentleman sat down amid some applause,

adjourned.

and the Counrt immediately

THIRTIETH DAY.—THURSDAY, JANUARY 23. :

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster _Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, .C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special Jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Willinms, n;.ppea,mﬂ for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia FElizabeth Giubilei, the mother
of the alleged lunatie ; 8ir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

Mr. Coleridge said :—I have the honour to appear before you on behalf of Mrs.
Windham, and although I could well be content to leave the case of that lady
where it has been put by the speech of Mr. Karslake, yet, inasmuch as she has in-
trusted me with the defence of her interests, it is only fit and proper that I
shonld address a few words to you on her part. I heartily rejoice that, at the end
of more than a calendar month, during nearly every day of which obloguy and
invective, insult and reproach has been heaped upon Mrs. Windham with vigorous
assidnity by Mr. Chambers, the voice of her counsel should be heard. Miserably
feeble as I know that voice to be, utterly unable as I am to grapple as I could
wish with the mountain of prejudice which has been soffered to accumulate oyer
this part of the case, it is yet some consolation to me to be able at last in open court
to hurl back with indignation many portions at least of the filthy imputations which
have been cast upon my client, and to appeal to the hononr and manliness of the
gentlemen whom I address to dojustice, even in spite of prejudice, to a woman who
has been cruelly treated aud wickedly aspersed. I do not forget that Mrs. Windham
and her character have in themselves and for themselves nothing at all to do with
this case ; but, at the same time, I cannot be blind to the fact that Mrs, Windham, her
character, her marriage, her settlement; her whole life up to the present moment,
have been the chief weapons of attack upon her husband’s sanity. The main
charge against Mr. Windham is his marriage with Agnes Willoughby. I do nof
complain of that—nay, more, it iz to my mind most justand right that it should
be so. Much as I feel the oppression of the prejudice which has Leen
created, I can say with the utmost sincerity that I should be sorry if
guch a marriage could be regarded with favour or approval. For any miserable
hypocrite, indeed, who, living in open disregard of the laws of God, chooses to affect
a sanctimonions horror of the conduct of Mr. and Mrs. Windham, I have nothing
bnt burning contempt and digdain ; but, so far as a detestation of impurity and viee
is shown by men who themselves live pure, moral, conscientions lives, guiding
themselves according to the law of responsibility, and endeavouring to walk right
with God, I must, with my whole heart and soul, honour and admire it. Although,
however, that may be perfectly true, yet theve is none the less a tremendous
prejudice excited in the case with which it is my duty to deal. It will be recollected
that some days ago I expressed my determination to be present at every examina-
tion which might take place of Mr. Windham, and that one gentleman of the jury
was pleased to say that he considered that statement an imputation, while another,
'I;c'u w!'mm the remark hiad not the remotest application, thought it would be more
dignified to take no notice of it. I beg now to say that I intended no imputation
npon any human being beyond this, that I was afraid the disgusting and filthy
stories which had been told against Mr. and Mrs. Windham must have raised very
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strong feelings of dislike and almost horror against them both, and that the persona
who entertained such feelings might show and express them. Although that
wouldibe a thing that no man of fairness and of upright mind could object to, it
wonld still be an act of great injnstice to Mr. Windham and to the woman wl,m
after all, is his wife, to whom he is still deeply attached, and from whom m;
L human power, save in' the case of adultery, can put him asunder. So far, then,
us, thus explained, my observation was an imputation npon any human being, [ am
afraid it must rest as [ made it; but I cannot imagine that gentlemen of intel-
ligence, such as those whom I address, will blame me because, in the discharge
of a difficult and disagreeable task, I felt it my duty to speak the troth.
it is hardly necessary that I should say to persons of common human feel-
ing that Mr. and Mrs. Windham, whatever faultsa they may have com-
mitted, stand now in a situation, if not to bespeak pity, at least to command
forbearance. Everything prized by Mrs. Windham is at stake. Her marriage,
her settlement, her position, her prospects in life, the welfare of those two
gisters of whom we have heard so much, and upon whom even Mr. Chambers,
thongh prolitie in imputation, has not ventured to cast a slur—all hang upon the
verdict which the jury may give. Not directly, it is true, because their
verdict, even if unfavourable to Mr. Windham, cannot set aside the marriage
and disannul the settlement, but certainly indirectly; because everybody must
feel that a verdict of twenty two gentlemen, after so lengthened an investigation,
must, in any court in which the matter came hereafter to be litigated, have a
strong and, indeed, overwhelming weight in the decision at which that court
might arrive. More than that, no man can have watched this inguiry from the
beginning without seeing that the object of the petitioners—those affectionate
uncles and aunts of Mr. Windham—is to get rid of the marriage with Agnes Wil-
longhby. If there had been no marriage—if General Windham had been successfal
in obtaining a re-settlement of the Fellbrigg estate on the 8th and 9th of Augast last
—can any man of common sense doubt for one moment that we should never have
heard one single syllable of this inguiry? His marriage and his marriage
only, or chiefly, has brought the whole of this distress upon Mr. Windham.
The marriage, from the beginning to the end, has been treated as the
crowning act of his insanity, and, in consequence, mo imputation has been
too gross, no sneer has been too bitter, no story has been too filthy for Mr.
Chambers to bring forward in the hope of aspersing and ecrushing Mrs.
Windham, and with Mrs. Windham her husband. You will recollect the
manner in which the case was opened by Mr. Chambers. At that time Mr.
Chambers believed that Mrs. Windham would pot be represented in Court, and yet
he did not feel himself 1estrained by auy professional rules—not to speak of higher
considerations—from canvassing her whole life and endeavouring to asperse in the
strongest language a woman whom he thought could never be heard, and whom
he therefore regarded as safo game. It may be admitted that when a body of
persons had got a large estate in prospect and a disagreeable marriage in their
family, they are entitled to make an appeal to the law, but I ask the jury whether
they have ever heard in the whole course of their lives of such remorseless cruelty
ag an endeavour to make out a man to be mad, to take away the property in which
he was interested, to separate him from his wife, to deny him the hope of children
" and all the sweetest pleasures of existence for the sole purpose of getting rid of a
distasteful marriage and an abhorred settlement? Look ab the position of Mr,
Windham with his affectionate uncles. From the cmlfl!n to the age of twenty-one
years, utterly neglected by all his family, with a set of second-rate
. ‘tutors about him who did not understand and were incapable of deal-
ing with their pupil, allowed to come up to London and to run lm]:e
about the streets nncontrolled by those attached relatives who, when he went to the
devil, flew at him and attacked him with a charge of inganity.—such was the P“i‘*
tion of this unhappy gentleman in the besom of his affectionate family :prg?:i ?‘
married Agnes Willoughby. Looking at it apart from prejudics, and unmin l::.l'-ﬂ:jl
any of those storiea which have not been proved, and never ought mh&“a]:l?ﬁulﬂ -
was there anything in the marriage so exceedingly improbable, so “:e ;EE Yt:reci
trary to the ordinary working of the human heart, that the person who h t‘i‘l"" o
into it must, therefore, be supposed insane ¢ Here was Mr. Windham, lﬂm1 -] Le
lace, not well bronght up, with none of the tastes Whmhﬁdumt.?d men had, ex ¥
sively fond of out-doov pursuits, rough, boisterous, oand riotous in his manner, pro
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bably exceedingly ill at ease with alagantl and rt'ﬁn.ﬂ_:l:l ladies of his own mnlg of life,
bably not exceedingly fond of the society of ladies of the Hervey elevation, and
not at all rich in presenti, and, therefore, not able to make such an immediate
settlement as would induce persons of the Bristol rank to give him their daughters ;
but, at the same time, a young man of an affectionate disposition, with strong
passions, very desirous of marrying, and anxious to retire to the conntry with his wife,
there to enjoy himself in the way most to his liking. Who, on the other hand, was
Mrs. Windham ? She was not yet twenty-two years of age; she was a very pretty
and attractive person; she had ladylike manners; she was a celebrity in certain
gircles in London, Mr. Windham was neither the first nor the last, neither the
youngest nor the oldest, neither the wisest nor the most foolish person who had
been fascinated by Agnes Willonghby, If all the gossip I have heard is true, my
client is a woman whom to captivate and make his wife might naturally enough be
an object of ambition to a person bronght up like Mr. Windham. Men cannot be
expected to become all at once old, wise, and discreet. Perhaps evenin the lives of
the jury themselves there was a time when they were capable of doing fuolish
things—of giving a great deal for a smile from a young, fascinating, and beloved
woman. Where in the world would be all our poetry, half our novels, the funetion
of some of the most celebrated writers of the present day, including even the
learned Master himself, if there was to be an end to the passion of man for woman,
and to the desire of the one sex to connect itself with the other? It is true that
the philosopher, when he saw the shade of Helen in the nether world, wondered
that for such a face a thousand ships came from Greece, and ten thousand men
were slain on the plains of Troy, but he was a cynie, and still the fact remains
that for the pleasore of making a beautiful woman his wife many
a man would cheerfally sacrifice all his possessions, and brave the censures of hig
kind. Almost everybody is acquainted with persons who, in the matter of
marriage, have not done that which, upon reflection, either they or their friends
would justify ; and, indeed, if every man who married a pretty woman when he had
much better not do it was to be put in a lunatic asylum, we must have a special
wing added to Bedlam for such cases. But it is said that Mrs. Windham was
not merely a beantiful woman; she was a shameless prostitute, a person common
to the whole town. That is just one of the things of which I bitterly com-
plain of on the part of Mr. Chambers. Lord Chesterfield, when told by a famons
but frail beauty of his time—Miss Chudleigh—that the world was so sensorious ‘as
to say that she had had twins, made a profound bow and said he never believed more
than half the world said. If the jury were to apply that wholesome rule to the
operring statement of Mr. Chambers, they would not be doing Mrs. Windham more
than justice. That my client was a common prostitute, a person upon the streets
a woman whom it was contrary to the ordinary usages of society to hecoms
acquainted with and wish to marry, I utterly deny, and at least there is mot a
tittle of evidence that she was. It is alleged, however, that the marriage was
not one of mutual affection, and that Mrs. Windham stipulated in a mer-
cantile and mercenary manner for the purchase of the person which she
was to bestow uwpon Mr. Windham; such might be on the part of Mrs.
Windham an act of low wmorality, though that is doubtful : but what
connection existed between the state of Mr. Windbam’s mind and his willingnesa
to give a handsome settlement to the woman whom he wished to possess for life #
The t{'ﬂﬂi 18, however, that Miss Willoughby made a counsiderable sacrifice in.
marryiong Mr, Windbam ; her affection for Mr, Windham was not strong; she had
an allowance of something like £2,000 a year, and she occupied a high p-;:;sit.igu in -
iz: own circle. ; She acwptqd Mr. Windham, not for the settlement he made npon
¥y 13“:;5& obtain an accredited position in society, and to secure the interests of
Sisters. It is ridiculous hypoerisy to talk of the marriage as the petitioners
have instructed their counsel to speak of it. Half the marriages of our aristocracy
are made from no better motives. A beautiful girl gives herself to an old earl or
i L parquis for the sake of position; and why, I ask, is that which is
al‘::;ﬂimbllﬂr pure, and I'Igl.'lfl in Lﬂdj' li&l'j‘" 1ﬂl‘ Lﬂdjl" Susan to be Bhﬂ'l'll.ﬂ-t-ﬂl’jﬂﬂﬂ ag
'minable, mercenary baseness in Agnes Willonghby ¥ What was the conduct ofthe
g{a}::tmnarn when they heard that the marriage was roing to take place ? Not a single
indbam or Hervey among them ever told Miss Willoughby —who, above all other
Pe';i“::ﬂm, was entitled toa warning on the subject—that Mr, Windimm was utterly
unfit to contract marriage by reason of unsoundness of mind, Is it the dootrine of
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the arvistocracy that beean ;
emancipated grl;im the arﬂ?guﬁ;‘r ?*?111:: fﬁ'?hw}mﬁ s]-.e e h bﬁ e S g
If the petitioners had told her, as they ahn:ﬁgm‘;;ufmrgma’ and justice towards her P
tive was insane, Miss Willonghby would not ha,v: ?1.3::&’ t.h}?t. shietry ou il rela
up a good position for the shadow of a shade. The '1 H:; SCHt 1001 AR R Y
argue that the behavionr of Mr. and Mrs. Windham u;g:-uthe L‘-Dl:t:[ﬂﬂ] et
proper. Not a single act of treachery, he said, not a single I:nam.lgﬂ ih e
of p}'ﬂfﬂ!ﬂiannl confidence has been spared for JIf;lu:ai pu nsg ufm'ﬂ' o hmpnt.a;'hty 4
ngmn'at Mr. Windham and his wife. Mr, Cole, the :l:[i.;m gﬂttgg L
contributed information obtained in his own office when Mt? mf - o e i
:-EBF]:::? Wﬂi ﬂﬂhr:hﬂnwn to Fellbrige-hall on Christmas eve to w;tﬁ: l{ﬁ %ﬁgﬂdham;
& how he aved ; and even General Windham himself, th 3 e
gelf sacrificing  tenant-in-tail, the self-denyin T et L TR TR
46/ PeRbrig A1l b0 Ty B G ris N B AT T Bty ot 110008
1?115:1; :i.,:};déﬂ '::;d, cunaﬁnr{tta, generous Gapnerm t‘i‘o’ai:tg};;:f, :h%r;mhwnuﬂri?erﬂlﬂgggl
_ eman, fender gunardian, affectionate uncle! See hi Fellbri :
imtrodnced toits charming mistress jE:i’aiain m 4 ‘ s
October fire, sipping his wine ] and E';n h_wary S e ey g, el
while keeping both hiz eyes wide o nm:_r: LI bmcugt, I:mf_'. et o
:Ll;hmlil:l E:fca If ;ll;ha learned Féu;»rn1;1»31'111111,. EI-:EEI' n:grntenmf;ieg ﬂ:haﬁ:::iid?:mngglh::é
y o e numerons imputations against his cli i
newspapers which, he said, ha-tlzpnfnnneﬂ thga puEliﬁﬁhﬁTﬁa %Eirdrzd s
would be saved and the Windham marringe set aside. I hope, he m:;'l PTI' h
statement is utterly withont foundation. I believe, indeed 3 that 16 2y ?t
untrue, and that those who wrote it totally mistook ’tha character E’ lEFEut*I';-{*I'TF
judge, and the temper and honoar of an English jury. No En I?Ehltud i
English' gentlemnan, for all the great estates of all the +grea.t f‘amﬁi&s iJuNgﬁr;‘ lnkﬂI
wc:uld do such a black and base act of infamy as to find a man mad in ai;dErﬂmua £
aside a marriage which was disapproved, and to get rid of a settlement which %
disliked. On the other hand, if it is thonght discreet to read men lessons, T thﬁﬁ
the enormous cost of this inquiry is lesson enough for the sins which Mr, and M
Windham have committed. To use the words of the late Lord Ersl:inla - m:‘;]'s ;
come cold in the abstract from the pulpit, but men smart under t.hemlwhen wi
lawyers are the preachers.” It is neither my duty nor my inclination to say a
gingle word in favour of profligacy or of vice. “ Stolen waters are ngzt
and bread eaten in secret is pleasant. But he knoweth not that the dead are
there, and that her guests are in the depths of hell.” Far be it from me to cast a
shadow of doubt upon the truth of those sublime and tremendous words, but nothin
can be more absurd, and even cruel, than to take a ganctimonious view of Mr anﬁ
Mrs. Windham’slife, to confound sin and vice with insanity, and to accept immorality
and irreligion as proofs of legal incapacity. Ifreligion is to be invoked by the other
gide, T have no hesitation in saying that I wounld far rather be the Magdalene who
washed her Divine Master’s feet with her tears and wiped them with the hairs of
her head, than the self-complacent Pharisee who condemned the woman because
she was a sinner, and who tried to plume himself before Almighty God upon the
outward regularity of his decorous life. Under any other circumstances I wonld
ask your verdict for Mr. Windham with the utmost confidence and with absolute
certainty of enccess; and even in this case, in spife of the mountain of prejudice
which had been excited, T appeal to you, with all the earnestness and energy which
T can command, and inthe name of law, honour and justice, toacquit Mr. Windham
and his wife of the ﬁ]thy and infamons charges which have been so cruelly, so
ruthlessly, and so basely pressed against them. -
Mr. Chambers was then heard for the petitioners. It will be my anxious study,
he said, to address yon with calmness and equanimity, with distinctness and concise-
ness. I have been sorely tempted and tried, but T have read the Book which has
just been quoted by Mr. Coleridge, and T hope, after a life of struggles uncheered
by any of thut assistance which has sometimes been accorded to others, to retire
from my profession without a blot upon my escutcheon. Who dares to say that T
have not had imposed upon me a difficult, a trying, a fatigning duty ? Who dares
to say that in the performance of that duty 1 have done anything derogatory to the
character which every honourable barrister onght to strive to earn for his profession
in the public mind? I have listened with attention and admiration to the speeches
of my learned friends on the other side, and T venture to say that they are full of



Y

187

: : igo irreleyant issoes. Tt 18 mow
topica calenlated to mislead the jury, t:rh:cu;ﬁigﬂm il o
my part to clear away the obscuribty TR i R RPN e il
resentation hins thrown around o very simp "]* Chles 5 B EHoTedg et nbioan i)
:Pn the ranks of my own profession a lamentable b;JTFh L s i
bited. The proposition which I am :huund t:d cs il :::I‘ S ilan ik vahaaacktie
verdict is, not that Mr. Windham 18 a m qu 4 e minc] bt p ki
within the category of persons who are En;:hn w:ictha b malail dowa: MGHE
g SiEmgetye i d utsle A b doctrine is upheld and advocated by all
HholgmcRNHARG curEacs B L0 m;:. it Another popular mistake
gribestiand, bigHorgen te m?d s g iy ;ﬂ 'ﬂg-suah eloguent terms of the
Farnrseted by S Eu GeBAluis (OARSLIES t:I.: o doce Mr. Windham. Every-
harrible condition to which his relatizes propasec. to ‘ltIi: the dnri: cells, the shackles,
hodysimgws, oy QUi Knawg SR W e T stem in our l;mat.in agylums
ihs stenw ant tho araityw aistion aLsTaafonie Elsriu ractice. Yet o grEﬂ;E
which is not only beautiful in theory but admirable in p e
. isti ed common law barristers, has endeavo
aquity lawyer, hacked by o, distagn aes be i red in a madhounse of the
to persnade the jury that Mr., Windham 18 tfj .1_3 1311:1]1 B e s
old type, shut out from the world and from his frien a.f ins g b
as recommended even by Dr. Conolly, to _tha care D.;] Eul 8, &0 :'e him’ for betrg.
feiwad, whomguldwateh Oyt LM, SUTIER T, ME] %':ﬂ uE‘a?rf !}'ﬂl.m object of my
foinatmme L lﬂr cherdtnbn%aﬂigﬂ ;.:Ii:ni]:e.;;;iend; E{mtm;;ed by tbe wild and
learned friend is plain and obvious. i - A
nnjustifiable aﬁtaIchE which, in language rarely 112“1"1. m _':'“]‘: czgztsﬂ?: Jlﬁ?rgemn da
somewhat going beyond téhe, 1?‘11:_3 limita ﬂﬂf E:':n wf}?ﬂt:ﬁl: iceougixt m}' b
ugri bl ol e B T e oot has
those attacks, for it is a rule of oratory which Ry et s R
ied in elassical authorities, that when you are trou Wi :
:rt;-giint upon the real point at issue, you should a?hu.autm ]::;hﬁl?{bﬁ, uqs::iléli E:ﬁ
yipalandlanguage, svesyhodysonpesad o W IINRUP I MR s e
all the petitioners had been attacked in succession by Sir i I'g : ;1 i
Karslake, and Mr. Coleridge, and, to ta‘r:e_thu MEeAsure :::i' i'.l_ma {el? :;r E:lheaitnr
have been employed in vilifying General Wmﬂhmp'nvnd hli.l'i f'nin S.t.tiﬁ a Eunecassm-'y
Hgn Jn etk foen mjagl{:], ﬂ:‘l}tﬂﬁynhﬂfﬂgf;l?ﬁﬁigiuin fl?ﬂt P:s hﬂgknew little or
itnesses iuto the box, and o ing Gen » :
::thing of the main points at issne, it would be worse than useless {o u.:kl;: ]m]r; ntu
give evidence. But the] jury themselves, when they reﬂecthu;:untt Ebiun aﬁ-
catalogue of questions which Sir Hugh Cairns submitted m{i ht. eir a e;:t i
guestions which he should have liked to put to Geperal Win ngn, cu.nnf Ao
see that the ounly and sole object was to worry and tﬂél;lﬁ:ll ﬂh.uadﬂﬂ l;mitl;ed'
influential petitioner. Even, however, if Gencr:}l Win a]:: B0 e
himself to the tender mercies of Bir Hugh Cairns and his cc:-llangueab ]
maledictions and objurations heaped wupon him could not well have been
gtronger or mare ontrageous than they have been already. In their un%*nver:‘i
able wrath against the petitioners, ladies as well as pgentlemen, 'my'T]u:am
friends have used terms which are not unworthy of a place ver_v:r‘ near i;]mh a.nﬁe::l,
and not far from the Tower. They have even attacked myself, “but let the galle
Jjade wince, my withers ave unwrung,” and will the gallant general H;ibtha_ :;mi
thing. I bave patiently bided my time, and now I venture to say that, wi {;.11
cause or necessity, the grossest imputationa have ba&n introdnced into th?] ualaﬁ o
the purpose of doing that which my learned friends affect so much t{-f ?; ore—
viz., creating a false and unjust prejudice, and leading the attention o e jury
away from the real question before them. If T had ealled all the petitioners into
the witness-box, Sir Haogh Cairng would have said that, as interested parties,
speaking for their own benefit, their ﬂviﬂancg was nobt entitled to the amn.llelft-
weight; and therefore T resclved, as a duty which I owed to Mr. Windham, Itg the
Jury, and to the public, not to produee unnecessary witnesses who con ;uy;
nothing to the purpose. What has been the resnlt of my forbearance, mm:}:I w f“I
were the epithets which a barrister has thonght fit to bestow upon a hero? 1 :
had only heard the expression of Sir Hugh Cairns when he declared that Genera .
Windham was skulking in the- seat beside his coungel, 1 should have contented
myself with saying, “a word hastily epoken, but as quickly, as heartily, and as
bitterly repented.” But when, during the speech of Mr, Karslake, T heard the
words “ slink,” “ moral coward,” ““earpet knight,” and other epithets culled from a
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vocabnlary which, in my early days, was unknown among gentlemen, then, indeed
I think that malignity stalks abroad, and that it is t.imegtrugmu,aa myself m daulun;
liow shameful, or how shameless, such language is in a court of justice. Slink,
skulk, moral coward! Was Mr. Karslake, when he presumed to talk thus of General
Windham, entirely ignorant of the annals of his country? The cheers of his
brother soldiers, his election by the gentlemen and yeomen of his own county, the
honours bestowed upon him by the State for conspicuous public services testify
to the character and ability of General Windham, Skulk, coward, carpet knight !
General Windham has won his fame upon the battle-field. He hag sought i

A the bubble reputation
Even in the cannon’s mouth,”

and gathered his laurels
# —— i’ the imminent deadly breach.”

General Windham is not a fit subject for the abuse of lawyers, His conntry has
acknowledged his services. He never skulked in the hour of peril. Sufferings
and  hardships almost unexampled he has endured, like his brave comrades,
with manly fortitnde. When we were sleeping in our beds in comfort and happiness
he was at the post of danger, and it was there he won his glory. Such epithets
as Mr. Karslake has bestowed him he counld shake from him like “dewdrops from
the lion's mane.” A gnat may sting a lion, or a gadfly a horse, but it is only a
gnat or a gadfly afterall, while the horse or the lion remains the samé as before. It is
deeply to be regretted that Geveral Windham should have been so rudely and
coarsely assailed, and I may be permitted to express the hope that in a publie
court of justice in fature an hononrable officer will be protected from attacks made
for the purpose of withdrawing attention from the real merits of a most important
and most difficult ease. The learned gentleman then proceeded to analyse
the evidence for the defemce, with/ the view of ehowing that, even according
to his own witnesses, Mr. Windham was no more capable of protecting
himself from cheats and sharpers than a child of twelve years of age. He ridiculed
the theory advanced on the other side, that all the absurd, extravagant, and irrational
acts committed by Mr. Windham were to be ascribed to a neglected and defective
education and not to unsoundness of mind. No young gentleman ever had more
care and anxiety bestowed upon him; no young gentleman of his rank ever had
more money laid out npon him. Everything had been done to train and educate
him, but trial after trial had failed, and his mind remained a barren soil, incapable
of cultivation. Time had made no impression upon him, and he was now what he
had always been—a noisy person, dirty in his habits, rude in his manner, incoherent,
inconsequential and irrational in his conversation, incompetent to manage affairs
or to prevent himsell from being victimised by designing scoundrels of both sexes.
The learned gentleman had not concluded his speech when the Court adjourned.

THIRTY=-FIRST DAY.—MonNDaY, JANUARY 27.

The adjonrned inguiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resnmed to-day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special Jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother
of the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

Mr. Chambers :—I resume my reply for the petitioners by saying that with
respect to one portion of the testimony, at least, there was no absolute contradiction
or-inconsistency. I refer to the evidence of what may be called the experts in
medical science. Although there is an adage that doctors often disagree, yet, in
point of substance, the medical men who have come forward for t!:n purpose a
showing that Mr. Windham is not in a state of mind to take care of himself and his
affairs are not contradicted by those who hava been examiued on the part of the
alleged lunatic. The doctors who have appeared for Mr. Windham are partisans of
the strange theory, that all the weakness, all the imbecility, all the extraordinary
conduct of the alleged lunatic, is to be ascribed to a defective or neglected educa-
tion ; and my learned friends on the other side, in their eloquent and impassioned
appeals to the jury, adopting a suggestion probably derived from medical consnli.
ations, have dwelt upon the fact that Mr. Windbam is not an imbecile, is not an
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idi i insane. There cannot be & greater fallnoy than the one involved
;glglili: Eggﬁtn?nl::t. The doctrine laid down by Lord ]rf-'ldon and ?iir John Nicholl is
clear and explicit, and acting npon this doctrine tha Jury muat; 1nav1h1b1;r_ come to
+he conclusion that Mr. Windham is of snch nnsound mind as renders him incapable
to take care of himself and his pmpart.}’, and that it is their duty to protect him
from being victimized or destroyed by those persons who are always ready to prey
upon weakness and imbecility, especially ':vhe.u nm?umpanmld by wealth. But Dr. Tuke
and his professional friends do not recognise any mtermqﬁmta gtate between nl;lmulut.n
idioey and lunacy, and their statements upon that point, tlfmugh ﬂpr._msed i Lot
to the law of England as declared by Lord Eldon and Sir John Nicholls, have
formed the basis of the argument advanced on behalf of Mr. Windbam. In
reality, however, some of the doctors have placed Mr. Windham in l'.]}a category the
existence of which they deny, and upon their e.vu?euna.alnuq the jury could hnve
no hesitation in saying that the alleged lunatic is clearly in that mt&rmﬂdl?.l:-n
condition between absolute idiocy and positive madness or lunacy, accompanied
with delusions, which entitle him to the protection of the law. Dr. Tuke, thongh
acting thronghout rather in the spirit of an attorney than in that of a disinterested
scientific witness, has admitted that if Mr. Windham had settled the whole of his
property upon his wife he wonld have regarded him as imbecile. Why, Mr.
Windham has given away more than the whole of his property, nuﬂ_ therefore,
according to his own ecientific witness, he is incompetent to manage himself and
his nffairs. Nor is it possihle for any one to read the placard addressed to “the
people of Great Britain” without coming to the same conclugion. That outrageous
document, ealling npon the people to meet in Hyde Park, and even appealing to
the Queen to exercise her prerogative on behalf of Mr. Windham, shows con-
clugively that the alleged lunatic wascompletely under the control and dominion
of Roberts in Piceadilly, and was consequently in a state requiring protection. Dr.
Edward Seymour might be called the general consoler. The most extraordinary
acts were no proofs of insanity to him, and he seemed to be of opinion that all the
lunatic asylums of England might be swept away to-morrow with great advantage
to the community. Sir Hugh Cairns, without any reagon or foundation for his
statement, has called Dr. Mayo the champion and gtandard-beaver of the theory of
moral insanity. It is to be hoped that Dr. Seymour does not infend to pnt him-
self forward as the champion and standard-bearer of the theory of universal sauity.
But even Dr. Seymeur has admitted that Mr. Windham, to use his own expres-
sion, was young for his years; in other words, is in that state of childishness
which renders him incompetent to manage himself and his affairs. The leading
error committed by Dr. Sutherland is, that he ignores and does not recognise the
middle region between idiocy and lnnacy in which Mr. Windham is placed, and
hence hiz evidence canuvot be rerarded as of the least importance in the present
case. Dr. Conolly is too good-natured. e is one of the kindest men living, and
it 18 nob sorprising to hear that he would hesitate before putting Mr., Windham
into a lunatic asylom. But even Dr. Conelly has admitted that nothing can save
Mr. Windham except being placed under the charge of some good, kind, virtuons
friend. Why, that is all the petitioners want, and Dr. Conolly might be taken as
their witness. I next examine the medical evidence given in support of the peti-
tion, and remark that Dra. Winslow and Mayo have not been treated with common
fairness. Dr. Winslow, in a large portion of his evidence, merely forestalled state-
ments which were subsequently made by the medical witnesses for Mr. Windham,
One of the most important facts elicited by Dr. Winslow was that Mr. Windham
knew that the night before her marriage his wife, the immaculate Miss Willonghby,
slept in the same house with a former paramour. Such was his inexpressible idiccy
that he led his bride to the altar hot from a bed of lewdness and vice. His eon-
tinued intimacy with Roberts, after that person had told him that he had slept
with hiz wife before her marringe, was another proof of his utter want of decency
and honcur. When a man marries a woman of equivocal character he makes up
his mind to it, but he never dreams, unless he is imbecile, of taking her to the
hounse of a person who has slept with her before marringe. Dr. Winslow,
therefore, is perfectly justified in saying that no man would have acted as
Mr. Windham has done unless he were drunk, drufzged, or insane. The medical
evidence, in short, is complete and conclusive. It does mnot prove that AMr.
Windham is an idiot or a lunatie, but it establishes beyond a ghadow of donbt that
hcis in a state and condition of mind which entitles him and his property to
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have taken to save their youthful relative. I am .u_stnmalu?xll
En S}E‘?%Uﬂﬁ?]gﬂ, for the purpose of attacking persons of position and |11I};1?nce,
shonld have enunciated doctrines more Extru.urﬂ@ary _t-ha.n any t_.hﬂt ever fe ]i:am
the lips of a profligate desirous of canoundmg vige with virtue 1_m<1‘ ma ;t;:g
wickedness appear to be innocence and gooduoess, and nht_m]ﬂ have exposed tul ] 18
affrighted gaze of tne public a circle which is generally banished from the ;etz.c;l :ﬁ-
tion of those who move in decont society, or which, when it is remembered ; 2
is thought of with lamentation and distress. Mr. Coleridge, in fact, has spo ‘T'nl;‘ﬂ'
the aristocracy as if they were the most despicable race in England ; n.}u% s Ih he
pyramid of society rested upon its apex instead of its base. I mysell bave ,ME
attacked in unsparing and virulent language. A great equity lawyer has acmﬁzﬂ
me of condneting this inquiry as if it were a.case of pefty larceny ; but I can :r
gnch twits as these, becanse I stand here as an independent man, owing uuti}mgi 0
favour, and because, althongh I have been engaged in petty. ]F.rc;a:}y cases, in nius
prius cases, and in ronning-down cases, I have never been driven in pure despera-
tion to make an unwarrantable attack upon those opposed 1o me. : e

The learned gentleman had nob concluded when the inguiry was adjourned.

THIRTY-SECOND DAY.—TuEsDAY, JANUARY 28, !

The adjonrned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. ¥. Windham, of Fallbnﬁ
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Sessions-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a ﬂ.pe-ci_u[ Jury,

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, ﬁlﬁ-p;_mmrl_ for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Ginbilei, the qui.har
of the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairns, (.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, Q.C., for Mrs. Windham.

Since the speeches began the proceedings have been unusually dull, but. the
thirty-second day of the inguiry was marked by an incident which, in the absence
of more interesting matter, may bs worthy of note. Mr, Chambers had not pro-
ceeded far when he snddenly stopped and complaine& that Dr. Gwin, one of the
witnesses for Mr. Windham, was staring him in the face and grinding from ear to
ear, Such conduct, he said, was neither fair nor palite, and he r@c';m_:&i;-ﬂ that Dr.
Gwin, who was sitting opposite to him, should be asked to remove to another part
of the court. The Master complied with the request of the learned counsel, ywhich
‘was backed by the foreman of the jury, and Dr. Gwin, who was now grave enough,
whatever he might have been before, changed his seat, Unfortunately, however,
in the hurry of the moment, he placed himself immediately below Mr. Chambers.
who again asked him to go somewhere else. .The Master interposed a second time,
and eventually Dr. Gwin found a resting place in a dark corner out of sight, where
he remained for the rest of the day. . 8 4

Mr. Chambers, resuming his speech for the petitioners, commenced by directing the
attention of the jury to the general evidence against Mr. Windham, reserving for after
consideration the residence in Duke-street, the marriage with Miss Willonghby, and
the timber contraet. He said :—I vindicate the character and professional attainmenta
of Drs. Nichol and Dalrymple, of Norwich, which have been unjustly and virulently at-
tacked, and I maintain that the testimony of those gentlemen proves Mr. Windham to
be a congenital imbecile, able to protect himself from physical injury, but utterly in-
competent to the managemeunt of affairs. What gives pecaliar force and value to
their evidence ia that they have known the Windham family for many years, and
have enjoved opportunities of observing the alleged lunatic from his birth upwards.
: One of them, indeed—Dr. Nichol—had examined him at the request of his futher in
* early childhood, and had even then formed and expressed the opinion that, if not
. an absolute idiot, he was a person of unsound mind and would never be capable of
managing himself or his affairs, Kvidence to the same effect has been given by Dr
Johmstone of Norwich, Dr. Buck, of Cromer, and Dr. Illingworth of London, all
gentlemen of considerable experience and eminence in their profession, and witnesses
whose candour and truthfulness cannot for a moment be questioned. To assail
guch men with scorn and ridicule may be very clever, but it is an unmistakeable
Bymptom of a desperate and hopeless case, and can have no effect upon the jury.
An atternpt has likewise been made to cast diseredit upon the tutors who have given
evidence in support of the petition. Burely, however, it will not be pretended for
an ingtant that gentlemen of position and attainments, all of them clergymen of the
Church, have deliberately come forward and perjured themselves for the purpose of
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destroying a former pupil. Mr. Cheales has minutely and hically d

conduct and habits of Mr., Windham at Eton—his Euﬂﬂ E.E? %ohtarj;mmgmﬁ:
his dirtiness, his blubbering, his slavering at the mounth, his fondness for low -:.-.um:
pany and low pursuits—and that conduct and those habits were consigtent only with
the appellation of *“ mad Windham,” which his acute schoolfellows bestowed upon the
alleged lonatic. T argne that if Mr. Windham was in the fifth form at all

which hag not been clearly proved, he got there by favour and not h;
examination, and I cite the evidence of Mr. Hale, the mathematical master, to ghow
that he was unable to do the school work, was a boy of weak intellect, and was
kept so long at Eton out of mere charity and pity. After leaving Eton Mr, Windham
resided with his mother in Torquay. He was then about seventeen years of age,
and yet, according to the testimony of Mr. Goodwin, his tator, he was g0 much of a
child that he tried to ride his mother like o horse, turned arongh dog loose among
the ladies at an evening party, and ate his meals in a voracious and offensive
manner. Next came Colonel Bathurst, formerly an officer in the Guards, a gentle-

man against whom not a single word could be said by the most unsernpulona

advocate. The jury would recollect the kind, modest, and gentlemanly tone ir
which Colonel Bathurst gave his evidence, but that evidence, careful and measured
as it was, indicated such a want of mental power on the part of Mr. Windham as
_;:'llz-ndnreﬂ him incapable of taking care of his property. Colonel Bathurst spoke to
‘sudden, violent, and unprovoked fits of passion ; to behavipur in the presence of
ladiea showing something more than a mere want of the manners of society ; to at
"least one act of cruelty to animals; to an utter ignorance of the value or the use of
‘money ; and to habits and instincts inconsistent with mental soundness. An
‘inhuman attack has been made upon Mrs. Wilkinson, and almost at the last moment
Mr. Karslake has been instructed, contrary to good feeling and to right
taste, to insinnate that she endeavoured at Spa to catch Mr. Windham
for her daughter Clara. There is not the slightest foundation for that unfair and
ungallant insinuation, nor can it be said with any degree of truth or reason that
Mrs. Wilkinson, a lady of education and elegant manners, has either intentionally
or inadvertently made one inaceurate statement. She has made Mr. Windham out
to be a mere baby, and her testimony has not been shaken in cross.examination
Cornet Whiteside, who travelled with Mr. Windham in Ewitm\arlunﬂ. for more than
a fortnight, and whose testimony cannot be doubted, has described him as indecent,
rude, and nnmannerly in his conduct, and has expressed his opinion, founded upon
personal observation, that he was an idiot and an imbecile. Do the jury believe
‘Cornet Whiteside, or do they not? He is an officer and a gentleman; he must
understand the point of honour, and nobody has ventured to contradict his state-
ments. Mr. Horrocks. who was tutor to Mr. Windham after his return from the
continent, has been abused and villified, but his evidence has not been tonched inany
jmportant particular, and it entirely confirms that of his predecessor, proving that

"Mr. Windham, when approaching his majority, was in reality a dirty, untruthful,

noisy, and somewhat spiteful child. So also with respect to Mr. Paa:tﬁelﬂ. who
gncoeeded Mr. Horrocks, and remained with Mr. Windham until the time of his
marriage, at the end of August last. As Colonel Bathurst has attempted to
improve Mr. Windham by foreign travel, so Mr. Peatfield tried to improve him by
travel in Scotland and elsewhere, but with equal want of success. He found his
pupil incapable of cultivation or improvement. In the streets of Edinburgh the
conduct of Mr. Windham was of the most, outrageons desdription, and aftracted the
attention of crowds. The acts described by Mr. Peatfield could have been com-
mitted only by a man overcome with drink or an imbecile. It has been proved
that drunkenness was not one of the vices which could be attributed to Mr.
Windham, and hence the conclusion is inevitable that when he danced, sung,
and howled in the streets of Edinburgh he was suffering, not from too much wine,
but from unscundness of mind. I deny the statement of Bir Hugh Cairns and
Mr. Karslake, that he introduced the Marquis of Bristol and Lord Alfred Hervey
with considerable pomp and parade. He has not been guilty of any sach anuhblqhh—
ness; but 1 venture to say that no two witnem}saa u-:ar guwﬂ:ilaai iz;:&z:nmi thn:o
ealmness, with greater propriety, or with a stronger ;

::;.r;gerata ur,uvernt%te. The Hnrqiin of Bristol has ?ﬂn‘»t very tenderly with
his nephew, but he ended by saying, * These proceedings have my entire sanction, .
and his declaration was repeated by Lord Alfred Hervey, one of the guardians a?i
the alleged lunatic appointed by the Court of Chancery. Lord Alfred has describ
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& soone in St. Jamesls-square, when he found his nephew, with his jacket off and
his. shirt.sleeves tucked up, assisting the sﬁrvﬂ.nt_s to clear away the Ehm:lq:ﬂ--tﬁ.hlﬂ,
which everybody must accept as a proaf of imbécility. Another fact mentioned by
Tord Alfred is, that when it was proposed to send Mr. Windhamn abroad, the Intter
actually believed that General Windham wanted to poison him, in order that he
might get possession of his property. Why, that almost amounted to a delusion,
and it might be taken as proving that Mr. Windham is gsomething like an]uuntuc,
T will next refer to what took place as Fellbrigg-hall the day before Mr. Windham
eame of age, when Mr. Jackson, agespectable solicitor, proposed, with the con-
currence of General Windham, a re-settlement of the Fellbrigg property. My
learned friends on the other side have twisted that proposal into an attempt oo the
part of General Windham to benefit himsolf and his family at the expense of a
person whom he believed at the time to be an idiot. Nothing of the kind. In acase
of insanity every effort is invariably made, up to the very last moment, by
the friends of the alleged Innatic, especially when he is a youth, to keep him in
the right path and to protect his property. Suoch is precisely the course which
General Windham has followed with respect to his nephew. The proposal made by
Mr. Jackson, with his knowledge and sanction, was intended for the sole purpose
of benefitting young Mr. Windham, and its rejection by the alleged lunatic, equally
with the reasons he gave for his conduct, only showed he was incompetent to under-
stand his own interests. It is true, then, that General Windham tried to treab
his nephew as a rational agent ; perhaps he hoped he was a rational agent; but it
is equally true that he might as well have hammered at the head of a rhinoceros
as attempted to make the plainest matter intelligible to his unfortunate and
afflicted relative. The only advantage which General Windham could bave
derived from the proposal, if it had been carried out, was that in the event
of his nephew dying without iseue he would have been able to continue in
the Windham family a mansion-house and an estate which had been in their
possession for 400 years. Mr. Windham—who, since he came of age, has
enjoyed the services of no fewer than seven attorneys, itself a proof of weak-
ness of mind—has now disentailed the Fellbrigg property, which might con-
gequently at any moment fall into the clotches of the bad personz by whom he is
surronnded. I now enter upon the affair of the Lewelling. I contend that the
evidence of the Lewelling, husband and wife, is substantially true. It has been con-
firmed to a great extent by Mr. Peatfield, the Rev. Mr. Baty, and other witnesses of
unimpeachable character. No effort has been spared to destroy it, but it remains
unshaken, and I submit it to the consideration of the jury as alike important, con- -
clusive, and trustworthy. The attempt to disprove it by the testimony of dis-
charged servants, and of those two unhappy creatures, Conway and Eliza Dignam,
has signally failed, and only shows how desperate and hopeless is the case of my
learned friends on the other side. The learned counsel examined the evidence
of the railway witnesses at some length. He said :—I maintain that nobody
except a born idiot womld have allowed his wife to travel with such a
person a8 Roberts in a first.class carriage, with the door locked and the
blinds drawn down, all the way from London to Norwich. The whole of his
conduet on the Eastern counties line—his driving the engine, his acting the part of a
guard or porter, his working as a common stoker, his blowing a whistle to start the
train, thereby endangering the lives of hundreds of passengers—was utterly incon-
sistent with soundness of mind, end can be attributed only to great mental
deficiency. So with the acts and events described by the policemen from the Hay-
market and its neighBonrthood. For a considerable period Mr. Windham was in
the habit of frequenting the Haymarket, where the police generally saw him in the
eompany of prostitutes, screeching, singing, howling, dancing, and assaulting the
people in the street. He was ridiculed by the women more than other young
gentlemen, and the police invariably treated him as a person who conld not be held
responsible for his acts. At Norwich, Yarmonth, and elsewhere, he represented
himself to be a detu!::ti?a from London, and seemed to harbour the delusive idea
that he actually was in the police force. The learned counsel was proceeding to
comment upon the marriage, when

The inqumiry was again adjourned,
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THIRTY.THIRD DAY.—WeDNeaDAY, JANUARY 29,

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind : .
hall, Norfolk, was rm?mnd to.day in the Wm?ﬁﬁ?iﬁiﬁﬁimngglmﬁ
Warren, (J.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special Jury ; A

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for the
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Gini:-'laE p-f]E: ther of
the alleged Innatic; Sir Hugh Cairng, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., a :1:;{’ ﬁ,jln Dﬂr; g
Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr, Coleridge Q.d fm:'h{n "i'ir dhw of

Mr. Chambers, in continuing his speech, sail he n'uw E.; ruaﬂh':é. o f':f'
extraordinary scenes ever exhibited in a court of justi ad S o, hod ]!mnt

] of justice—1I speak of the marri
of Mr. Windham. If thatstood ith i e

idh alone, and the matters connected with

who gave his impartial and 18i i T4, Yo S
who g p cool cousideration to the case would hesitate to say that
it was the marriage of an imbecile, and not the marriage of a sane man. I Wi]]:i; i
almost at tbe beginning. How did this marriage arise? Mr, Karslake inut.h
courge of his gpecch, has alluded {o certain letters which spp,;are& in th,a nﬂw:
papers referring to a clags of persons called “ pretty horsebreakers.”” That con
troversy amused the public for a considerable time, although I cannot say it hm;
any tendency to benefit public ‘morals. The object of the letters appears to be to
satisfy people who lived in decent society that those persons deserved the epithet of
pretty horsebreakers, although they were not horsebreakers, and could afﬂﬂ.rﬂd]j"
not be pretty. Mr. Windham'’s feeble mind seemed to have been attracted either
by what he had read in the newspapers, or by the idle conversation he had heard
in the Haymarket or other places of respectable regort, and he remarked to his good
housekeeper and friend, Mrs. Martins, that he wonld rather marry a pretty horse-
breaker than a lady. In that circumstance, gentlemen of the jury, you will
gee in Mr. Windham a desire to mix with low society rather than wii:h society
of hm+ own station. That taste for low and disreputable society which was
found in him in his childhood, continued from his youth, when he was fond of asso-
ciating with waiters and servants, and of helping them in the discharge of their
duties. Such being the facts with regard to Mr. Windham, I will now come to the
history of Miss Agnes Willonghby née Rogers. Shein the first instance had described
herself as a clergyman’s daughter, her father having left her £600 a-year, her two
gisters having also been liberally provided for by this beneficed c'hargy;uuu. By
Miss Willoughby this child Windham, whom she called * her boy,” was introduced
to Mr. Bowen May, upon whose professional condnot connected with this matterT
regret to say I cannot pass any compliments, for such a marriare settlement hag
been drawn np as I believe has never been drawn up in any respectable office. Mr.
Windham was lured on to this by the statement of Agnes Willoughby, who stated
that by her marriage she should be giving up an annuity of £2,000, which was just
as questionable as that she was a clergyman's daughter, and that her father had
left £600 a-year. It was no doubt an excellent and delicate device, and
none but an idiot could for a moment have believed it. The learned counsel
having commented on Mr, Bowen May’s further connection with the preliminary
transnctions, aund the consultations which Mr. Windbam had with Mr. H.
Tllingworth and Mr. Johnston, the surgeons, and with Dr. Whidbornz on the
marriage morning, on the same subject, at the request of Miss Willoughby herself
caume to the * desecration of the marriage ceremony on that aunspicious marriage
morning.”” The poor dupe, who had been caged op all night, was taken to the
drawing-room of a honse in Blenheim-terrace, St. John's-wood, where there were
three dressed-np clowns (I do not include Mr. Bowen May,Wwho is always the pink
of elegance) consisting af Miss Willoughby’s brother and two other persons. It is
represented that they had zood clothes on, but they did not look like gentlemen.
‘Probably they had gone to the establishment of Moses and Son, for it is well known
ghat a man may go into that establishment a clown and come out a perfect nobleman,
star and garter and all. (Loud laughter,). Then there were the mother of Agues
Willoughby, the widow of the Rey. Mr. Rogers, and Agnes Willoughby’s two
gisters, who acted as bridesmaids. They went all together to the retired church at
the corner of Grove-road, where the solemn ceremony of marriage was degraded
and diggraced. None buta madman could have taken part in such a procession.
follow them to Paris where they were to pass the bappy honeymoon. I should like
to see the man servant who accompanied them to Paris ; where he was whipped up i6
is impossible to say, for heis one of the Rogers’ appointments. There a quarrel arose;
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the lady—not the gentleman—wished to go to the Jardin Mabille, a place nok
distinguished for the choicest manners or the purity ofits morals, Probably it had
been whispered to Mr. Windham, that it would not be exactly the thing for a newly-
married man to take his bride to such a place, particularly as the gentleman was
fond of telling everybody he met that he was the great Mr. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall. At length they left Paris and returped to Fellbrige, While stopping on the
way, at Norwich, Mr. Windham was met by Mr. Gwyn, the surgeon, in
a puoblic-honse yard. Mr. Gwyn, who was a perfect stranger, weont up to
AMr. Windham, and asked to give him soma shooting. Mr. Windham said,
“(Qh, yes, come upstairs, and I will introdues you to my wile.” After

that Mr. Gwyn went to Fellbrigg-hall, and became installed as the medical
attendant of thizs poor simpleton. It was during Mr. Gwyn's stay at Fellbrigge
that Mrs. Windham went away. When she returned the family doctor was there,

and the poor idiot was persuaded that he had inflicted upon his wife a frizhtiul
disorder. Yor this he was indoced to make compensation to her of many thousand
pounds. Meanwhile every attempt had been made to sweep awuay every sixpence

that this young man could get at by the sacrifice of any portion of his property.
The learned counsel proceeded to examine Mr. Windham’s banking aceount,
gshowing that he had reduced his account to £17, a large sum being drawn
in favour of Mrs. Windham and Mr. Roberts, without making the slichtest provision
for meeting any one of Emmanuel's bills, He said if he had been a free man he
would have been unable to meet them, and would have been entirely beggared.
He was a poor idiot to accept those bills in favour of peopla who were plunging
him into inevitable rnin. The next point tonched mpon by Mr. Chambers was the
timber contract, relying upon the jury to say that this was the most extraordinary
dealing with timber which was growing that was ever engaged in by any timber-
broker since they had known anything of the commercial world—a transaction by
which a poor idiot had been duped and cheated. In concluding his speech Mr.
Chambers said that during these proceedings Mr. Windham had been reconciled to
his wife, throngh the instrumentality of Mr. Gwyn, the family doctor, who
introdnced himself by asking for two days’ shooting. He said I hope that I have
convinced you gentlemen of the jury that Mr. Windham is labouring under such a
state of mind as renders a man incompetent to manage his affairs. As crimes are
now punished, property protected, so does the law protect the imbecile and the
insane who are likely to be injured in wealth, health, character, and life. That is
the epirit of the English law. Sir Hugh Cairns has referred to a very admirable
guotation from Virgil, setting forth the horrible condition of a man who,
by the command of an ancient tyrant, was chained to dead corruption,
I refer to one who by modern craft and cunning will be fettered tfo
modern corruption unless you gentlemen of the jury will say that at
the time he was so lured he was not competent to manage himself. Do you
not think the gquotation would be more referrible to Mr. Windham if he should be
released 7 If you find him of sound mind the whole of the property of the poo.

young Mr. Windham will be seized upon by those ugly birds who will scon fly into
the portals of Fellbrigg. Mr. Windham will be turned from the doors, and becomea-
an outcast in the world. Where is he to go? Will he go to the ancient hannts ?
Will these ancient haunts receive him? The portals of the hospitable shop of Mr.
Barnes, in the Haymarket, receive him? No; they will be closed against his
entrance. ‘W'-t'h“_" a year, or within a shorter period, he will be deprived of even a
sixpence with which to pay for a glass of ale at any of these nizht houses at which
in times past he has spent his money so freely. DBut what will be his cendition
even before he comes to that? Do you think that when he goes to the park, or to
those elegant resorts of refined society which Mr. Coleridge had so eloguently
described, there will be ladies riding without grooms, and with restive
horses, ready to accept his kind offices, and, in consideration of his kind
offices, inviting him to call upon them as often as he pleased? No, no! It would
be—** Begone rags and wretchedness,” Mr, Windham must be saved. Am
I going too far in eaying he shall be saved? But if he is to be saved—
eaved from ruin of health and character, from disease and wretchedness of
hfﬂ, from disgrace, from scorn, from repnlsion—from repulsion from the doors-of
his own wife, who will be living in luxury wpon her £800 or £1,500 a-year—he
must be saved throngh the instrumentality of those relatives who have come
forward to do their duty, through evil report and grose abuse; and I feel confident
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that he will be saved by the law of the land, and by the verdict which the jury pro.
NONNCeSs.

The Master having stated his intention to eum up before examining the allered
lunatic, the court adjourned for a few minutes for refreshment. On re-asgsembling,

Master Warren proceeded to sum up. He said, gentlemen of the jury, at last this
prodigious, and, in point of time, unprecedented case has come into the hands of
myself and the jury, to be dealt with ecalmly and justly, as became men acting
nnder & golemn sense of sworn responsibility. As has been observed, the cast
lnvolves issnes the most momentous of any not involving lifs and death—
momentous also to a reflecting and enlightened public, as to the
principles upon which it has to be determined. The excitement exist-
ing out of doors in this case must be sternly excluded from this
court of justice with reference to the question now before nus. If what has ccenrred
in this court has excited feelings of irritation and impatience in those who have
only read the details of the proceedings, what must have been the case with ns
who have been compelled by a sense of duty to sit there and listen, often with
a shudder of loathing and of deep disgust? We have listened patiently, but our
eyes have been fixed all the while exclusively, nnwearingly, on the one great
painful and difficult question which the constitution of the conntry placed in your
hands, and in your hands alone. No one is entitled or justified at this stage of the
proceedings in pronouncing an opinion upon them, as to their final determination,
who has not been here from first to last, and seen what we have seen, and without
hearing every witnegs from first to last, and judging for themselyes under the pres-
sure of their respective oaths. Bo much has been said by the learned counsel
on both sides as to the character of the proceedings that I shall only give a
very brief account of what is the true position of the matters before yon, and
how they have come before you. From first to last they have been conducted
with exemplary regularity and with vigorous adherence to the law of the
land. In November an application was madé to the Lords Justices for a commission
in lunacy. A vast body of contradictory evidence being brought before them by
affidavit, there was no other course for them but to do as they had done, and to
send the matter to be determined by a jury. On the face of the order by virtue of
which yon are here, it appears that there are fifteen petitioners, including the wives
of the respective male petitioners. It appears also, that the proceedings were con-
cnrred in by the entire family of Mr. William Frederick Windham, with the exception
of his mother, Lady Sophia Ginbiled. For a time I and yourselves had been under
the impression that she concurred in the proceedings ; but by the lips of her counsel
she has repudiated any sanction, and her husband has sworn that she disapproved
of them. The order was dated Nov. 3, 1861, and the guestion which the Lords
Justices had sent you to decide is, whether * Mr. W. F. Windham is lunatic or
enjoying lucid intervals, so that he is sufficient for the government of himself, his lands,
manors, &e.” These are the words of the order. Bat I will eall your attention for
a moment to the interpretation of the word  lunatic,” as given in the second section
of the Lunacy Regulation Aet. In the interprétation clause occurred these
words :—* The word lunatic ghall be considered to mean any person found by inqui-
sition to be idiot, lunatic, or of unsound mind and incapable of managing himself or
his affairs.” The case for the petitioners was opened by Mr. Chambers by putting
a mass of facts before you which andoubtedly are of a very serions nature. The
medical testimony is precise and pointed, and from very eminent men. F-om Dr
Mayo, the President of the Royal College of Physicians, from Dr. Forbes Winslow,
and from Dr. Sonthey, you have heard evidence which you have not furgnl;tﬁn. A
great body of facts also has been brought forward by Mr. Chambers, who let fall a fow
words, onthe conclusion of his cuse, which has convinced me that thecase will be one uf
extraordinary difficulty. The case for the petitioners was concluded on the 1st of
Jannary 49 or 50 witnesses having been called who had given most important
testimony. Sir Hugh Cairns had then proceeded, in a speech of uncommon
brilliancy and power, to address himself to the case which had been established by
the petitioners, and to the case he was about to open, and then proceeded to call &
body of 90 witnesses on the part of Mr. Windham. Thelieve that this is the thirty-
third day of the proceedings, and we havehad cne hundred and forty witnesses, who
had been examimed and cross-examined by counsel, and examined a little
by us. I have taken 600 p of closely-written notes, which T will
go over if you require. (Several of the jury intimated that this lengthy
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proceeding on the part of the learned Master was quite unnecessary.)
I am guite prepared to find—from seeing the extraordinary care and at-
tention you have paid to the case—that you do not require me either to go over the
evidence or to give an analysis of the cage. I will brefly explain what we have
not to do in this inguiry. Yon are not to try the validity or the invalidity of the
aots of Mr. Windham. You are not to try the validity of the marriage, of the
marriage settlement, of the disentailing deeds, of the timber contract, of the sales
of jewellery, or of any other instrument which has been put in. You have to deal
with them as media of proof only of the issue which alone, in its solitary and
: solemn incidence, is before you. You are not here to try the motives and conduet
of the petitioners. I will explain to you what is the guestion which you have to
determine, and what is the law, which you are bound to take from me on my re-
spousibility ; and how you are to deal in fairness with the two great bodies of
evidence which have been brought before yon. The Master quoted a case tried
before Lord Cottenham, in which a petitioner in lunacy had moved to have the
verdict of the jury quashed, on the ground of their having been influenced by an
opinion .of his motives. He said you will see the importance, from that case,
of not allowing yourselves to he biassed by any condsideration of the motives
of the petitioners. With regard to General Windham, whese name has been
80 freely mentioned in these proceedings, and whose conduct has been subjected to
such severe criticism, but who has received, at the hands of his counsel, go splendid
a vindication, as far as elognence could go, you are not to decide upon his motives.
Even if you assnme them to be ever so selfish, the question for you to try is,
whether yon have got unimpeachable evidence on which you can go, even though
the hand might be polluted which has bronght it. The connsel for the defence
has adverted to the fact that none of the petitioners have appeared, except Lord
Br_laf.ﬂl and Lord Alfred Hervey. If the others could have given satisfactory
evidence, it was o pity they had not been called; but neither of us know that they
could have given satisfactory evidence. That was a matter which had to be decided
by counsel in the exercise of that discretion which belonged to them. The (ues-
tion, and the only question, ‘which you have‘to try is, whether Mr. W. F. Windham
was of sound mind enough to be able to manage himself and his affairs; or if he
were not of such sound mind as' to be able to manage himself and his affairs.
That there might be no misunderstanding on this point, I will quote
Lord Hldon in the case of Ridgway and Darwin, decided in 1802, to
point ount what s the state of the law as to whom the protection of tho
law was applicable. Lord Eldon says, “T have reason to believe that the Court
did not in Lord Hardwicke’s time grant commissions of lunacy in cases in which
1t has since been granted. The question is not now whether the party is absolutely
ﬂ“ﬁs ELB in the time of Lord Hardwicke, but the Conrt has thou ght itself authorised
ft-hwg certainly many difficult and dangerous questions with regard to the liberty
ot the subject tnrned on that—the Conrt has thought itself authorised to issue a
.mr;n mission, provided it could be made ont that the party is unable to act with any
P hpﬂl:rn»nd provident @su}-etmn, and is liable to be robbed by any one, under that
imbecility of mind, which is not strictly insanity ; but, as to the mischief it producas
E:]Img f;raf much protection as actual insanity.” That is the opinioupol‘ Lord
.-on. 1n 1806, Lord Erskine endorsed that view. In 1827, Lord Lyndhurst im-

ﬁ:nthun of the I:rw. The legislature had not interposed to alter that legal view, so
“ros pgz:nhmua t&#: that fo be the condition of the law which must guv;rn
e case. For theso reasons, we must regard the case before you
iz _pra:;mmﬂnt]y practical characler. The broad question you have
il Hm, w'ather, upon the view of the whole of the vast body of
o, " . mm&l!nm 18 at the present time of sufficiently gound mind
o reme-mbr:ra o with the management of himself and his affairs. You
- P af]:] the whole of the medical witnesses on both sides. when
St Fh:riﬂ; ave acquiesced in the correctness of my propuaitiuut—-thﬁb
i et wﬂra me 18 a matter of evidence and a question of degree, on
eyl :;E quite as competent to come to a right conclusion, haﬂ'ng’- all
it e tﬂrﬂ‘m, B8 expertes. Itis an inquiry, not of g scienfific, but of &

aracter. This being so, it is for you to determine, having the evidence
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and the statements of counsel on both sides before you, whether you fonnd the
state of mind of Mr. Windham to be such as to bring him within the scope of the
protection of the law on the principles which have been laid before you as defined
by supreme judicial anthority. Here I will again remark, that mere weakness of
character, mere liability to impulse, good or bad, mere imprudent, reckless
eccentricity, to which I will add immorality — no, mot all of these
constitute wunsoundness, unless we believe onrselves justified, looking ab
the whole evidence fairly, in referring them to a morbid condition of the
intellect. They might evidence wunsoundness, but they did not constitnte
it. There is a difference hetween lawyers and medical men as to the existence |
of that intermediate condition of mentalunsoundness which is recognized by supreme '
Judicial anthority. Many of the medical men who have been examined have -
exalnded it. But you must remember that Dr. Taylor, in his able work, has dis-
tinctly recognised the three kinds of insanity, imbecility, and absolute idiocy. If
you keep these three conditions clearly in mind, it will enable yon to discard many
irrelevant issnes. Coming to the evidence which has been adduced, you must bear
in mind that, as Mr. Windham cannot be heard as a witness, you must weigh with
sernpulous and jealous attention all the evidence bearing on his acts and condunct
before you come to a decision. In reference to that great division of evidence, I_:ha
medical evidence, I must remark that a person is not necessarily of unsound mind
becanse Dr. A, saya he is, or of sound mind because Dr. B. says so. You must listen
to and weigh such evidence; but it onght to have no greater weight with you than
the other evidemce. The general body of the evidence which has been brought
forward presents a marvellons eonflict aund contradiction. It is ntterly impossible
that you can determine on each fact or on the testimonmy of each witnesa.
The case must be decided on the general valne of the whole mass of evidence on
either side, weighed and balanced together in such a way as to enable you to form
a correct jndgment. You must not attach too much weight to the evidence of
those who have only casually met Mr. Windham, and who spoke to his condition of
mind, as such temporary communication with him is not sufficient to enable them
to come to a sound conclusion. We shall have to decide between the theory of
the petitioners that Mr. Windham's is a case of congenital deficiency of intellect,
and that of the defence, that his mental condition is simply ‘thB _rﬂﬂlﬂt of
neglected education. I have carefully abstained from allowing any intimation of my
opinion on this case to escape me, but I will observe that you must not lightly affix
upon the father and mother the imputation of having neglected the education of thia
young man. With the vast mass of correspondence which has been put in yom
must deal a8 you think fit; but with respect to the two letters written by Mr.
Windham to Mr. Jackson, and put in as evidence on behalf of Mrs. Windbam,
I feel bound to say that beiter letters conld not be written by any of
the gentlemen in this court, I have called your attention to those
letters on account of the argument of Sir Hugh Cairns, that the theory
of the petitioners of the low intellectual condition of Mr. Windham from
his birth would be disposed of, if it could be shown that he had acted intell-
gently once, and only once. One great test of the opinionof people is thefooling upon
whichthey bave delt with Mr Windham, Nowthereisone fact which does not appear to
be challenged. That is, General Windham'’s having negotiated with his nephew for
. the sale of a piece of land of the value of £1,000. General Windham must either
. have thonght his nephew of sound mind, or, if he did nok, why did heoffer to deal
" with a man who conld not be a contracting party ? Yon will have to consider how
* far that is evidence that General Windham considered his nephew to be of sound
mind. You must decide whether Mr Windham is at this moment the great boy he
has been represented, or whether he has the average amount of eapacity which will
enable him to manage his property without being interfered with, and whether every-
body has treated him on that footing. You must not, however, apply too higha
standard to the young man, for you are not trying whether he is a consummate man
of business. I do not intend fo go into the question of the evidence of the
Llewellyns farther than to observe that it was clear that either Mrs. Llewellyn or her
‘brother and sister have deliberately perjured themselves. It will be for yon to decide to
whom yon give credence. The marriage will have to bes considered by the jury ""“H:r
reference to its bearing on thestate of Mr. Windham's mind. All that I will say ﬂb"’h';t
this marriage, its inception, its completion, and what took place afterwards, is w ]
appears to me a perfectly frightful transaction. There has been frightfal vice an
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. but the eardinal question for you is, does that warriage or any of
ﬁ:?::::}:lz::ﬁsud £0NsSequences :Ihmw light upon the condition of Mr. Windham's
mind, with regard to his sanity in the eye of the law. Knowing the terma
of the timber contract, you, as men of business, will have to decide whether
the entering into such a contract without professional assistance was the act of
a Bane man., Thoogh cantioned by Dr. Hood nn&‘Dr. I?eymnur to conduct himself
with propriety during the course of these Prwaedmga, it appears certain that Mr,
Windham has been seen in hia old hannts n the Ha.ymnrlcel:! and on one occasion
' talking toa prostitute. I do not wish you to attach too much importance to this fact,
bat I do not wish you to lose sightof it. The solution of _thu.l; conduct given by
- 'Mr, Karslake iz that Mr. Windham despised the proceedings, and thcmght them

just, monstrous, and outrageous, and therefore langhed at them, It will be for

on to decide how much of the evidence i8 to be accepted as relevant, and

in:mr much is to be discarded as not bearing on the issue. Youn must look
broadly at both masses of evidence, and give your verdict on the principles
which have been laid down. You have yet a duty to perform, namely,
‘to have an interview with Mr, Windham, in order that you may see him,
talk to him, and hear what he says, in order to apply what you see and hear to
what you have heard in open conrt. I see no reason to alter the decision I have
come to, that the interview should take place privately in the presence of counsel,
and with a short-hand writer in attendance. My objeclion to the examination
taking place in open court is, that the exhibition would not be in the interest of the
publie, and that Mr. Windham might ntter against third parties what will involve
s in hostile actions for slander. Forther than that, it 18 your unanimouns wish
that the examination should be in private, and it is also in accordance with every
precedent on the subject. As soon as the interview with Mr. Windham has taken
place, you will be left to yourselves to comsider the verdict. The verdict, I am
sure, will be founded in justice, whatever it may be. If adverse to Mr. Windham,
its effect will be to place him under the benignant protection of the law as to his
property and person, but not to incarcerate him in the way which has been
suggested as the result of finding him to be of unsound mind.

The Court then adjourned until eleven o'clock on the following day.

The jury will this (Thursday) morning have an interview with Mr. Windham, and
after consultation will deliver a verdict, which will terminate the proceedings.

THIRTY-FOURTH DAY.—THURSDAY, JANUARY, 28, -

The adjourned inquiry into the state of mind of Mr. W. F. Windham, of Fellbrigg-
hall, Norfolk, was resumed to-day in the Westminster Session-house, before Mr.
Warren, Q.C., one of the Masters in Lunacy, and a special jury.

Mr. M. Chambers, Q.C., Mr. Field, and Mr. Hume Williams, appeared for tha
petitioners ; Mr. Charles Russell for Lady Sophia Elizabeth Giubilei, the mother
of the alleged lunatic; Sir Hugh Cairng, Q.C., Mr. Karslake, Q.C., and Mr. Milward,
for Mr. William Frederick Windham ; and Mr. Coleridge, (.C., for Mrs. Windham.

This morning the Master took his seat in court at 11 o'clock, at which time there
were present Sir Hugh Cairng and Mr. Karglake in their robes, and Mr. Chambers
in his private clothes. ]

The Master announced that he was very poorly, the result of "his great exertions
in the case.

Sir G. Armytage, the Foreman, said that the jury had assembled in the voom
agsigned tothem, and they were ready to proceed.

The Master said he would be with them in a minute. 5

Bir Hogh Cairns said he wished once more to renew his protest against Mr. Wind-
ham being examined in aclosed court. His desire was that Mr. Windham should be
examined in open court.

The Master said thatin the case of Armstrong—

Sir H. Cairns enid he did not want to discuss the case of Armstrong, which had
frequently been mentioned, butwhich had no bearing on the case of Mr. Windham.
All he desired wasto renew his protest. He presumed that, according to previons
arrangement, the jury would not be allowed toask Mr. Windham any queslions, bug
that all questions would be put through the Masters” & -

The Master said that last night he had informed the jury that they wounld be
allowed to put questions to Mr. Windham in a friendly way. It would be merely a

friendly interview.
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especinlly recommended, as forming the basisof o BEAUTIFUL HEAD OF HAIR.

INTERESTING FACT.

The following singular and anthentic case of Itestorarion of the Human Hair is worthy of observation,
more particular]ly aa it relates to an article of high and universal repute during the last half century.
Mr. A. Hermann, of Queen Street, Scho, had been quite bald for some time past, and had tried various:
preparations for the recovery of his hair, but without any beneficial reg.nlt. Ha was then induced to try
the effects of * RowrLaxDs' MACASSAR OuL;” and after daily applying it for abont two months, he, miutch
to his gratification, had his hair quite restored, and now possesses a beautiful head of hair—'This fact
epeaks too strongly for itself to require comment.—Bell's Weekly Messenger.

Price 3z. 6d., 78.; 104, 6d , equal to four small, and 21s. per bottle,

A BEAUTIFUL COMPLEXION AND SOFT AND FAIR HANDS AND ARMS, ARE REALIZED BY THE USE OF

ROWLANDS' KALYDOR.

Tt exerts the most soothing, cooling, aud purifying action an the Skin, evadicates Freckles, Tan, Pimples,
Spots, Discoloration, and other Cutaneous Fisifations, Trice 42. 6d. and 8s. 6d. per bottle.

WIIITE AND SOUND TEETH are indispensable to Personac ATTitAcTioN, and to health and [nngevit:.r
by the proper mastication of food.

ROWLARNDS' ODONTEO.

Or PEARL-DENTRIFICE, compounded of ORIENTAL INGREDIENTS, is of inestimable value in Preserving
and Beautifying the Tecth, Strengthening the Gums, and in giving a Delicate Fragrance io the Dreath. It
erndicates Tartar from the Teeth, removes spots of ineipient decay, and polishes and preserves the enamel,
to which it imparts a Pearl-like IWhileness. I'rvice 23, 9d. per box,

Sold at 20, Hatton Garden, London, and by Chemista and Perfamers, *,% Ask for “Rowraxps'” articles.

WOLIAN'S HEALTH AND BEAUTY

ARE inereased and prezerved from youth to old age by the prudent nse of TARR'S LIFE PILLS, This
admirable balsamie preparation gives colour to the complexion, brighiness to the eyes, cheerful animation
to the features, and agreeable vigour to the whole frame,

Sole Proprictors, T. ROBERTS and Co., &, Crane Court, Fleet Strect, London.

PARR'S LITE PILLS may be obtained of any Medicine Vendor, in boxes, 15, 11d., 2a 9d., and in
Family Packets, 115, ench. Directions with each box.

ANEKERUPTCY and BUSPFENSION of Messrs. AMOTT BROTHERS and CO., Bilk

Mercera and General Drapers, ot 61 and 62, 8t, Panl's Chorchyard, and 68, 69, and 60, Paternoster-row.

PEREMPTOLY SALE, without any reservation of every portion ol the STOCK under the New Bankruptey Law
and Winding-up Act, during the PRESENT WEEIL,

At this snﬁ: an unpreesdented a_g}:gurtunily is found for privale individuals of selecting from the most yarmed and
walunble stock that hos been offered in London for many years under such extraordinary and peeuliar cirenmstances,

The object of tlis sale is to convert the stock into immediata cash for the dividend {o the creditors,

The stock comprises, amongst others, the following classes of goods, iz, :—DBlack silks, colonred silks, mantles,
ehawls, rohes, alulls, dresses, gloves, hosiery, ribbons, sewed muslius, Ince, towellings, napkios, cambrie handker-
chiefs. prints, sheetings, counterpanes, quilts, toble cloths, curtaing, anti-macassars, table and toilet covers, glass
cloths, tea cluths, flannels, blankots, petticonts, linens, umbrellns, parascls, trimmings, lowers, &e. &o,

For the convenience of purchasers, and to expedite tha sale, all the abovo goods have been divided into lots
degeribed more fally in the eatalogues,

The aale will ba on from this day antil the final disposal of the whole stool,

Hours of sals from Eleven o'clock in the mornin ﬁf Fiva o’elock in the nfternoon,

The bar in St. Paal's-churchyard will be opened during the sale, to give admission to carriages to set down at the
door of the wamhnmm.ll fokcibg s Taf

For the purpose of fucilitating the dispeasl of the goods, the priecs have been marleed in plain fgpures and in red inlk.

Catalognes of the whols of the umlr*ml prl.tlm:ga, will ba orwnarded feee, upon nppli-:l:ﬂ.ln:-n 1-5" Jumes nmﬂéﬁﬁ,
Fsq. manager to the trustees, 61 and 62, 8t. Paol's-churchynrd,




Mappin Brothers’ Silver Plate and Table Cutlery.

MAPPIN BROTHERS,

(Established in Sheffield, A.D. 1810),

222, REGENT STREET, LONDON,
And 67 and 68, KING WILLIAM STREET CITY, LONDON

SUPPLY THE CONSUMER DIRECT FROM THE MAHUFA(..TDRY

QUEEN’'S CUTLERY WORKS, SHEFFIELD.

MAPPIN BROTHERS TABLE CUTLERY.

]

NONE ARE GENU K GRANTED TO THEIR FATHER BY
ﬂﬂ:tﬁ:ﬂfgf JEIEiF'{ A é?:w » THE CUTLERS' COMPANY OF SHEFFIELD
e W JUXNE 26th, 1835, 3
i
Two dozen full-size Table Kuives, [vory handles............ a ,_:i,l:lt.arr .quﬂlllr M—Ed;ur; f%.nnhl.j'. Ei“ Q“D i
One-and-a.half dozen full-size Cheese I{Ittu e T T R ol &0 114 O 211 0
Oue pair regulir NMent CRITEIS ..veierenreereersorsonsssorsssessssnsios a5 8 011 0 015 8
Oue pair extra size ditto.............. o ane WU R R i 0 8 @ 012 0 016 6
One pair Poultry CACYers ..........ersiesn T e T 07 8 011 0 015 6
Oune Steel for SharPEning  ...iuueiversssivsesneressons T e Py 0299 0 40 060
Complete Bervice ©..........ivireeiibesbiisisesserens £514 0 £ 18 8 £0 18 0

MESSRS, MAPPINS' Table Knives £6ill maintain lh ir wnrivalled superiority ; all their blades being their own
Sheflicld manufacture are of the first quality, with sccure ivory’ hundles, which do not come looso I:ﬁlut water;
aud the diference in price is ocension:d BUil‘T} by the supe rioe qualify and thickuessof the i ivory handles,

..*r_r_

222, Regent St., (488 o Fl P ("I RO and -
and 67 & 68, [l SILVER PI.ATE ; Queen’s Cutlery
King William St., : Works,
Sheflield.

London,

= i T R L T T re "1"_“1'-__' "
u?[nppinﬂt[uth{-m;:uu;*nnlccmnu]lz Pindllt:ll-ﬁl I Thraﬂ?;%?:a_ Ilnbll'ili-utul %
eirmannfactures in electro-silver 1
plate a strangdepositor realslver| ZinC | (E | BSC | | SIS | siong. || Steous.
necording to price charged, £ 5. Tl WY i ! i o, 4l &8 d| £s d il £ 5. d.
12 Table lf'l:lrlts A A ARR bR F AR 116 ¢ |2 8 0| 214 0| 310 0 3 0 0| 318 0| 3 1." L]
12 Tabla Spoona............ et L AG LD 2800 2904 0 ) 371D D 3 0 0318 0 3120
D e S RERA SR e FR AR R R
: essert Spoons ., : = 4
12 Tea Spoons 016 0|1 0 0O !! 1.4 0112 O 1 ¥ 01116 0 | 118 O
2 Sauce Ladlea .......... el OB D10 0|l 010 0 | 012D (011 O] D13 O 11 013 0
1 Gravy Spoon ................. wie| 007 0./ 010 01l 010 60120011 0013 0 013 0
4 En]hpﬂuna, giltbowls ......| 0 6 8. 08 0|l 010 0 012 g 1::1;-;- g 313 g | glil- E
1 Mustard Spoon ............. gaten lon. el 0.2 0« 0 & & g0 3 Ll x 4 B
1 Pair of Sugar Tough.......onwreee| 0 3, 8| 04 0. || 0O 6 6|0 6 0O 6 0| 0.F O iﬂ' L
1 Pair of Fish Carvers  ......;..ia.1 1 -0 0 1 6 0 | 110 0 116 0 114 0 118.0(/-118 O
{&umﬂg?mrr ........... i 0.3 04,0 3.6 glﬁ 0 gjg g 319 E ? 70l ;f'. .
up ] PR T 2 i L
it Fggﬂpﬂunl, [:l“- s e Nrareiee ] O 10 .0 012 0 | 016 O 018 0 18 0 3 i H | ! 110
_ Complele Service ........... 101310 (14 3 6 1518 6 (1916 0 }l1713 6 |2116 6 21 4 8

IN MARCII NEXT ‘I-l.n"l.i'I'l‘il' BLROTHERS WILL COMMENCE BUSINESS AT THE WEST END
OF LONDON BY OPENING PREMISES AT

222, REGENT STREET.






Frieriaoe Havw, —Hoﬂthﬂmﬂlg the unenviable
. celabrity this place has #o recently enjoyed, it may be con-
sidered singular that its former distin POBBEEROTS
have haanlcnrmlguddumud worth even a passing motice.
The hall is situated three miles from Cromer, in orfolk,
; and was the seat of the celebrated William Wyndham,
' M.P. It stands at the eastern extremity of a high tract of
' land, called Felbridge and Sherricgham heaths, and is
| ranked the first gituations in Norfolk. The house,
partially of time of Henry V1II., has been consider-
ably enlarged at various times by the Wyndham family,
particularly by the gentlerpan named abave. The library
contains a selection of valuable books, with u fine collec-
| tion of prints, &o, The park porsesses the advan of
| having several old standing woods; and Mr. Wyndham
' L vely added many plantations, The common field
| was enclosed, and converted into arable or woodlands.
' From 1782 to 1810, Mr. Wyndham's life will be found in
the history of his country. Felbridge church, situated in
the parish, is a pleasing object, particularly from the house,
. where the trees of a fine avenne of oaks and beeches grace
the foreground. On the south side of the altar is a plain
. ural monument to the memary of the former illustrious
. owner of this demain, erected in 1816. It is by Nollekens,
. and in hins best atyle, On the top is placed a bust of this
* profound scholar, accomplished orator, and distinguished
statesman,’ which is an admirable likeness of him.

e g FTT, . Yl e

Mr. W. F. Wixpuay,—Mr. Windham continnes a |
current topic of conversation in Norfolk. Mr. R. J. H.
Harvey, a member of the eminent local banking firm of
Harveys and Hudeson, has advanced £35,000 upon a bill of
sale upon the Fellbrigg estate, and it is stated that the in-
come derived from the property will now be wholly ab-
gorbed in the payment of intercst on the advances made
upon it, although Mr. Windham has still a reversion-
ary interest in =some other properly to fall back
upon. Mrs. Windham is mow in Paris. She has
geparated from her husband; but it is now stated that
terms cannot be adjusted as to the provision proposed to
be made for her. Mr. Windham hims<lf continues in
Norfolk, where his chief amusement appears to be coach-
driving. On Saturday, as on preceding days, he *tooled’
up to Norwich, taking up all the stray passengers he could
collect on the way; and as he carries persons gratuitously,
he is actually said to injure the trade of a dona fide coach
proprietor who works on the same line of road. M.
Windham was proposed as a member of the local masonic

lodge in the course of last week, but the members present
declined to admit him.

T Memmracs Bugenie intanda d.oo03






















